
 

 

OFFERING MEMORANDUM   

 

Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft 

Aktiengesellschaft in München 

U.S.$ 1,250,000,000  

Subordinated Resettable Fixed Rate Bonds with a scheduled maturity in 2042 

_________________________________ 

The $1,250,000,000 aggregate principal amount of subordinated resettable fixed rate bonds with a scheduled maturity in 2042 (the 

“Bonds”) offered hereby will be issued by Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München (the “Issuer”). 

The Bonds are scheduled to be redeemed at their redemption amount on May 23, 2042 (the “Scheduled Maturity Date”), provided 

that on the Scheduled Maturity Date the conditions to redemption and repurchase (as specified in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — § 5 

(Redemption and repurchase)”), in particular, the prior approval of the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für 
Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht) or any authority which becomes its successor in such capacity as insurance regulator competent for the Issuer or 

the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries taken as a whole (“Munich Re” or the “Group”) (the “Competent Supervisory Authority”), are 

fulfilled. If this is not the case, the Bonds will only be redeemed on the 10th business day following the day on which the conditions to redemption 
and repurchase, in particular, the prior approval of the Competent Supervisory Authority, are fulfilled again for the first time after the Scheduled 

Maturity Date. Holders of Bonds have no right to require the Issuer to redeem or purchase the Bonds at any time. The Issuer shall be entitled to 

redeem the Bonds early only in accordance with the provisions specified in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — § 5 (Redemption and 
repurchase)”. The Issuer shall have the right (subject to the conditions to redemption and repurchase, in particular the prior approval of the 

Competent Supervisory Authority) to redeem the Bonds, in whole but not in part, with effect as of any date during the period from and including 

November 23, 2031 to and including May 23, 2032 (the “First Reset Date”) and on any interest payment date thereafter as further specified in 
“Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — § 5 (Redemption and repurchase)”. In addition, the Issuer may (subject, in particular, to the prior approval 

of the Competent Supervisory Authority) redeem the Bonds at any time on the occurrence of a gross-up event, a tax event, a regulatory event, an 

accounting event or a rating event, all as set out in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — § 5 (Redemption and repurchase)”. 

The Bonds will bear interest (i) from and including May 23, 2022 (the “Interest Commencement Day”) to but excluding the First 

Reset Date at a fixed rate of 5.875 per cent. per annum, scheduled to be paid semi-annually in arrear on May 23 and November 23 in each year, 

commencing on November 23, 2022 and (ii) for the period from and including the First Reset Date to but excluding the next following reset date 
and thereafter from and including each reset date to but excluding the next reset date at the sum of the applicable reference rate and the margin, 

subject to a minimum rate of interest of 0.00% per annum, as further specified in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — § 4 (Interest)”. 

Under certain circumstances, as further specified in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — § 4 (Interest)”, interest payments on the 

Bonds may be deferred at the option of the Issuer or will be required to be deferred.  

It is the Issuer’s intention to allocate an amount equivalent to the net proceeds from the offer of the Bonds to finance or refinance, in 

whole or in part, existing and/or future Eligible Projects in accordance with the Issuer’s Green Bond Framework, as further described in “Use of 

Proceeds”. 

The Bonds do not contain any events of default. 

The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), 

or the securities laws of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction. Accordingly, the Bonds are being offered and sold only 

to qualified institutional buyers (“QIBs”) in accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act (“Rule 144A”) and to certain persons 

outside the United States that are not, and are not acting for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the 

Securities Act (“Regulation S”)) in offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation S. Prospective purchasers that are QIBs are 

hereby notified that the seller of the Bonds may be relying on the exemption from the registration requirements under the Securities Act 

provided by Rule 144A. The Bonds are not transferable except in accordance with the restrictions described under “Notice to Investors”. 

Investing in the Bonds involves risks. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 29 of this offering memorandum (the “Offering 

Memorandum”) for a discussion of certain risks that you should consider before buying the Bonds. 

The Issuer has applied for the Bonds to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the 

Euro MTF Market operated by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, which is a multilateral trading facility for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU, 

as amended (“MiFID II”), and, therefore, not an EU-regulated market.  

This Offering Memorandum does not constitute a prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the 

“Prospectus Regulation”) or Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 

2018 (the “UK Prospectus Regulation”) and, in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation and the UK Prospectus Regulation, no prospectus is 

required in connection with the listing of the Bonds. 

 
_______________ 

Issue Price: 100.000% 

The issue price set forth above does not include accrued interest, if any. Interest on the Bonds will accrue from May 23, 2022. 

The Bonds will be evidenced by two or more global certificates in registered form deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the 

name of a nominee of, The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”). The initial distribution of the Bonds will be cleared through DTC only, which 



will occur on or about May 23, 2022. Beneficial interests in the Bonds will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through, 
records maintained by DTC and its direct and indirect participants, including Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking 
S.A., Luxembourg (“Clearstream”). 

_______________ 

Joint Lead Managers 

Citigroup 

(Sole Structuring 

Agent)

Credit Suisse Deutsche Bank 

Securities

Goldman Sachs & 

Co. LLC

HSBC Morgan Stanley 

The date of this Offering Memorandum is May 18, 2022. 
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

The Issuer with its registered office in Germany accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering 

Memorandum and hereby declares that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the 
information contained in this Offering Memorandum is, to the best of its knowledge, in accordance with the facts 

and contains no omission likely to affect its import. 

The Issuer further confirms that (i) this Offering Memorandum contains all relevant information with respect to the 
Issuer and the Group and to the Bonds which is material in the context of the issue and the offering of the Bonds, 

including all relevant information which, according to the particular nature of the Issuer and of the Bonds is necessary 
to enable investors and their investment advisers to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, 
financial position, profits and losses, and prospects of the Issuer, Munich Re and of the rights attached to the Bonds; 

(ii) the statements contained in this Offering Memorandum relating to the Issuer, Munich Re and the Bonds are in 
every material respect true and accurate and not misleading; (iii) there are no other facts in relation to the Issuer, 

Munich Re or the Bonds the omission of which would, in the context of the issue and offering of the Bonds, make 
any statement in this Offering Memorandum misleading in any material respect; (iv) reasonable enquiries have been 
made by the Issuer to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and statements and (v) 

the statements of opinion, intention, belief or expectation expressed in this Offering Memorandum are honestly and 
reasonably held. 

NOTICE TO INVESTORS 

None of the Issuer or Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities 

Inc., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (collectively, the 
“Initial Purchasers” or the “Joint Lead Managers”) has authorized anyone to provide you with any information 

or represent anything about the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers, the Issuer’s financial results or this offering that is 
not contained in this Offering Memorandum. The Issuer and the Initial Purchasers take no responsibility for and can 
provide no assurance as to the reliability of any other information that others may give you. None of the Issuer or the 

Initial Purchasers is making an offering of the Bonds in any jurisdiction where this offering is not permitted. You 
should not assume in any circumstances that the information contained in this Offering Memorandum is accurate as 

at any date other than the date hereof or that any information supplied in connection with the Bonds is accurate as of 
any time other than the date indicated in the document containing the same. 

Neither this Offering Memorandum nor any other information supplied in connection with the Bonds should be 

considered as a recommendation by the Issuer or any of the Initial Purchasers that any recipient of this Offering 
Memorandum should purchase any Bonds. In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on 
their own examination of the Issuer and the terms of this offering, including the merits and risks involved.  

In addition, none of the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers or any of our or their respective representatives is making any 

representation to you regarding the legality of an investment in the Bonds, and you should not construe anything in 
this Offering Memorandum as legal, business or tax advice. You should consult your own advisors as to legal, tax, 

business, financial and related aspects of an investment in the Bonds. You must comply with all laws applicable in 
any jurisdiction in which you buy, offer or sell the Bonds or possess or distribute this Offering Memorandum, and 

you must obtain all applicable consents and approvals; none of the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers shall have any 
responsibility for any of the foregoing legal requirements. 

The Initial Purchasers make no representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of 
the information contained in this Offering Memorandum. Nothing contained in this Offering Memorandum is, or 

shall be relied upon as, a promise or representation by the Initial Purchasers as to the past or future. 

The information set out in relation to sections of this Offering Memorandum describing clearing arrangements, 
including the section entitled “Book-Entry; Delivery and Form”, is subject to any change in or reinterpretation of the 

rules, regulations and procedures of DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream currently in effect. While the Issuer accepts 
responsibility for accurately summarizing the information concerning DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, it accepts no 

further responsibility in respect of such information. In addition, this Offering Memorandum contains summaries 
believed to be accurate with respect to certain documents, but reference is made to the actual documents for complete 
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information. All such summaries are qualified in their entirety by such reference. Copies of documents referred to 

herein will be made available to prospective investors upon request to us or the Initial Purchasers.  

By receiving this Offering Memorandum, you acknowledge that you have had an opportunity to request from the 
Issuer for review, and that you have received, all additional information you deem necessary to verify the accuracy 

and completeness of the information contained in this Offering Memorandum. You also acknowledge that you have 
not relied on the Initial Purchasers in connection with your investigation of the accuracy of this information or your 
decision whether to invest in the Bonds. 

The Issuer reserves the right to withdraw this offering at any time. The Issuer is making this offering subject to the 
terms described in this Offering Memorandum and the purchase agreement relating to the Bonds entered into between 
the Issuer and the Initial Purchasers (the “Purchase Agreement”). The Issuer and the Initial Purchasers reserve the 

right to reject all or a part of any offer to purchase the Bonds, for any reason. The Issuer and the Initial Purchasers 
also reserve the right to sell less than all of the Bonds offered by this Offering Memorandum or to sell to any purchaser 

less than the amount of Bonds it has offered to purchase. 

The Bonds are subject to restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be transferred or resold, except as 
permitted under the Securities Act and the applicable state securities laws, pursuant to registration or exemption 

therefrom. As a prospective investor, you should be aware that you may be required to bear the financial risks of an 
investment in the Bonds until their maturity, redemption or repurchase. Please refer to the sections in this Offering 
Memorandum entitled “Plan of Distribution”.  

The distribution of this Offering Memorandum and the offering and sale of the Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be 

restricted by law. Please see notices to investors in this section starting on page i and “Selling Restrictions” starting 
on page 128.  

The Bonds will be issued in the form of global bonds. Please see “Book-Entry; Delivery and Form”. 

THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED TO THE PUBLIC WITHIN ANY JURISDICTION. BY 

ACCEPTING DELIVERY OF THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM, YOU AGREE NOT TO OFFER, SELL, 
RESELL, TRANSFER OR DELIVER, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY SECURITIES TO THE 

PUBLIC. 

GREEN BONDS 

It is the Issuer’s intention to allocate an amount equivalent to the net proceeds from the offer of the Bonds specifically 
to finance or refinance, in whole or in part, existing and/or future Eligible Projects, as defined and further described 

in the section “Use of Proceeds”. The Issuer has established a framework for such issuances which further specifies 
the eligibility criteria for such Eligible Projects (the “Green Bond Framework”) based on the recommendations 
included in the voluntary process guidelines for issuing green bonds published by the International Capital Market 

Association (“ICMA”) (2018 version) (the “ICMA Green Bond Principles”).  

Pursuant to the recommendation in the ICMA Green Bond Principles that external assurance is obtained to confirm 
alignment with the key features of the ICMA Green Bond Principles, at the request of the Issuer, the advisory and 

rating provider Sustainalytics (“Sustainalytics”) has issued a second party opinion dated September 4, 2020 (the 
“Sustainalytics Opinion”) in relation to the Issuer’s Green Bond Framework. Sustainalytics, a provider of 

environmental, social and governance (ESG) research and analysis, evaluated the Green Bond Framework and the 
alignment thereof with relevant market standards and provided views on the robustness and credibility of the Green 
Bond Framework which views are intended to inform investors in general, and not for a specific investor. 

Neither the Green Bond Framework nor the Sustainalytics Opinion are incorporated into or form part of this Offering 

Memorandum. None of the Initial Purchasers, any of their respective affiliates or any other person mentioned in the 
Offering Memorandum makes any representation as to the suitability of the Bonds to fulfil environmental and/or 

sustainability criteria required by any prospective investors. The Initial Purchasers have not undertaken, nor are 
responsible for, any assessment of the Green Bond Framework, the Sustainalytics Opinion or the Eligible Projects, 

any verification of whether any Eligible Project meets the criteria set out in the Green Bond Framework or the 
monitoring of the use of proceeds. 
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NOTICE TO US INVESTORS 

Each purchaser of the Bonds will be deemed to have made the representations, warranties and acknowledgements 

that are described in this Offering Memorandum under “Plan of Distribution”. 

The Bonds offered hereby have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or with any securities 
regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States and may not be offered or sold in the United 

States, except to “qualified institutional buyers,” or QIBs, within the meaning of Rule 144A in reliance on an 
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. Prospective purchasers 

are hereby notified that the sellers of the Bonds may be relying on the exemption from the registration requirements 
of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. The Bonds may be offered and sold to persons outside the 
United States that are not, and are not acting for the account or benefit of, “U.S. persons” (as defined in Regulation 

S) in reliance on Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S. For a description of certain further restrictions on resale or 
transfer of the Bonds, please see “Plan of Distribution”.  

The Bonds described in this Offering Memorandum have not been registered with, recommended by or approved by 

the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), any state securities commission in the United States or 
any other securities commission or regulatory authority, nor has the SEC, any state securities commission in the 

United States or any such securities commission or authority passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Offering 
Memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States and may be a criminal 
offence in other countries. 

NOTICE TO EEA INVESTORS 

MiFID II Product Governance/Professional Investors and ECPs Only Target Market: Solely for the purposes 

of each manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Bonds has led to the 
conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Bonds is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as 

defined in MiFID II; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Bonds to eligible counterparties and professional 
clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Bonds (a “distributor”) 

should take into consideration the manufacturers’ target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID 
II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Bonds (by either adopting or 
refining the manufacturers’ target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. 

PRIIPs Regulation/Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors: The Bonds described in this Offering 

Memorandum are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or 
otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”). For these purposes, a 

retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of 
MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU (as amended, the “Insurance Distribution 

Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) 
of MiFID II. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, 
the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to retail investors 

in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to any 
retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation. 

NOTICE TO UK INVESTORS 

UK MiFIR Product Governance/Professional Investors and ECPs Only Target Market: Solely for the purposes 

of each manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Bonds has led to the 
conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Bonds is eligible counterparties as defined in the FCA Handbook 

Conduct of Business Sourcebook (“COBS”), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 
as it forms part of United Kingdom (“UK”) domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 
(“UK MiFIR”); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Bonds to eligible counterparties and professional clients 

are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Bonds (a “distributor”) should take 
into consideration the manufacturers’ target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook 

Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules”) is 
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responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Bonds (by either adopting or refining 

the manufacturers’ target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. 

UK PRIIPs Regulation/Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors: The Bonds described in this Offering 
Memorandum are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or 

otherwise made available to any retail investor in the UK. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who 
is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms 
part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“EUWA”); or (ii) a customer within 

the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended, the “FSMA”) and any 
rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer 

would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as 
it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently, no key information document required by 

Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs 
Regulation”) for offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has 
been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to any retail investor 

in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.  

This Offering Memorandum has not been approved by an authorized person in the UK. This Offering Memorandum 
is for distribution only to persons who: (i) have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling 

within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended 
(the “Financial Promotion Order”); (ii) are persons falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) (high-net-worth companies, 
unincorporated associations, etc.) of the Financial Promotion Order; or (iii) are outside the UK (all such persons 

together being referred to as “relevant persons”). This Offering Memorandum is directed only at relevant persons 
and must not be acted on or relied on by persons who are not relevant persons. Any investment or investment activity 

to which this Offering Memorandum relates is available only to relevant persons and will be engaged in only with 
relevant persons. 

Prohibition on marketing and sales of Bonds to retail investors: The Bonds are complex financial instruments 

and are not a suitable or appropriate investment for all investors. In some jurisdictions, regulatory authorities have 
adopted or published laws, regulations or guidance with respect to the offer or sale of securities with features similar 
to the Bonds to retail investors. Potential investors in the Bonds should inform themselves of, and comply with, any 

applicable laws, regulations or regulatory guidance with respect to any resale of the Bonds (or any beneficial interests 
therein).  

In the UK, COBS requires, in summary, that the Bonds should not be offered or sold to retail clients (as defined in 

COBS 3.4 and each a “retail client”) in the UK. 

Certain of the Initial Purchasers are each required to comply with COBS. 

By purchasing, or making or accepting an offer to purchase, any Bonds (or a beneficial interest in such Bonds) from 
the Issuer and/or each Initial Purchaser, each prospective investor represents, warrants, agrees with, and undertakes 

to, the Issuer and each Initial Purchaser that: 

1. it is not a retail client in the UK; 

2. it will not: 

(i) sell or offer the Bonds (or any beneficial interests therein) to retail clients in the UK or 

(ii) communicate (including the distribution of this Offering Memorandum, in preliminary or final form) 
or approve any invitation or inducement to participate in, acquire or underwrite the Bonds (or any 

beneficial interests therein) where that invitation or inducement is addressed to or disseminated in such 
a way that it is likely to be received by a retail client in the UK, and 

in selling or offering the Bonds or making or approving communications relating to the Bonds, each 

prospective investor may not rely on the limited exceptions set out in COBS; and 
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3. the obligations in paragraph 2 above are in addition to the need to comply with all applicable laws, regulations 

and regulatory guidance (whether inside or outside the EEA or the UK) relating to the promotion, offering, 
distribution and/or sale of the Bonds (or any beneficial interests therein), whether or not specifically 

mentioned in the Offering Memorandum, including (without limitation) MiFID II or the UK FCA Handbook 
and any other applicable laws, regulations and regulatory guidance relating to determining the appropriateness 
and/or suitability of an investment in the Bonds (or any beneficial interests therein) by investors in any 

relevant jurisdiction. 

Where acting as agent on behalf of a disclosed or undisclosed client when purchasing, or making or accepting an 
offer to purchase, any Bonds (or any beneficial interest therein) from the Issuer and/or any of the Initial Purchasers, 

the foregoing representations, warranties, agreements and undertakings will be given by and be binding on both the 
agent and its underlying client(s). 

Responsibility Statement: The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in and incorporated by 

reference in this Offering Memorandum. The Issuer hereby declares that, to the best of its knowledge, the information 
contained in this Offering Memorandum is in accordance with the facts and that this Offering Memorandum makes 
no omission likely to affect its import. 

______________________ 

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE BONDS, CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS INC. (OR 
PERSONS ACTING ON ITS BEHALF) MAY OVER-ALLOT BONDS OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A 
VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT 

WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT CITIGROUP 
GLOBAL MARKETS INC. (OR PERSONS ACTING ON ITS BEHALF) WILL UNDERTAKE STABILIZATION 

ACTION. ANY STABILIZATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE 
PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE BONDS IS MADE AND, IF BEGUN, MAY 
BE ENDED AT ANY TIME, BUT IT MUST END NO LATER THAN 30 DAYS AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH 

THE ISSUER RECEIVED THE PROCEEDS OF THE BONDS, OR NO LATER THAN 60 DAYS AFTER THE 
DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE SECURITIES, WHICHEVER IS EARLIER. ANY STABILIZING 

ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT OF THE BONDS MUST BE CONDUCTED BY CITIGROUP GLOBAL 
MARKETS INC. (OR PERSONS ACTING ON ITS BEHALF) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE 

LAWS AND RULES. 
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CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS 

Unless otherwise specified, in this Offering Memorandum, references to the “Issuer” and the “Munich Reinsurance 

Company” refer to Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München. References to “we”, 
“us” and “our” refer to Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München or, if the context 

so requires, to Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München and its consolidated 
subsidiaries. References to the “Group” or “Munich Re” refer to Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft 
Aktiengesellschaft in München and its consolidated subsidiaries taken as a whole, except that, for the purpose of the 

terms and conditions of the Bonds (the “Terms and Conditions”), the term “Munich Re Group” shall have the 
meaning ascribed to such term in such Terms and Conditions. The “Offering” refers to the distribution of this 

Offering Memorandum and the offering of Bonds contemplated in this Offering Memorandum. 

As used in this Offering Memorandum, “euro”, “EUR” or “€” means the currency introduced at the start of the third 
stage of the European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Union, as 

amended from time to time; “U.S. dollar”, “U.S.$”, “USD” or “$” means the lawful currency of the United States; 
“Germany” means the Federal Republic of Germany; and “United States” or “U.S.” means the United States of 
America. 
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION 

To permit compliance with Rule 144A in connection with any resales or other transfers of Bonds that are “restricted 

securities” within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, during any period during which the Issuer 
is neither a reporting company under Sections 13 or 15(d) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
(the “Exchange Act”) nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Exchange Act, the Issuer 

will make available on request to each holder in connection with any resale thereof and to any prospective purchaser 
of such Bonds from such holder, in each case upon request, the information specified in and meeting the requirements 

of Rule 144(d)(4) under the Securities Act. 
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THIRD-PARTY DATA 

With respect to any information included herein and specified to be sourced from a third party (i) the Issuer confirms 

that any such information has been accurately reproduced and as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain 
from information available to it from such third party, no facts have been omitted the omission of which would render 
the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading and (ii) neither the Issuer nor any Initial Purchaser has 

independently verified any such information and neither the Issuer nor any Initial Purchaser accepts any 
responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 
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INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE 

The Offering Memorandum should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents which have 

been previously published or are published simultaneously with this Offering Memorandum and shall be deemed to 
be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Offering Memorandum, and in conjunction with Exhibit A 
and Exhibit B hereto. 

Cross Reference List 

Information Incorporated By Reference Pages Incorporated 

Group 

Quarterly statement 1/2022 (the “Group 1/2022 
Quarterly Statement”)

The sections entitled “Summary of Q1 figures”, 
“Reinsurance: result of €511m”, “ERGO: Result of 
€96m”, and “Investments: Investment result of 
€987m”  

Financial Supplement to the Group 1/2022 Quarterly 
Statement (“Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement”) 

Sheets entitled “Key figures”, “Investment portfolio”, 
“Investment result”, “Consolidated balance sheet”, 
“Consolidated income statement”, “Segment balance 
sheet”, “Segment income statement”, “Combined 
ratio”, “RoE”, “Portfolio duration”, “Sensitivities”, 
“On-&off-balance sheet reserves” and “On-&off-bs 
reserves (gross&net)” 

Information Incorporated By Reference Pages Incorporated 

Group 

Group Annual Report 2021 Munich Re (the “Group Annual Report 2021”) 

Combined management report 

Tools of corporate management and strategic 
financial objectives 

Pages 15-17 

Macroeconomic and industry environment Page 18 

Munich Re Group Pages 19-23 

Risk report Pages 69-79 

Opportunities report Pages 80-81 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 
2021 

Pages 120-121 

Consolidated income statement for the 2021 
financial year 

Page 122 

Statement of recognised income and expense 
for the 2021 financial year 

Page 123 

Group statement of changes in equity for the 
2021 financial year 

Pages 124-125 

Consolidated cash flow statement for the 2021 
financial year 

Page 126 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements Pages 127-210 

Independent auditor’s report Pages 211-218 
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Information Incorporated By Reference Pages Incorporated 

Group 

Group Annual Report 2020 Munich Re (the “Group Annual Report 2020”)

Combined management report 

Group Pages 34-55 

Macroeconomic and industry environment Page 56 

Tools of corporate management and strategic 
financial objectives 

Pages 68-70 

Risk report Pages 88-98 

Opportunities report Pages 99-100 

Prospects Pages 101-102 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 
2020 

Pages 116-117 

Consolidated income statement for the 2020 
financial year 

Page 118 

Statement of recognised income and expense 
for the 2020 financial year 

Page 119 

Group statement of changes in equity for the 
2020 financial year 

Pages 120-121 

Consolidated cash flow statement for the 2020 
financial year 

Page 122 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements Pages 123-203 

Independent auditor’s report Pages 204-211 

The English-language consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 

and December 31, 2021 and the respective combined management reports as well as the English-language 
independent auditor’s reports thereon set out above and incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum are 

translations of the respective German-language consolidated financial statements, combined management reports 
and independent auditor’s reports (Bestätigungsvermerke des unabhängigen Abschlussprüfers). 

The independent auditor’s reports, issued in accordance with § 322 German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch), 
refer to the German language consolidated financial statements and combined management reports as a whole as of 

and for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021. Only the parts of the combined 
management reports explicitly stated as being incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum are 

incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum. 

Information Incorporated By Reference Pages Incorporated 

Group 

2021 Solvency and Financial Condition Report Munich Re Group (the “Group 2021 SFCR”) 

Risk Profile Pages 36-49 

Valuation for solvency purposes Pages 51-76 

Capital management Pages 78-90 

All of the information listed above shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and to form part of, this 

Offering Memorandum. The non-incorporated parts of such documents (i.e., the pages not listed in the tables above) 
and the contents of the Issuer’s website do not form part of this Offering Memorandum and should not be relied upon 
for purposes of forming an investment decision with respect to the Bonds. Copies of the documents which are 
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incorporated by reference herein will be available free of charge during normal business hours from the registered 

office of the Issuer set out at the end of this Offering Memorandum. 

The Group 1/2022 Quarterly Statement, the Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement, the Group Annual Report 2021, 
the Group Annual Report 2020 and the Group 2021 SFCR (collectively, the “Group Reports”) are accessible on the 

following websites of the Issuer: 

Group 1/2022 Quarterly Statement https://www.munichre.com/content/dam/munichre/mr
websiteslaunches/2022-q1/MunichRe-Quarterly-
Statement-1-
2022_en.pdf/_jcr_content/renditions/original./Munich
Re-Quarterly-Statement-1-2022_en.pdf 

Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement https://www.munichre.com/en/company/investors/repo
rts-and-presentations/results-reports.html 

Group Annual Report 2021 https://www.munichre.com/content/dam/munichre/mr
websiteslaunches/2021-annual-report/MunichRe-
Group-Annual-Report-2021-
en.pdf/_jcr_content/renditions/original./MunichRe-
Group-Annual-Report-2021-en.pdf 

Group Annual Report 2020 https://www.munichre.com/content/dam/munichre/mr
websiteslaunches/2020-annual-report/MunichRe-
Group-Annual-Report-2020-
en.pdf/_jcr_content/renditions/original./MunichRe-
Group-Annual-Report-2020-en.pdf 

Group 2021 SFCR https://www.munichre.com/content/dam/munichre/mr
websiteslaunches/2021-sfcr/MunichRe-SFCR-2021-
Group_en.pdf/_jcr_content/renditions/original./Munich
Re-SFCR-2021-Group_en.pdf 

World Wide Web addresses contained in this Offering Memorandum are for explanatory purposes only and the 
content of such websites (other than the contents thereof specifically incorporated by reference in this Offering 

Memorandum) do not form a part of, and are not incorporated by reference into, this Offering Memorandum and 
should not be relied upon for purposes of forming an investment decision with respect to the Bonds. 

Each report containing information which is incorporated by reference herein is current only as of the date of such 

document, and the incorporation by reference of such document shall not create any implication that there has been 
no change in the Group’s or the Issuer’s affairs, as the case may be, since the date thereof or that the information 

contained therein is current as of any time subsequent to its date. In addition, Exhibit A hereto contains information 
that was originally issued on March 7, 2022 as part of the Group Annual Report 2021, and Exhibit B hereto contains 
information that was originally issued on March 8, 2021, as part of the Group Annual Report 2020. Any statement 

contained in the sections of the reports incorporated by reference herein will be modified or superseded for all 
purposes to the extent that a statement contained in this Offering Memorandum or in a subsequently dated document 

incorporated by reference herein modifies or is contrary to that previous statement. Any statement so modified or 
superseded will not be deemed a part of this Offering Memorandum except as so modified or superseded. 
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

Certain terms used in this Offering Memorandum and financial measures presented in the documents incorporated 

by reference herein are not recognized financial measures under International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) (the “Alternative Performance Measures”) and may therefore not be 
considered as an alternative to the financial measures defined in the accounting standards in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles. The Issuer has provided these Alternative Performance Measures as it 
believes they provide investors with additional information to assess the operating performance and financial 

standing of Munich Re’s business activities. The definition of the Alternative Performance Measures may vary from 
the definition of identically named alternative performance measures used by other companies. The Alternative 
Performance Measures for Munich Re, as presented by the Issuer, should not be considered as an alternative to 

measures of operating performance or financial standing derived in accordance with IFRS. These Alternative 
Performance Measures have limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation or as substitutes 

for the analysis of the consolidated results or liabilities as reported under IFRS. 

For further information, please see “Description of the Issuer and the Group – Alternative Performance Measures”. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Offering Memorandum contains forward-looking statements. A forward-looking statement is any statement that 

does not relate to present or historical facts and events. Statements in this Offering Memorandum containing 
information relating to, among other things, (i) the Group’s future earnings, cash flows, capital expenditures and 
profitability, (ii) the Group’s plans and expectations regarding its business, (iii) the Group’s strategy, and (iv) 

projected industry growth in the markets in which the Group operates are all examples of forward-looking statements. 
In addition, statements made using words such as “anticipates,” “contemplates,” “continues,” “could,” “is likely,” 

“will,” “believes,” “expects,” “assumes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “targets” or “intends” or the negative of these 
words may indicate forward-looking statements. 

The forward-looking statements in this Offering Memorandum are subject to risks and uncertainties, as they relate 
to future events, and are based on estimates and assessments made to the best of the Issuer’s present knowledge. 

These forward-looking statements are based on assumptions, uncertainties and other factors, the occurrence or non-
occurrence of which could cause the Group’s actual results, including the financial condition and profitability of the 

Group, to differ materially from or fail to meet the expectations expressed or implied in the forward-looking 
statements. Accordingly, investors are strongly advised to consider this Offering Memorandum as a whole and 

particularly ensure that they have read the section entitled “Risk Factors”. In light of these factors, it is possible that 
the future events mentioned in this Offering Memorandum might not occur and future projections may prove to be 
inaccurate. 

Actual results, performance or events may differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements due 

to, among other reasons: 

 the development of the war in Ukraine, the resulting comprehensive sanctions against Russia and the 
respective consequences thereof;

 further developments related to the outbreak of SARS-CoV-2 and its associated disease (“COVID-19”), 

together with any measures aimed at mitigating a further expansion thereof;

 changes of the general economic conditions and competitive situation, particularly in the Group’s core 
business and core markets;

 performance of financial markets (particularly market volatility, liquidity and credit events);

 frequency and severity of insured loss events, including natural catastrophes, and the development of 

loss expenses;

 mortality and morbidity levels and trends;

 the increase in the inflation rate in many industrialized countries, including the United States and 
Germany; 

 interest rate levels;

 currency inflation, including the Euro and U.S. dollar;

 currency exchange rate developments, including the Euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate;

 changes in laws and regulations, including tax regulations;

 the impact of acquisitions, including related integration issues, and reorganization measures;

 general competitive factors, in each case on a local, regional, national and/or global basis;

 further impairments of investments;

 changes in the policies of central banks and/or foreign governments;
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 terror attacks, events of war and their respective consequences, 

and other factors described in this Offering Memorandum. This list of important factors is not exhaustive. The 

foregoing factors and other uncertainties and events should be carefully considered, especially in light of the 
regulatory, political, economic, social and legal environment in which the Issuer operates. 

Neither the Issuer nor its management can therefore guarantee the future accuracy of the forward-looking statements 

presented in this Offering Memorandum. 

Forward-looking statements included in this Offering Memorandum speak only as of the date on which they are 
made. Neither the Issuer nor any of the Initial Purchasers assumes any obligation, except as required by law, to 

update any forward-looking statement contained herein. 
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ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES 

Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München is a stock corporation 

(Aktiengesellschaft) governed by German law and a significant majority of its assets are located outside the United 
States. In addition, most members of its management board (Vorstand) and supervisory board (Aufsichtsrat) are non-
residents of the United States and substantially all of their assets are located outside the United States. 

As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon the Issuer 

or such persons or to enforce against them or the Issuer judgments of courts of the United States, whether or not 
predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States or other laws of the 

United States or any state thereof. The United States and Germany do not currently have a treaty providing for 
reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters. Therefore, a final judgment 
for payment of money rendered by a federal or state court in the United States based on civil liability, whether or not 

predicated solely upon United States’ federal securities laws, may not be enforceable, either in whole or in part, in 
Germany. Furthermore, mandatory provisions of German law may apply regardless of any other law that would 

otherwise apply. 

However, if the party in whose favor such final judgment is rendered brings a new suit in a competent court in 
Germany, such party may submit to the German court the final judgment rendered in the United States. Under such 

circumstances, a judgment by a federal or state court of the United States against either the Issuer or such persons 
will be regarded by a German court only as evidence of the outcome of the dispute to which such judgment relates, 
and a German court may choose to rehear the dispute. In addition, awards of punitive damages in actions brought in 

the United States or elsewhere may be unenforceable in Germany. 
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1 SUMMARY 

The following summary highlights some of the information contained elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum. 
This summary is not complete and does not contain all the information that may be important to you. You should 

read the entire Offering Memorandum, including the consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference 
herein, before making an investment decision. References to other portions of this Offering Memorandum have 

been included to direct you to a more complete description of the topics presented in this summary. You should 
also read “Risk Factors” in this Offering Memorandum for more information about important risks that you 

should consider before making an investment decision and the information incorporated herein by reference. 

The Issuer and the Group 

Munich Reinsurance Company (the Issuer of the Bonds) together with its subsidiaries form the Group. Munich 

Reinsurance Company is the ultimate parent entity of the Group.  

The Issuer was established in Munich in 1880. From the beginning, the object of the company was reinsurance in 
all classes of business. On March 21, 1888, the company was listed on the Munich stock exchange. Shortly after 

its establishment, the Issuer expanded its activities to foreign countries. In 1890, it established its London branch 
and in 1899 its branch in the United States. In the assessment of the Issuer, the Issuer has since developed into 
one of the leading reinsurance companies worldwide. 

Munich Re is also active in the primary insurance business through its shareholdings. As a result of restructurings, 
since 1997, the primary insurance business of Munich Re has been conducted particularly through ERGO Group 
AG (“ERGO”). 

In 1999, Munich Re established the MEAG MUNICH ERGO AssetManagement group of companies (“MEAG”) 

for the purpose of optimizing Munich Re’s asset management operations. 

Business Overview

In the assessment of the Issuer, Munich Re is one of the world’s leading risk carriers and provides both insurance 
and reinsurance under one roof. This enables Munich Re to cover large stretches of the value chain in the risk 

market. Almost all reinsurance units operate under the uniform brand of Munich Re. ERGO is active in nearly all 
lines of life, health and property-casualty insurance. The majority of Munich Re’s investments are managed by 

MEAG, which also offers its expertise to private and institutional investors outside the Group. 

Reinsurance

The reinsurance companies of Munich Re operate globally and in virtually all classes of business. Munich Re 
offers a full range of products, from traditional reinsurance to innovative solutions for risk assumption. The 

respective companies conduct their business from their respective headquarters and via a large number of branches, 
subsidiaries and affiliated companies. The reinsurance group also includes specialty primary insurers, whose 
business requires special competence in finding appropriate solutions. Some 44% of gross premiums written by 

the reinsurance companies of Munich Re in 2021 were derived from North America, 33% from Europe & Latin 
American, 18% from Asia Pacific and 5% from Africa & the Middle East. 

ERGO

In ERGO, Munich Re combines its primary insurance activities. Some 69% of gross premiums written by ERGO 

in 2021 were derived from Germany, 10% from Poland, 5% from Spain, 5% from Belgium and 11% from the rest 
of the world. 

For further information on the Issuer and the Group, see “Description of the Issuer and the Group”.



-18- 

Summary of the Offering

This summary must be read as an introduction to this Offering Memorandum and any decision to invest in the 

Bonds should be based on a consideration of the Offering Memorandum as a whole, including the documents 
incorporated by reference. No civil liability attaches to the persons responsible for this summary solely on the 

basis of this summary.  

Words and expressions defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds (the “Terms and Conditions”) or 
elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum have the same meaning in this summary. 

The Issuer: Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München 
(the “Issuer”). 

The Bonds: Subordinated resettable fixed rate bonds with a scheduled maturity in 2042 
(the “Bonds” and each a “Bond”) in a specified denomination of 

US$ 200,000 per Bond (the “Specified Denomination”) issued in an 
aggregate principal amount of US$ 1,250,000,000. 

Risk Factors: There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfill its 
obligations under the Bonds or to make payments under the Bonds. Certain 

of these factors are set out under “Risk Factors” below and include, among 
others, risks relating to regulatory and legislative changes, reputation, 

market, liquidity and legal risks and the general economic situation. In 
addition, there are certain factors that are material for the purposes of 

assessing the risks related to the Bonds, including that the Issuer will be 
required to defer interest payments under certain circumstances and that the 
Bonds are contractually subordinated. There are no events of default and 

investors have virtually no ability to influence the outcome of any insolvency 
proceedings. The Bonds may therefore not be a suitable investment for all 

investors. 

Joint Lead Managers: Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, 
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, HSBC 
Securities (USA) Inc. and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC. 

Issue Price:  100.000 per cent. of the Specified Denomination. 

Form of the Bonds: The Bonds are represented by two or more permanent global certificates 
without interest coupons, each of which will represent either Bonds sold in 
the United States of America (the “United States”) to “qualified institutional 

buyers” as defined in, and in reliance on, Rule 144A under the U.S. 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) (the “Rule 144A 

Global Bond(s)”) or Bonds sold outside the United States to persons other 
than U.S. persons as defined in, and in reliance on, Regulation S under the 

Securities Act (the “Regulation S Global Bond(s)” and, together with the 
Rule 144A Global Bond, the “Global Bonds” and each a “Global Bond”). 
Copies of the Global Bonds are available for inspection, at no charge, during 

normal business hours at the office of the Fiscal Agent. 

Status of the Bonds: The Bonds constitute unsecured subordinated obligations of the Issuer. The 
Terms and Conditions provide that in the event of the dissolution, 
liquidation, insolvency or any proceeding to avoid insolvency of the Issuer, 

(a) the obligations under the Bonds rank pari passu among themselves and 
pari passu with obligations of the Issuer under instruments which, pursuant 

to their terms or mandatory provisions of law, rank pari passu with the 
Bonds (including the Issuer’s existing hybrid bonds as specified in the terms 
and condition); (b) the obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds will be 

subordinated to all (i) unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (for the 
avoidance of doubt, including any claims of all policy holders and 

beneficiaries under insurance and reinsurance contracts); (ii) subordinated 
obligations of the Issuer pursuant to § 39(1) of the German Insolvency Code;
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(iii) subordinated obligations ranking at least with the Issuer’s obligations 
subordinated by operation of law pursuant to § 39(1) of the German 

Insolvency Code; and (iv) subordinated obligations of the Issuer required to 
be preferred by mandatory provisions of law, so that in any such event no 

amounts will be payable in respect of the Bonds until the aforementioned 
senior ranking obligations of the Issuer have been satisfied in full. (See also 
“Risk Factors — Risks Related to the Bonds — Risks resulting from the 

subordination of the Bonds”.) 

No Security: No security of whatever kind is, or will at any time be, provided by the Issuer 
or any other person securing rights of the Bondholders under the Bonds. 

No Set-off: The Bondholders may not set off any claims arising under the Bonds against 
any claims that the Issuer may have against each of them. The Issuer may 

not set off any claims it may have against any Bondholder against any of its 
obligations under the Bonds. 

Use of Proceeds: It is the Issuer’s intention to allocate an amount equivalent to the net 
proceeds from the offer of the Bonds to finance or refinance, in whole or in 

part, existing and/or future Eligible Projects in accordance with the Issuer’s 
Green Bond Framework (See also “Use of Proceeds”.) 

Fiscal Agent, Paying Agent, 
Transfer Agent and Calculation 

Agent: 

Citibank, N.A., London Branch. 

Registrar: Citibank Europe plc. 

Clearing System: DTC. 

Issue Date: May 23, 2022. 

Currency: U.S. Dollars (“US$”). 

Specified Denomination: US$ 200,000 per Bond. Each Bond may only be held and transferred in a 
denomination that is equal to its Specified Denomination. 

Scheduled Maturity Date: May 23, 2042, provided that on the Scheduled Maturity Date the conditions 
to redemption and repurchase (as specified in “Terms and Conditions of the 
Bonds — § 5 (Redemption and repurchase)”), in particular, the prior 

approval of the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority 
(Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht) or any authority which 

becomes its successor in such capacity as insurance regulator competent for 
the Issuer or the Group (the “Competent Supervisory Authority”), are 
fulfilled. If this is not the case, the Bonds will only be redeemed on the 10th

business day following the day on which the conditions to redemption and 
repurchase, in particular, the prior approval of the Competent Supervisory 

Authority, are fulfilled again for the first time after the Scheduled Maturity 
Date. 

Interest Payment Dates: May 23 and November 23 in each year, commencing on November 23, 2022. 

Rate of Interest: The Bonds will bear interest (i) from and including May 23, 2022 (the 
“Interest Commencement Day”) to but excluding the First Reset Date at a 
fixed rate of 5.875 per cent, per annum, scheduled to be paid semi-annually 

in arrear on each Interest Payment Date and (ii) for the period from and 
including the First Reset Date to but excluding the next following Reset Date 

and thereafter from and including each Reset Date to but excluding the next 
Reset Date at the sum of the applicable Reference Rate and the Margin, 
subject to a minimum Rate of Interest of 0.00% per annum, as further 

specified in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — § 4 (Interest)”. 

Reference Rate: Semi-annual CMT Rate (expressed in per cent. per annum), i.e., a semi-
annual yield for U.S. Treasury Securities at “constant maturity” for a period 
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to maturity of five years, as published in the H.15 under the caption “U.S. 
government securities-Treasury constant maturities-Nominal”. 

Margin: 3.982 per cent. per annum. 

Reset Dates: The First Reset Date and thereafter each fifth anniversary of the preceding 
Reset Date. 

Optional Deferral of Interest 
Payments: 

Interest which accrues during an Interest Period ending on but excluding an 
Optional Interest Payment Date will be due and payable (fällig) on that 

Optional Interest Payment Date, unless the Issuer elects, by giving not less 
than 10 and not more than 15 Business Days’ notice to the Bondholders prior 

to the relevant Interest Payment Date to defer the relevant payment of 
interest in whole or in part. 

If the Issuer elects to defer, or to only pay partially, accrued interest on an 

Optional Interest Payment Date, then it will not have any obligation to pay 
accrued interest or will only be obliged to pay such part of the accrued 
interest it elects to pay, respectively, on such Optional Interest Payment Date. 

Any such non-payment of accrued interest will not constitute a default of the 
Issuer or any other breach of its obligations under the Bonds or for any other 
purpose. 

Mandatory Deferral of Interest 
Payments: 

If a Mandatory Deferral Event has occurred in respect of any Interest 
Payment Date, interest which accrued during the period ending on but 

excluding such Interest Payment Date will not be due and payable (fällig) on 
that Interest Payment Date.  

Any such failure to pay interest will not constitute a default of the Issuer or 

any other breach of its obligations under the Bonds or for any other purpose. 

The Issuer will give notice to the Bondholders of the occurrence of the 
Mandatory Deferral Event as soon as possible after its determination but in 

no event later than on the fourth Business Day following the relevant Interest 
Payment Date. Any failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of 

the deferral of the interest payments and shall not constitute a default for any 
purpose. If the Issuer has not given the notice until the relevant Interest 
Payment Date, it shall give it without undue delay thereafter. 

No Default and no Right to 

Accelerate the Bonds: 

The Terms and Conditions do not contain any event of default provisions 

that would allow Bondholders to accelerate the Bonds on the occurrence of 
an event of default nor any put right nor any other right to accelerate the 
redemption of the Bonds. 

Redemption at the Option of 
the Issuer: 

The Issuer may, subject to the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase 
being fulfilled, upon giving notice of redemption, call the Bonds for early 

redemption (in whole but not in part) with effect as of any date during the 
period from and including November 23, 2031 to and including the First 

Reset Date and on any Interest Payment Date thereafter. If the Issuer 
exercises its call right in accordance with the preceding sentence and the 

Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase are fulfilled on the redemption 
date, the Issuer shall redeem the Bonds at the Redemption Amount on the 
redemption date specified in the notice of redemption. 

Redemption after the 

Occurrence of a Gross-
Up Event, Tax Event, 
Regulatory Event, 

Accounting Event or 
Rating Event: 

If a Gross-Up Event, a Tax Event, a Regulatory Event, an Accounting Event 

or a Rating Event occurs, the Issuer may, subject to the Conditions to 
Redemption and Repurchase being fulfilled, upon giving notice of 
redemption, call the Bonds for early redemption (in whole but not in part) at 

any time with effect as of the redemption date specified in the notice of 
redemption (each of such call rights, an “Extraordinary Call Right”). If the 

Issuer exercises any Extraordinary Call Right in accordance with the 
preceding sentence and the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase are 
fulfilled on the specified redemption date, the Issuer shall redeem the Bonds 
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at the Redemption Amount on the redemption date specified in the notice of 
redemption. 

The Issuer may waive, however, at any time and in its sole discretion, any of 

the Extraordinary Call Rights for a (definite or indefinite) period of time to 
be determined by the Issuer (the “Inapplicability Period”) by giving notice 

to the Bondholders. Any notice so given will be irrevocable and shall specify 
the Inapplicability Period(s) during which the Issuer shall cease to have the 

respective Extraordinary Call Right(s). 

Conditions to Redemption and 
Repurchase: 

Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase means the requirements that 
must be met on any day with respect to a scheduled redemption of the Bonds 
by the Issuer or a planned repurchase of Bonds by the Issuer or its 

subsidiaries in accordance with the Applicable Supervisory Regulations in 
order for the Bonds to qualify as Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer and the Munich 
Re Group (as defined in the Terms and Conditions) in accordance with the 

Applicable Supervisory Regulations, see “Terms and Conditions of the 
Bonds — § 4 (Interest)”. 

Further Issues of Bonds:  The Issuer may at any time, without the consent of the Bondholders, issue 
further bonds having the same terms and conditions as the Bonds in all 

respects (or in all respects except for the issue date, the interest 
commencement date and/or the issue price) so as to form a single series with 

the Bonds; provided that the additional bonds will not be issued under the 
same CUSIP, ISIN or Common Code as the Bonds unless such additional 
bonds are fungible with the Bonds for U.S. federal income tax purposes.  

No increase of these Bonds will be made if such increase would result in a 

Regulatory Event entitling the Issuer to redeem the Bonds. 

Amendments to the Terms and 
Conditions of the Bonds: 

The Issuer may agree with the Bondholders on amendments to the Terms 
and Conditions or on other matters by virtue of a majority resolution of the 
Bondholders pursuant to § 5 et seqq. of the German Act on Issues of Debt 

Securities (Gesetz über Schuldverschreibungen aus Gesamtemissionen), as 
amended (“SchVG”).  

This Issuer’s right is subject to the following restrictions: 

(i) the regulatory restrictions set out in § 3(2), § 3(3), § 3(4) and 

§ 5(6) of the Terms and Conditions; 

(ii) the compliance with the Applicable Supervisory Regulations at 
the time of an amendment of the Terms and Conditions for the 

Bonds to qualify for the inclusion in the determination of the 
own funds for solvency purposes of the Issuer and/or for group 

solvency purposes of the Munich Re Group as Tier 2 Capital (or 
a better category of own funds); and 

(iii) the prior consent of the Competent Supervisory Authority (if 
under the Applicable Supervisory Regulations such prior 

consent is required at the time). 

There will be no amendment of the Terms and Conditions without the 
Issuer’s consent. The Bondholders may consent to amendments which 

materially change the substance of the Terms and Conditions, including such 
measures as provided for under § 5 paragraph 3 SchVG, by resolutions 

passed by such majority of the votes of the Bondholders as stated under 
§ 12(2) of the Terms and Conditions. A duly passed majority resolution shall 
be binding equally upon all Bondholders.  

See “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds — § 12 (Amendments to the Terms 
and Conditions by resolution of the Bondholders; Joint Representative)”. 

Substitution of the Issuer: The Issuer may at any time, without the consent of the Bondholders, 
substitute for itself any other company (other than an insurance undertaking) 
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which is directly or indirectly controlled by the Issuer as new issuer (the 
“New Issuer”) in respect of all obligations arising under or in connection 

with the Bonds with the effect of releasing the Issuer of all such obligations, 
subject to § 13(1) of the Terms and Conditions. 

Repurchase: Subject to the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase being fulfilled, the 
Issuer or any of its subsidiaries may, as far as legally permissible, at any time 

acquire Bonds in the open market or otherwise and at any price. Such 
acquired Bonds may be cancelled, held or resold. 

The Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase do not have to be fulfilled 

for repurchases made by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries for the account 
of a third party or Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable 

Securities (“UCITS”), unless the majority of the shares in the relevant 
UCITS are held by the Issuer or one of its subsidiaries. 

Ratings: The expected rating of the Bonds on the issue date is A2(hyb) by Moody’s 
Deutschland GmbH and A by S&P Global Ratings Europe Ltd. A rating is 

not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to 
suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. 
Neither the rating agency nor the Issuer is obligated to provide holders of 

Bonds with any notice of any suspension, change or withdrawal of any 
rating. 

Listing and Trading: Application has been made to have the Bonds listed on the official list of the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Euro MTF 

Market operated by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, which is a multilateral 
trading facility for the purposes of MiFID II, and, therefore, not an EU-

regulated market. 

Applicable Law: The form and the content of the Bonds as well as all the rights and duties 
arising therefrom are governed by, and construed in accordance with, the 
laws of the Federal Republic of Germany, without giving effect to the 

conflict of laws provisions of German international private law 
(Kollisionsnormen des deutschen Internationalen Privatrechts). Any 
disposition (Verfügung) of beneficial interests in the Bonds, including 

transfers and pledges, executed between Participants and between DTC itself 
and Participants shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York.  

To the extent permitted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 864/2007 of the 

European Parliament and of the Council of July 11, 2007 on the law 
applicable to non-contractual obligations, all non-contractual claims arising 
out of or in connection with the Bonds are governed by and will be construed 

in accordance with German law without giving effect to the conflict of laws 
provisions of German international private law. 

Place of Jurisdiction: Subject to any mandatory jurisdiction for specific proceedings under the 
SchVG, to the extent legally permissible, the exclusive place of jurisdiction 

for all legal disputes arising from matters provided for in these Terms and 
Conditions will be Munich, Federal Republic of Germany. The Issuer 

irrevocably waives any objection which it might now or hereafter have to 
the courts of Munich being nominated as the forum to hear and determine 

any proceedings and to settle any legal disputes and agrees not to claim that 
any of those courts is not a convenient or appropriate forum. 

CUSIP: 62582P AA8 (144A) / D5558X AA6 (Regulation S) 

ISIN: US62582PAA84 (144A) / USD5558XAA66 (Regulation S) 

Common Code: 248528320 (144A) / 248528117 (Regulation S) 
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Summary Financial Information 

The following tables present selected consolidated financial and operating information of Munich Re. This 

selected consolidated financial and operating information must be read together with and is qualified in its entirety 
by reference to (i) our consolidated financial statements and the Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement that are 

incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum and (ii) the section of this Offering Memorandum entitled 
“Description of the Issuer and the Group”, including the description of our non-IFRS measures in “Description 
of the Issuer and the Group—Alternative Performance Measures”.

With the exception of these non-IFRS financial measures discussed in “Description of the Issuer and the Group—
Alternative Performance Measures”, this selected consolidated financial information is extracted or derived from 
our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 

(together, the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) and additional requirements of German law 

pursuant to Section 315e (1) German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – “HGB”) and the Group 1/2022 
Financial Supplement. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by Ernst & Young GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Stuttgart, Munich office, Arnulfstrasse 59, 80636 Munich, Germany, (“EY”). 

The Group 1/2022 Quarterly Statement as of March 31, 2022 published in accordance with Paragraph 53 of the 
Exchange Rules for the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Börsenordnung der Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse) and the 

Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement are unaudited. The Consolidated Financial Statements and portions of the 
Group 1/2022 Quarterly Statement and the Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement are incorporated by reference in 

this Offering Memorandum (see “Incorporation By Reference”).  

The financial information in this Offering Memorandum presented as “audited” has been taken from the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The financial information in this Offering Memorandum presented as 
“unaudited” has not been taken from the Consolidated Financial Statements, but has been derived from the 

Consolidated Financial Statements, taken or derived from the combined management reports for the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement or the Issuer’s accounting records or 

internal management reporting systems, or is based on calculations using these figures. The comparative figures 
shown for the three months ended March 31, 2021 are taken from the Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement or from 
the Issuer’s accounting records. 

Certain financial information, including percentages, in this Offering Memorandum has been rounded in 
accordance with established commercial standards. In some instances, such rounded figures and percentages in 
the tables below may not add up to the aggregate amounts in such tables (sum totals or subtotals), which are 

calculated based on unrounded figures. Furthermore, changes and ratios are calculated based on unrounded figures. 
A dash (“–”) signifies that the relevant figure is not available or zero, while a zero (“0.0”) signifies that the relevant 

figure has been rounded to zero. 



-24- 

Selected Key Figures of the Group  

Munich Re Total 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31  

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1,3)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 16,833 14,551 59,567 54,890 51,457 

Technical result  976 480 1,927 600 2,283 

Non-technical result  -195 318 1,590 1,386 1,147 

thereof: investment result 987 1,691 7,156 7,398 7,822 

Other(2) -174 -208 -586 -775 -723 

Consolidated result 608 589 2,932 1,211 2,707 

(1) In the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, Munich Re made some amendments to 
the way it accounts for project costs, innovation costs and Finance Division costs, in particular in order to show ongoing and one-
time expenditure in a more transparent and consistent way. This resulted in reclassifications in the consolidated income statement 
and segment income statement and in an adjustment of the comparative financial year 2019 figures in line with IAS 1.41 in the 
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. The change had no impact on the result.

(2) Other contains the line items other non-operating result, currency result, net finance costs and taxes on income, each as shown in 
the Issuer’s segment reporting.

(3) The calculation of income from technical interest in the ERGO Life Germany division was developed further. The comparative 
financial year 2019 figures were adjusted in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
The change had no impact on the result. 

Selected Key Figures of Reportable Segments 

The subsequent charts show key figures of reportable segments of Munich Re.  

Reinsurance: Life and Health 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 3,369 3,058 12,561 12,707 11,716 

Technical result  -46 -4 -9 -78 365 

Non-technical result  1 109 353 303 484 

thereof: investment result 122 245 860 846 1,097 

Other(2) -32 -54 -19 -101 -144 

Consolidated result -78 52 325 123 706 

Reinsurance: Property-Casualty 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 7,938 6,330 28,793 24,615 22,091 

Technical result  866 265 972 -171 1,157 

Non-technical result  -167 187 1,380 931 607 

thereof: investment result 86 423 2,562 2,347 2,220 

Other(2) -110 -94 -349 -188 -202 

Consolidated result 589 358 2,003 571 1,562 
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ERGO: Life and Health Germany 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1,3)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 2,461 2,265 9,203 9,030 9,238
Technical result  43 116 349 353 287
Non-technical result  -29 20 -147 95 102

thereof: investment result 645 898 3,201 3,605 3,916
Other(2) 30 -42 -37 -317 -203
Consolidated result 44 94 164 130 187

ERGO: Property-Casualty Germany 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 1,679 1,535 3,919 3,677 3,500 

Technical result  22 51 302 294 303 

Non-technical result  15 -15 51 -39 -91 

thereof: investment result 56 29 209 175 157 

Other(2) -26 -12 -120 -97 -64 

Consolidated result 12 24 234 157 148 

ERGO: International 

Three-month period ended 

March 31  Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 1,386 1,362 5,092 4,861 4,912 

Technical result  91 51 313 202 171 

Non-technical result  -15 16 -47 96 45 

thereof: investment result 78 95 324 425 430 

Other(2) -36 -7 -59 -69 -111 

Consolidated result 40 60 207 230 105 

(1) In the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, Munich Re made some amendments to 
the way it accounts for project costs, innovation costs and Finance Division costs, in particular in order to show ongoing and one-
time expenditure in a more transparent and consistent way. This resulted in reclassifications in the consolidated income statement 
and segment income statement and in an adjustment of the comparative financial year 2019 figures in line with IAS 1.41 in the 
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. The change had no impact on the result.

(2) Other contains the line items other non-operating result, currency result, net finance costs and taxes on income, each as shown in 
the Issuer’s segment reporting.

(3) The calculation of income from technical interest in the ERGO Life Germany division was developed further. The comparative 
financial year 2019 figures were adjusted in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
The change had no impact on the result. 

Solvency ratios of the Issuer and the Group 

The capital requirements, as well as the definition and calculation of eligible capital, are governed by the Solvency 

II rules that came into force on January 1, 2016. The Issuer’s and the Group’s own funds as well as the capital 
requirements are since then based on the market value balance sheet approach as the major economic principle of 

the Solvency II rules.  
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Munich Re reports Solvency II regulatory capitalization both excluding and including transitional measures for 
technical provisions. For the Bonds the relevant Solvency II regulatory capitalization measures, for example for 

the determination of whether a Solvency Capital Event has occurred, are those that include the transitional 
measures for technical provisions. 

The Group: Solvency II Regulatory Capitalization  

Eligible own funds excluding the application of transitional measures for technical provisions  

As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 

(amounts in € million unless stated 

otherwise) 
(unaudited) 

Eligible own funds(1) 46,626 39,919 41,544 35,995 35,060 

Solvency capital requirement (SCR) 20,540 19,180 17,531 14,670 14,353 

Solvency II ratio (in percent) 227% 208% 237% 245% 244% 

Eligible own funds to meet the 

minimum consolidated group SCR 43,998 36,864 39,811 33,846 33,538 

Minimum consolidated Group SCR 14,632 14,858 13,582 12,096 11,627 

Ratio of Eligible own funds to 

Minimum Consolidated Group SCR 301% 248% 293% 280% 288% 

(1) Total eligible own funds to meet the group SCR (including own funds from other financial sectors and from the undertakings 
included via D&A). In 2020, eligible own funds comprised 1% Tier 3 capital, 13% Tier 2 capital and 86% Tier 1 capital and in 
2021, eligible own funds comprised 0% Tier 3 capital, 11% Tier 2 capital and 89% Tier 1 capital.

Eligible own funds including the application of transitional measures for technical provisions 

As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 

(amounts in € million unless stated 

otherwise) 
(unaudited) 

Eligible own funds(1) 52,245 46,093 48,085 43,241 42,626 

Solvency capital requirement (SCR) 20,540 19,180 17,531 14,670 14,353 

Solvency II ratio (in percent) 254% 240% 274% 295% 297% 

Eligible own funds to meet the 

minimum consolidated group SCR 49,623 43,059 46,363 41,091 41,104 

Minimum consolidated Group SCR 14,632 14,858 13,582 12,096 11,627 

Ratio of Eligible own funds to 

Minimum Consolidated Group SCR 339% 290% 341% 340% 354% 

(1) Total eligible own funds to meet the group SCR (including own funds from other financial sectors and from the undertakings 
included via D&A).

As of March 31, 2022, Munich Re’s Solvency II ratio (in percent), excluding the application of transitional 

measures for technical provisions, was 231%, and including the application of transitional measures for technical 
provisions was 257%.
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Munich Reinsurance Company: Solvency II Regulatory Capitalization  

Eligible own funds excluding the application of transitional measures for technical provisions 

As of December 31 

2021 2020 

(amounts in € million unless stated otherwise) (unaudited) 

Eligible own funds 47,014 40,251 

Solvency capital requirement 20,540 19,180 

Solvency II ratio (in percent) 229% 210% 

Eligible own funds to meet the Minimum Capital Requirement 43,629 36,743 

Minimum Capital Requirement 8,414 8,631 

Ratio of Eligible own funds to Minimum Capital Requirement 519% 426% 

Eligible own funds including the application of transitional measures for technical provisions 

As of December 31 

2021 2020 

(amounts in € million unless stated otherwise) (unaudited) 

Eligible own funds 52,633 46,426 

Solvency capital requirement 20,540 19,180 

Solvency II ratio (in percent) 256% 242% 

Eligible own funds to meet the Minimum Capital Requirement 49,248 42,938 

Minimum Capital Requirement 8,414 8,631 

Ratio of Eligible own funds to Minimum Capital Requirement 585% 497% 

As of March 31, 2022, the Munich Reinsurance Company’s Solvency II ratio (in percent), excluding the 

application of transitional measures for technical provisions, was 233%, and including the application of 
transitional measures for technical provisions was 259%.
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Recent Events Since March 31, 2022

Since March 31, 2022, the following recent events have occurred: 

On April 1, 2022, via its UK subsidiary HSB Engineering Insurance Limited (“HSB”), Munich Re acquired 100% 

of the voting interests of MD Insurance Services Limited, and its seven wholly owned subsidiaries, MDIS 
(International) Limited and MD Affinity Schemes Limited (together the “MD Group”), each having its registered 

office in Birkenhead, Great Britain. The MD Group comprises an engineering-led managing general agent, which 
sells and handles structural warranty insurance products, together with several related inspection services 

companies. The acquisition is intended to expand HSB’s specialist core insurance offerings and enhance its 
distribution capabilities within the UK construction sector. 

On April 14, 2022, Munich Re, via its subsidiary Munich Life Holding Corporation, Delaware, United States, 
acquired 100% of the voting shares in MedVirginia, Inc. (“Clareto”), Delaware, United States. Clareto partners 

with health information exchanges and other electronic health records (“EHRs”) data sources to facilitate the 
collection of electronic health information pursuant to the United States’ Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act (commonly known as HIPAA) and produce HIPAA-compliant authorizations in support of 
underwriting, claims, and other business processes for the life insurance industry. The intent of the acquisition is 

to enable Munich Re to structure EHRs for optimal use in life insurance underwriting, thereby streamlining its 
life insurance clients’ underwriting processes and delivering a better customer experience.
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2 RISK FACTORS 

Before deciding to purchase the Bonds, prospective investors should carefully review and consider the following risk 

factors and the other information contained in this Offering Memorandum. The occurrence of one or more of these 
risks alone or in combination with other circumstances may have a material adverse effect on our business, results 

of operations, financial condition and cash flows, may affect our ability to fulfill our obligations under the Bonds 
and may adversely affect the market value of the Bonds. The order in which the risks are presented does not reflect 
the likelihood of their occurrence or the magnitude or significance of the individual risks. Investing in the Bonds 

could involve additional risks and uncertainties of which we may not currently be aware, or which we may currently 
not consider material. An investment in the Bonds is only suitable for investors experienced in financial matters who 

are in a position to fully assess the risks relating to such an investment and who have sufficient financial means to 
absorb any potential loss stemming therefrom. The following discussion contains a number of forward-looking 
statements. Please refer to the “Forward-Looking Statements” discussion in this Offering Memorandum for 

cautionary information. 

2.1 Risks Relating to the Issuer and the Group  

Underwriting Risks 

The prospects and the profitability of Munich Re are, among other things, subject to underwriting risks in its primary 

and reinsurance businesses. Underwriting risks at Munich Re consist essentially of premium and reserve risks in the 
Property-Casualty business segment as well as biometric risks and policyholder behavior (e.g., lapses) risks in the 
Life/Health business segment. 

Property and Casualty business 

The property-casualty risk category encompasses the underwriting risks in the property, motor, third-party liability, 
personal accident, marine, aviation and space business segment as well as credit classes of insurance, together with 
special lines also allocated to property-casualty, e.g., cyber, contingency business or non-damage business 

interruption. Underwriting risk in the property and casualty business is defined as the risk of insured losses being 
higher than expected. Premium and reserve risks are significant components of these underwriting risks.  

Premium risk is the risk of future claims payments relating to insured losses that have not yet occurred being higher 

than expected. Reserve risk is the risk of technical provisions established being insufficient to cover losses that have 
already been incurred. An adverse development of claims from new, newly renewed or in-force business could thus 
adversely impact Munich Re’s financial results. 

Munich Re calculates its reserves and prices its (re-)insurance contracts using actuarial methods and loss estimates. 
For the decision to enter a specific reinsurance or retrocession agreement and for the assessment of the adequate 
technical provisions Munich Re relies, among others, on the provision of correct and sufficient risk information by 

the relevant ceding company. A provision of incorrect or incomplete information may result in the underwriting of 
unprofitable business.  

Risk-adequate pricing and reserving is particularly difficult in property and casualty business because claims are 

often settled significantly after the exposure period has ended. Examples of past estimates that turned out to be 
inaccurate in the market and to a certain extent also within Munich Re are claims in connection with unprecedented 

large catastrophes, asbestos, environmental liability claims, as well as bodily injury driven claims (e.g., in workers’ 
compensation insurance or motor insurance). In case of these and other claims, changes in legislation or regulations, 
trends to more plaintiff-friendly legal decisions and jury awards (‘social inflation’), changes in policyholder behavior, 

changes in healthcare expenses and repair costs, along with other inflationary variables such as wage inflation may 
make higher claims reserves necessary. Given the dynamically developing practice of court rulings and the 

unpredictability of future court practice in some of the environments in which Munich Re operates, the accuracy of 
the level of reserves can be particularly difficult to assess. 

Although Munich Re restricts the writing of individual risks by means of underwriting constraints which set out 
uniform maximum limits on a Group-wide basis, there is nevertheless a risk that the claims burden of any one risk 

may exceed the underwriting limit for Munich Re. Reasons for this could be, among others, incorrect assumptions 
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being made for the calculation of the Probable Maximum Loss (PML) for individual risks. There also remains the 

possibility of an unknown loss accumulation in one and the same risk by way of treaty acceptances from different 
cedants.  

Part of Munich Re’s property and casualty business covers potentially large losses from unforeseeable natural 

catastrophes such as hurricanes, windstorms and hailstorms, earthquakes, tsunamis, wildfires, freezes and floods. 
The frequency and extent of these catastrophes over a certain period of time can only be estimated using scientific 
methods based on experience values and prognoses of future changes. However, the frequency of such events can 

change e.g., due to natural climate cycles and climate change. Climate change is expected to lead to an increase in 
extreme weather events and geographical patterns. Even though Munich Re has been analyzing the impacts of 

anthropogenic global warming and natural climatic variability over the past decades, it is possible that the impact 
and materialized losses caused by weather-related natural disasters may differ from Munich Re’s expectations. 

Therefore, the occurrence of natural catastrophes with greater frequency or severity than expected may have a 
material negative impact on Munich Re’s earnings and financial condition. See also “Emerging risks” below.  

Large losses to Munich Re’s property and casualty (re-)insurance book can also arise due to man-made catastrophes 
such as cyber or terrorist attacks and international war.  

In recent years, cyber-attacks have become increasingly common. Cyber-attacks can cause considerable financial 
losses, damage corporate reputations and can severely hamper private and public life, especially if critical 
infrastructures such as the health, transportation, traffic and energy sector are impacted. It is in the nature of cyber 

risks that a single attack or incident may have wide-ranging consequences and impact a large number of policies 
simultaneously. As Munich Re offers its clients the respective (re-)insurance cover, cyber-attacks have the potential 

to severely impact Munich Re’s business and financial results. It is also likely that cyber warfare will play an 
increasing role in the future. The risks imposed by cyber warfare, and cyber-attacks more generally, could be 
accelerated or exacerbated by the ongoing war in Ukraine. 

Munich Re has an exposure to terrorist attacks which are only partially excluded from insurance coverage. Further 

there is a risk that terrorist attacks cannot be clearly identified, classified or evidenced as terrorist attacks. Munich 
Re could also be negatively affected by an international military confrontation given that it is not possible to 

implement war exclusions in all lines of business and for all regions. See e.g., “Risks related to the ongoing war in 
Ukraine and other geopolitical tensions” below. 

Claims arising from natural or man-made catastrophes may result in unexpectedly high losses if catastrophes 

affecting assets insured by Munich Re occur with higher frequency or have an even greater impact than estimated by 
Munich Re on the basis of statistical data and scientific models. These unexpectedly high losses may adversely affect 
the financial condition and consolidated results of Munich Re. In addition to impacting its traditional reinsurance 

business, natural and man-made catastrophes may, among others, have an impact on Munich Re’s economic situation 
due to its participation in insurance pools and public-private partnerships. 

Significant deviations from the expectations and assumptions applied in pricing and reserving compared to the actual 

claims in the various business segments may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material 
adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Life and Health business 

Underwriting risk in the life and health insurance business is defined as the risk of insured payable benefits being 

higher than expected. Of particular relevance for the Group are biometric risks and policyholder-behavior risks such 
as lapses and lump-sum options.  

In addition to the risk of random fluctuations of basic parameters such as morbidity and mortality rates resulting in 

higher claims expenditure in a particular year, there is a risk arising from adverse developments with a short-term 
impact, including rare events such as pandemics. In general, a global pandemic like the ongoing COVID-19 crisis is 
deemed to be the largest short-term accumulation risk in the life and health risk category. It can cause an unexpected 

mortality shock to the portfolio of Munich Re and have a severe cross-balance sheet impact on Munich Re. The 
measures taken by Munich Re to limit this risk, i.e., examining its overall exposure in detail using scenario analysis 

and defining appropriate measures and limits to manage the risks, may not be successful, and if pandemic events 
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occur more frequently and result in higher losses than previously expected, these losses may materially adversely 

affect the financial conditions and consolidated results of Munich Re. A more detailed assessment of the impact of 
the current COVID-19 crisis on Munich Re is included in the category “Other Risks” below.  

Life primary insurance products in particular, but also a large part of Munich Re’s health primary insurance business, 

are by nature long-term commitments and the results they produce are distributed over the entire duration of the 
policies. This can mean that negative developments in risk drivers with long-term effects may sustainably reduce the 
value of the insurance portfolio (trend risks). Trends that may lead to shorter life expectancies than currently assumed, 

constitute a significant risk for life insurance products with fixed premiums. Conversely, lower than expected 
mortality rates constitute the longevity risks for annuity insurance contracts. If longevity trends intensify, additional 

amounts may have to be allocated to the provision for future policy benefits.  

The lower life expectancy risk and the longevity risk arise out of trends moving in opposite directions. However, 
these risks may not compensate each other due to the different underlying portfolios with regard to, e.g., age and 

region. Significant deviations from the expectations applied in pricing and reserving compared to the actual claims 
for the long-term business in the Life (re-)insurance business may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could 
have a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

In its health insurance business, Munich Re generally works on the assumption that there will be further advances in 
medical treatment potentially giving rise to higher medical costs. If it is foreseeable that the assumptions behind 
these calculations are permanently inadequate it is possible to adjust premiums for long-term contracts, thus limiting 

the financial and balance sheet effects of permanent changes in morbidity. However, such biometric risks may 
accumulate or be aggravated. This could happen due to the interventions of courts or legislators which may decide 

to redistribute the risks and rewards of the underlying contracts concluded between the parties or to strengthen 
policyholders’ rights. For example, under the regulations applicable for policyholders in Germany it is no longer 
possible for an insurer to terminate insurance contracts on the grounds of non-payment of premiums by the 

policyholder.  

In addition, policyholder behavior risks may adversely affect Munich Re. Given that assumptions with respect to the 
future policyholder behavior are required to derive adequate life/health insurance reserves, unfavorable and 

unexpected developments may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse effect on 
Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Policyholder protection schemes 

Munich Re may also be affected by increased obligations under the policyholder protection schemes of which some 

of Munich Re’s legal entities are members. For example, the German life and health insurers are members of the 
policyholder protection schemes “Protektor” and “Medicator”.  

If a crisis adversely affects the financial situation of members of the protection scheme, Munich Re entities may be 

required to make substantial contributions to settle guaranteed policyholder claims against insolvent members. If 
Munich Re’s contributions to policyholder protection schemes are considerably higher than currently anticipated, 
this may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have an adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and 

financial condition. 

Market Risks 

The prospects and the profitability of Munich Re are, among other things, subject to market risk. Market risk is the 
risk of economic losses resulting from price changes in the capital markets. Market risk is a very material risk for 

Munich Re due to its large investment portfolio. The most relevant market risk categories for Munich Re include 
equity risk, general interest rate risk as well as specific interest rate risk (i.e., credit spread risk), real estate risk and 

currency risk. Munich Re also includes in market risk the risk of changes in inflation rates and implicit volatilities 
(cost of options).  

Equity risk 

Equity risk is caused by changes in the value of listed and unlisted equities, equity derivatives or equity index 

derivatives. Unfavorable changes in the value or liquidity of these investments, such as due to market volatility as a 
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result of major global event(s) (e.g., the COVID-19 pandemic and war in Ukraine) may negatively affect Munich 

Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. Additionally, 
Munich Re considers alternative investments (e.g., in renewable energies and infrastructure investments) in the 

context of equity risk. The overall equity exposure of Munich Re varies over time due to strategic and tactical 
decisions around the asset allocation. In prior years, Munich Re has incurred impairments on the value of its equities 
and the risk remains that Munich Re will have to make significant impairments in the future as well, which could 

have a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s financial condition.  

General interest rate and credit spread risk 

General interest rate risk relates to changes in the basic yield curves, whereas credit spread risk refers to changes of 
the difference in the rate of interest between a risk-bearing security and a risk-free security of the same tenor and 

currency. Changes in general interest rates or credit spreads lead to changes in the market value of the corresponding 
securities, e.g., Euro government bonds from various issuers and corporate bonds. Many major economies, including 

those of the Eurozone and the United States, have been for several years, and continue to be, characterized by low 
interest rates. Although interest rates have already increased somewhat and are widely expected to continue to rise 
as central banks in many major economies seek to control rising inflation, the transition to higher interest rates may 

take some time and is subject to uncertainty due to changing economic conditions. See “Inflation Risk” below. 

A sharp increase of the basic interest rate or an increase of credit spreads, e.g., due to higher risk aversion in the 
financial markets, may also have a significant negative impact on Munich Re because the majority of the Group’s 

holdings are invested in fixed-income securities. This could have a negative impact on Munich Re’s assets, financial 
results and financial position.  

Fluctuations in interest rate levels not only affect the market value of Munich Re’s investments but also the market 

value of its liabilities from an economic perspective. Since Munich Re’s asset and liability positions do not 
necessarily match in terms of interest rate sensitivity, any material change in interest rates may have a negative 
impact on the economic capitalization of Munich Re. This particularly applies to Munich Re’s life and health 

(re-)insurance business due to the long-term nature of the liabilities and the interest-rate guarantees given to the 
policyholders in some product families. For example, the primary life insurers and pension scheme providers of 

Munich Re have a substantial portfolio of policies with guaranteed interest rates as well as other policyholder options, 
including annuity and endowment policies. The benefits paid under life insurance policies in Germany and in other 

countries are based on guaranteed interest rates equivalent to market standards used to calculate provisions for future 
policy benefits at the time of issuance of the respective policies.  

In the current low-interest rate environment, Munich Re’s life insurance business may be obliged to set up further 
provisions for products with high guaranteed interest rates. Thus, interest rate risk could materially impact the 

economic capitalization in a low interest rate environment as long term guarantees in life and health business increase 
in value. Additionally, the longer the very low interest rate levels continue the more Munich Re’s results will be 

negatively affected by lower investment income. 

Hence, general interest rate and credit spread risks may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a 
material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Inflation risk

Consumer price inflation increased in many industrialized countries in 2021 and has continued to increase globally 

in 2022. The average inflation rates in 2021 in both the United States and Germany were far above their respective 
long-term averages. The reasons for this increase include sharp growth in recovery-driven demand in many 

economies following the relaxation of pandemic-related restrictions, supply chain disruptions, rising commodity and 
energy prices, and more recently the war in Ukraine and the comprehensive sanctions imposed on Russia and various 
Russian entities and individuals which, among other effects, have led and may continue to lead to further increases 

in energy prices (See “Risks related to the ongoing war in Ukraine and other geopolitical tensions”).  

Higher inflation could have a negative impact on Munich Re’s business, financial position, results of operations and 
cash flows in multiple ways. In particular, higher inflation could cause market value losses to Munich Re’s fixed-

income securities, which form the majority of the Group’s investments (see “General interest rate and credit spread 
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risk”). Although Munich Re seeks to protect itself against accelerated inflation in a low interest rate environment by 

holding inflation-linked bonds and other inflation-sensitive assets such as property, commodities and infrastructure, 
there is no assurance that such measures will be sufficient to mitigate the impact of inflation on Munich Re’s 

investments. Munich Re’s claims reserve position could also be negatively affected by inflation, particularly if 
inflation increases more significantly than currently expected. Munich Re’s calculation of reserves for net claims and 
claim adjustment expenses includes assumptions about future payments for settlement of claims and claims-handling 

expenses, and Munich Re would be required to increase its loss reserves to the extent inflation causes these costs to 
increase above reserves established for these claims. 

Real estate risk 

Munich Re holds a significant real estate portfolio. These investments are subject to the volatility in the real estate 

market affecting market value and liquidity of the holdings which is why they are reviewed regularly for impairments. 
Potential write-downs of the fair value are considered in the income statement if there is objective evidence that the 

cost may not be recovered.  

In prior years, Munich Re has incurred impairments on real estate investments that it holds and there is the risk that 
Munich Re will recognize significant impairments again in the future. Unfavorable changes in the value of 

investments in real estate may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse effect on 
Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Currency risk 

Munich Re prepares and consolidates its financial statements and solvency position in Euro. However, a significant 
portion of the revenues and expenses of Munich Re originates from companies outside the Euro zone, including the 

United States, Canada, Australia, Switzerland and the UK. As a result, given that Munich Re’s non-Euro zone 
subsidiaries operate and generally record their revenues and expenses in local currency, fluctuations of the exchange 

rates used to translate foreign currencies into Euro may adversely affect the financial result and shareholder equity 
of the Group. The Group’s currency risk increased in the year ended December 31, 2021 as a result of higher U.S. 

dollar positions. 

Additionally, negative effects from exchange rate fluctuations may also be caused by a currency mismatch between 
assets and liabilities on a legal entity level including the Issuer. In general, the management of Munich Re’s 
investment risks is fundamentally based on the maturity and currency structure of the economic liabilities. However, 

due to various restrictions and differences in accounting standards and regulatory requirements in and between 
various countries Munich Re operates in, a perfect matching of the liabilities is not feasible. Therefore, a limit for a 

tolerated mismatch between assets and liabilities is defined in Munich Re’s risk strategy. As a consequence, currency 
risks remain, and unfavorable exchange rate developments may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could 

have a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Credit Risk 

The prospects and the profitability of Munich Re are, among other things, subject to credit risk. Credit risk is defined 
as the financial loss that Munich Re could incur as a result of a change in the financial situation of a counterparty, 
i.e., either changes in the credit quality of counterparties (“migration risk”) or the inability or unwillingness of a 

counterparty to fulfil contractual obligations (“default risk”).  

The credit risk of Munich Re is mainly driven by the default and migration risk in Munich Re’s investment portfolio. 
Credit risk also arises from counterparty default risks in its credit reinsurance business or in the course of specific 

business transactions. 

Default and migration risk from investments 

Munich Re is exposed to credit risk with regard to its investment portfolio. The market value of various investments, 
such as bonds or loans, depends on the credit quality of the obligor. If the credit rating of a counterparty, such as an 

issuer of securities, declines this could lead to a decrease of the market value of the corresponding securities. In the 
case the obligor defaults as a result of bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, downturns in asset values, operational failure or 

other reasons, this could lead to financial losses for Munich Re. 
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Munich Re is engaged in different types of fixed-interest investments, for instance in government bonds, corporate 

bonds and mortgage-backed securities. Risk concentrations are mainly present in government bonds issued by 
countries inside and outside of the EU. Even though government bond investments are generally deemed to be of 

high credit quality, the European sovereign debt crisis showed that a significant counterparty risk is also attached to 
this asset class, resulting in risk concentrations. Munich Re also takes on substantial credit risks to increase the return 
on its investments on a selective basis. See also “Risks related to the ongoing war in Ukraine and other geopolitical 

tensions” below. 

Furthermore, interest and redemption payments, in particular in case of asset-backed securities, mortgage-backed 
securities and other covered bonds (including German Pfandbriefe), also depend on the underlying collateral. If 

bonds cannot be redeemed or if the underlying collateral turns out not to be sufficient, adjustments in value may 
become necessary or financial losses may occur.  

An unexpected, material rise of counterparty defaults and deterioration of credit quality, e.g., in the course of a severe 

economic recession or debt crisis, may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse 
effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition.  

Default risk from credit reinsurance 

Munich Re actively assumes credit risk by writing credit reinsurance business. In this business, trade credit and 

surety business represent the largest part of the portfolio. Credit risk arises for Munich Re from potential claim 
payments on limits granted by the primary insurer to its policyholders. The primary carrier insures its policyholders 
from credit risk associated with short-term trade credits to their clients. If these clients are unable to meet their 

payment obligations, the primary insurer indemnifies the loss to the policyholder. Munich Re reinsures the primary 
insurer and thereby assumes these credit risks. See also “Risks related to the ongoing war in Ukraine and other 

geopolitical tensions” below. 

An unexpected, material rise of defaults of clients of the policyholders may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings 
and could have an adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Default risk from business transactions 

In the course of its business transactions, Munich Re acquires a large number of receivables and recoverables against 

counterparties such as cedants, retrocessionaires, insurance brokers, financial institutions and intermediaries. If one 
or more of these parties default on their obligations to Munich Re due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, downturns in 

the economy, asset values, operational failure or other reasons, Munich Re would be exposed to financial losses. 

Operational Risks 

Munich Re is exposed to various operational risks. An operational risk is the risk of losses resulting from inadequate 
or failed internal processes, incidents caused by the actions of personnel or system malfunctions, or external events. 

This includes, among others, criminal acts committed by employees or third parties, insider trading, infringements 
of antitrust law, business interruptions, inaccurate processing of transactions, non-compliance with reporting 
obligations, and disagreements with business partners.  

Risks in relation to IT systems and information assets are of particular importance to Munich Re due to the ongoing 

digital transformation of its business operations that entails a growing dependence on a stable and secure IT 
environment. This also applies with regard to the security of external IT service providers. In case of software and 

hardware errors, inadequate access controls (especially for privileged accounts), power blackouts, incurred damages, 
computer viruses, ransomware, terrorist or other acts of sabotage as well as other internal or external threats Munich 
Re could suffer financial losses, a disruption of its businesses, regulatory interventions or reputational damage. For 

a further discussion of risks to Munich Re’s data and information technology security, see “Security risks” below.  

Further, operational risks stemming from compliance breaches may adversely affect Munich Re’s reputation and 
business. Munich Re and its legal entities must comply with a large number of regulations, provisions and standards 

in various countries. For example, Munich Re is subject to strict data privacy rules and information security laws and 
regulations. A breach of these laws and regulations could result in very high fines which could materially impact 

Munich Re’s financial results, reputation and operations. Furthermore, Munich Re, as an internationally active 
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reinsurance company, is subject to financial sanctions and embargoes against certain governments, entities or 

individuals, such as the comprehensive and evolving sanctions regimes imposed on the Russian government and a 
wide range of Russian entities and individuals by regulatory authorities in numerous countries around the world 

following the outset of the war in Ukraine. See, e.g., “Risks related to the ongoing war in Ukraine and other 
geopolitical tensions ” below. In the event of violations of embargoes or financial sanctions Munich Re could face 
legal consequences (for example withdrawal of licenses or payment of fines), suffer reputational damage from actual 

or alleged violations of its various legal duties or face substantial financial fines. 

Operational risks may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse effect on Munich 
Re’s business and financial condition. 

Legal, Regulatory, Accounting and Tax Risks 

Munich Re is exposed to legal, tax and regulatory risks. These risks are mainly driven by changes of laws, regulations, 

taxation and accounting standards, the failure of Munich Re to meet regulatory standards and unfavorable decisions 
in court actions against Munich Re. 

Risk of changes in laws and regulations  

Regulatory and legal changes as well as other government and judicial actions or trends may have an adverse effect 

on the business of or otherwise materially impact Munich Re.  

Munich Re’s reinsurance, insurance and asset management businesses are subject to detailed, comprehensive legal 
requirements as well as supervision by regulators and administrative authorities in all countries in which Munich Re 

companies are domiciled or do business. Regulatory or administrative authorities have far-reaching powers 
addressing many aspects of the insurance and financial services business. These aspects may in particular include, 

but are not limited to, requirements under insurance (supervisory) law (including requirements regarding customer 
protection and product distribution), financial crime and sanction requirements, consumer protection rights, anti-trust 
requirements, anti-money-laundering requirements, legal requirements regarding Munich Re’s investments and the 

management of its assets, and data privacy rules, including information security.  

Changes in existing laws and regulations, in their interpretation by courts or the authorities, or the introduction of 
new legal requirements may affect the markets and jurisdictions in which Munich Re companies do business, the 

products they may offer to different client groups and the calculation of premiums or benefits as well as the way in 
which Munich Re companies conduct their business. A recent example of a significant change in the legal and 

regulatory environment that impacted numerous companies, including Munich Re, is the comprehensive and 
evolving sanctions regimes imposed on the Russian government and a wide range of Russian entities and individuals 
by regulatory authorities in numerous countries around the world following the outset of the war in Ukraine. See, 

e.g., “Risks related to the ongoing war in Ukraine and other geopolitical tensions ” below.  

Especially during severe crises, the risk of regulatory or legal changes tends to amplify and governments or courts 
may try to alter the interpretation of insurance policy wording. Since the policy wording and the entailed policy 

exclusions constitute the basis for underwriting risks and calculating premiums, such alterations could pose a 
significant threat to the insurance industry as a whole and Munich Re in particular. An accumulation of such actions 
by courts or governments may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse effect on 

Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Governments, regulatory authorities and other bodies have made and continue to make proposals to reform the legal 
framework for the (re-)insurance and the financial services industry. These include, but are not limited to, the 

development of a new risk-based, global insurance capital standard (ICS), the proposed Insurance Recovery and 
Resolution Directive (the Draft IRRD as defined below, see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulation—Risks in 

connection with the adoption of a recovery and resolution regime for insurers and reinsurers”), the current review 
of the Solvency II Directive 2009/138/EC (commonly referred to as “Solvency II”), considerations around the 
mechanisms applicable to social security systems and corresponding insurance products, and initiatives with regard 

to sustainable finance. Changes to data privacy rules including information security in various jurisdictions are 
currently under way or have been adapted in the past years. These legal developments influence the way in which 

Munich Re operates its business. It is possible that the future regulatory framework for the financial industry or its 
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application changes. One implication could be that in the future Munich Re will be designated as a “Global 

Systemically Important Insurer” by the Financial Stability Board and would then be subject to the respective policy 
measures which apply to such groups.  

In extreme situations, changes in the regulatory and legal environment could increase the risk that approvals, licenses 

and permits on which Munich Re’s business depends upon in various countries are not extended or are cancelled. 
Thus, any significant, unfavorable developments in the underlying laws and regulations for the financial industry 
and the (re-)insurance industry may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse effect 

on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Changes in accounting standards  

Changes to EU endorsed International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for (re-)insurance companies have 
been proposed in recent years and further changes may be proposed in the future. In 2017, the International 

Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”) issued a new accounting standard for insurance contracts, IFRS 17, which will 
replace IFRS 4. The standard was amended in June 2020 providing a mandatory date of first-time application for 

financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2023. At the same time, the amendment to IFRS 4 postponed the 
mandatory first-time application of IFRS 9, the new IFRS standard for financial instruments, to 2023 for those 

(re-)insurance companies not yet applying IFRS 9. A simultaneous first-time application of the two standards is 
therefore possible. Munich Re is planning on applying both standards on January 1, 2023 for the first time. IFRS 17, 
including the Amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June 2020, was adopted into European law in November 2021. IFRS 

9 for financial instruments has already been endorsed by the EU in November 2016. Transitional rules were created 
to simplify the interplay of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 upon initial joint application of both standards as at the mandatory 

effective date, particularly with regard to the requirements for reporting the previous year’s figures. In this context, 
the IASB published a further amendment to IFRS 17 (rev. 12/2021), Insurance Contracts, in December 2021: Initial 
Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative Information. 

IFRS 17 is applicable to all primary insurance contracts, to reinsurance assumed and ceded and to investment 

contracts with discretionary participation features. The measurement rules are mainly based on a “building block 
approach”, which is made up of a fulfilment value, which comprises the discounted expected future cash flows and 

an explicit risk adjustment, and a contractual service margin. IFRS 9 envisages an expected credit loss model for 
recognizing impairments, by which – unlike under the current incurred loss model of IAS 39 – expected credit losses 

are anticipated before they arise and must be accounted for as an expense.  

IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 are leading to fundamental changes in the accounting of insurance and reinsurance companies 
and for related processes. As the required changes trigger a considerable amount of effort in adapting IT systems and 
changing the underlying work processes, the Issuer started Group-wide implementation projects in 2017 to meet the 

requirements of these standards. The measurement in accordance with IFRS 17 is complex and requires all systems 
and processes in place to forecast the outcome of the one-time transition to IFRS 17 and the timing of profits arising 

from multiyear contracts. As part of its Group-wide implementation projects, two global integration tests were 
conducted in 2021, one of which addressed the combined transition to IFRS 9. The opening balances as at January 
1, 2022 are currently being compiled in accordance with IFRS 17. Preparing the opening balance sheet and 

comparative figures for the 2022 financial year entails substantial challenges. Not only must the financial statements 
be simultaneously prepared in accordance with IFRS 4, but the recommendations made subsequent to internal and 

external quality-control checks must also be put into practice without delay, in close cooperation with the Group’s 
software providers. Any interruptions or errors in these implementation steps could delay the timely adoption of the 

new IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 accounting standards at Munich Re.  

Upon initial recognition using the expected credit loss model under IFRS 9 as at January 1, 2023, Munich Re 
anticipates a minor initial decrease in equity owing to the current capital market situation. Major expected impacts 
from IFRS 17 include, e.g., increases in market consistent valuations, which generally increases the volatility of 

results. 

The impact of the transition to IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 on the overall shareholder’s equity cannot be reliably estimated 
at the date of this Offering Memorandum. Moreover, it might be challenging for investors to understand the complex 

measurement mechanics and its presentation and results in the financial statements of insurers. Volatility and 
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uncertainty of future IFRS results could increase the frequency and the extent of changes in investors’ estimates on 

sources of earnings and sustainability of the Issuer’s IFRS results and might have an impact on the stability of rating 
models.  

Any of the developments described above or further changes in accounting standards may negatively affect Munich 

Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Changes in tax legislation and tax risks  

Changes in tax legislation could adversely affect Munich Re’s business, e.g., by negatively affecting Munich Re’s 
attractiveness as a business partner and/or the attractiveness of some of its products. Reinsurance as well as primary 

insurance products may be affected.  

The most important factor for the tax burden of Munich Re is the applicable tax rate in the various jurisdictions the 
Group operates in. As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, an increase in tax rates is expected in the United 

States, Canada and the UK. Furthermore, a minimum tax rate in OECD countries – as planned by the OECD – would 
increase Munich Re’s overall tax burden. As a reinsurance company, the taxable income of the Group is exposed to 
high fluctuation. As a consequence, loss carry-back and loss carry-forward rules (in particular in Germany, the United 

States and in Australia) are crucial for Munich Re. Due to regulatory and capital management reasons, Munich Re 
has to enter into Group-internal retrocession agreements. The introduction of limitations on the tax deductibility of 

payments made under such internal retrocessions would increase the tax burden of the Group. In addition, the 
introduction of a financial transaction tax in Europe or other new taxes could adversely affect Munich Re’s income.  

Munich Re is further exposed to operational risks from inaccurate tax provisions. Significant additional tax liabilities 
may arise from estimates that turn out to be inaccurate when accounting for tax provisions, tax refund claims or tax 

reserves, and when adjusting the value of deferred tax items. The posting of taxation expenses, the establishment of 
provisions for contingent tax payments and the accounting for tax refund claims are, as a rule, based on assumptions 

and on the interpretation of laws and regulations as well as on court rulings, which are often not entirely clear. The 
expenses assumed and provisions established may be too low and/or the refund claims may be too high. Munich Re 

is also exposed to the risk of international double taxation or additional tax burden in the context of local governments 
and tax inspectors not accepting that business is written and administered by entities in countries with low tax rates. 

Any of the developments described above or further adverse changes in the tax legislation of relevant jurisdictions 
may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and 

financial condition. 

Failure to meet Solvency II requirements or a negative performance in regulatory stress tests 

The Solvency II framework determines, among others, regulatory requirements for the calculation of solvency capital, 
own funds and technical provisions and prescribes investment restrictions, market consistent valuation of assets and 

liabilities, regulatory reporting, disclosure as well as governance of insurance companies.  

Should the Issuer and any company consolidated by the Issuer under the applicable supervisory regulations for group 
solvency purposes (the “Group”) fail to meet Solvency II requirements, regulators would have broad authority to 

take various regulatory actions. These measures include limiting or prohibiting the writing of new business, 
prohibiting payment of dividends or coupon payments or even putting Munich Re entities into insolvency. Such 

powers are proposed to be extended in the current review of the Solvency II Directive and the Draft IRRD, namely 
by introducing macroprudential intervention powers and early intervention powers, which may be available to 
supervisory or other authorities before or with-out a breach of regulatory capital requirements, and resolution powers 

of the resolution authority. However, the proposals are not yet in final form, and accordingly, it is not yet possible to 
assess the full impact of the amendment of the Solvency II Directive and the Draft IRRD or any German legislation 

implementing the respective provisions. A breach of regulatory capital requirements or a reduction of solvency ratios 
in one or more of the Group’s entities may also result in the Issuer injecting new capital into its subsidiaries which 
could in turn adversely affect the Issuer’s liquidity and financial position. Regulatory restrictions can reduce Munich 

Re’s ability to move capital within the Group which in turn can adversely affect its liquidity and financial position. 
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Munich Re uses an internal model to assess its solvency capital requirements under the Solvency II regime. For 

reinsurance companies the use of an internal model is essential because the standard formula does not capture various 
important characteristics of a reinsurance business model, e.g., potentially superior diversification benefits. The 

internal model is under continuous review and validation. However, changes and amendments to the model may 
adversely affect the Group’s solvency ratios. Furthermore, the volatility of the solvency ratio may be negatively 
impacted by adverse capital market conditions that are reflected in a market consistent approach in Solvency II. 

Additionally, there is a risk that the regulatory authorities may (partially) withdraw the approval of the model or 
impose capital add-ons if significant deficiencies were identified in the course of model reviews. Such a withdrawal 

or capital add-on could have a material negative impact on the solvency ratio of the Group. 

Furthermore, the Group is exposed to risks arising from regulatory stress tests. In order to assess the level of capital 
in the insurance sector, the national and supra-national regulatory authorities require solvency calculations and 

conduct stress tests to examine the solvency position of the financial institutions. In particular, should Munich Re 
perform considerably worse than its peers in such a stress test, this could negatively affect Munich Re’s reputation, 
business and financial condition. 

Litigation risks  

Within their regular business operations – i.e., in their capacity as insurers, asset managers, employers, investors and 
taxpayers – Munich Re companies are involved as claimants or defendants in a number of court, administrative, 
arbitration and regulatory proceedings, in Germany and other countries, including the United States. For a description 

of material proceedings as of the date of this Offering Memorandum, see “Description of the Issuer and the Group - 
Governmental, Legal and Arbitration Proceedings”.  

If the outcome of pending court cases, arbitration proceedings or regulatory procedures is less favorable for Munich 

Re than expected or if further proceedings are initiated, this may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could 
have a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition.  

Other Risks 

Other risks that may adversely impact Munich Re include risks related to the ongoing war in Ukraine, the COVID-

19 pandemic, liquidity risk, rating risk, strategic risk, security risks, reputational risk and emerging risks.  

Risks related to the ongoing war in Ukraine and other geopolitical tensions 

Russia’s military attack on and the resulting war in Ukraine threatens to intensify the hostilities between Russia and 
the United States and its allies and could escalate or spread to include other countries. The comprehensive sanctions 

imposed on Russia by the Western community may also have severe negative repercussions for entire economies far 
beyond Russia and Ukraine. The conflict, sanctions imposed by the Western community and other related 
developments could result in lower economic growth and higher inflation, among other impacts.  

The conflict has increased uncertainty and volatility in capital markets generally and may thereby materially 
adversely affect Munich Re’s business, financial condition and results of operations. In particular, the economic 
disruption and capital markets volatility may adversely impact Munich Re’s investments (see, e.g., “Equity risks” 

above), as well as pose specific risks to Munich Re’s direct investment in Russian or Ukrainian government and 
corporate bonds, leading Munich Re to recognize impairments on the affected investments. The issuers of such bonds 

may also default on their obligations or Munich Re may be forced to sell the bonds at a significant loss. As of March 
31, 2022, the Group’s investment result was impacted by impairments on Russian and Ukrainian bonds of 
approximately €700 million (after taxes and policyholder participation: €370 million). This amount represents a 

write-down of approximately 80% on average across Russian and Ukrainian sovereign and corporate bonds. 
Depending on how the situation in Russia and Ukraine evolves, further write-downs may be required. Although 

Munich Re’s insurance business has a relatively limited exposure to Russian and Ukrainian clients, it is exposed to 
underwriting risks in its marine and aviation business, as well as to political risk and risks from certain trade credit 
reinsurance and structured credit (re)insurance products, mainly with respect to Russia, and to a lesser extent in 

Ukraine. In particular, there are exposures arising from Munich Re’s business outside of direct contractual 
relationships. As a result of high levels of uncertainty concerning the war, it is too early to develop reliable claims 

estimations and to reliably evaluate the most affected lines of business. Risks related to war and cyber losses are 
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excluded from many but not all of Munich Re’s policies in effect in Russia and Ukraine. As of March 31, 2022, 

Munich Re made provisions related to the war in Ukraine in specialty lines of business of slightly above €100 million. 
This amount encompasses losses that the Group considers to be covered and which have also been incurred with 

sufficiently high probability to meet the applicable accounting standards. Further provisions may need to be made as 
developments evolve and more information is obtained. 

Munich Re currently believes that even a complete impairment of its investments and probable maximum losses in 
reinsurance exposures related to Russia (and Ukraine) would not reduce Munich Re’s Solvency II Ratio to a level 

that would be outside of the optimal range (175%-220%). However, there can be no assurance that this is the case, 
as the uncertain nature of the conflict and the evolving nature of the sanctions makes it difficult to predict what 

impact the conflict and related sanctions could ultimately have on Munich Re.  

In addition, there are a wide range of other geopolitical conflicts, such as the United States’ ongoing confrontation 
with Iran over Iran’s nuclear program, which could escalate and have regional and global consequences, including 

increasing uncertainty and volatility in capital markets, adversely affecting Munich Re. There also remains a risk of 
a technological and economic divergence within the global economy driven by geopolitical conflicts, especially 
between China and the United States, which could cause long term damage to the global economy and international 

trading system. 

Risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic  

The prior two plus years have been marked by the global spread of COVID-19 and the resulting far-reaching 
restrictions on public, private and economic life. The incurred insurance losses and the economic downturn caused 

by the pandemic had a significant impact on the insurance industry. For Munich Re, the financial years 2020 and 
2021 were marked by high claims in connection with COVID-19. Due to the high level of uncertainty regarding the 

further development of the pandemic as well as the ongoing economic and financial consequences of COVID-19, 
Munich Re’s financial results in 2022 and the years ahead may continue to be directly or indirectly adversely affected 
by the COVID-19 crisis. 

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, Munich Re’s COVID-19-related incurred losses on the insurance side 
were dominated by the business segment reinsurance. In the property and casualty reinsurance segment, COVID-19-
related losses were mainly observed in the cancellation-of-events business. On a smaller scale, there were also losses 

in other lines of property-casualty reinsurance, including business interruption reinsurance. As of the date of this 
Offering Memorandum, Munich Re anticipates that expenditure owing to COVID-19 in property and casualty 

reinsurance will not be as significant in 2022 in comparison to prior years of the COVID-19 crisis. In life and health 
reinsurance, Munich Re has experienced losses in its portfolios of mortality covers especially in North America, but 
also to a lesser extent in India and South Africa. Future claims in life and health reinsurance depend heavily on how 

the fatality figures develop not only in North America, but also globally. As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, 
Munich Re expects further losses in life and health reinsurance as a result of the COVID-19 crisis going forward, 

though on a smaller scale than in the aggregate since the pandemic outbreak in 2020. Munich Re recorded COVID-
19 related losses with respect to the life and health reinsurance business amounting to €150 million in the first quarter 
of 2022. It is also possible that Munich Re will be faced with an increase in policy benefits arising from disability 

business relating to long-term negative health effects as a result of COVID-19 infections which have not yet been 
sufficiently researched at this point in time. In the business segment primary insurance, Munich Re has incurred 

losses especially in 2020 from claims in business interruption, event and travel insurance. As of the date of this 
Offering Memorandum, Munich Re does not anticipate that COVID-19 will have a significant impact on results in 

this business segment in 2022.  

In addition to the risks on the insurance side, Munich Re is also affected on the investment side as a result of the 
pandemic’s impact on the global economy. The international financial markets were characterized by significant 
volatility in the past several months and years, at least partly as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. There is, at the 

date of this Offering Memorandum, still a high level of uncertainty of the further economic development in many 
countries and the impact on the international financial markets. For Munich Re, this entails further loss potential 

from reductions in the market values of shares and property, as well as from a further decline in interest rates or an 
increase in credit spreads. 
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The further development of the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting impact on Munich Re’s business varies from 

one region to the next and still cannot be forecasted with sufficient certainty. While many major global markets are 
reducing infection control measures in response to decreased hospitalization rates, increased vaccination levels and 

other factors, should these steps be reversed, e.g., due to the occurrence of virus mutations that are resistant to the 
currently available vaccines, various risks described in this Offering Memorandum could have a further negative 
impact on Munich Re. These risks include, among others, underwriting risks, market risks, credit risk, legal risks and 

operational risks. Therefore, the global COVID-19 pandemic may continue to negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings 
and could have a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and its financial condition. 

Ratings downgrade risk 

Munich Re’s ratings are of central importance for its competitive position. It cannot be ruled out that there will be 

downgrades in the future as a result of changes in the development of Munich Re’s financial conditions and 
consolidated results or because of changes in the assessment of the industry by the rating agencies and in rating 

methods, or a combination of these factors. 

Future downgrades may have a negative impact on, among other things, Munich Re’s reinsurance and primary 
insurance business. Lower ratings than those of competitors may impair the acquisition of new business and reduce 

the Group’s competitive edge. Moreover, downgrades may have an adverse impact on the cost and implementation 
of capital measures and may lead to the emergence of new obligations or the early maturity of, or requirement to 
collateralize, existing obligations that depend on the maintenance of a specific rating.  

In addition, Munich Re’s rating may affect the ratings of individual Group entities as those ratings are often derived 

from the Group rating. Rating downgrades may give rise to new obligations or could lead to the acceleration of 
existing ones that are dependent on a specific rating of the subsidiary concerned. Conversely, a downgrade of a 

subsidiary could also negatively affect the result of the Issuer.  

A downgrade of Munich Re’s rating or of the rating of one of its legal entities may thus adversely affect Munich 
Re’s competitive position and financing costs and as a consequence may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and 

could have a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Reputational risks 

Reputational risk is the risk of losses that may result from a deterioration of the Group’s public image among clients, 
shareholders or other parties. Munich Re’s reputation as a well-respected, highly trustworthy and socially aware 

(re-)insurance group represents an important basis for its business model. Munich Re’s reputation is influenced by 
its behavior in a variety of areas such as client relationships, product quality, corporate governance, earnings power, 
its treatment of employees, and corporate responsibility.  

Any misbehavior of Munich Re, its staff members or a failure to take adequate account of societal developments and 

trends may lead to adverse publicity and damage to Munich Re’s reputation or could trigger increased regulatory 
supervision, which would affect Munich Re’s ability to attract and retain customers, impair access to the capital 

markets or have other adverse effects on Munich Re.  

Strategic risks  

Munich Re defines strategic risk as the risk of making incorrect business decisions, implementing decisions poorly, 
or being unable to adapt to changes in the operating environment.  

In the context of strategic risk, new business models and the low-interest rate environment have further increased 

competitive pressure. If Munich Re fails to offer attractive products and services suitable to customers’ needs, 
revenues could be materially adversely affected and Munich Re may lose market share in important areas, which 

might also have a material adverse impact on Munich Re.  

Strategic risk also includes the risk that acquisitions by Munich Re can have adverse effects on its financial position 
and results of operations. A variety of factors that are partially or entirely beyond Munich Re’s control could cause 
business results of the acquired undertakings to be materially different from what was initially expected. Furthermore, 
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any expected synergies from acquisitions could be materially smaller or materialize only at a later stage than initially 

expected.  

If such strategic risks materialize, this may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material adverse 
effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition.  

Security risks  

Munich Re defines security risks as risks resulting from threats to the security of its employees, data, information 

and property. Due to the dynamic development of cybercrime in the past years and the increasing importance of 
information technology for Munich Re’s core processes, security risks to Munich Re’s own data and information 

(cyber risks) have developed to be a core threat to Munich Re’s business. Regulatory authorities also impose IT 
security requirements on the insurance industry, such as the Supervisory Requirements for IT in Insurance 
Undertakings (Versicherungsaufsichtliche Anforderungen an die IT (VAIT)) in Germany, including on Munich Re, 

whilst such requirements are subject to ongoing change. In case of inadequate access controls (especially for 
privileged accounts), computer viruses, ransomware, acts of sabotage, breaches of data protection measures as well 

as other internal or external security threats, Munich Re could suffer financial losses, a disruption of its businesses, 
regulatory interventions or reputational damage.  

If such security risks materialize, this may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a materially 

adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition.  

Liquidity risk 

Munich Re is exposed to liquidity risk, i.e., the risk that short-term financial obligations cannot be met without 
additional costs or loss of capital. Munich Re’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to ensure that Munich Re is in 

a position to meet its payment obligations at all times. To achieve this, the liquidity position at all units of Munich 
Re is continuously monitored and subject to stringent requirements regarding the availability of liquidity. 
Nonetheless, adverse developments in the capital and credit markets may affect Munich Re’s liquidity, cost of capital 

and access to capital.  

To be able to satisfy its liquidity needs, Munich Re depends on functioning capital markets. Extreme and remote 
volatility or a partial breakdown of capital markets may lead to a situation with constraints on Munich Re’s ability 

to convert investments and other assets into cash in a timely manner. This could adversely affect the costs of funding 
and may impact the refinancing structure of Munich Re, the liquidity and credit capacity to operate its business and 

the availability of capital across the Group’s subsidiaries. Such adverse market conditions may particularly harm 
Munich Re’s access to capital required to operate its insurance operations, such as to satisfy claims, meet regulatory 
capital requirements and generate fee income and market-related revenue to meet liquidity needs.  

Any adverse developments around its liquidity situation may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have 

a material adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition. 

Emerging risks 

At Munich Re, the term “emerging risks” is used to refer to new or changing risks that could cause substantial future 
losses and, therefore, are of major concern to insurance and reinsurance companies. By nature, emerging risks are 

difficult to identify and analyze given that historical evidence is only of limited use to predict the potential 
consequences of new risks or estimate quantitative probabilities and loss amounts. Emerging risks can occur as a 

result of legislative, socio-political, scientific, environmental or technological changes and advances. As a 
consequence of increasing global dependencies, the rapid spread of technological innovations and changes in the 
environment due to climate change, the potential impact of emerging risks and their direct and indirect consequences 

become more relevant and immediate for Munich Re.  

An example of an emerging risk, the impact of which cannot yet be accurately estimated, is climate change. Climate 
change represents one of the biggest challenges for the insurance industry. Climate-related risks arise in the form of 

physical and transition risks, with interdependencies between both types. Physical risks arise as a consequence of 
extreme weather events (e.g., heat, drought, windstorms and hail) resulting from climate change, with the expectation 

being that climate change will lead to an increase in these events. Transition risks arise as a consequence of political 
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or economic measures taken for the purpose of conversion to a lower-carbon economy or reactions to changing living 

conditions in certain regions. Both risks not only have long-term effects, but can also have disruptive, short-term 
consequences. Scientific research into climate change is complex and it is possible that the impact and materialized 

losses may differ considerably from Munich Re’s expectations. Therefore, the occurrence of natural catastrophes 
with greater frequency or severity than expected or other direct or indirect consequences of climate change may have 
a material negative impact on Munich Re’s earnings and financial condition. 

Climate change may also increase litigation, reputational and regulatory risk. This is due to a potential increase in 

the number of cases, government investigations or civil society campaigns where companies are accused of failing 
to sufficiently take into account in their business strategy the impacts of climate change, of making their business or 

products appear more climate-friendly than they are (so-called “greenwashing”) or of failing to adequately comply 
with climate-related public disclosure requirements. Such risks may impact Munich Re both on the insurance side 

under third-party liability coverage (e.g., liability for costs imposed on clients who are found liable in such cases) 
and on the investment side (e.g., the value of Munich Re’s investments in companies may be adversely impacted to 
the extent such companies are found liable in such cases) or directly, to the extent Munich Re is subject to litigation, 

regulatory enforcement action or public campaigns. 

Munich Re is also subject to emerging risks related evolving reporting requirements and potential future disclosure 
obligations related to climate change and environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) matters, which could 

materially increase Munich Re’s compliance burden, raise compliance costs, require changes in certain of Munich 
Re’s operations and thus adversely affect Munich Re’s business and financial position. Munich Re is closely 
monitoring such existing and developing regulatory initiatives, including the EU Sustainable Finance Disclosure 

Regulation, the EU Taxonomy Regulation, the proposed EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive and the 
proposed EU Directive on corporate sustainability due diligence. Regulatory requirements stemming from these and 

similar EU, German and other applicable laws, directives and regulations will require Munich Re to collect and 
disclose a large amount of additional data and may prescribe approaches to ESG policies that are inconsistent with 

Munich Re’s current practices. 

Another significant emerging risk for Munich Re’s international business model could emerge if a global trend 
towards political disintegration, nationalism and a breakdown of multilateralism should prevail or even escalate 
further. As a global (re-)insurance company, Munich Re is dependent on reliable market access, stable regulatory 

frameworks and prevalence of the rule of law. Potential withdrawals from international agreements, trade unions and 
frameworks by more and more governments may result in a fragmentation of the global market and an increase of 

uncertainty about the future business environment in the respective countries. For Munich Re, this may increase 
operational complexity, regulatory and capital requirements for local legal entities as well as for the Group as a whole, 

administrative costs to comply with changing legal requirements, and potentially demand a revision of the business 
strategy. 

Any emerging risks are by nature highly uncertain and their impact on the insurance industry as a whole and Munich 
Re in particular cannot be credibly assessed as of today. However, any adverse development in the trends mentioned 

above or the appearance of yet unknown risks may negatively affect Munich Re’s earnings and could have a material 
adverse effect on Munich Re’s business and financial condition.  

2.2 Risks Related to the Bonds 

The Bonds are intended to constitute Tier 2 own-funds for the Issuer and the Group, i.e., subordinated debt 

under European Directive 2009/138/EC (Solvency II). The regulatory criteria that the Bonds must meet to 
qualify as Tier 2 capital imply substantial risks for investors, as summarized here and outlined further below. 

Interest payments under the Bonds may be deferred or only paid partially by the Issuer under certain 

circumstances. In addition, the Issuer will have to defer interest payments if one or more mandatory deferral 
events occur or if other mandatory payment restrictions apply. The Bonds are contractually subordinated. 

There are no events of default and investors have virtually no ability to influence the outcome of any insolvency 
proceedings. 
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The Bonds are complex financial instruments and may not be a suitable investment for all investors 

Investors must determine (either alone or with help of a financial advisor) whether in light of their own circumstances 

an investment in the Bonds is suitable for them. The Bonds are complex financial instruments and not an appropriate 
investment for all investors. Accordingly, the Bonds are being offered and sold only to qualified institutional buyers 

in the United States and to certain persons outside of the United States. In some jurisdictions, regulatory authorities 
have adopted or published laws, regulations or guidance with respect to the offer or sale of securities such as the 
Bonds to retail investors. In particular, no key information document required by the PRIIPs Regulation or the UK 

PRIIPs Regulation for offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the 
European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom has been prepared. Offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise 

making them available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom may therefore 
be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation or the UK PRIIPs Regulation. 

In particular, investors should: 

 have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, the merits and 

risks of investing in the Bonds and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this 
Offering Memorandum;

 have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of their 

particular financial situation, an investment in the Bonds and the impact such investment will have on 
their overall investment portfolio;

 have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Bonds, 
including those arising if the currency for principal or interest payments on the Bonds (i.e., U.S. dollars) 

is different from the currency in which their financial activities are principally denominated;

 understand thoroughly the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds, in particular the mechanisms for the 
interest deferral and the conditions for any redemption of the Bonds (including at scheduled maturity) 

under the terms of the Bonds, and be familiar with the characteristics and potential volatility of any 
relevant indices and financial markets; and

 be able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect their 

investment and their ability to bear the applicable risks. 

Investors should not invest in the Bonds unless they have the knowledge and expertise (either alone or with a financial 
advisor) to evaluate how the Bonds will perform under changing conditions, what the resulting effects on the value 

of the Bonds will be, and what impact this investment will have on their overall investment portfolio. Prior to making 
an investment decision, investors should consider carefully, in light of their own financial circumstances and 
investment objectives, all the information contained in this Offering Memorandum or incorporated by reference 

herein. 

Risks associated with the characteristics of the Bonds 

The risks associated with the characteristics of the Bonds include risks resulting from the subordination of the Bonds, 
risks related to the fixed rate interest rate applicable until the First Reset Date, risks related to the reset of the interest 

rate applicable from the First Reset Date, risks related to the reference rate, risks related to the nature of the Bonds 
as long-term securities, risks related to a possible early redemption of the Bonds and risks in connection with the 

application of the German Act on Issues of Debt Securities (Gesetz über Schuldverschreibungen aus 
Gesamtemissionen, “SchVG”). 

The obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds are contractually subordinated 

The obligations under the Bonds constitute unsecured obligations of the Issuer ranking pari passu among themselves.  

The terms of the Bonds provide that the obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds rank subordinated to all of the 

Issuer’s (i) unsubordinated obligations, (ii) obligations subordinated pursuant to § 39(1) of the German Insolvency 
Code (Insolvenzordnung), (iii) subordinated obligations ranking at least pari passu with the Issuer’s obligations 
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subordinated by operation of law pursuant to § 39(1) of the German Insolvency Code and (iv) subordinated 

obligations required to be preferred by mandatory provisions of law.  

In the event of the dissolution, liquidation, insolvency or any proceeding to avoid insolvency of the Issuer, the 
obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds will be fully subordinated to all claims against the Issuer which pursuant 

to the Terms and Conditions are expressed to, or by operation of law, rank senior to the obligations of the Issuer 
under the Bonds. In any such event, payments will not be made under the Bonds until all claims ranking senior to 
the obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds have been satisfied in full. 

The holders of the Bonds (the “Bondholders” and each a “Bondholder”) must be aware that, in the circumstances 
described above, (i) the Issuer will make payments in respect of the Bonds only in accordance with the subordination 
described above, and (ii) the rights of the Bondholders under the Bonds will be subject to the provisions of insolvency 

laws applicable to the Issuer from time to time. In a liquidation, dissolution, insolvency, composition or other 
proceeding for the avoidance of insolvency of, or against, the Issuer, it is very likely that the Bondholders may 

recover proportionately less than the holders of unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer or may recover nothing at 
all. 

In addition to other limitations on the payment of interest, arrears of interest and principal (also see “Risks related to 

the nature of the Bonds as long-term securities” and “Risks related to deferral of interest payments and restrictions 
on payment of arrears of interest” below), the Terms and Conditions provide for a pre-insolvency payment 
prohibition. This means that prior to the commencement of any insolvency or liquidation proceedings, the 

Bondholders will not have any due (fällig) claim for the relevant scheduled payment of interest, payment of arrears 
of interest or the redemption of the Bonds if any reason for the opening of insolvency proceedings in respect of the 

Issuer in accordance with the applicable insolvency regulations exists or if the payment of the relevant amount would 
itself cause the insolvency of the Issuer or accelerate the process of the Issuer becoming insolvent. These payment 
conditions constitute a prohibition on payment meaning that any payments on the Bonds may only be made by the 

Issuer if it is made in accordance with the aforementioned conditions. Such a prohibition on payment may be in effect 
for an indefinite period of time and even permanently. Any payment made in breach of this prohibition must be 

repaid to the Issuer irrespective of any agreement to the contrary. 

During the period that the Bonds bear interest at a fixed rate, Bondholders will be exposed to the risk that the price 
of such Bonds may fall because of changes in the market yield. The Bonds bear interest at a fixed rate from and 

including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the First Reset Date. 

During that time, Bondholders are exposed to the risk that the price of such Bonds may fall because of changes in 
the market yield. While the nominal interest rate (i.e., the coupon) of the Bonds is fixed until, but excluding, the First 
Reset Date, the market yield typically changes on a daily basis. As the market yield changes, the price of the Bonds 

typically changes in the opposite direction. If the market yield increases, the price of the Bonds typically falls. If the 
market yield falls, the price of the Bonds typically increases. Bondholders should be aware that movements of the 

market yield can adversely affect the price of the Bonds and can lead to losses for the Bondholders.  

Bondholders should also be aware that the market yield has two components, namely the risk-free rate and the credit 
spread. The credit spread is reflective of the yield that investors require in addition to the yield on a credit risk-free 

investment of approximately equal tenor as a compensation for the risks inherent in the Bonds. The credit spread 
changes over time and can decrease as well as increase for a large number of different reasons. The market yield of 
the Bonds can change due to changes of the credit spread, the risk-free rate, or both. 

The rate of interest on the Bonds will be reset every five years and following a reset date may be lower than the 

initial rate of interest or the rate of interest that is applicable prior to such reset date 

If the Bonds are not called during the period from and including November 23, 2031 to and including the First Reset 
Date, the rate of interest on the Bonds scheduled to be paid on the Bonds will be reset every five years, and, from 

and including the First Reset Date to but excluding the date of redemption of the Bonds, the rate of interest applicable 
to the Bonds in respect of the relevant reset period will be equal to the sum of the reference rate prevailing on the 

relevant interest determination date (being, in respect of the reference rate to be determined in relation to a reset 
period, the second U.S. treasury securities business day preceding the Reset Date on which such period commences) 
and the margin of 3.982% per annum. 
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While the credit spread remains unaffected by a reset and remains unchanged until redemption of the Bonds, the 

reference rate on which the rate of interest will be based will change over time. As a result, the rate of interest 
following any reset date may be lower than the initial rate of interest or the rate of interest that is applicable prior to 

a reset date, which would affect the amount of any interest payments under the Bonds and, by extension, could affect 
their market value. Potential investors should be aware that the performance of the reference rate cannot be 
anticipated, and that neither the current nor historical level of the reference rate is an indication of its future 

development. Due to varying interest income, potential investors will not be able to determine a definite yield of the 
Bonds at the time of purchase. Therefore, their return on investment cannot be compared with that of investments 

with no interest rate reset and no interest cancellation. 

The Bonds have a reference rate based on the CMT rate; if such rate is unavailable or discontinued, this may 
adversely affect the value of and return on the Bonds 

The reference rate applicable to the Bonds from and including the First Reset Date is the CMT rate. The CMT rate 

is the rate expressed as a percentage equal to the semi-annual yield for U.S. treasury securities at “constant maturity” 
for a period to maturity of five years, as published in the H.15 under the caption “U.S. government securities-Treasury 
constant maturities-Nominal”, as such yield is displayed on the relevant interest determination date on the Bloomberg 

L.P. service, or any successor service, on page “NDX” (under caption “H15T5Y”). 

If the relevant CMT rate does not appear on the relevant Bloomberg screen or there is a manifest error with respect 
to the publication on the Bloomberg screen, or as a fallback if the relevant screen rate is not published on the web 

page of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/H15/), the 
CMT rate for the relevant reset period will be determined using alternative methods. Any of these alternative methods 

may result in interest payments that are lower than or do not otherwise correlate over time with the payments that 
would have been made on the Bonds if the otherwise applicable screen rate was available in its current form. Any of 
the foregoing may have an adverse effect on the value of the Bonds. 

The nature of the Bonds as long-term securities carries certain risks, including the risk of a delay of redemption 

beyond their scheduled maturity 

The Bonds are scheduled to be redeemed at par on or around May 23, 2042 (the “Scheduled Maturity Date”), 
provided that on such date the conditions to redemption and repurchase are fulfilled. Before that date, the Issuer has, 

under certain conditions, the right to redeem or repurchase the Bonds, but is under no obligation to do so. If on the 
Scheduled Maturity Date the conditions to redemption and repurchase are not met, redemption may be delayed 

beyond the Scheduled Maturity Date for an indefinite period of time. Therefore, Bondholders may receive the 
amounts due upon redemption at a much later point in time than initially expected. 

Under the Terms and Conditions, the Bondholders have no right to require the redemption of the Bonds prior to the 

Scheduled Maturity Date, and on or following the Scheduled Maturity Date only if the conditions to redemption and 
repurchase are fulfilled. 

Bondholders should be aware that the Terms and Conditions do not contain any event of default provisions that 
would allow Bondholders to accelerate the Bonds on the occurrence of an event of default. 

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Bonds to be admitted to trading on the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s Euro MTF market and to be listed on the Official List. However, there is a risk that 
no liquid secondary market for the Bonds will develop or, if it does develop, that it will not continue. The fact that 

the Bonds will be listed does not necessarily lead to greater liquidity as compared to unlisted bonds. The liquidity of 
the Bonds may also be subject to fluctuations during the term of the Bonds. 

In an illiquid market, an investor is subject to the risk that it will not be able to sell its Bonds at any time at fair 

market prices. 

Prospective investors should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risk of an investment in the 
Bonds for a long period and may not recover their investment before the end of this period. 
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The Issuer may redeem the Bonds prior to their scheduled maturity, exposing Bondholders to the risk that their 

investment will have a lower than expected yield and to risks connected with any reinvestment of the cash proceeds 
received as a result of the early redemption 

The Issuer may redeem the Bonds (in whole but not in part) at its option upon giving a notice of redemption in 

accordance with the Terms and Conditions and subject to the conditions to redemption and repurchase being fulfilled, 
at par plus accrued interest (as further described in the Terms and Conditions) with effect as of any date during the 
period from and including November 23, 2031 to and including the First Reset Date and on any interest payment 

date thereafter.  

The right of redemption at the option of the Issuer may affect the market value of the Bonds. During any period when 
the Issuer may, or may be perceived to be able to, elect to redeem the Bonds, the market value of the Bonds generally 

will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. Certain market expectations may exist 
among investors in the Bonds with regard to the Issuer making use of its option to call the Bonds for redemption 

prior to their scheduled maturity. Should the Issuer’s actions diverge from such expectations, or should the Issuer be 
prevented from meeting these expectations, the market value of the Bonds may be adversely affected. 

In addition, the Issuer may also redeem the Bonds at its option upon giving a notice of redemption in accordance 

with the Terms and Conditions and subject to the conditions to redemption and repurchase being fulfilled, at any 
time at par plus accrued interest (as further described in the Terms and Conditions): 

(i) if as a result of any change in, or amendment or clarification to, the laws, regulations or other rules of 
the Issuer’s country of domicile for tax purposes, any of its political subdivisions or any authority or any 

other agency of or in such country having power to levy taxes (including in case any such change, 
amendment or clarification has retroactive effect), or as a result of any change in, or amendment or 

clarification to, the interpretation or application, or as a result of any interpretation or application made 
for the first time, of any such laws, regulations or other rules by any legislative body, court or authority 
(including the enactment of any legislation and the publication of any decision of any court or authority), 

which change, amendment or clarification becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the Bonds, 
interest payable by the Issuer in respect of the Bonds is no longer, or will no longer be, fully deductible 

by the Issuer for income tax purposes in the Issuer’s country of domicile for tax purposes, and that risk 
cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking such measures it (acting in good faith) deems reasonable and 

appropriate; or

(ii) if as a result of any change in or amendment to any of the applicable accounting standards, which change 
or amendment becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the Bonds, the Issuer must not or must 
no longer (including in case any such change or amendment to the applicable accounting standards or 

their interpretation has a retroactive effect) record the obligations under the Bonds as liabilities on the 
balance sheet in the Issuer’s annual solo and/or consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance 

with the relevant applicable accounting standards and this cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking such 
measures it (acting in good faith) deems appropriate;

(iii) if the Competent Supervisory Authority states in writing to the Issuer that under the applicable 

supervisory regulations the Bonds are not eligible (in whole or in part) to qualify for the inclusion of the 
Bonds in the calculation of the own funds as Tier 2 capital (howsoever described in the applicable 
supervisory regulations) for purposes of the determination of the solvency of the Issuer and/or the group 

solvency of the Group (including the capital adequacy of internationally active insurance groups 
(IAIG)), and/or that the Bonds no longer fulfil such requirements (in whole or in part), except where this 

is merely the result of exceeding any applicable limits on the inclusion of the Bonds in the determination 
of the own funds as Tier 2 capital of the Issuer and/or of the Group pursuant to the applicable supervisory 
regulations; or

(iv) if, as a consequence of a change in, or clarification to, the rating methodology (or the interpretation 
thereof) of A.M. Best (EU) Rating Services B.V., Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited, Moody’s Deutschland 
GmbH or S&P Global Ratings Europe Ltd., or any respective successor, which change or clarification 

becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the Bonds, the capital treatment (including the assigned 
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equity content) of the Bonds for the Issuer or the Group worsens in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, 

as compared to the capital treatment (including the assigned equity content) of the Bonds for the Issuer 
or the Group assigned at or around the date of issue of the Bonds. 

If the Bonds are redeemed early, a Bondholder is exposed to the risk that due to the early redemption his investment 

will have a lower than expected yield and to the risks connected with any reinvestment of the cash proceeds received 
as a result of the early redemption. Such cash proceeds may be lower than the then prevailing market price of the 
Bonds. 

The application of the German Act on Issues of Debt Securities exposes each Bondholder to the risk of being outvoted 
by a majority resolution of the Bondholders on amendments to the Terms and Conditions 

Because the Terms and Conditions provide for meetings of Bondholders or the taking of votes without a meeting, 
the Terms and Conditions may be amended by majority resolution of the Bondholders and a Bondholder is subject 

to the risk of being outvoted by a majority resolution of the Bondholders. The rules pertaining to resolutions of 
Bondholders are set out in the SchVG and are largely mandatory. Pursuant to the SchVG, the relevant majority for 

Bondholders’ resolutions is generally based on votes cast, rather than on the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
outstanding, therefore, any such resolution may effectively be passed with the consent of less than a majority of the 

aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding. As such a majority resolution is binding on all Bondholders, 
certain rights of a Bondholder against the Issuer under the Terms and Conditions may be amended or reduced or 
even cancelled, which could have significant negative effects on the value of the Bonds and the return from the 

Bonds. 

Because the Terms and Conditions provide that the Bondholders are entitled to appoint a joint representative by a 
majority resolution of the Bondholders, it is possible that a Bondholder may be deprived of its individual right to 

pursue and enforce its rights under the Terms and Conditions against the Issuer, as such right will pass to the joint 
representative who is then exclusively responsible to claim and enforce the rights of all the Bondholders. 

Risks associated with “Green Bonds”

It is the Issuer’s intention to allocate an amount equivalent to the net proceeds from the offer of the Bonds specifically 

to finance or refinance, in whole or in part, existing and/or future Eligible Projects, as defined and further described 
in the section “Use of Proceeds”. The Issuer has established a framework for such issuances which further specifies 
the eligibility criteria for such Eligible Projects (the “Green Bond Framework”) based on the recommendations 

included in the voluntary process guidelines for issuing green bonds published by the International Capital Market 
Association (“ICMA”) (the “ICMA Green Bond Principles”). For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Green Bond 

Framework nor any other document related thereto are incorporated by reference into or form part of this Offering 
Memorandum. 

Prospective investors should refer to the information set out in this Offering Memorandum regarding such use of 

proceeds and must determine for themselves the relevance of such information for the purpose of any investment in 
the Bonds together with any other investigation such investor deems necessary.  

Compliance with future voluntary or regulatory initiatives 

Due to the envisaged allocation of an amount equivalent to the net proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds 

specifically to finance or refinance, in whole or in part, existing and/or future Eligible Projects, the Issuer may refer 
to the Bonds as “green bonds” or “green finance instruments”. There is currently no clearly defined term (legal, 
regulatory or otherwise) of, nor market consensus as to what constitutes or may be classified as, a “green”, 

“sustainable” or an equivalently-labelled project. It is an area which has been, and continues to be, the subject of 
many and wide-ranging voluntary and regulatory initiatives to develop rules, guidelines, standards, taxonomies and 

objectives. Even if such voluntary or regulatory initiatives should arrive at a definition “green” or “sustainable”, they 
are not necessarily meant to apply to the Bonds, nor will the Issuer necessarily seek compliance for the Bonds with 
all or some of such rules, guidelines, standards, taxonomies or objectives. 

For example, at the EU level, Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 
2020 (the “EU Taxonomy Regulation”), which was published in the Official Journal of the European Union on 
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June 22, 2020 and entered into force on July 12, 2020, defined six environmental objectives and established a 

framework to facilitate sustainable investments in the European Union. The EU Taxonomy Regulation tasked the 
European Commission with establishing the actual list of environmentally sustainable activities by defining technical 

screening criteria for each environmental objective through delegated acts. A first delegated act on sustainable 
activities for climate change adaption and mitigation objectives was approved in principle on April 21, 2021 and 
formally adopted on June 4, 2021. A delegated act for the remaining four objectives is expected to be published in 

2022. The EU Taxonomy Regulation sets mandatory requirements on disclosure for companies and financial 
institutions and forms the basis for a future European standard for green bonds proposed by the Technical Expert 

Group on Sustainable Finance in 2019 (the “EU Green Bond Standard”). A legislative proposal for the EU Green 
Bond Standard was published by the European Commission on July 6, 2021. 

No assurance is given by the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers that the envisaged allocation of an amount equivalent to 

the net proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds specifically to finance or refinance, in whole or in part, existing 
and/or future Eligible Projects will satisfy, either in whole or in part, (i) any existing or future legislative or regulatory 
requirements or standards such as the EU Green Bond Standard or the EU Taxonomy Regulation, or (ii) any present 

or future investor expectations or requirements with respect to investment criteria or guidelines with which any 
investor or its investments are required to comply under its own by-laws or other governing rules or investment 

portfolio mandates, in particular with regard to any direct or indirect environmental impact of any projects or uses 
the subject of or related to the relevant Eligible Projects. Further, no assurance or representation is or can be given 
by the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers that the reporting under the Green Bond Framework will meet investor needs 

or expectations.  

Moreover, in light of the continuing development of legal, regulatory and market conventions in the green and 
sustainable impact markets, there is a risk that the Issuer's Green Bond Framework may (or may not) be modified in 

the future to adapt any update that may be made to the ICMA's Green Bond Principles and/or the EU Green Bond 
Standard. Such changes may have a negative impact on the market value and the liquidity of the Bonds. 

Failure to comply with the intended use of proceeds 

It is the intention of the Issuer to allocate an amount equivalent to the net proceeds of the Bonds for Eligible Projects 

in, or substantially in, the manner described in this Offering Memorandum. However, there can be no assurance by 
the Issuer, the Initial Purchasers or any other person that the relevant project(s) or use(s) which are the subject of, or 

related to, any Eligible Projects will be capable of being implemented in or substantially in such manner and/or 
accordance with any timing schedule and that accordingly such funds will be disbursed in whole or in part for such 
Eligible Projects. Neither can there be any assurance by the Issuer, the Initial Purchasers or any other person that 

such Eligible Projects will be completed within any specified period or at all or with the results or outcome (whether 
or not related to the environment) as originally expected or anticipated by the Issuer or that any adverse 

environmental and/or other impacts will not occur during the implementation of any projects or uses which are the 
subject of, or related to, any Eligible Projects. The Initial Purchasers have not undertaken, nor are they responsible 
for, any assessment of the Eligible Projects or the application, impact or monitoring of the use of proceeds of the 

Bonds.  

Investors should note that (i) any such event or any failure by the Issuer to do so or (ii) any failure to provide or 
publish any reporting or any (impact) assessment, or (iii) any failure to obtain any certification or label (or the 

withdrawal of any such certification or label or of the Sustainalytics Opinion)), or (iv) any Eligible Projects ceasing 
to be classed as such prior to maturity of the Bonds, or (v) the fact that the maturity of an Eligible Project may not 

match the minimum maturity of the Bonds, will not (a) constitute a breach or an event of default under the Bonds, 
or (b) give the Bondholders the right to otherwise early terminate and demand redemption of the Bonds.  

Payment of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds will be made from the Issuer's general funds and will not 
be directly linked to the performance of any Eligible Projects (or any other environmental or similar targets set by 

the Issuer). 

Second Party Opinion 

No assurance or representation can be given by the Issuer or the Initial Purchasers as to the suitability or reliability 
for any purpose whatsoever of the Sustainalytics Opinion or any other opinion or certification of any third party 
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(whether or not solicited by the Issuer) which may be made available in connection with the issue of the Bonds and 

in particular with any Eligible Projects to fulfil any environmental, social, sustainability and/or other criteria (each a 
“Second Party Opinion”). Any such Second Party Opinion may not address risks that may affect the value of any 

Bonds issued under the Green Bond Framework or any Eligible Projects to which the Issuer may allocate an amount 
equivalent to the net proceeds of the Bonds. For the avoidance of doubt, no such Second Party Opinion or any 
document related thereto is incorporated by reference into or forms part of this Offering Memorandum. 

Any such Second Party Opinion provides an opinion on certain environmental and related considerations and is not 

intended to address any credit, market or other aspects of an investment in the Bonds, including without limitation 
market price, marketability, investor preference or suitability of any security. Any such Second Party Opinion is a 

statement of opinion, not a statement of fact. Any such Second Party Opinion is not, nor should be deemed to be, a 
recommendation by the Issuer, the Initial Purchasers or any other person to buy, sell or hold the Bonds. Any such 

Second Party Opinion is only current as of the date that opinion was initially issued and may be updated, suspended 
or withdrawn by the relevant provider(s) at any time. Prospective investors must determine for themselves the 
relevance of any such Second Party Opinion and/or the information contained therein and/or the provider of such 

Second Party Opinion for the purpose of any investment in the Bonds. 

Currently, the providers of such opinions and certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime 
or oversight. Bondholders will not have any recourse against the provider(s) of any Second Party Opinion. 

Summary of potential implications for Bondholders 

Any of the risks mentioned above and in particular (i) the non-compliance of the Bonds with any future voluntary or 

regulatory standard for sustainable instruments, (ii) a failure to allocate an amount equivalent to the net proceeds of 
the Bonds to any Eligible Projects, or (iii) the withdrawal of the Sustainalytics Opinion may have a material adverse 

effect on the value of the Bonds and/or result in adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates 
to invest in securities to be used for a particular purpose. 

Risks resulting from the Bonds representing regulatory capital 

The risks resulting from the Bonds representing regulatory capital include risks resulting from the Bonds being 

structured to meet the criteria to qualify as regulatory capital (own funds), risks related to deferral of interest 
payments and restrictions on payments of arrears of interest and risk related to a deferral of redemption (see also 
“Risks related to the nature of the Bonds as long-term securities including the risk of a delay of redemption” above). 

Because the Bonds are structured to meet the criteria to qualify as regulatory capital (own funds), the Issuer may be 
obliged to defer redemption of the Bonds beyond the Scheduled Maturity Date, or to defer payment of interest beyond 
any interest payment date, whenever the Issuer or the Group does not meet certain regulatory capital requirements 

The Bonds are structured to meet the criteria to qualify as regulatory capital under Solvency II. The Terms and 

Conditions are drafted accordingly, implying various risks for investors. In particular, there is the risk that the Issuer 
may be obliged to defer redemption of the Bonds beyond the Scheduled Maturity Date, or to defer payment of interest 

beyond any interest payment date, whenever the Issuer or the Group does not meet certain regulatory capital 
requirements in accordance with the applicable supervisory regulations. Moreover, due to the deep subordination of 
the Bonds there is a higher risk for investors to lose all or part of their investments. Should the Bonds fail to or cease 

to qualify as regulatory capital, there is a risk that the Bonds may be redeemed prior to the First Reset Date. 

Interest payments on the Bonds may be deferred under certain circumstances and become arrears of interest, and 
the Issuer may be subject to restrictions on payment of arrears of interest 

If a mandatory deferral event has occurred and is continuing on the relevant interest payment date, interest which 

accrued during the period ending on but excluding such interest payment date will not be due and payable (fällig) on 
that interest payment date. Any such failure to pay will not constitute a default of the Issuer or any other breach of 

its obligations under the Bonds or for any other purpose. Interest deferred will constitute arrears of interest, with no 
certainty for Bondholders as to when these arrears of interest will be paid. The Issuer will only be entitled to pay 

arrears of interest at any time if the conditions to settlement, as further described in the Terms and Conditions, are 
fulfilled with respect to such payment. These restrictions also apply in the case of a mandatory settlement of arrears 
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of interest, as further described in the Terms and Conditions. In particular, the resulting arrears of interest will not 

bear interest.  

The same applies if no mandatory deferral event has occurred, and the Issuer elects in its discretion to defer the 
payment of accrued interest in whole or in part by giving not less than 10 and not more than 15 business days’ prior 

notice to the Bondholders, provided that, during the six months before the relevant interest payment date, no 
compulsory interest payment event has occurred.  

Bondholders will not receive any additional interest or compensation for the deferral of interest payments. 

Risks associated with the ability of the Issuer to make payments when due 

The risks associated with the ability of the Issuer to make payments when due include the risk that an investor in the 

Bonds will lose all or some of its investment should the Issuer become insolvent and the risk that the market value 
of the Bonds could decrease if the creditworthiness of the Issuer worsens. 

An investor in the Bonds will lose all or some of its investment should the Issuer become insolvent 

Any person who purchases the Bonds is relying on the creditworthiness of the Issuer and has no rights against any 

other person.  

Bondholders are subject to the risk of a partial or total failure of the Issuer to make interest and/or redemption 
payments that the Issuer is obliged to make under the Bonds. A materialization of the credit risk (for example, due 

to the materialization of any of the “Risks relating to the Issuer and the Group” as described above) may result in 
partial or total failure of the Issuer to make interest and/or redemption payments under the Bonds. This risk is 
aggravated by the fact that the Bonds are unsecured and subordinated (see “Risks associated with the characteristics 

of the Bonds—Risk related to subordination” above) and could result in a partial or total loss of the investor’s 
investment in the Bonds. 

The potential adoption of a recovery and resolution regime for insurers and reinsurers could severely affect the 

rights of Bondholders who may lose all or some of its investment in the event of resolution of the Issuer 

On September 22, 2021, the European Commission adopted a proposal for an Insurance Recovery and Resolution 
Directive (such proposal hereinafter referred to as the “Draft IRRD”). If adopted and implemented into national law, 

the directive will allow authorities to protect policyholders, beneficiaries and claimants, maintain financial stability, 
ensure the continuity of the (re)insurer’s critical functions and protect public funds by minimizing reliance on 
extraordinary public financial support.  

According to the Draft IRRD, the IRRD will provide authorities with comprehensive and effective intervention 
powers of national resolution authorities to prepare for and deal with (near) failures of (re)insurers at national level 
and cooperation arrangements to tackle cross-border (re)insurance failures. To this end the resolution authorities are 

proposed to be provided with necessary powers to apply the resolution tools (as defined in the Draft IRRD) to 
undertakings that meet the applicable conditions for resolution. 

One of the resolution tools proposed in the Draft IRRD is the power to write down or convert capital instruments and 

eligible liabilities, on which basis the competent resolution authority may write down, or (with the exception of 
shares) convert into shares, Tier 1, Tier 2 and Tier 3 instruments and other eligible liabilities issued or borrowed by 
an undertaking (which may include bonds issued by the undertaking such as the Bonds issued by the Issuer) if the 

undertaking is failing or likely to fail and certain other conditions are met, or if the conditions for group resolution 
are met. 

The Draft IRRD foresees that in certain circumstances the resolution authority shall exercise the power to write down 

or convert capital instruments and eligible liabilities as a prioritized tool, individually or in combination with another 
resolution tool. 

Normal insolvency proceedings will remain the alternative path for the whole or parts of a (re)insurer that cannot be 

resolved, and the Draft IRRD provides for a no creditor worse off principle, the exact extent of which remains to be 
determined. 



-51- 

It is not yet possible to assess the full impact of the Draft IRRD or any corresponding implementing German 

legislation.  

Should the Draft IRRD or similar provisions enter into force and be implemented into German law, they may, despite 
the no creditor worse off principle being applicable, severely affect the rights of the Bondholders and may result in 

the loss of their entire investment in the event of resolution of the Issuer. Any perceptions in the market that these 
provisions may become applicable to the Issuer may reduce the market value of the Bonds even before the Issuer has 
actually reached the point of non-viability or resolution. 

The market value of the Bonds could decrease if the creditworthiness of the Munich Re worsens 

If the likelihood decreases that the Issuer will be in a position to fully perform all obligations under the Bonds when 
they fall due, for example, because of the materialization of any of the risks regarding the Issuer or the Group, the 
market value of the Bonds will fall. The market price of the Bonds may also be negatively impacted if the Issuer is 

perceived to be likely to defer, or has to defer, payments of interest. In addition, even if the likelihood that the Issuer 
will be in position to fully perform all obligations under the Bonds when they fall due actually has not decreased, 

market participants could nevertheless have a different perception.  

Furthermore, the market participants’ assessment of the creditworthiness of corporate debtors in general or debtors 
operating in the same business as Munich Re could adversely change. 

If any of these risks materializes, third parties would only be willing to purchase Bonds for a lower price than the 

price which prevailed before such risk materialized. Under these circumstances, the market value of the Bonds is 
likely to decrease. 

Investors have no right to set off 

No investor may set off its claims arising under the Bonds against any claims of the Issuer or refuse to perform any 

obligations before payments owed to the investor under the Bonds are made.  

There is no restriction on the amount or type of further securities or indebtedness that the Issuer may issue, incur or 
guarantee 

There is no restriction on the amount or type of further securities or indebtedness that the Issuer may issue, incur or 

guarantee, as the case may be, that rank senior to, or pari passu with, the Bonds offered here. The issuance or 
guaranteeing of any further securities or indebtedness may reduce the amount recoverable by investors in the Bonds 
on a liquidation or winding-up of the Issuer and may limit the Issuer’s ability to meet the obligations under the Bonds. 

Consent of investors may not be required for further issuances and a substitution of the Issuer 

In addition, the Issuer may at any time without the consent of investors issue further Bonds having the same Terms 
and Conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or in all respects except for the issue date, interest commencement date 
and/or issue price), if certain conditions are met.  

Furthermore, the Issuer may at any time, without the consent of investors, substitute the Issuer with any other 
company which is directly or indirectly controlled by the Issuer, as new issuer in respect of all obligations arising 
under or in connection with the Bonds with the effect of releasing the Issuer from all such obligations, provided that 

certain conditions are fulfilled (including a requirement that the Issuer irrevocably guarantees the obligations of the 
new issuer under the Bonds). No assurance can be given as to whether such substitution will negatively affect any 

particular investor. The tax and stamp duty consequences of holding Bonds could be different for some categories of 
investors from the tax and stamp duty consequences for them of holding the Bonds prior to such substitution. 

The Bonds are subject to exchange rate risks and potentially exchange controls 

The Bonds are denominated in U.S. dollars. Potential investors whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar 

should bear in mind that an investment in the Bonds could involve currency risks. This includes the risks of 
amendments in currency exchange rates. An appreciation in the value of the investor’s currency relative to the U.S. 
dollar would decrease (i) the investor’s currency-equivalent yield on the Bonds, (ii) the investor’s currency 

equivalent value of the principal payable on the Bonds, and (iii) the investor’s currency-equivalent market value of 
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the Bonds. In addition, government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange 

controls that could adversely affect an applicable currency exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less 
interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal. 

Investors may have to return amounts received that were not permitted to be paid pursuant to the Terms and 

Conditions of the Bonds 

If investors in the Bonds have received payments that were not permitted under the Terms and Conditions of the 
Bonds, such investors may have to return any amounts so received irrespective of any agreement to the contrary. 
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3 USE OF PROCEEDS 

It is the Issuer’s intention that an amount equivalent to the net proceeds of the Bonds will be used to finance or 

refinance, in whole or in part, existing and/or future Eligible Projects (as defined below) that meet the eligibility 
criteria defined in the Green Bond Framework (as defined in “Green Bonds” above) and are financed by the Group 
either by equity participation or by debt instruments (excluding green bonds issued by other issuers). For the 

avoidance of doubt, neither the Green Bond Framework nor the contents of the Issuer's website or any Second Party 
Opinion or any document related thereto are incorporated by reference into or form part of this Offering 

Memorandum. 

For equity participations, eligible investments also include investments by Munich Re in private, non-listed 
companies for which at least 90% of the turnover is attributable to projects that meet the eligibility criteria. 

In the case of refinancing existing Eligible Projects, investments and expenditures which have been made within the 

36-months period preceding the issue date of the Bonds shall be considered for inclusion as Eligible Projects. 

“Eligible Projects” include projects or assets in the following eligible categories: 

 Renewable energy: the acquisition, conception, construction, development, installation and operation of 
infrastructure in renewable energy production units, where “renewable energy” includes on- and 

offshore wind energy, solar energy, geothermal energy, hydropower, certain types of biomass and 
hydrogen; 

 Energy efficiency: improved infrastructure (e.g., LED lighting), energy storage, energy grids enabling 
more efficient transmission, smart meters and smart grids for more efficient transmission and 

distribution and the usage of waste heat to provide heat to communities; 

 Clean transportation: the development, construction, acquisition, operation, maintenance and upgrade of 
zero-carbon and low-carbon transport assets; 

 Green buildings: residential and commercial buildings that earn certain recognized green certifications 

or retrofitted buildings resulting in improved energy efficiency; 

 Sustainable water and wastewater management: the development, construction, acquisition, installation, 
operation and upgrade of sustainable water and wastewater management projects; 

 Eco-efficient and/or circular economy: waste management, circular economy, and pollution prevention 

and control; and 

 Environmentally sustainable management of living natural resources and land use: sustainable 
agriculture, climate smart farming, and environmentally sustainable fishery, aquaculture and forestry. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the following activities are excluded: 

 Energy production from oil, black coal, lignite and oil sands (including energy-efficient technologies 

that are inherently carbon-intensive and/or primarily driven/powered by oil and/or black coal) 

 Sourcing of palm oil from non-certified sources 

 Gambling 

 Tobacco 

 Alcohol 

 Weapons 

Munich Re has established a green bond committee within Munich Re with responsibility for governing selection 

and monitoring of Eligible Projects, including reviewing the list of Eligible Projects on an annual basis against the 
eligibility criteria and the exclusions. Munich Re's investment management department manages the allocation of an 
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amount equivalent to the net proceeds of the Bonds to Eligible Projects using a portfolio approach. Munich Re strives 

to achieve a level of allocation to the portfolio of Eligible Projects that matches or exceeds the balance of net proceeds 
of the Bonds within 36 months from the Issue Date.  

Pending full allocation of an amount equal to the net proceeds of the Bonds to Eligible Projects, the net proceeds not 

allocated to Eligible Projects will be allocated to temporary investments such as cash, cash equivalents and/or other 
liquid marketable investments (preferably green bonds issued by other issuers) in line with Munich Re's Responsible 
Investment Guideline and excluding investments covered by any of the exclusions mentioned above. 

Munich Re commits to publish on its website an allocation and impact report one year after issuance of the Bonds 
and annually thereafter until full allocation of the net proceeds as well as in the event of any material changes of the 
allocation as long as the Bonds are outstanding. The allocation reporting will at least include information on (i) the 

net proceeds of the outstanding Bonds, (ii) the amount of net proceeds allocated to the various Eligible Project 
categories, (iii) the remaining balance of unallocated net proceeds (if any), (iv) the proportional allocation of net 

proceeds to existing and new projects and (v) the projects in the Eligible Projects portfolio (subject to confidentiality 
considerations). Further, Munich Re will provide impact reporting at the level of each Eligible Project Category. 
Impact reporting may include key performance indicators for each category of Eligible Projects, such as total 

renewable energy produced, energy saved or reduced, greenhouse gas emissions avoided, number of green buildings 
financed, and so forth. 

Munich Re's Green Bond Framework is supported by the external reviews mentioned below. 

Second Party Opinion 

Munich Re has retained Sustainalytics to provide a Second Party Opinion on the Green Bond Framework to confirm 

alignment with the ICMA Green Bond Principles (as defined in “Green Bonds” above). 

Sustainalytics, a provider of environmental, social and governance (ESG) research and analysis, evaluated the Green 
Bond Framework and the alignment thereof with relevant market standards and provided views on the robustness 

and credibility of the Green Bond Framework which views are intended to inform investors in general, and not for a 
specific investor. 

Post Issuance External Verification on Reporting 

Munich Re intends to appoint an external reviewer to provide comfort on the use of net proceeds of the Bonds. The 

external reviewer will examine whether the net proceeds of the Bonds are allocated to Eligible Projects as defined in 
the Green Bond Framework. This review will be published alongside Munich Re's allocation reporting as stated 

above. 
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4 CAPITALIZATION AND FINANCIAL INDEBTEDNESS OF THE GROUP 

The following table sets forth, on a consolidated basis, (i) the capitalization of the Group as of March 31, 2022, in 

accordance with IFRS, and (ii) the capitalization of the Group as of March 31, 2022, as adjusted solely for the effect 
of the Offering. You should read this table together with the Group’s consolidated financial statements and related 
discussion and analysis incorporated by reference herein or included in Exhibit A and Exhibit B.  

As of March 31, 2022 

Actual As adjusted 

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (unaudited) 

Cash at banks, cheques and cash in hand .................................................................. 5,344 6,527(1)

Subordinated liabilities .............................................................................................. 5,093 6,280(2)

Liabilities

I. Bonds and notes issued ....................................................................................... 300 300

II. Deposits retained on ceded business ............................................................ 1,063 1,063

III. Current tax liabilities ....................................................................................... 1,754 1,754

IV. Other liabilities ................................................................................................ 27,876 27,876

Equity

I. Issued capital and capital reserve .......................................................................... 7,432 7,432

II. Retained earnings .............................................................................................. 16,975 16,975

III. Other reserves ............................................................................................. 2,656 2,656

IV. Consolidated result attributable to Munich Reinsurance Company equity 

holders .............................................................................................................. 607 607

V. Non-controlling interests .............................................................................. 111 111

Notes: 

(1) The adjustment of €1,184 million reflects the € equivalent of the US$1,247 million net proceeds to Munich Re from the Offering 
based on the €/US$ exchange rate of €1.00 = US$1.05355 on May 17, 2022. 

(2) The adjustment of €1,186 million reflects the € equivalent of the US$1,250 million principal amount of the Bonds based on a 
€/US$ exchange rate of €1.00 = US$1.05355 on May 17, 2022. This value differs from the financial liability that will be recorded 
on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet under IFRS. Non-derivative financial liabilities (such as the Bonds) within the scope 
of IAS 39 are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method. The initial measurement takes place at fair value 
plus transaction costs and in subsequent periods, the amortization and accretion of any premium or discount will be included in 
the Group’s financial result. 
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5 DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER AND THE GROUP 

The Issuer 

Munich Reinsurance Company (the Issuer of the Bonds) together with its subsidiaries form Munich Re. Munich 

Reinsurance Company is the ultimate parent of Munich Re. 

Name, Registered Seat (Sitz) and Object (Unternehmensgegenstand) of the Issuer 

The Issuer, having its seat in Munich, is a stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) under German law and is registered 
in the commercial register (Handelsregister) at the Local Court of Munich under Docket No. HRB 42039 under the 

legal name of Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München. The registered office of 
the Issuer is at Königinstrasse 107, 80802 Munich, Germany (phone +49 (0) 89 38 91-0). The Legal Entity Identifier 
(LEI) of Munich Reinsurance Company is 529900MUF4C20K50JS49. The website of the Issuer is 

www.munichre.com. The information on the website does not form part of this Offering Memorandum unless that 
information is specifically incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum. 

According to Article 1(3) of the articles of association of the Issuer, the object of the Issuer is the provision of 

reinsurance in all classes of business, and the management of an international group of companies that does business 
in the fields of insurance, asset management, information technologies, and other financial, advisory and similar 

services (including the identification, analysis, assessment and transfer of risks). The Issuer is entitled to conduct all 
transactions and take all measures that are associated with the aforementioned activities or that appear directly or 
indirectly conducive to them. 

According to Article 1(3) of the articles of association of the Issuer, the Issuer may pursue its object directly or 

indirectly through Group or affiliated companies (including joint ventures). It may restrict itself to part of the 
activities named in the aforementioned paragraph. The Issuer may establish branches in Germany and other countries, 

set up affiliated companies, acquire shareholdings in other companies, change their structures, merge them under 
uniform management or restrict itself to administering the shareholding, divest itself of shareholdings, and also 

conclude inter-company and cooperation agreements of all kinds. 

The Issuer may directly or indirectly acquire, administer or divest itself of shareholdings in companies of all kinds 
for investment purposes. 

Copies of the articles of association in the German language are publicly available from the commercial register in 
Munich.  

Fiscal Year 

The fiscal year of the Issuer is the calendar year.  

Term and Dissolution 

Munich Reinsurance Company has been founded for an unlimited term and may be dissolved upon a resolution of 
the General Meeting requiring a majority of at least three quarters of the share capital represented at the time such 

resolution is adopted. The assets of Munich Reinsurance Company remaining after servicing all liabilities are 
distributed among the shareholders pro rata to their shareholding in Munich Reinsurance Company pursuant to the 
provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz).  

Statutory Auditors  

Until December 31, 2019, the independent auditors of the Issuer were KPMG Bayerische Treuhandgesellschaft 
Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft (“KPMG”), Ganghoferstrasse 29, 
80339 Munich, Germany. KPMG is a member of the Chamber of Public Accountants (Wirtschaftsprüferkammer, 

Körperschaft des öffentlichen Rechts), Berlin, Germany. 

Against the background of the legally required rotation of auditors, a procedure for the selection of a new auditor 
was carried out in accordance with Art. 16(3), first subparagraph, of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of April 16, 2014. At the proposal of the Audit Committee, the Supervisory Board of 
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the Issuer selected EY for the audit of the financial statements, the consolidated financial statements and the 

combined management report of Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München from 
the financial year 2020. 

EY was appointed for the first time as auditor of the Issuer’s financial statements and the consolidated financial 

statements for the financial year starting on January 1, 2020. 

The German language consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the financial years ended 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 

as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant 
to Section 315e (1) German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – “HGB”), were audited, in accordance with 
Section 317 of the HGB and German generally accepted standards for financial statement audits promulgated by the 

Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer – “IDW”), by EY, as stated in their 
unqualified German language independent auditor’s reports (Bestätigungsvermerke des unabhängigen 

Abschlussprüfers) thereon. 

The Group 1/2022 Quarterly Statement as of March 31, 2022 published in accordance with Paragraph 53 of the 
Exchange Rules for the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Börsenordnung der Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse) and the Group 

1/2022 Financial Supplement are unaudited. 

Share Capital  

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, the issued share capital of the Issuer amounted to €587,725,396.48, 
consisting of 140,098,931 ordinary registered no-par-value shares (Stückaktien). All shares are fully paid up and have 
the same voting rights. 

On the basis of the authorization granted by the Annual General Meeting on April 29, 2020 or a future authorization, 
and with the approval of the Supervisory Board, represented by the Standing Committee, Munich Reinsurance 
Company’s Board of Management has resolved on February 18, 2022 to buy back shares for a maximum total value 

of €1bn (excluding incidental expenses) in the period between April 29, 2022 and, at the latest, the Annual General 
Meeting on May 5, 2023. 

Shareholder Structure 

The shares in Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München (ISIN: DE0008430026) 

are listed on the regulated market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Prime Standard). 

The shareholder listed below informed the Issuer pursuant to § 33 et seqq. of the German Securities Trading Act 
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz - “WpHG”) that a share of voting rights of over 3 per cent. in the Issuer is either held by 

it directly or indirectly or is attributed to it (including voting rights through instruments). The reported share of voting 
rights may have changed since the effective date of the notice or the effective date of the threshold crossing. The 

shareholder may have purchased or sold shares. 

On the basis of the notification received by the Issuer as of the date of this Offering Memorandum in accordance 
with the WpHG and pursuant to information provided by the shareholder, the following shareholder directly or 
indirectly holds more than 3 per cent. of the Issuer’s ordinary shares (including voting rights through instruments): 

Name Total voting rights (directly and indirectly) 

BlackRock, Inc., Wilmington, Delaware, United States of 
America 

6.48 per cent. 

The Issuer is not aware of any agreements which would lead to a change of control in the Issuer. Nor is the Issuer 

aware of any agreements which would lead to the Issuer being controlled by one or more shareholders either now or 
in the future. 
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History and Development of Munich Reinsurance Company

The Issuer was established in Munich in 1880 and was registered in the commercial register at the Local Court of 

Munich on April 19, 1880. From the beginning, the object of the company was the reinsurance in all classes of 
business. On March 21, 1888, the bank Merck, Finck & Co. launched the company on the Munich stock exchange. 

Shortly after its establishment, the Issuer expanded its activities to foreign countries. In 1890, it established its 
London branch and in 1899 its branch in the United States. In the assessment of the Issuer, the Issuer has since 
developed into one of the leading reinsurance companies worldwide. In 1996, the Issuer took over American Re 

Corporation in order to expand its market position in the United States and renamed it Munich Re America 
Corporation in 2006. 

Munich Re is also active in the primary insurance business through its shareholdings. As a result of restructurings, 

since 1997, the primary insurance business of Munich Re has been conducted particularly through ERGO Group AG 
(“ERGO”). 

In 1999, Munich Re established MEAG MUNICH ERGO AssetManagement group of companies (“MEAG”) for 

the purpose of optimizing Munich Re’s asset management operations. 

In 2019, the object of the company in Article 1(3) of the articles of association of Munich Re was adjusted to take 
into account the changing economic conditions and to reflect modernization and flexibility. 

The Group  

Business Overview 

In the assessment of the Issuer, Munich Re is one of the world's leading risk carriers and provides both insurance and 

reinsurance under one roof. This enables Munich Re to cover large stretches of the value chain in the risk market. 
Almost all reinsurance units operate under the uniform brand of Munich Re. ERGO is active in nearly all lines of 

life, health and property-casualty insurance. The majority of Munich Re’s investments are managed by MEAG, 
which also offers its expertise to private and institutional investors outside the Group. 

Reinsurance 

The reinsurance companies of Munich Re operate globally and in virtually all classes of business. Munich Re offers 

a full range of products, from traditional reinsurance to innovative solutions for risk assumption. The respective 
companies conduct their business from their respective headquarters and via a large number of branches, subsidiaries 
and affiliated companies. The reinsurance group also includes specialty primary insurers, whose business requires 

special competence in finding appropriate solutions. Some 44% of gross premiums written by the reinsurance 
companies of Munich Re in 2021 were derived from North America, 33% from Europe & Latin American, 18% from 

Asia Pacific and 5% from Africa & the Middle East. 

ERGO 

In ERGO, Munich Re combines the primary insurance activities. Some 69% of gross premiums written by ERGO in 
2021 were derived from Germany, 10% from Poland, 5% from Spain, 5% from Belgium and 11% from the rest of 

the world.  

Group Structure 

Munich Reinsurance Company and ERGO are under unified control within the meaning of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz). The relevant statutory regulations, control agreements and Group directives govern 

the distribution of responsibilities and competences for key decisions between Group management and ERGO.  

Control and profit-transfer agreements are in place with many Group companies, especially between ERGO and its 
subsidiaries. 
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Significant Brands 

A summary of significant brands within Munich Re can be found in the following chart: 

Business Divisions and Key Markets 

In the following, different business divisions within Munich Re and relevant key markets are described. 

Reinsurance 

In reinsurance, Munich Re operates in life, health and property-casualty business. Under reinsurance, Munich Re 
also conducts specialized primary insurance activities that are handled by the reinsurance organization and business 
from managing general agencies (MGAs). Organizationally, Munich Re has pooled worldwide activities covering 

the Internet of Things (IoT) into the new divisional unit Global IoT. 

As a reinsurer, Munich Re writes business in direct collaboration with primary insurers, but also via brokers and 
within the framework of strategic partnerships. In addition to traditional reinsurance business, Munich Re participates 

in insurance pools, public-private partnerships, business in specialist niche segments and also as a primary insurer. 
Munich Re also offers clients a wide range of special products, customized insurance solutions and services, which 

are managed from within Munich Re’s reinsurance organization. With these products, Munich Re believes it provides 
its clients with direct access to the expertise, innovative strength and capacity management know-how they require, 
and that Munich Re is a sought-after partner for products geared to clients’ balance sheet, solvency and rating-capital 

requirements, as well as their risk models. 

Focus of life and health reinsurance operations  

The international life and health reinsurance business of Munich Re is written in the “Life and Health Division”. 
This division is split into three geographical regions and one international unit that develops specialized solutions 



-60- 

for savings and annuity products. The focus of the division’s business activities is on traditional reinsurance solutions 

that concentrate on the transfer of mortality risk. Moreover, Munich Re is active in the market for living benefits 
products. These include products such as occupational disability, long-term care and critical illness, which have seen 

increased demand. Munich Re also offers capacity for longevity risks.  

Besides assuming underwriting risks, Munich Re supports its clients in developing new life insurance products. 
Moreover, Munich Re offers clients a wide range of increasingly digital services, from medical expertise to 
automated risk assessment and claims handling solutions. 

In addition, Munich Re continuously expands its tailor-made structured concepts for those clients seeking to optimize 
their capitalization, liquidity, or key performance indicators. 

Demand for reinsurance is also growing with regard to the capital market risks often embedded in savings products. 
Munich Re provides its clients with comprehensive advice on product design while offering hedging for embedded 

options and guarantees linked to the capital markets. The own exposure of Munich Re is transferred back to the 
capital markets.  

In order to ensure proximity to its clients, Munich Re is represented in many markets with local subsidiaries and 

branches. The main portion of the life and health reinsurance business is written via the Canadian branch and the 
subsidiary in the United States. In Europe, Munich Re has operations in Germany, the United Kingdom, Switzerland, 

Spain and Italy. At the same time, Munich Re has a strong local presence in Australia, South Africa, the Middle East 
and Asia. Asian business is centrally managed by a dedicated branch in Singapore, which underlines the strategic 
importance of this region for life and health reinsurance. 

The property-casualty reinsurance divisions  

The property-casualty reinsurance business of Munich Re is operated by the following divisions: 

The “Global Clients and North America Division” handles the accounts with major international insurance groups, 
globally operating Lloyd’s syndicates and Bermuda companies. It also pools the know-how of Munich Re in the 
North American market and is responsible for its property-casualty subsidiaries in this region, as well as international 

specialty lines business such as marine, aviation and space, and global large-risk business, which are pooled in a 
Facultative & Corporate unit.  

The three major US-based subsidiaries are Munich Reinsurance America, Inc. (“Munich Re, US”), The Hartford 

Steam Boiler Inspection and Insurance Company (“HSB”) and American Modern Insurance Group, Inc. (“American 
Modern”). Munich Re, US writes property-casualty reinsurance business and niche primary insurance business. The 

primary insurers HSB and American Modern specialize in products for which client proximity and – like in 
reinsurance – risk understanding is paramount. Moreover, Munich Re has pooled the activities of various specialty 
insurers in the commercial primary insurance business in the North American market within Munich Re Specialty 

Insurance with the aim of improving the Group’s ability to benefit from the business potential in this market segment. 
The market presence is also supported by Munich Re Specialty Group, a provider of marine insurance and insurance 

solutions for the energy industry. 

The “Europe and Latin America Division” is responsible for property-casualty business with clients from Europe, 
Latin America and the Caribbean. Business Units – for example, in London, Madrid, Paris and Milan – afford Munich 

Re market proximity and regional competence. In the Latin American markets, the Brazilian subsidiary Munich Re 
do Brazil Resseguradora S.A., headquartered in São Paulo, and the liaison offices in Bogotá and Mexico City help 
to ensure client proximity. The division also includes the divisional unit Financial Risks. New Re in Zurich and Great 

Lakes Insurance SE, which has its headquarters in Munich and operates branches in various locations, including 
London and Dublin, are also assigned to this division and make valuable contributions.  

The “Asia Pacific and Africa Division” conducts property-casualty reinsurance business with clients in Africa, Asia, 

Australia, New Zealand and the Pacific Islands. Branches in Mumbai, Beijing, Seoul, Singapore, Sydney and Tokyo, 
along with liaison offices in Bangkok and Taipei, allow Munich Re to pursue opportunities in the rapidly growing 

Asia-Pacific insurance market. In the African market, Munich Re is represented by its subsidiary Munich 
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Reinsurance Company of Africa Ltd., headquartered in Johannesburg. These units and other liaison offices help 

maintain its competitiveness in these key markets.  

ERGO 

Munich Re’s second pillar is primary insurance business. 

Four separate units operate under the umbrella of ERGO: ERGO Deutschland AG, ERGO International AG, ERGO 
Digital Ventures AG and ERGO Technology & Services Management AG. German business is concentrated in 

ERGO Deutschland AG, while ERGO International AG manages international business. ERGO Digital Ventures 
AG is responsible for digitalization, while ERGO Technology & Service Management AG manages the ERGO’s 

technology activities. 

ERGO offers products in each of the main classes of insurance: life insurance, health insurance, and in nearly all 
lines of property-casualty insurance, including travel insurance and legal protection insurance. With these products, 

in combination with the provision of assistance, other services and individual consultancy, Munich Re covers the 
needs of retail and corporate clients. ERGO serves some 35 million, mostly retail customers in around 25 countries, 
with a focus on Europe and Asia. 

With ERGO Versicherung AG, the primary insurance arm of Munich Re is one of Germany’s largest providers of 

property-casualty insurance across nearly all classes of business, offering a wide range of products for retail, 
commercial and industrial clients. ERGO Vorsorge Lebensversicherung AG is ERGO’s life insurer for capital-

market-linked and biometric products. It offers solutions for all three types of old-age provisions, mainly based on 
innovative and flexible unit-linked insurance products. ERGO Lebensversicherung AG and Victoria 
Lebensversicherung AG are responsible for the settlement of the traditional life insurance portfolio of Munich Re. 

DKV Deutsche Krankenversicherung AG (“DKV”) offers a full portfolio of comprehensive private health insurance, 
products designed to supplement statutory health coverage, and company health insurance. ERGO 

Krankenversicherung AG focuses on products that supplement statutory health insurance, especially supplementary 
dental plans. The specialist travel insurer ERGO Reiseversicherung AG is, in the assessment of the Issuer, a market 

leader internationally as well as in Germany.  

In Germany, ERGO’s tied agents (agency sales) and ERGO Pro (structured sales force) are bundled under one roof 
in ERGO Beratung und Vertrieb AG. The latter is managed by ERGO Deutschland AG together with direct sales. 
All of ERGO's German sales organizations were developed further in 2021 – in particular with regard to digitalization 

and implementation of the hybrid customer business model, which offers customers an essentially identical range of 
products via all online and offline channels. ERGO is thus making integrated use of various channels – such as face-

to-face consultation, internet, online chat, email, telephone or even video consultation – to leverage new potential. 
ERGO Deutschland AG manages its broker and partner sales in its Property-casualty, Health Germany and Life 

Germany divisions, depending on class of business. 

ERGO International AG is mainly responsible for monitoring, coordinating and managing ERGO’s international 
activities. The focus is on profitable organic growth in European core markets and selected growth markets in Asia, 
especially China and India. In India, ERGO is positioned in property-casualty and health insurance thanks to HDFC 

ERGO. In China, ERGO China Life – a joint venture with the state-owned financial investor SSAIH – looks to 
capitalize on the business potential of the major provinces of Shandong, Jiangsu and Hebei. A strategic investment 

in Taishan Property & Casualty Insurance Co., Ltd. in Shandong province represents an entry into the Chinese 
property-casualty market. 

ERGO Digital Ventures AG is responsible for digital transformation. It provides support via innovative sales 

strategies, manages the fully digital player “nexible”, and is setting up automated technologies, such as robotics, 
artificial intelligence and voice technology. ERGO Digital Ventures AG is also responsible for further developing 
the ERGO Reiseversicherung AG business and driving ahead its digitalization. ERGO Mobility Solutions seeks to 

establish partnerships and alliances with vehicle manufacturers, dealerships and mobility service providers. 
Examples of this include a strategic cooperation with Great Wall Motors in Europe, initiated in 2021, and a 

partnership with the British online car dealer Cazoo in the German market. 
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ERGO Technology & Services Management AG is a dedicated arm of ERGO in charge of providing digital platforms, 

solutions and services. It has a global remit and supports ERGO in designing optimum insurance products and 
fostering the most effective customer channels. It consists of ITERGO GmbH in Germany and ERGO Technology 

& Services S.A. in Poland. The latter was established in the first quarter of 2021 by integrating ERGO Digital IT 
GmbH and Atena S.A., thus combining the strengths and capabilities of both organizations in a single entity. 

Selected Key Figures of Reportable Segments 

The subsequent charts show key figures of reportable segments of Munich Re and a reconciliation to Group figures.  

Reinsurance: Life and Health 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 3,369 3,058 12,561 12,707 11,716 

Technical result  -46 -4 -9 -78 365 

Non-technical result  1 109 353 303 484 

thereof: investment result 122 245 860 846 1,097 

Other(2) -32 -54 -19 -101 -144 

Consolidated result -78 52 325 123 706 

Reinsurance: Property-Casualty 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 7,938 6,330 28,793 24,615 22,091 

Technical result  866 265 972 -171 1,157 

Non-technical result  -167 187 1,380 931 607 

thereof: investment result 86 423 2,562 2,347 2,220 

Other(2) -110 -94 -349 -188 -202 

Consolidated result 589 358 2,003 571 1,562 

ERGO: Life and Health Germany 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1,3)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 2,461 2,265 9,203 9,030 9,238 

Technical result  43 116 349 353 287 

Non-technical result  -29 20 -147 95 102 

thereof: investment result 645 898 3,201 3,605 3,916 

Other(2) 30 -42 -37 -317 -203 

Consolidated result 44 94 164 130 187 
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ERGO: Property-Casualty Germany 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 1,679 1,535 3,919 3,677 3,500 

Technical result  22 51 302 294 303 

Non-technical result  15 -15 51 -39 -91 

thereof: investment result 56 29 209 175 157 

Other(2) -26 -12 -120 -97 -64 

Consolidated result 12 24 234 157 148 

ERGO: International 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 1,386 1,362 5,092 4,861 4,912 

Technical result  91 51 313 202 171 

Non-technical result  -15 16 -47 96 45 

thereof: investment result 78 95 324 425 430 

Other(2) -36 -7 -59 -69 -111 

Consolidated result 40 60 207 230 105 

Munich Re Total 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31  

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1,3)

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Gross premiums written 16,833 14,551 59,567 54,890 51,457 

Technical result  976 480 1,927 600 2,283 

Non-technical result  -195 318 1,590 1,386 1,147 

thereof: investment result 987 1,691 7,156 7,398 7,822 

Other(2) -174 -208 -586 -775 -723 

Consolidated result 608 589 2,932 1,211 2,707 

(1) In the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, Munich Re made some amendments to the 
way it accounts for project costs, innovation costs and Finance Division costs, in particular in order to show ongoing and one-time 
expenditure in a more transparent and consistent way. This resulted in reclassifications in the consolidated income statement and 
segment income statement and in an adjustment of comparative financial year 2019 figures in line with IAS 1.41 in the consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. The change had no impact on the result. 

(2) Other contains the line items other non-operating result, currency result, net finance costs and taxes on income, each as shown in the 
Issuer’s segment reporting. 

(3) The calculation of income from technical interest in the ERGO Life Germany division was developed further. The comparative 
financial year 2019 figures were adjusted in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
The change had no impact on the result. 
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The following illustration shows gross premiums written broken down into different regions. 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31

Gross premiums written 2022 2021 2021 2020 2019 

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited)

Europe 9,090 8,396 30,420 29,080 27,637

North America  4,665 3,648 18,253 15,440 14,482

Asia and Australasia 1,986 1,601 7,439 6,952 6,029

Africa, Middle East 647 514 1,896 1,940 1,824

Latin America 444 392 1,560 1,477 1,486

Total  16,833 14,551 59,567 54,890 51,457

Sustainability 

A core guiding principle for Munich Re is to act in a far-sighted and responsible manner. This is the foundation upon 
which we strive to add value for and together with our stakeholders. 

In our Munich Re Group Ambition 2025 (“Ambition 2025”), we have developed a Group-wide strategy to create 

long-term value for our shareholders, clients and staff – and for society as a whole. As part of this ambition, we aim 
to strengthen our corporate responsibility strategy even further, and put a high priority on environmental, social and 

governance (“ESG”) criteria. This aim is also reflected in the ESG governance structure: fundamental strategic 
decisions are taken by the Board of Management, or, more specifically, by the ESG Committee, a subcommittee of 

the Strategy Committee. The ESG Committee is supported by the ESG Management Team, which is responsible for 
implementing and monitoring the Group-wide ESG strategy. Furthermore, the remuneration system of the Board of 
Management strengthened its focus on ESG topics with ESG criteria for variable and multi-year remuneration.  

Integrating ESG criteria is also an important component of our investment strategy. As a result, Munich Re takes 

ESG criteria into account when making investment decisions in certain asset classes. Such ESG criteria range from 
defined exclusion criteria for investments in equities and corporate or government bonds, to specific criteria for 

alternative investments. For long term investments like alternative investments, assessing sustainable criteria are key 
for the investment decision. ESG issues have to be considered in the investment analysis for direct investments 
(equity and debt). When investing in buildings acquired as direct investments, for example, Munich Re considers, 

among other things, eco-labels and certificates as well as energy efficiency on a new investment. We also explicitly 
assess ESG aspects prior to submitting a binding offer when investing in any direct infrastructure (including 

renewable energy) and forestry opportunity. 

For almost 50 years, Munich Re has been addressing the issue of climate change, its effects on the insurance industry, 
and the resulting risks and opportunities. For climate-related disclosure we aligned our sustainability reporting to the 

recommendations of the “Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (TCFD)”. The Group’s goal is to make 
a contribution towards meeting the requirements set out in the Paris Agreement. Therefore, we insure new, climate-
friendly technologies, with the aim of making those technologies more attractive and financially viable for investors. 

Furthermore, as part of our Ambition 2025, we have adopted a broad decarbonization strategy featuring carbon 
reduction targets for the insurance business, our investments, and our own operations.  

As a founding member of the Net-Zero Insurance Alliance, we have undertaken to lower CO2 emissions attributable 

to our insurance business to net zero by 2050. This commitment is in line with our Ambition 2025, in which Munich 
Re has undertaken to cease insuring thermal coal activities altogether in its primary insurance and facultative and 

direct (re)insurance business by 2040. We further aim to reduce the CO2 emissions from the activities insured in this 
context by 35% by 2025 and by 70% by 2030, relative to the base year of 2019. Since September 2018, the Group 
no longer insures single risks in the planning, financing, construction or operation of new thermal coal mines, power 

plants and associated infrastructure. In our property insurance business, with respect to oil and natural gas production, 
our goal is to lower our attributable CO2 emissions by 5% by 2025 relative to the base year of 2019. In addition, for 
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oil and natural gas production, we have put exclusions in place for the insurance of oil-sand extraction and associated 

infrastructure.  

Regarding investments, Munich Re joined the Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance in 2020 and is striving to decarbonize 
its asset portfolio by 2050. Our Ambition 2025 targets include reducing, in an intermediate step, our entire scope 1 

and 2 carbon emissions from listed shares, corporate bonds and directly held real estate by 25%–29% by 2025 
compared to 2019. In addition, we have set specific sector targets for listed shares and corporate bonds: we intend to 
reduce carbon emissions from investments in thermal coal – mining and/or power generation – by more than 35% 

by 2025, and from investments in oil & gas – drilling and production, refining and distribution – by 25%, respectively 
compared to the 2019 base year. Further, we have already ceased investing in companies that generate more than 

30% of their earnings from thermal coal. Investments in companies that generate more than 10% of their earnings 
from oil sands are also excluded. 

We have adopted a holistic approach with our Ambition 2025, and also take the direct climatic effects of the carbon 

emitted by our own business operations into account. Munich Re intends to reduce its own carbon emissions per staff 
member by 12% by 2025, as compared to 2019 levels, through the purchase of green electricity and other measures. 
We aim to reach net-zero for our own carbon emissions by 2030, having made significant progress in reducing our 

emissions and achieving carbon-neutrality in 2015. This means that any carbon that we still emit from our own 
operational processes in 2030 will be removed from the atmosphere through appropriate afforestation or carbon-

capture and storage projects. 

In addition to the climate-related goals of our Ambition 2025, we also aim to be a preferred employer that offers 
attractive, long-term jobs and excellent potential for career development. Two key elements for us in this respect are 

our “Driving Digital Culture”, and significantly increasing the percentage of women in leadership positions 
worldwide. Specifically, Munich Re aims for 40% of its managers and 25% of its Board of Management to be women 
by 2025. Stemming from our sense of social responsibility, we support numerous initiatives and projects that are 

close to our core business and promote social cohesion. 

Further, Munich Re’s voluntary commitments to covenants such as the “Ten Principles of the United Nations Global 
Compact”, the “Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI)”, and the “Principles for Sustainable Insurance (PSI)” 

also constitute important pillars of the Group's actions. 

Investment Portfolio 

The following tables provide information on the investment portfolio of Munich Re. 

Overall Portfolio(1) 

As of March 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2021 

(amounts in € 

million)

(% of total 

portfolio)

(amounts in € 

million)

(% of total 

portfolio)

(unaudited) 

Land and buildings, including 

buildings on third-party land 

13,245 5.4% 13,320 5.2% 

Fixed-interest securities 132,988 54.1% 139,869 54.3%  

Shares, equity funds and 

participating interests 

21,086 8.6% 22,281 8.7%  

Loans 53,893 21.9% 58,659 22.8%  

Miscellaneous 24,647 10.0% 23,356 9.1%  

Total Portfolio 245,860 100% 257,485 100%  

(1) Figures based on fair values. 
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Fixed-Interest Securities by economic category 

As of March 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2021 

(% of total portfolio)

(unaudited) 

Government Bonds 64% 65%  

Corporate Bonds 19% 19%  

Pfandbriefs / Covered Bonds 9% 9%  

Structured products (credit structures) 5% 4%  

Bank Bonds 4% 3%  

Cash positions / Other 0% 0%  

Total Fixed-Interest Securities Portfolio 100%  100% 

Loans Portfolio by economic category 

As of March 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2021 

(% of total portfolio)

(unaudited) 

Government Bonds 40% 41%  

Pfandbriefs / Covered Bonds 36% 37%  

Policy and mortgage loans 15% 15%  

Corporate Bonds 8% 7%  

Bank Bonds 1% 1%  

Total Loans Portfolio 100%  100%  

Miscellaneous Portfolio 

As of March 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2021 

(amounts in € 

million)

(% of total 

portfolio)

(amounts in € 

million)

(% of total 

portfolio)

(unaudited) 

Derivatives(1) 1,472 6% 1,190 5%  

Investment funds(2) 2,103 9% 2,454 11%  

Bank deposits 3,875 16% 3,363 14%  

Deposits on reinsurance 9,160 37% 9,027 39%  

Other 8,037 33% 7,323 31%  

Total Miscellaneous Portfolio 24,647 100% 23,356 100%  

(1) Non-fixed derivatives 

(2) Property and bond funds 



-67- 

Fixed-Interest Portfolio by economic category(1)

As of March 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2021 

(% of total portfolio, unless stated otherwise)

(unaudited) 

Government Bonds(2) 54% 55% 

Pfandbriefs / Covered bonds 16% 16% 

Corporate Bonds 15% 14% 

Cash positions / Other 6% 6% 

Policy and mortgage loans 4% 4% 

Structured products (credit structures) 3% 3% 

Bank Bonds 3% 2% 

Total Fixed-Interest Portfolio 100% 100% 

Total Fixed-Interest Portfolio (in €) 197 billion 209 billion 

(1) Presentation essentially shows fixed-interest securities and loans, including deposits and cash at banks, at fair value. 

(2) Including other public-sector issuers and government-guaranteed bank bonds. 

The following tables provide further detailed information on the fixed-income portfolio of Munich Re: 

Rating Structure Fixed-Income Portfolio 

Rating 

As of March 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2021 

(% of total portfolio)

(unaudited) 

AAA 41% 42%  

AA 24% 23%  

A 12% 13%  

BBB  13% 13%  

BB or lower 5% 5%  

NR 5% 5%  

Total  100% 100% 

Maturity Structure Fixed-Income Portfolio 

Maturity 

As of March 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2021 

(% of total portfolio)

(unaudited) 

0-1 years 10% 9%  

1-3 years  14% 14%  

3-5 years 16% 15% 

5-7 years 12% 12%  

7-10 years 13% 13%  

>10 years 31% 33%  

n.a. 4% 4%  

Total  100% 100%  



-68- 

Regional Breakdown of Fixed-Income Portfolio 

As of March 31, 2022 

As of December 31, 

2021 

Without With 

Total Total Policyholder Participation 

(% of total portfolio) 

(unaudited) 

Germany 4.9% 18.7% 23.6% 23.5%  

United States 16.0% 2.2% 18.2% 18.0% 

France 2.0% 4.8% 6.8% 6.8% 

Canada 4.7% 0.7% 5.4% 5.2% 

UK 2.6% 1.9% 4.6% 4.6% 

Netherlands 1.3% 2.8% 4.1% 4.1% 

Australia 3.7% 0.7% 4.3% 4.0% 

Supra-nationals 0.8% 2.5% 3.3% 3.4% 

Spain 0.8% 1.9% 2.7% 2.8% 

Ireland 0.9% 1.9% 2.7% 2.8% 

Austria 0.5% 1.9% 2.3% 2.4% 

Belgium 0.6% 1.6% 2.2% 2.4% 

Luxembourg 0.6% 1.1% 1.7% 1.6% 

Poland 1.1% 0.3% 1.5% 1.5% 

Italy 0.6% 0.8% 1.4% 1.3% 

Other 7.8% 7.4% 15.2% 15.5% 

Total  48.8% 51.2% 100% 100%  

Investments 

In addition to the regular portfolio managing process, Munich Re has entered into the following significant 
transactions since December 31, 2021: 

In the first quarter of 2022, the transaction to sell the Romanian subsidiaries ERGO ASIGURARI S.A., Bucharest 

and ERGO ASIGURARI DE VIATA S.A., Bucharest was completed. 

Two minor subsidiaries were classified as held for sale in the first quarter of 2022: Digital Affect Insurance Company, 
New York City, New York, and Digital Edge Insurance Company, Dover, Delaware. No value adjustments resulted 

from the classification.  

As part of a portfolio transfer, fixed-interest securities, cash at banks, and liabilities of JSC ERV Travel Insurance, 
Moscow, were classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2022. This classification did not result in any material value 

adjustments, as the net asset value of this entity is not material. 

On January 1, 2022, via its subsidiary GroupHealth Northern Partners Inc., Vancouver, Munich Re acquired 75% of 
the voting shares in Blewett & Associates Inc. (“Blewett”), London, Ontario. Blewett’s principal business activity 
is brokering group benefit sales. The intent of the acquisition of Blewett is to add and protect distribution, improve 

product range and to leverage the licensing model to optimize the operations of GroupHealth Northern Partners Inc. 

On January 18, 2022, via its subsidiary MR Falcon LP, Delaware, Munich Re acquired from EDF Renewables North 
America 50% of the voting shares in Maverick 67 HoldCo, LLC, Delaware, and 50% of the voting shares in Maverick 

67 Class B HoldCo, LLC, Delaware, as a result of which we acquired a 50% stake in Maverick Solar 6, LLC, 
Delaware, and a 50% stake in Maverick Solar 7, LLC, Delaware. 

For recent transactions which occurred after March 31, 2022, please refer to the sub-section “Recent Events” below. 
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Regulatory Capital Adequacy 

The capital requirements, as well as the definition and calculation of eligible capital, are governed by the Solvency 

II rules that came into force on January 1, 2016. The Issuer’s and the Group’s own funds as well as the capital 
requirements are since then based on the market value balance sheet approach as the major economic principle of 

the Solvency II rules.  

Munich Re reports Solvency II regulatory capitalization both excluding and including transitional measures for 
technical provisions. For the Bonds the relevant Solvency II regulatory capitalization measures, for example for the 

determination of whether a Solvency Capital Event has occurred, are those that include the transitional measures for 
technical provisions. 

The Group: Solvency II Regulatory Capitalization  

Eligible own funds excluding the application of transitional measures for technical provisions  

As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 

(amounts in € million unless stated 

otherwise) 
(unaudited) 

Eligible own funds(1) 46,626 39,919 41,544 35,995 35,060 

Solvency capital requirement (SCR) 20,540 19,180 17,531 14,670 14,353 

Solvency II ratio (in percent) 227% 208% 237% 245% 244% 

Eligible own funds to meet the 

minimum consolidated group SCR 43,998 36,864 39,811 33,846 33,358 

Minimum consolidated Group SCR 14,632 14,858 13,582 12,096 11,627 

Ratio of Eligible own funds to 

Minimum Consolidated Group SCR 301% 248% 293% 280% 288% 

(1) Total eligible own funds to meet the group SCR (including own funds from other financial sectors and from the undertakings included 
via D&A). In 2020, eligible own funds comprised 1% Tier 3 capital, 13% Tier 2 capital and 86% Tier 1 capital and in 2021, eligible 
own funds comprised 0% Tier 3 capital, 11% Tier 2 capital and 89% Tier 1 capital.

Eligible own funds including the application of transitional measures for technical provisions 

As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 

(amounts in € million unless stated 

otherwise) 
(unaudited) 

Eligible own funds(1) 52,245 46,093 48,085 43,241 42,626 

Solvency capital requirement (SCR) 20,540 19,180 17,531 14,670 14,353 

Solvency II ratio (in percent) 254% 240% 274% 295% 297% 

Eligible own funds to meet the 

minimum consolidated group SCR 49,623 43,059 46,363 41,091 41,104 

Minimum consolidated Group SCR 14,632 14,858 13,582 12,096 11,627 

Ratio of Eligible own funds to 

Minimum Consolidated Group SCR 339% 290% 341% 340% 354% 

(1) Total eligible own funds to meet the group SCR (including own funds from other financial sectors and from the undertakings included 
via D&A)

As of March 31, 2022, Munich Re’s Solvency II ratio (in percent), excluding the application of transitional measures 
for technical provisions, was 231%, and including the application of transitional measures for technical provisions 

was 257%.
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Munich Reinsurance Company: Solvency II Regulatory Capitalization  

Eligible own funds excluding the application of transitional measures for technical provisions 

As of December 31 

2021 2020 

(amounts in € million unless stated otherwise) (unaudited) 

Eligible own funds 47,014 40,251 

Solvency capital requirement 20,540 19,180 

Solvency II ratio (in percent) 229% 210% 

Eligible own funds to meet the Minimum Capital Requirement 43,629 36,743 

Minimum Capital Requirement 8,414 8,631 

Ratio of Eligible own funds to Minimum Capital Requirement 519% 426% 

Eligible own funds including the application of transitional measures for technical provisions 

As of December 31 

2021 2020 

(amounts in € million unless stated otherwise) (unaudited) 

Eligible own funds 52,633 46,426 

Solvency capital requirement 20,540 19,180 

Solvency II ratio (in percent) 256% 242% 

Eligible own funds to meet the Minimum Capital Requirement 49,248 42,938 

Minimum Capital Requirement 8,414 8,631 

Ratio of Eligible own funds to Minimum Capital Requirement 585% 497% 

As of March 31, 2022, the Munich Reinsurance Company’s Solvency II ratio (in percent), excluding the application 

of transitional measures for technical provisions, was 233%, and including the application of transitional measures 
for technical provisions was 259%.

In the following, the main effects leading to the values indicated in the tables above are described for the Group. As 
Munich Reinsurance Company serves as the ultimate parent company, the changes in the figures of the Munich 

Reinsurance Company result quite predominantly from the same effects. 

Changes from January 1 to December 31, 2021: 

Eligible own funds (“EOF”) increased by €6,707 million from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021. Positive 
economic earnings of €8,113 million accompanied by positive opening adjustments of €171 million were the main 

drivers. Capital measures decreased EOF by €1,541 million (the foreseeable dividend for financial year 2021, the 
redemption of a subordinated bond in the second quarter of 2021 and the issuance of a new subordinated bond in the 

third quarter of 2021 of €1,000 million each had in total no impact on EOF). The change of other own fund items 
amounted to –€35 million. 

The economic earnings for 2021 were driven by a positive operating impact (€5,478 million) and favorable market 

variances (€4,338 million), while other economic earnings items consisting of tax expenses and various minor non-
operating items reduced economic earnings (–€1,703 million). Operating impact was positively influenced by new 
business contribution, expected in-force contribution and operating variances in-force business. Positive market 

variances resulted mainly from the appreciation of foreign currencies against the Euro, positive impacts from 
inflation and equity markets.  

The solvency capital requirement (“SCR”) increased by €1,360 million in 2021, mainly driven by business growth 

in both Non-Life and Life business and exposure increases in foreign currency and equity.  
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As a result, the Solvency II ratio of the Group as of December 31, 2021, excluding transitional on technical provisions, 

increased to 227%. 

The Solvency II ratio of the Group as of December 31, 2021, as submitted to the supervisory authority and including 
transitional on technical provisions, increased to 254%.  

Changes from January 1 to March 31, 2022: 

The deduction of the share buy-back (€1,000 million) along with negative market variances reduced the EOF of the 

Group in the first quarter of 2022, despite good operating performance. The SCR of the Group also decreased in the 
period, mainly driven by a sharp rise in risk-free interest rates.  

Hence, the Solvency II ratio of the Group as of March 31, 2022, excluding the application of transitional measures 

for technical provisions, increased from 227% as of December 31, 2021 to 231%, exceeding the upper end of the 
optimal range for the Group. 

The Solvency II ratio of the Group as of March 31, 2022, as submitted to the supervisory authority and including the 

application of transitional measures for technical provisions, increased from 254% as of December 31, 2021 to 257%. 

Composition of Own Funds 

The solvency balance sheet prepared in accordance with Solvency II is used to determine the excess of the Group’s 
assets over its liabilities, with both assets and liabilities largely being measured at fair value. This surplus is the key 

element of eligible own funds. Other components mainly comprise eligible subordinated liabilities, which need to be 
added to the calculation, and foreseeable dividends, distributions and own shares, which need to be deducted. Own 
funds items leading to restrictions in eligibility, such as surplus funds, must also be deducted.  

The general conceptual composition of own funds for March 31, 2022 is comparable to December 31, 2021 (as 

presented below).  

Changes of individual items relate in particular to IFRS equity, valuation adjustments, subordinated liabilities as well 
as foreseeable dividends, distributions and own shares, which decrease during the year as capital is repatriated. 

(1) Foreseeable distributions from foreseeable dividends (–€1.5 billion) 

(2) Deduction of non-available own funds items of (–€0.6 billion) (e.g., non-available surplus funds) and deduction of own funds from 
participations in other financial sectors (–€0.3 billion). 

(3) Own funds for other financial sectors (€0.3 billion; financial, credit institutions and investment firms and institutions for occupational 
retirement provision). 
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Sensitivity 

Munich Re regularly determines how sensitively the basic own funds, the solvency capital requirement and ultimately 

also the solvency ratio react to strong changes in specific capital market parameters and in other defined stress 
scenarios. The impact of selected scenarios on the solvency ratio of the Group are shown in the following chart. 

Solvency II ratio - Sensitivity 

(1) Parallel shift until last liquid point, extrapolation to unchanged Ultimate Forward Rate. 

(2) Based on CPI inflation. 

(3) Based on a 1-in-200 year event. 

While Munich Re takes into account the volatility adjustment to the risk-free interest-rate curve both in the basic 
case and the scenarios depicted, transitional measures are not taken into account (whereas with the inclusion of 

transitional measures, the ratios would be higher in each case). The Atlantic Hurricane scenario corresponds to a 1-
in-200-year event. The ultimate forward rate is not adjusted for the risk-free interest rate scenarios. In the UFR -50bps 
scenario, the ultimate forward rate is reduced by 50 basis points given an unchanged term for the beginning of the 

extrapolation period. 

For all evaluated sensitivities, Munich Re’s capitalization at the Group level is within or above the target corridor. 
In similar analyses for the Munich Reinsurance Company, the solvency ratios in the individual scenarios are about 

in the same order of magnitude. Considering transitional measures Solvency II ratios would be around 30% higher 
for the Group as well as for the Munich Reinsurance Company.  

Composition of Solvency Capital Requirement 

The following tables under “Solvency Capital Requirements (SCR)” show the solvency capital requirement for the 

Group and its risk categories as of December 31, 2021. At the Group level, the SCR increased by 7.1% to €20.5 
billion, compared with €19.2 billion as of December 31 of the previous year. This rise is attributable to increases in 
almost all risk categories. The SCR increase in the property-casualty category is mainly a consequence of further 

growth in business with natural hazard exposure in line with the business strategy of Munich Re. The appreciation 
of the US dollar further reinforced the increase. The SCR in life and health increased, mainly on account of business 

growth, with interest-rate and currency translation effects generally balancing each other out. The market risk SCR 
at the Group level increased owing to opposite effects in both fields of business and a higher diversification. The 

market risk for the reinsurance field of business increased appreciably owing to the higher currency and equity risk, 
whereas the market risk in the ERGO field of business was down, mainly owing to increased interest-rate levels and 
to a slightly more balanced interest-rate exposure within this field of business, partly offset by a higher equity risk. 

The credit risk SCR decreased mainly on account of higher interest rates, as a result of which the market values of 
fixed-interest securities fell. This increased the risk buffers available to our life insurance companies, leaving less 

credit risk with Munich Re.  



-73- 

Solvency Capital Requirements (SCR) 

Reinsurance ERGO Diversification 

December 31 December 31 December 31 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) 

Property-casualty 11,014 9,306 639 559 -484 -452

Life and health 6,470 6,082 1,360 1,332 -397 -418

Market 7,052 5,617 6,496 6,635 -2,065 -1,522

Credit 2,510 2,762 1,903 2,614 -88 -167

Operational risk 830 796 618 648 -246 -259

Other(1) 459 466 357 313 - - 

Subtotal 28,334 25,029 11,374 12,102 - - 

Diversification effect -10,281 -9,283 -1,594 -1,235 - - 

Tax -2,958 -2,989 -1,126 -902 - - 

Total SCR 15,095 12,758 8,653 9,965 -3,209 -3,543

(1) Capital requirements for other financial sectors, e.g., institutions for occupational retirement provision. 

Group 

December 31 Change 2020 to 2021 

2021 2020 in € million in per cent. 

(amounts in € million, unless stated otherwise) (unaudited) 

Property-casualty 11,169 9,413 1,756 18.7 

Life and health 7,434 6,996 438 6.3 

Market 11,483 10,730 753 7.0 

Credit 4,325 5,210 -885 -17.0 

Operational risk 1,202 1,186 16 1.3 

Other(1) 816 779 37 4.7 

Subtotal 36,428 34,314 2,114 6.2 

Diversification effect -12,332 -11,737 -595 -5.1 

Tax -3,556 -3,396 -160 -4.7 

Total SCR 20,540 19,180 1,360 7.1 

(1) Capital requirements for other financial sectors, e.g., institutions for occupational retirement provision. 
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IFRS Equity and Capital Structure 

The following table outlines the development of the IFRS equity of Munich Re since December 31, 2021. 

IFRS Equity Munich Re 

(amounts in € million) (unaudited, unless otherwise specified) 

Equity as of December 31, 2021(1) 30,945 

Consolidated result 608 

Changes: 

Unrealised gains and losses on investments -4,425 

Currency translation 437 

Other(2) 218 

Equity as of March 31, 2022 27,783 

(1) Audited. 

(2) Sum of “Change resulting from equity measurement method”, “Change resulting from cash flow hedges”, “Remeasurement of defined 
benefit plans”, “Other changes”, “Change in shareholdings in subsidiaries”, “Change in consolidated group”, “Retirement of own 
shares” and “Dividend – Non-controlling interests”, each as presented in the Group statement of changes in equity. 

The following table outlines the capital structure of Munich Re: 

Capital Structure 

As of  

March 31, 2022 

As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 2018 

(amounts in € billion, 

unless stated otherwise) 
(unaudited) (audited, unless otherwise specified) 

Bonds and notes issued 0.3 0.3 0.3  0.3 0.3 

Subordinated liabilities 5.1 5.1 5.0 3.8 3.7 

Equity 27.8 30.9 30.0 30.6 26.5 

Debt leverage (in per 

cent.)(1)(2) 16.3 14.7 15.1 12.0 13.2 

(1) Calculated as “Strategic Debt” (bonds and notes issued plus subordinated liabilities) divided by total capital (Strategic Debt plus 
equity). 

(2) Unaudited. 

Ratings 

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Insurance Financial Strength Rating (“IFSR”) assigned by A.M. 
Best (EU) Rating Services B.V. (“A.M. Best”) to Munich Reinsurance Company is “A+” (stable outlook), the IFSR 

assigned by Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited (“Fitch”) is “AA” (stable outlook), the IFSR assigned by Moody’s 
Deutschland GmbH (“Moody’s”) is “Aa3” (stable outlook) and the IFSR assigned by S&P Global Ratings Europe 

Ltd. (“S&P Global Ratings”) is “AA-” (stable outlook).1

1 A.M. Best, Fitch, Moody's and S&P Global Ratings are established in the European Union and are registered under Regulation (EC) No 

1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of September 16, 2009 on credit rating agencies, as amended (the “CRA 
Regulation”). The European Securities and Markets Authority publishes on its website (https://www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/credit-
rating-agencies/risk) a list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation. That list is updated within five working 

days following the adoption of a decision under Article 16, 17 or 20 CRA Regulation. The European Commission shall publish that updated 
list in the Official Journal of the European Union within 30 days following such update. Investors in the Bonds should be aware that a credit 
rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time 
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Governmental, Legal and Arbitration Proceedings 

Within the scope of their regular business operations, i.e., in their capacity as insurers and asset managers, employers, 

investors and taxpayers, the Munich Re companies are involved as claimants or defendants in a number of court, 
administrative, arbitration and regulatory proceedings, in Germany and other countries, including the United States. 

It is impossible to determine or predict the outcome of cases pending or threatened.  

The following overview sets out a number of ongoing material proceedings involving the Issuer or Munich Re: 

 The Issuer is occasionally involved in tax litigation or tax appeal proceedings with material financial 
implications. In Germany, the Issuer won a lawsuit in the tax court regarding a tax exemption for capital 

gains generated in special funds before 2001. The German tax authorities have filed an appeal with the 
Federal Fiscal Court. In Spain the Issuer is subject to legal proceedings regarding the Issuer’s permanent 
establishment. The dispute concerns the question of deductibility of losses and loss reserves as well as 

transfer prices. In Canada, the Issuer has appealed against revised tax assessments issued by the tax 
authorities after a tax audit. The dispute concerns accounting and transfer pricing treatment for internal 

retrocessions. 

 Refund actions have been brought against DKV and other health insurers by a number of policyholders 
in Germany based on the alleged ineffectiveness of premium adjustments. A series of legal questions are 

still pending in proceedings at various instances of the German legal system. The German Federal Court 
of Justice (BGH) is expected to give its ruling on the validity of a standard price adjustment clause used 
by several insurers by the end of June 2022. Given, however, that most of these proceedings pose a 

number of legal questions (including some that will not be covered by the upcoming ruling in June 
2022), the Group believes that even after that ruling the outcome of most of the pending proceedings 

can still not be predicted with certainty. DKV has made appropriate reserves and provisions for 
contingent liabilities in connection with this overall subject matter on the basis of risk scenario analyses 
in alignment with the Group’s auditors. This amount is based on the Group’s best available knowledge 

and best estimates. Still, it cannot be ruled out that subsequent court decisions or changes in the factual 
environment may lead to deviations from that amount. 

 Hospital operator MediClin has initiated proceedings against ERGO Group AG, DKV and Provinzial as 

joint and several debtors in 2016, which are still pending. The subject matter of the proceedings is 
asserted claims based on allegedly impermissible repayment of contributions (Einlagenrückgewähr) 

under the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz).  

With the exception of the cases described above, the Issuer is not currently involved and has not been involved in 
the last 12 months, in any court or arbitration proceedings or proceedings before any administrative authorities which, 
in the Issuer’s opinion, are reasonably likely to substantially affect the financial position or profitability of the Issuer 

or the Group. To the best knowledge of the Issuer, no further material proceedings are threatened. 

Material Contracts 

Munich Reinsurance Company Bonds 

In 2021, the Issuer issued €1,000 million subordinated bonds, which mature on May 26, 2042. The Issuer has the 

right to call the bonds for early redemption in 2031 and periodically thereafter. The bonds have a coupon of 1.00% 
p.a. until May 26, 2032. If they are not redeemed early, the coupon as from May 26, 2032 will be 210 basis points 
p.a. above 3-month EURIBOR and is scheduled to be paid quarterly. 

In 2020, the Issuer issued €1,250 million subordinated bonds, which mature on May 26, 2041. The Issuer has the 

right to call the bonds for early redemption in 2030 and periodically thereafter. The bonds have a coupon of 1.25% 
p.a. until May 26, 2031. If they are not redeemed early, the coupon as from May 26, 2031 will be 255 basis points 

p.a. above 3-month EURIBOR and is scheduled to be paid quarterly. 

In 2018, the Issuer issued €1,250 million subordinated bonds, which mature on May 26, 2049. The Issuer has the 
right to call the bonds for early redemption in 2029 and periodically thereafter. The bonds have a coupon of 3.25% 
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p.a. until May 26, 2029. If they are not redeemed early, the coupon as from May 26, 2029 will be 340 basis points 

p.a. above 3-month EURIBOR and is scheduled to be paid quarterly. 

In 2012, the Issuer issued €900 million subordinated bonds, which mature on May 26, 2042. The Issuer has the right 
to call the bonds for early redemption in 2022 and periodically thereafter. The bonds have a coupon of 6.25% p.a. 

until May 26, 2022. If they are not redeemed early, the coupon as from May 26, 2022 will be 495 basis points p.a. 
above 3-month EURIBOR and is scheduled to be paid quarterly. On April 14, 2022, the Issuer exercised its call right 
to redeem these bonds and expects such redemption to be completed on May 26, 2022. 

In 2012, the Issuer issued £450 million subordinated bonds, which mature on May 26, 2042. The Issuer has the right 
to call the bonds for early redemption in 2022 and periodically thereafter. The bonds have a coupon of 6.625% p.a. 
until May 26, 2022. If they are not redeemed early, the coupon as from May 26, 2022 will be 495 basis points p.a. 

above 3-month LIBOR and is scheduled to be paid quarterly. On April 14, 2022, the Issuer exercised its call right to 
redeem these bonds and expects such redemption to be completed on May 27, 2022. 

Other material contracts 

The Issuer entered into various inter-company agreements (Unternehmensverträge) with a limited number of its 

subsidiaries. One subsidiary, which is not tied to the Issuer through an inter-company agreement, entered into a 
limited number of inter-company agreements with other subsidiaries of Munich Re. Under such agreements, the 

subsidiary could be obligated to absorb losses of its dependent entities (Verlustausgleichspflicht). In order to 
strengthen the position of the subsidiary, the Issuer has entered into a limited number of collateral promises 
(Schuldbeitritte) and, thus, could be obliged to offset the losses of the dependent entities, up to predefined limits. 

Management and Supervisory Bodies 

General 

Munich Reinsurance Company has three governing bodies: the Board of Management (Vorstand), the Supervisory 
Board (Aufsichtsrat) and the Annual General Meeting (Hauptversammlung). Their functions and powers are defined 
by law, the articles of association, the Co-determination Agreement applicable to Munich Reinsurance Company and 

by rules of procedure and internal guidelines. 

The Board of Management is responsible for managing the Issuer, in particular for setting the Issuer’s objectives and 
determining strategy. In doing so, it is obliged to safeguard the Issuer’s interests and endeavor to achieve a sustainable 

long-term increase in the Issuer’s value. 

The Supervisory Board monitors the Board of Management and gives counsel where appropriate, but it is not 
authorized to take management action in place of the Board of Management. 

The Annual General Meeting regularly reaches a resolution on the appropriation of profits and approval of the actions 

of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board.  

Applicable Corporate Governance Rules  

Principal sources of enacted corporate governance standards for Munich Reinsurance Company are the German 
Stock Corporation Act, the German Act on the Co-Determination of Employees in Cross-Border Mergers (MgVG) 

as well as the German Corporate Governance Code (Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex, the “Code”). The 
Code summarizes the fundamental guidelines for best-practice corporate governance in Germany and in addition to 

restating various corporate governance-related mandatory provisions of German law, the Code contains 
“recommendations”, which reflect widely recognized standards of corporate governance. Although the Code does 
not have the force of law, it has a legal basis through the declaration of conformity required by § 161 of the German 
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Stock Corporation Act, which requires that the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board annually issue a 

declaration of conformity with the Code. 

In November 2021, the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of Munich Reinsurance Company issued 
the following declaration of conformity: 

“Since the last Declaration of Conformity in November 2020, Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft 

Aktiengesellschaft in München has complied with all recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code 
of December 16, 2019 (published on March 20, 2020) and will continue to do so in future.” 

Subsequently, the declaration of conformity was updated and supplemented as follows: 

“Recommendation C.5 DCGK: Number of supervisory board mandates 

In accordance with the recommendation C.5 DCGK, members of the management board of a listed company shall 

not have, in aggregate, more than two supervisory board mandates in non-group listed companies or comparable 
functions, and shall not accept the chairmanship of a supervisory board in a non-group listed company. 

The Supervisory Board member Renata Jungo Brüngger sits on the Board of Management of Daimler AG. Following 

restructuring measures undertaken by the Daimler Group, Ms. Jungo Brüngger has accepted two supervisory board 
memberships at companies that, in the view of Daimler AG, are now to be classified as non-group companies. Firstly, 

she is a supervisory board member of Daimler Truck AG. Secondly, she is a supervisory board member of the listed 
(since today) company Daimler Truck Holding AG, which holds all shares in Daimler Truck AG. 

The Supervisory Board has satisfied itself that Ms. Jungo Brüngger will continue to have enough time to fulfil her 
tasks at the Company. 

Otherwise, the Declaration of Conformity of November 2021 remains unchanged.” 

Board of Management 

The Board of Management (Vorstand) of the Issuer consists of eight members. As of the date of this Offering 
Memorandum, the Board of Management consisted of the following members: 

Member Responsibilities 
Principal Outside Board 
Memberships 

Dr. oec. publ. Joachim 
Wenning (Chair) 

Chair of the Board of Management; Chair of the Group 
Committee; Chair of the Strategy Committee; Group 
Strategy and M&A; Group Communications; Group 
Audit; Economics, Sustainability & Public Affairs; Group 
Human Resources; Group Executive Affairs; Group 
Compliance and Legal 

ERGO Group AG (Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board) 

Dr. rer. pol. Thomas 
Blunck 

Chair of the Board Committee IT Investments; Life and 
Health; Capital Partners; Europe and Latin America

ERGO Group AG (Member of 
the Supervisory Board) 

Nicholas Gartside Chief Investment Officer; Group Investments; Third Party 
Asset Management 

MEAG MUNICH ERGO 
Asset Management GmbH 
(Chair of the Supervisory 
Board) 

Stefan Golling Global Clients and North America Munich Re America 
Corporation (Chair of the 
Board of Directors); Munich 
Reinsurance America, Inc. 
(Chair of the Board of 
Directors) 
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Member Responsibilities 
Principal Outside Board 
Memberships 

Dr. rer. nat. Torsten 
Jeworrek 

Chair of the Reinsurance Committee; Chair of the Global 
Underwriting and Risk Committee; Reinsurance 
Development; Data and Analytics; Internet of Things; 
Corporate Underwriting; Claims; Accounting, Controlling 
and Central Reserving for Reinsurance; Information 
Technology 

ERGO Digital Ventures AG 
(Deputy Chair of the 
Supervisory Board); ERGO 
International AG (Member of 
the Supervisory Board) 

Dr. rer. nat. Christoph 
Jurecka 

Chief Financial Officer; Chair of the Group Risk 
Committee; Financial and Regulatory Reporting; Group 
Controlling; Integrated Risk Management; Group 
Taxation; Investor and Rating Agency Relations

ERGO Group AG (Member of 
the Supervisory Board); 
MEAG MUNICH ERGO 
Asset Management GmbH 
(Member of the Supervisory 
Board) 

Dr. rer. pol. Achim 
Kassow 

Labour Relations Director; Asia Pacific and Africa; 
Human Resources; Central Procurement; Global Real 
Estate and Services 

ERGO International AG 
(Member of the Supervisory 
Board) 

Dr. rer. pol. Markus 
Rieß 

Primary Insurance/ERGO ERGO Group AG (Chair of 
the Board of Management); 
ERGO International AG 
(Chair of the Supervisory 
Board); ERGO Digital 
Ventures AG (Chair of the 
Supervisory Board); ERGO 
Deutschland AG (Chair of the 
Supervisory Board); ERGO 
Technology & Services 
Management AG (Chair of the 
Supervisory Board); Next 
Insurance, Inc. (Non-executive 
member of the Board of 
Directors) 

The business address of the members of the Issuer’s Board of Management is the same as the Issuer's business 
address. 

Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat) of the Issuer consists of 20 members. As of the date of this Offering 

Memorandum, the Supervisory Board consisted of the following members: 

Member Principal Occupation 
Membership of other Supervisory 
Boards and comparable bodies  

Dr. Nikolaus von 
Bomhard (Chair) 

Chair of the Supervisory Board of Munich 
Reinsurance Company  

Deutsche Post AG, Bonn (Chair), Athora 
Holding Ltd., Bermuda (Chair) 

Dr. Anne Horstmann 
(Deputy Chair)  

Employee of ERGO Group AG  None 

Prof. Dr. Dr. Dr. Ann-
Kristin Achleitner 

Scientific Co-Director of the Center for 
Entrepreneurial and Financial Studies 

Lazard Ltd., United States; Linde plc, 
Ireland, Luxembourg Investment Company 
261 S.à r.l., Luxembourg  
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Member Principal Occupation 
Membership of other Supervisory 
Boards and comparable bodies  

(CEFS) at the Technical University of 
Munich 

Clement B. Booth Member of the Board of Directors of 
Howden Group Holdings Ltd., United 
Kingdom 

Howden Deutschland AG, Cologne 
(Chair), Howden Group Holdings Ltd., 
United Kingdom 

Ruth Brown  Foreign Services Specialist of DAS Legal 
Expenses Insurance 

None 

Stephan Eberl Member of the Staff Council of Munich 
Reinsurance Company 

None 

Frank Fassin Coordinating Regional Department Head 
Division A at ver.di in North Rhine-
Westphalia 

ERGO Group AG, Düsseldorf  

Prof. Dr. Dr. Ursula 
Gather 

Chair of board of trustees of Alfried Krupp 
von Bohlen und Halbach Foundation 

thyssenkrupp AG, Essen 

Gerd Häusler Member of the Supervisory Board of Auto1 
Group SE 

Auto1 Group SE, Munich 

Angelika Judith Herzog Chair of the Staff Council at ERGO Direkt 
AG 

None 

Renata Jungo Brüngger Member of the Board of Management of 
Mercedes Benz Group AG 

Daimler Truck Holding AG, Stuttgart; 
Daimler Truck AG, Stuttgart 

Stefan Kaindl Head of Department at Munich 
Reinsurance Company 

None 

Dr. Carinne Knoche-
Brouillon 

Member of management C.H. Boehringer 
Sohn AG & Co. KG 

None 

Gabriele Mücke Chair of the Board of Management at Neue 
Assekuranz Trade Union - NAG 

None 

Ulrich Plottke Employee of ERGO Group AG ERGO Group AG, Düsseldorf 

Manfred Rassy Member of the Staff Council of Munich 
Reinsurance Company 

None  

Carsten Spohr Chair of the Board of Management of 
Deutsche Lufthansa AG 

None  

Karl-Heinz Streibich Member of the Supervisory Board of 
Deutsche Telekom AG Siemens Healthineers AG, Munich;

Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn 

Markus Wagner Employee of ERGO Beratung und Vertrieb 
AG 

ERGO Beratung und Vertrieb AG, 
Düsseldorf 

Dr. Maximilian 
Zimmerer 

Member of the Supervisory Board of 
Munich Reinsurance Company  

Investmentaktiengesellschaft für 
langfristige Investoren TGV (Chair); 
Deutsche Beteiligungs AG, Frankfurt 
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The business address of the members of the Issuer’s Supervisory Board is the same as the Issuer’s business address. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Some of the members of the Issuer’s Managing and the Supervisory Board hold, or in the last year have held, 

positions of significant responsibility with other entities. Munich Re has relationships with almost all of these entities 
in the ordinary course of its business whereby it buys and sells a wide variety of products and services on arm’s 

length terms. 

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, the members of the Issuer’s Managing and the Supervisory Board have 
not received any cash advances or loans by the Issuer. 

No conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest exist between the obligations of the members of the Issuer's 

Managing Board or the Supervisory Board towards the Issuer and their respective private interests or other 
obligations. 

Employees

As of March 31, 2022, Munich Re employed 39.458 staff members worldwide. 

Recent Events 

Since March 31, 2022, there have been the following recent events with regard to Munich Re: 

On April 1, 2022, via its UK subsidiary HSB Engineering Insurance Limited (“HSB”), Munich Re acquired 100% 
of the voting interests of MD Insurance Services Limited, and its seven wholly owned subsidiaries, MDIS 
(International) Limited and MD Affinity Schemes Limited (together the MD Group), each having its registered office 

in Birkenhead, Great Britain. The MD Group comprises an engineering-led managing general agent, which sells and 
handles structural warranty insurance products, together with several related inspection services companies. The 

acquisition is intended to expand HSB’s specialist core insurance offerings and enhance its distribution capabilities 
within the UK construction sector. 

On April 14, 2022, Munich Re, via its subsidiary Munich Life Holding Corporation, Delaware, United States, 
acquired 100% of the voting shares in MedVirginia, Inc., (“Clareto”), Delaware, United States. Clareto partners 

with health information exchanges and other electronic health records (“EHRs”) data sources to facilitate the 
collection of electronic health information pursuant to the United States’ Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act (commonly known as HIPAA) and produce HIPAA-compliant authorizations in support of 
underwriting, claims, and other business processes for the life insurance industry. The intent of the acquisition is to 

enable Munich Re to structure EHRs for optimal use in life insurance underwriting, thereby streamlining its life 
insurance clients’ underwriting processes and delivering a better customer experience. 

Selected Consolidated Financial Information 

The following tables and the tables in the sub-sections “Business Divisions and Key Markets”, “Regulatory Capital 

Adequacy” and “Alternative Performance Measures” set forth selected financial information relating to the Issuer.  

The financial information contained in this Offering Memorandum is taken or derived from the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the financial years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
(together, the “Consolidated Financial Statements”), the Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement of the Issuer as of 

and for the three months ended March 31, 2022 which are each incorporated by reference in this Offering 
Memorandum and should be read together with them, and the Issuer’s internal accounting system. The audited 

consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 
respectively, have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and the additional requirements of German commercial 
law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB.  

Where financial information in the following tables and the tables in the sub-sections “Business Divisions and Key 
Markets”, “Investment Portfolio”, “Regulatory Capital Adequacy”, “IFRS Equity and Capital Structure” and 
“Alternative Performance Measures” is labelled “audited”, this means that it was taken from the Consolidated 

Financial Statements. The label “unaudited” is used in the following tables and in the aforementioned sub-sections 
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to indicate financial information that has not been taken from the Consolidated Financial Statements, but has been 

derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements, taken or derived from the combined management reports 2021 
and 2020, the Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement or the Issuer’s accounting records or internal management 

reporting systems, or is based on calculations using these figures. 

Unless indicated otherwise, all financial information presented in the text and tables included in this Offering 
Memorandum is shown in millions of Euro (in € million). Certain financial information, including percentages, has 
been rounded according to established commercial standards. As a result, rounded figures and percentages in the 

tables below may not add up to the aggregate amounts in such tables (sum totals or subtotals), which are calculated 
based on unrounded figures. Furthermore, changes and ratios are calculated based on unrounded figures. A dash 

(“–”) signifies that the relevant figure is not available or zero, while a zero (“0.0”) signifies that the relevant figure 
has been rounded to zero. 

Consolidated Income Statement 

Three month-period ended 

March 31

Financial Year ended December 31

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1,2)

(amounts in € million, unless otherwise 

stated)
(unaudited) (audited)

Gross premiums written 16,833 14,551 59,567 54,890 51,457 

1. Earned premiums 14,787 12,771 55,202 51,223 48,280 

2. Income from technical interest 565 1,566 5,783 5,270 6,745 

3. Expenses for claims and benefits -10,780 -10,790 -45,383 -43,077 -39,685 

4. Operating expenses -3,596 -3,067 -13,674 -12,815 -13,056 

5. Technical result (1-4) 976 480 1,927 600 2,283 

6. Investment result 987 1,691 7,156 7,398 7,822 

7. Insurance-related investment result -423 413 1,119 105 1,182 

8. Other operating income 280 241 1,203 1,168 1,178 

9. Other operating expenses -475 -461 -2,106 -2,016 -2,290 

10. Deduction of income from technical 

interest

-565 -1,566 -5,783 -5,270 -6,745 

11. Non-technical result (6-10) -195 318 1,590 1,386 1,147 

12. Operating result (5+11) 780 798 3,517 1,986 3,430 

13. Other non-operating result -14 -12 -91 -83 -91 

14. Currency result 17 -23 262 -200 73 

15. Net finance costs -47 -59 -205 -223 -222 

16. Taxes on income -130 -114 -552 -269 -483 

17. Consolidated result (12-16) 608 589 2,932 1,211 2,707 

Earnings per share (in €) 4.34 4.24 20.93 8.63 18.97 

(1) The calculation of income from technical interest in the ERGO Life Germany division was developed further. The comparative 
financial previous year 2019 figures were adjusted in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2020. The change had no impact on the result. 

(2) In the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, Munich Re made some amendments to the 
way it accounts for project costs, innovation costs and Finance Division costs, in particular in order to show ongoing and one-time 
expenditure in a more transparent and consistent way. This resulted in reclassifications in the consolidated income statement and 
segment income statement and in an adjustment of the comparative financial year 2019 figures in line with IAS 1.41 in the consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. The change had no impact on the result. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 

As of  

March 31, 2022 

As of December 31 

2021 2020 2019 

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

A. Intangible assets 4,431 4,379 4,005 4,180 

B. Investments 233,308 240,300 232,950 228,764 

C. Insurance-related investments 11,988 12,283 11,033 9,163 

D. Ceded share of technical provisions 6,011 6,099 5,321 4,937 

E. Receivables 33,987 29,773 26,196 22,238 

F. Cash at banks, cheques and cash in 

hand

5,344 5,413 5,615 4,994 

G. Deferred acquisition costs 10,146 9,937 9,119 9,272 

H. Deferred tax assets 944 503 278 316 

I. Other assets 3,015 3,167 3,215 3,289 

J. Non-current assets held for sale 532 552 215 400 

Total assets 309,705 312,405 297,946 287,553 

A. Equity 27,783 30,945 29,994 30,576 

B. Subordinated liabilities 5,093 5,055 5,047 3,839 

C. Gross technical provisions 232,112 231,145 218,846 214,706 

D. Gross technical provisions for unit-

linked life insurance

8,450 8,998 7,955 8,172 

E. Other provisions 4,737 4,958 5,438 5,291 

F. Liabilities 30,993 29,709 28,251 22,882 

G. Deferred tax liabilities 312 1,300 2,293 1,908 

H. Liabilities related to non-current 

assets held for

226 294 123 179 

Total equity and liabilities 309,705 312,405 297,946 287,553 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019 

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) 

Consolidated result 608 589 2,932 1,211 2,707 

I. Cash flows from operating activities -4,375 -570 5,226 7,219 9,493 

II. Cash flows from investing activities 3,959 1,025 -3,818 -6,135 -6,919 

III. Cash flows from financing activities 329 88 -1,681 -323 -2,496 

Cash flows for the period/financial year 

(I+II+III)(1)

-87 543 -273 761 78 

Effect of exchange-rate changes on 

cash and cash equivalents

52 62 146 -134 -57 

Cash at the beginning of the financial 

year

5,413 5,615 5,615 4,994 4,986 

Cash at the end of the period/financial 

year

5,378 6,222 5,487 5,620 5,006 

Thereof: 

Cash not attributable to disposal 

group 

5,344 6,198 5,413 5,615 4,994 

Cash attributable to disposal 

group 

34 25 74 5 12 

(1) Cash mainly comprises cash at banks. 

Alternative Performance Measures 

Munich Re uses, throughout its financial publications, alternative performance measures (“APMs”) in addition to 
the figures which are prepared in accordance with IFRS. From the Issuer’s point of view, these measures provide 

useful information to investors and enhance the understanding of the results of Munich Re. The APMs should be 
viewed as complementary to, rather than a substitute for, the figures determined according to IFRS. 

This Offering Memorandum contains references to the following APMs: “Return on Equity”, “Return on 
Investment” and “Combined Ratio”. 

Investors should consider that similarly titled APMs reported by other companies may be calculated differently. For 
that reason, the comparability of APMs across companies might be limited. 

In accordance with the guidelines of the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA), the following 
information is given in regard to the above mentioned APMs: 

 Definition of the APM, its use and limitations on the usefulness 

 Reconciliation of the APM to the most directly reconcilable line item, subtotal or total presented in the 
financial statements 

Return on Equity 

Definition and usefulness 

The Return on Equity is calculated as consolidated result, including the result attributable to non-controlling interests, 

in relation to the average adjusted equity. The average adjusted equity is calculated as the average of total equity less 
other reserves (i.e., unrealized gains and losses, currency translation reserve, remeasurement gains/losses from cash 
flow hedges) at the beginning and the end of the relevant period. 
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From the Issuer’s point of view, the Return on Equity, together with other information, can be a useful performance 

measure for evaluating how well Munich Re utilizes its equity to generate profits. 

Reconciliation 

Reinsurance ERGO Munich Re Total 

As of March 

31, 

2022 

As of 

December 

31, 2021(1)

As of March 

31, 

2022 

As of 

December 

31, 2021(1)

As of March 

31,  

2022 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (audited) 

Segment assets 150,409 148,576 159,296 163,828 309,705 312,405 

Segment liabilities 126,733 124,530 155,189 156,929 281,922 281,459 

Adjustments used in the 

calculation of equity: 

Unrealised gains and 

losses, currency 

translation reserve, 

remeasurement 

gains/losses from cash 

flow hedges 

2,085 4,759 571 1,883 2,656 6,642 

Adjustment item for 

material asset transfers 

between reinsurance and 

ERGO 

2,302 1,020 -2,302 -1,020 - - 

Adjusted equity 19,288 18,267 5,838 6,036 25,126 24,303 

Reinsurance ERGO Munich Re Total 

Three-month period 

ended March 31, 2022 

Three-month period 

ended March 31, 2022 

Three-month period 

ended March 31, 2022 

(amounts in € million 

unless otherwise specified) 
(unaudited) 

Average adjusted equity 18,778 5,937 24,715

Consolidated result 511 96 608

Return on equity (in per cent.) 10.9 6.5 9.8

(1) As of March 31, 2022, the presentation of receivables and liabilities in connection with intra-Group loans in the segment balance sheet 
has been adapted to reflect changes in internal management and simultaneously aligned with the presentation of income and expenses 
in connection with intra-Group loans in the segment income statement. The respective comparative segment balance sheet figures as 
of December 31, 2021 have been adjusted accordingly. 
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Reinsurance ERGO Munich Re Total 

As of March 

31,  

2021 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

As of March 

31,  

2021 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

As of March 

31,  

2021 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited) 

Segment assets 138,064 133,892 162,874 164,055 300,938 297,946 

Segment liabilities 116,126 112,138 155,420 155,815 271,546 267,952 

Adjustments used in the 

calculation of equity: 

Unrealised gains and 

losses, currency 

translation reserve, 

remeasurement 

gains/losses from cash 

flow hedges 

4,009 4,994 2,224 2,689 6,233 7,683 

Adjustment item for 

material asset transfers 

between reinsurance and 

ERGO 

637 410 -637 -410 - - 

Adjusted equity 17,292 16,350 5,867 5,961 23,159 22,311

Reinsurance ERGO Munich Re Total 

Three-month period 

ended March 31, 2021 

Three-month period 

ended March 31, 2021 

Three-month period 

ended March 31, 2021 

(amounts in € million 

unless otherwise specified) 
(unaudited) 

Average adjusted equity 16,821 5,914 22,735

Consolidated result 410 178 589

Return on equity (in per cent.) 9.8 12.1 10.4
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Reinsurance ERGO Munich Re Total 

As of 

December 

31, 2021(1)

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

As of 

December 

31, 2021(1)

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

As of 

December 

31, 2021 

As of 

December 

31, 2020 

(amounts in € million) (unaudited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

Segment assets 148,576 133,892 163,828 164,055 312,405 297,946 

Segment liabilities 124,530 112,138 156,929 155,815 281,459 267,952 

Adjustments used in the 

calculation of equity and 

in currency translation: 

Unrealised gains and 

losses, currency 

translation reserve, 

remeasurement 

gains/losses from cash 

flow hedges 

4,759 4,994 1,883 2,689 6,642 7,683 

Adjustment item for 

material asset transfers 

between reinsurance and 

ERGO 

1,020 410 -1,020 -410 - - 

Adjusted equity 18,267 16,350 6,036 5,961 24,303 22,311 

Reinsurance ERGO Munich Re Total 

Financial Year ended 

December 31, 2021(1)

Financial Year ended 

December 31, 2021(1)

Financial Year ended 

December 31, 2021 

(amounts in € million 

unless otherwise specified) 

(unaudited, unless 

otherwise specified) 

(unaudited, unless 

otherwise specified) 
(audited) 

Average adjusted equity 17,308 5,999 23,307

Consolidated result 2,328(2) 605(2) 2,932

Return on equity (in per cent.) 13.4 10.1 12.6 

(1) As of March 31, 2022, the presentation of receivables and liabilities in connection with intra-Group loans in the segment balance sheet 
has been adapted to reflect changes in internal management and simultaneously aligned with the presentation of income and expenses 
in connection with intra-Group loans in the segment income statement. The respective comparative segment balance sheet figures as 
of December 31, 2021 have been adjusted accordingly. 

(2) Audited. 

Return on Investment 

Definition and usefulness 

The Return on Investment is calculated as Munich Re’s investment result for the relevant period divided by the mean 
market value of Munich Re’s investment portfolio. The “Mean Market Value” of the investment portfolio is 

calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the quarterly reporting dates (including off-
balance-sheet unrealized gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and owner-occupied property) for 

the relevant period. The Return on Investment for ERGO Life and Health Germany is calculated as the investment 
result of ERGO Life and Health Germany for the relevant period divided by the mean market value of ERGO Life 
and Health Germany’s investment portfolio. 

From the Issuer’s point of view, the Return on Investment, together with other information, can be a useful 

performance measure for evaluating the investment portfolio of Munich Re.  
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Reconciliation (Munich Re) 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million, 

unless otherwise stated) 
(unaudited)

(unaudited, 

unless otherwise specified)

Investment result 987 1,691 7,156(7) 7,398(7) 7,822(7)

Mean Market Value  251,673(2) 250,748(3) 252,492(3) 249,816(4) 243,663(5)

Return on Investment 

(in per cent.) 1.6(6) 2.7(6) 2.8 3.0 3.2 

(1) In the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, Munich Re made some amendments to the 
way it accounts for project costs, innovation costs and Finance Division costs, in particular in order to show ongoing and one-time 
expenditure in a more transparent and consistent way. This resulted in reclassifications in the consolidated income statement and 
segment income statement and in an adjustment of the comparative financial year 2019 figures in line with IAS 1.41 in the consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. The change has no impact on the result. 

(2) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2021 (€240,300 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€233,308 million) and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding 
owner-occupied property and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2021 (€17,185 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€12,552 
million). 

(3) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2020 (€232,950 million), March 31, 2021 (€231,565 million), June 30, 2021 (€233,961 million), September 30, 2021 (€236,668 million) 
and December 31, 2021 (€240,300 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2020 (€19,839 million), March 31, 2021 (€17,142 million), June 30, 2021 (€16,636 
million), September 30, 2021 (€16,215 million) and December 31, 2021 (€17,185 million). 

(4) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2019 (€228,764 million), March 31, 2020 (€227,949 million), June 30, 2020 (€230,080 million), September 30, 2020 (€232,252 million) 
and December 31, 2020 (€232,950 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2019 (€18,546 million), March 31, 2020 (€19,246 million), June 30, 2020 (€19,778 
million), September 30, 2020 (€19,676 million) and December 31, 2020 (€19,839 million). 

(5) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2018 (€216,852 million), March 31, 2019 (€223,927 million), June 30, 2019 (€226,619 million), September 30, 2019 (€232,933 million) 
and December 31, 2019 (€228,764 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-related loans) as at December 31, 2018 (€15,024 million), March 31, 2019 (€16,556 million), June 30, 2019 (€18,506 
million), September 30, 2019 (€20,588 million) and December 31, 2019 (€18,546 million). 

(6) The annualized Return on Investment for the three-month period ended March 31 is calculated as Munich Re’s investment result for 
the relevant period multiplied by four divided by the mean market value of Munich Re’s investment portfolio. 

(7) Audited. 
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Reconciliation (Ergo Life and Health Germany) 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 

(amounts in € million, 

unless otherwise stated) 

(unaudited) (unaudited, 

unless otherwise specified)

Investment result 645 898 3,201(5) 3,605(5)

Mean Market Value  120,882(1) 127,020(2) 125,916(2) 127,596(3)

Return on Investment 

(in per cent.) 2.1(4) 2.8 2.5 2.8 

(1) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2021 (€114,653 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€110,793 million) and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding 
owner-occupied property and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2021 (€10,330 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€5,988 
million). 

(2) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2020 (€114,909 million), March 31, 2021 (€112,847 million), June 30, 2021 (€114,384 million), September 30, 2021 (€114,181 million) 
and December 31, 2021 (€114,653 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2020 (€14,432 million), March 31, 2021 (€11,852 million), June 30, 2021 (€11,228 
million), September 30, 2021 (€10,766 million) and December 31, 2021 (€10,330 million). 

(3) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2019 (€112,577 million), March 31, 2020 (€111,122 million), June 30, 2020 (€112,986 million), September 30, 2020 (€113,871 million) 
and December 31, 2020 (€114,909 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2019 (€13,783 million), March 31, 2020 (€14,503 million), June 30, 2020 (€15,000 
million), September 30, 2020 (€14,798 million) and December 31, 2020 (€14,432 million). 

(4) The annualized Return on Investment for the three-month period ended March 31 is calculated as Munich Re’s investment result for 
the relevant period multiplied by four divided by the mean market value of Munich Re’s investment portfolio. 

(5) Audited. 

Reconciliation (Ergo Property-casualty Germany) 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 

(amounts in € million, 

unless otherwise stated) 

(unaudited) (unaudited, 

unless otherwise specified)

Investment result 56 29 209(5) 175(5)

Mean Market Value  7,750(1) 7,587(2) 7,745(2) 7,515(3)

Return on Investment 

(in per cent.) 2.9(4) 1.6 2.7 2.3 

(1) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2021 (€7,573 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€7,434 million) and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding 
owner-occupied property and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2021 (€291 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€202 million). 

(2) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2020 (€7,188 million), March 31, 2021 (€7,394 million), June 30, 2021 (€7,554 million), September 30, 2021 (€7,577 million) and 
December 31, 2021 (€7,573 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property and 
insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2020 (€307 million), March 31, 2021 (€285 million), June 30, 2021 (€285 million), 
September 30, 2021 (€273 million) and December 31, 2021 (€291 million). 
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(3) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2019 (€7,222 million), March 31, 2020 (€7,114 million), June 30, 2020 (€7,228 million), September 30, 2020 (€7,285 million) and 
December 31, 2020 (€7,188 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property and 
insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2019 (€317 million), March 31, 2020 (€295 million), June 30, 2020 (€307 million), 
September 30, 2020 (€313 million) and December 31, 2020 (€307 million). 

(4) The annualized Return on Investment for the three-month period ended March 31 is calculated as Munich Re’s investment result for 
the relevant period multiplied by four divided by the mean market value of Munich Re’s investment portfolio. 

(5) Audited. 

Reconciliation (Ergo International) 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 

(amounts in € million, 

unless otherwise stated) 

(unaudited) (unaudited, 

unless otherwise specified)

Investment result 78 95 324(5) 425(5)

Mean Market Value  20,187(1) 20,503(2) 20,310(2) 19,475(3)

Return on Investment 

(in per cent.) 1.5(4) 1.9 1.6 2.2 

(1) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2021 (€18,458 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€17,257 million) and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding 
owner-occupied property and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2021 (€2,358 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€2,301 
million). 

(2) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2020 (€19,605 million), March 31, 2021 (€18,813 million), June 30, 2021 (€18,705 million), September 30, 2021 (€18,529 million) 
and December 31, 2021 (€18,458 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2020 (€1,327 million), March 31, 2021 (€1,261 million), June 30, 2021 (€1,259 million), 
September 30, 2021 (€1,234 million) and December 31, 2021 (€2,358 million). 

(3) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2019 (€17,895 million), March 31, 2020 (€17,989 million), June 30, 2020 (€18,668 million), September 30, 2020 (€19,231 million) 
and December 31, 2020 (€19,605 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2019 (€646 million), March 31, 2020 (€650 million), June 30, 2020 (€668 million), 
September 30, 2020 (€694 million) and December 31, 2020 (€1,327 million). 

(4) The annualized Return on Investment for the three-month period ended March 31 is calculated as Munich Re’s investment result for 
the relevant period multiplied by four divided by the mean market value of Munich Re’s investment portfolio. 

(5) Audited. 
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Reconciliation (Reinsurance Life and Health) 

Three-month period ended 

March 31  Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 

(amounts in € million, 

unless otherwise stated) 

(unaudited) (unaudited, 

unless otherwise specified)

Investment result 122 245 860(5) 846(5)

Mean Market Value  29,612(1) 29,275(2) 29,665(2) 29,428(3)

Return on Investment 

(in per cent.) 1.7(4) 3.3 2.9 2.9 

(1) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2021 (€30,137 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€28,607 million) and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding 
owner-occupied property and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2021 (€259 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€222 million). 

(2) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2020 (€28,890 million), March 31, 2021 (€29,189 million), June 30, 2021 (€29,262 million), September 30, 2021 (€29,655 million) 
and December 31, 2021 (€30,137 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2020 (€251 million), March 31, 2021 (€220 million), June 30, 2021 (€229 million), 
September 30, 2021 (€232 million) and December 31, 2021 (€259 million). 

(3) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2019 (€28,967 million), March 31, 2020 (€29,260 million), June 30, 2020 (€29,650 million), September 30, 2020 (€29,243 million) 
and December 31, 2020 (€28,890 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2019 (€214 million), March 31, 2020 (€206 million), June 30, 2020 (€225 million), 
September 30, 2020 (€232 million) and December 31, 2020 (€251 million). 

(4) The annualized Return on Investment for the three-month period ended March 31 is calculated as Munich Re’s investment result for 
the relevant period multiplied by four divided by the mean market value of Munich Re’s investment portfolio. 

(5) Audited. 

Reconciliation (Reinsurance Property-casualty) 

Three-month period ended 

March 31  Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 

(amounts in € million, 

unless otherwise stated) 

(unaudited) (unaudited, 

unless otherwise specified)

Investment result 86 423 2,562(5) 2,347(5)

Mean Market Value  73,242(1) 66,363(2) 68,856(2) 65,803(3)

Return on Investment 

(in per cent.) 0.5(4) 2.5 3.7 3.6 

(1) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2021 (€69,480 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€69,217 million) and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding 
owner-occupied property and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2021 (€3,947 million) and as at March 31, 2022 (€3,840 
million). 

(2) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2020 (€62,358 million), March 31, 2021 (€63,322 million), June 30, 2021 (€64,057 million), September 30, 2021 (€66,727 million) 
and December 31, 2021 (€69,480 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2020 (€3,521 million), March 31, 2021 (€3,524 million), June 30, 2021 (€3,635 million), 
September 30, 2021 (€3,710 million) and December 31, 2021 (€3,947 million). 
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(3) The Mean Market Value of the investment portfolio is calculated as the average market value of the investment portfolio at the 
respective quarterly reporting dates (including off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses, but excluding insurance-related loans and 
owner-occupied property) for the relevant periods: mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at December 31, 
2019 (€62,103 million), March 31, 2020 (€62,464 million), June 30, 2020 (€61,549 million), September 30, 2020 (€62,622 million) 
and December 31, 2020 (€62,358 million), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding owner-occupied property 
and insurance-based loans) as at December 31, 2019 (€3,587 million), March 31, 2020 (€3,592 million), June 30, 2020 (€3,578 million), 
September 30, 2020 (€3,639 million) and December 31, 2020 (€3,521 million). 

(4) The annualized Return on Investment for the three-month period ended March 31 is calculated as Munich Re’s investment result for 
the relevant period multiplied by four divided by the mean market value of Munich Re’s investment portfolio. 

(5) Audited. 

Combined ratio 

Definition and usefulness 

The Combined Ratio is regularly posted for property-casualty business. Calculated as the percentage ratio of the sum 

of expenses for claims and benefits plus operating expenses to earned premiums (all of which are net, i.e., after 
reinsurance cessions), the combined ratio is the sum of the “Loss Ratio” and the “Expense Ratio”. A combined ratio 
of 100% means that premium income was exactly sufficient to cover claims and costs. 

The Combined Ratio is the most common performance measure for analyzing property-casualty business. From the 

Issuer’s point of view, the Combined Ratio is a key performance measure summarizing several profit and loss items 
in one key performance indicator. The Combined Ratio is a snapshot of a single period result and does not take into 

account long-term reserve development and investment income. When regarded in isolation, the combined ratio is 
not a sufficiently convincing metric because it does not make it possible to assess economic profitability. It is only 
of limited suitability for comparing the financial performance of competitors owing to differing calculation methods 

and portfolio mixes. However, analyzing the development of the Combined Ratio over several periods (financial 
years) is a helpful indicator in understanding underwriting quality. Generally, Munich Re’s aim is to keep the 

Combined Ratio as low as possible by means of good underwriting and claims management. 

Reconciliation 

Reinsurance 

Property-Casualty 

Three-month period ended 

March 31 Financial Year ended December 31 

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019(1)

(amounts in € million, unless 

otherwise stated) 
(unaudited) (audited) 

Net earned premiums 7,279 5,742 26,071 22,566 20,566 

Net expenses for claims and 

benefits 

-4,509 -4,022 -17,933 -16,866 -13,714 

Net operating expenses -2,142 -1,661 -8,054 -6,978 -6,910 

Loss-ratio calculation 

adjustments 

5 3 13 7 13 

Fire brigade tax and 

other expenses

7 6 23 21 17 

Expenses for premium 

refunds

0 0 0 0 0 

Other underwriting 

income

-1 -2 -9 -11 -8 

Change in other technical 

provisions and other 

underwriting expenses

0 -1 -1 -3 4 
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Adjusted net expenses for 

claims and benefits 

-4,504 -4,019 -17,920 -16,860 -13,701 

Loss Ratio (in per cent.) 61.9 70.0 68.7 74.7 66.6 

Combined Ratio (in per 

cent.) 

91.3 98.9 99.6 105.6 100.2 

(1) In the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, Munich Re made some amendments to the 
way it accounts for project costs, innovation costs and Finance Division costs, in particular in order to show ongoing and one-time 
expenditure in a more transparent and consistent way. This resulted in reclassifications in the consolidated income statement and 
segment income statement and in an adjustment of the comparative financial year 2019 figures in line with IAS 1.41 in the consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020. The change has no impact on the result.  
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ERGO

Property-Casualty Germany International(1)

Three-month 

period ended 

March 31

Financial Year ended 

December 31

Three-month 

period ended 

March 31

Financial Year ended 

December 31

2022 2021 2021 2020 2019 2022 2021 2021 2020 2019 

(amounts in € 

million, unless 

otherwise stated) 

(unaudited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)

Net earned 

premiums 

930 868 3,764 3,570 3,362 876 842 3,467 3,289 3,309 

Net expenses for 

claims and 

benefits 

-625 -559 -2,390 -2,254 -2,056 -543 -545 -2,181 -2,105 -2,129 

Net operating 

expenses 

-294 -271 -1,122 -1,089 -1,077 -269 -246 -1,056 -988 -1,012 

Loss-ratio 

calculation 

adjustments 

12 13 33 46 30 1 1 18 42 23 

Fire brigade 

tax and other 

expenses

10 8 18 18 20 6 5 24 34 28 

Expenses for 

premium 

refunds

6 10 30 34 26 0 1 -1 2 2 

Other 

underwriting 

income

-1 -1 -3 -26 -4 -2 -2 -11 -13 -16 

Change in 

other technical 

provisions and 

other 

underwriting 

expenses

-2 -3 -12 21 -11 -3 -3 6 19 8 

Adjusted net 

expenses for 

claims and 

benefits 

612 -547 -2,357 -2,209 -2,025 -542 -544 -2,163 -2,063 -2,107 

Loss Ratio (in per 

cent.) 

65.8 63.0 62.6 61.9 60.3 61.9 64.6 62.4 62.7 63.7 

Combined Ratio 

(in per cent.) 

97.4 94.2 92.4 92.4 92.3 92.6 93.8 92.9 92.7 94.3 

(1) Property-casualty business and short-term health business (excluding health insurance conducted like life insurance). 
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6 TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS 

§ 1 
Certain definitions 

Unless the context indicates otherwise, the following terms shall have the following meanings in these Terms and 
Conditions: 

An “Accounting Event” will occur if a confirmation of a recognized auditing firm has been delivered to the Issuer 

(and the Issuer has provided the Fiscal Agent with a copy thereof) stating that, as a result of any change in or 
amendment to any of the Applicable Accounting Standards, which change or amendment becomes effective on or 

after the date of issue of the Bonds, the Issuer must not or must no longer (including in case any such change or 
amendment to the Applicable Accounting Standards or their interpretation has retroactive effect) record the 

obligations under the Bonds as liabilities on the balance sheet in the Issuer's annual solo and/or consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with the relevant Applicable Accounting Standards and this cannot be avoided by 
the Issuer taking such measures it (acting in good faith) deems appropriate. 

“Additional Amounts” has the meaning set out in § 7. 

“Applicable Accounting Standards” means, as applicable, 

(i) the accounting principles under the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch), as amended (“HGB”), or 
any other generally accepted accounting principles which subsequently supersede them, as applied by the Issuer 
at the relevant accounting dates and for the relevant accounting periods for purposes of preparing its solo 

financial statements; or 

(ii) the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) or any other generally accepted accounting principles 
which subsequently supersede them, as applied by the Issuer at the relevant accounting dates and for the 

relevant accounting periods for purposes of preparing its consolidated financial statements. 

“Applicable Insolvency Regulations” means the provisions of the relevant insolvency laws and any rules and 
regulations thereunder (including court case law and any applicable court decisions) applicable to the Issuer from 

time to time. 

“Applicable Supervisory Regulations” means the applicable provisions of insurance supervisory laws (including 
Solvency II or any other future directive(s), as well as any directly applicable provisions of European Union law) 

and any regulations and rules thereunder (including the applicable guidelines and recommendations of the European 
Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority, the administrative practice of the Competent Supervisory Authority 
and any applicable decision of a court including any future grandfathering provisions) for solvency purposes of the 

Issuer and for group solvency purposes of the Munich Re Group as applicable from time to time. These include the 
rules and regulations with respect to the group solvency and capital adequacy of internationally active insurance 

groups (IAIG). 

An “Appropriate Margin” will exist if (x) the applicable Solo SCR of the Issuer and (y) the applicable Group SCR 
of the Munich Re Group, after the redemption of the Bonds, is exceeded by an appropriate margin, taking into account 
the solvency position of the Issuer and the Munich Re Group, including their medium-term capital management plan. 

“Arrears of Interest” has the meaning set out in § 4(7)(d). 

“Bondholder” has the meaning set out in § 2(2)(f). 

“Bonds” has the meaning set out in § 2(1). 

“Business Day” means any day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are 
generally open for business and settle payments in USD in New York City, New York, United States, and Frankfurt 

am Main, Germany. 

“Calculation Agent” has the meaning set out in § 9(1). 
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“Competent Supervisory Authority” means the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt 

für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht) or any authority which becomes its successor in such capacity as insurance 
regulator competent for the Issuer or the Munich Re Group. 

“Compulsory Interest Payment Date” means any Interest Payment Date in respect of which a Compulsory Interest 

Payment Event occurred during the six months before the relevant Interest Payment Date, and in respect of which 
no Mandatory Deferral Event has occurred and is continuing. 

“Compulsory Interest Payment Event” means any of the following events: 

(i) the general meeting of shareholders of the Issuer has validly resolved on any dividend, other distribution, or 

payment on any shares of any class of the Issuer; or 

(ii) any payment on account of the balance sheet profit has been made by the Issuer. 

“Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase” has the meaning set out in § 5(6). 

The “Conditions to Settlement” are fulfilled on a day with respect to any payment of Arrears of Interest if on such 
day no Mandatory Deferral Event has occurred and is continuing or were to occur as a result of such payment. 

“Custodian” means any bank or other financial institution of recognized standing authorized to engage in securities 

custody business with which the Bondholder maintains a securities account in respect of the Bonds and which 
includes DTC and its Participants, including any other clearing system which maintains an account with or 

participates in DTC.  

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, New York (and any successor or nominee). 

“Final Maturity Date” has the meaning set out in § 5(1). 

“First Reset Date” means May 23, 2032. 

“Fiscal Agent” has the meaning set out in § 9(1). 

“Global Bond(s)” has the meaning set out in § 2(2)(a). 

A “Gross-Up Event” will occur if an opinion of a recognized law firm has been delivered to the Issuer (and the 
Issuer has provided the Fiscal Agent with a copy thereof) stating that, as a result of any change in, or amendment or 

clarification to, the laws, regulations or other rules of the Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes, any of its 
political subdivisions or any authority or any other agency of or in such country having power to levy Taxes (as 

defined in § 7) (including in case any such change, amendment or clarification has retroactive effect), or as a result 
of any change in, or amendment or clarification to, the interpretation or application, or as a result of any interpretation 

or application made for the first time, of any such laws, regulations or other rules by any legislative body, court or 
authority (including the enactment of any legislation and the publication of any decision of any court or authority), 
which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the Bonds, the Issuer has or will 

become obliged to pay Additional Amounts pursuant to § 7 on the Bonds, and that obligation cannot be avoided by 
the Issuer taking such measures it (acting in good faith) deems reasonable and appropriate. 

“Group MCR” means (i) the minimum consolidated group solvency capital requirement applicable to the Munich 

Re Group pursuant to the Applicable Supervisory Regulations (regardless of the terminology used by the Applicable 
Supervisory Regulations); or (ii) any other capital requirement that may replace the capital requirement in clause (i), 
to which the criteria for the eligibility of own funds items in the Tier 2 Capital of the Munich Re Group refer, and 

that is applicable to the Munich Re Group from time to time. 

“Group SCR” means the group solvency capital requirement applicable to the Munich Re Group pursuant to the 
Applicable Supervisory Regulations (regardless of the terminology used by the Applicable Supervisory Regulations).  

An “Insolvency Event” will have occurred if a reason for the commencement of insolvency proceedings in respect 

of the Issuer within the meaning of § 16 et seqq. of the German Insolvency Code (Insolvenzordnung), as amended 
(“InsO”), or in accordance with any other Applicable Insolvency Regulations exists. 
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“Interest Commencement Date” has the meaning set out in § 4(1)(a). 

“Interest Determination Date” has the meaning set out in § 4(2)(b). 

“Interest Payment Date” has the meaning set out in § 4(1)(b). 

“Interest Period” has the meaning set out in § 4(1)(a). 

“Issuer” means Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft in München (“Munich 
Reinsurance Company”). 

“Issuer's Existing Hybrid Bonds” has the meaning set out in § 3(1). 

“Issuer's Senior Ranking Obligations” has the meaning set out in § 3(1). 

A “Mandatory Deferral Event” will have occurred with respect to a date on which any payment of interest and/or 

Arrears of Interest on the Bonds is scheduled to be paid under these Terms and Conditions if: 

(i) either an Insolvency Event that has occurred on or prior to such date is continuing on such date or the relevant 
payment were to result in, or accelerate the occurrence of, an Insolvency Event; or 

(ii) there is in effect on such date an order of the Competent Supervisory Authority prohibiting the Issuer from 

making payments under the Bonds, or there is in effect on such date any other payment prohibition in respect 
of the Bonds, whether by statute or by order of any authority; or 

(iii) either a Solvency Capital Event that has occurred on or prior to such date is continuing on such date or the 

relevant payment were to result in, or accelerate the occurrence of, a Solvency Capital Event, unless the 
conditions under the Applicable Supervisory Regulations for the exceptional permission of the payment of the 
relevant interest and/or Arrears of Interest are fulfilled on the relevant date. On the date of issue of the Bonds 

this requires the following: 

(A) the Competent Supervisory Authority, being aware of the occurrence of a Solvency Capital Event that is 
continuing, has given, and not withdrawn by such date, its prior consent to the payment of the relevant 

interest and/or Arrears of Interest; and 

(B) the solvency position of the Issuer and/or the Munich Re Group is not further weakened by the payment 
of such interest and/or Arrears of Interest on the Bonds; and 

(C)  

(I) the applicable Solo MCR; and 

(II) the applicable Group MCR of the Munich Re Group, 

are complied with after the relevant payment of interest and/or Arrears of Interest on the Bonds. 

“Mandatory Settlement Date” means the earlier of the following dates: 

(i) in respect of any Arrears of Interest outstanding on the date on which a Compulsory Interest Payment Event 
occurs, the next Interest Payment Date following the date on which a Compulsory Interest Payment Event 

occurred and in respect of which the Conditions to Settlement are fulfilled;  

(ii) the date on which the Bonds fall due for redemption in accordance with § 5; and 

(iii) the date on which an order is made for the winding up, liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer (other than for 
the purposes of or pursuant to an amalgamation, reorganization or restructuring in which the Issuer is still 
solvent and in which the continuing entity assumes substantially all of the assets and obligations of the Issuer). 

“Munich Re Group” means the Issuer and any company consolidated by the Issuer under the Applicable 
Supervisory Regulations for group solvency purposes. 

“New Issuer” has the meaning set out in § 13(1). 
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“Optional Interest Payment Date” means each Interest Payment Date in respect of which no Compulsory Interest 

Payment Event occurred during the six months before the relevant Interest Payment Date, and in respect of which 
no Mandatory Deferral Event has occurred and is continuing. 

“Optional Settlement Date” has the meaning set out in § 4(8)(a). 

“Paying Agent(s)” has the meaning set out in § 9(1). 

A “Rating Event” will occur if, as a consequence of a change in, or clarification to, the rating methodology (or the 

interpretation thereof) of A.M. Best (EU) Rating Services B.V., Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited, Moody's Deutschland 
GmbH or S&P Global Ratings Europe Ltd. (or any respective affiliate of any such rating agency or any respective 

successor), which change or clarification becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the Bonds, the capital 
treatment (including the assigned equity content) of the Bonds for the Issuer or the Munich Re Group worsens in the 
reasonable opinion of the Issuer, as compared to the capital treatment (including the assigned equity content) of the 

Bonds for the Issuer or the Munich Re Group assigned at or around the date of issue of the Bonds. 

“Redemption Amount” means an amount per Bond equal to the Specified Denomination plus any interest accrued 
on such Bond to but excluding the date of redemption but unpaid and, for the avoidance of doubt, any Arrears of 

Interest due on such Bond. 

“Registrar” has the meaning set out in § 9(1). 

A “Regulatory Event” will occur if the Competent Supervisory Authority states to the Issuer that under the 
Applicable Supervisory Regulations the Bonds are not eligible (in whole or in part) to qualify for the inclusion of the 

Bonds in the calculation of the own funds as Tier 2 Capital for purposes of the determination of the solvency of the 
Issuer and/or the group solvency of the Munich Re Group (including the capital adequacy of internationally active 

insurance groups (IAIG)), and/or that the Bonds no longer fulfil or are likely to no longer fulfil such requirements 
(in whole or in part), except where this is merely the result of exceeding any applicable limits on the inclusion of the 
Bonds in the determination of the own funds as Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer and/or of the Munich Re Group pursuant 

to the Applicable Supervisory Regulations. 

For purposes of determining the occurrence of a Regulatory Event, it suffices that the Issuer has received a 
corresponding communication from the Competent Supervisory Authority. 

“Scheduled Maturity Date” has the meaning set out in § 5(1).  

“Solo MCR” means the minimum capital requirement applicable to the Issuer on an individual basis pursuant to the 

Applicable Supervisory Regulations (regardless of the terminology used by the Applicable Supervisory Regulations). 

“Solo SCR” means the solvency capital requirement applicable to the Issuer on an individual basis pursuant to the 
Applicable Supervisory Regulations (regardless of the terminology used by the Applicable Supervisory Regulations). 

“Solvency II” means Directive 2009/138/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of November 25, 2009, 

as amended, the further legislative acts of the European Union enacted in relation thereto including Commission 
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/35 of October 10, 2014, and the applicable legislation and measures implementing 

the same, in each case as amended. 

A “Solvency Capital Event” will have occurred if: 

(i) the amount of own funds (Eigenmittel) of the Issuer (regardless of the terminology used by the Applicable 
Supervisory Regulations) is not sufficient to cover the applicable Solo SCR or the applicable Solo MCR of the 

Issuer; and/or 

(ii) the amount of own funds (Eigenmittel) of the Munich Re Group (regardless of the terminology used by the 
Applicable Supervisory Regulations) is not sufficient to cover the applicable Group SCR or the applicable 

Group MCR of the Munich Re Group. 

“Specified Denomination” has the meaning set out in § 2(1). 
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A “Tax Event” will occur if an opinion of a recognized law firm has been delivered to the Issuer (and the Issuer has 

provided the Fiscal Agent with a copy thereof) stating that, as a result of any change in, or amendment or clarification 
to, the laws, regulations or other rules of the Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes, any of its political 

subdivisions or any authority or any other agency of or in such country having power to levy Taxes (as defined in 
§ 7) (including in case any such change, amendment or clarification has retroactive effect), or as a result of any 
change in, or amendment or clarification to, the interpretation or application, or as a result of any interpretation or 

application made for the first time, of any such laws, regulations or other rules by any legislative body, court or 
authority (including the enactment of any legislation and the publication of any decision of any court or authority), 

which change, amendment or clarification becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the Bonds, interest 
payable by the Issuer in respect of the Bonds is no longer, or will no longer be, fully deductible by the Issuer for 
income tax purposes in the Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes, and that risk cannot be avoided by the Issuer 

taking such measures it (acting in good faith) deems reasonable and appropriate. 

“Taxes” has the meaning set out in § 7. 

“Tier 2 Capital” means Tier 2 basic own funds (as defined in, and regardless of the terminology used by, the 
Applicable Supervisory Regulations) for solvency purposes of the Issuer on an individual basis or for group solvency 

purposes of the Munich Re Group (including the capital adequacy of internationally active insurance groups (IAIG)). 

“Transfer Agent” has the meaning set out in § 9(1). 

“United States” has the meaning set out in § 2(2)(a). 

§ 2 
Currency, denomination, form  

(1) Currency and denomination. 

The Issuer issues subordinated resettable fixed rate bonds (the “Bonds”) in U.S. dollars (“USD”) in a specified 
denomination of USD 200,000 each (the “Specified Denomination”) in the aggregate principal amount of 

USD 1,250,000,000. 

(2) Form; Global Bonds. 

(a) The Bonds are represented by two or more permanent global certificates without interest coupons, each 
of which will represent either Bonds sold in the United States of America (the “United States”) to 

“qualified institutional buyers” as defined in, and in reliance on, Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”) (the “Rule 144A Global Bond(s)”) or Bonds sold 

outside the United States to persons other than U.S. persons as defined in, and in reliance on, Regulation 
S under the U.S. Securities Act (the “Regulation S Global Bond(s)” and, together with the Rule 144A 
Global Bond, the “Global Bonds”, and each a “Global Bond”). Copies of the Global Bonds are available 

for inspection, at no charge, during normal business hours at the office of the Fiscal Agent. 

(b) The Global Bonds are kept in custody by the Fiscal Agent, as custodian for DTC, until all obligations of 
the Issuer under the Bonds have been satisfied. 

(c) The Global Bonds are issued in registered form in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, recorded 

in a register (the “Register”) kept by the Registrar and represent the Bonds credited to securities accounts 
maintained with DTC by financial institutions that are participants in DTC (the “Participants”), 

including Clearstream Banking, S.A., Luxembourg, and Euroclear Bank SA/NV, Brussels, and any 
successor in such capacity. The Global Bonds shall each be manually signed by two authorized signatories 
of the Issuer and manually authenticated by or on behalf of the Fiscal Agent. 

(d) The Bonds represented by the Global Bonds will equal the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
outstanding at any time. 

(e) Definitive certificates and interest coupons for individual Bonds (“Certificated Bonds”) will not be 
issued, unless DTC notifies the Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue as clearing agency for the 
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Global Bonds and a successor depositary which shall be a clearing agency registered under the U.S. 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is not appointed by the Issuer within 90 days of such 
notice. Only in such case, a Bondholder may request the issue of Certificated Bonds. 

(f) “Bondholder” means (a) in the case of Bonds represented by Global Bonds, any beneficial owner of a 

book-entry interest in the Bonds, and (b) in case of Bonds represented by Certificated Bonds, the person 
or persons whose names appear in the Register. 

(3) Exchange and transfer of Bonds. 

(a) The Bonds represented by a Rule 144A Global Bond may be exchanged for Bonds represented by a 

Regulation S Global Bond and vice versa. Such exchanges shall be recorded in the Register and be 
effected by an increase or a decrease in the aggregate principal amount of the Rule 144A Global Bond(s) 
by the aggregate principal amount of Bonds so exchanged and a corresponding decrease or increase in 

the aggregate principal amount of the Regulation S Global Bond(s). 

(b) Transfers of Bonds shall require appropriate entries in securities accounts maintained with DTC by the 
Participants. Exchanges of Bonds pursuant to § 2(3)(a) may not be effected during the period 

commencing on the Record Date (as defined in § 6(3)) and ending on the related payment date (both dates 
inclusive). Each Bond may only be held and transferred in a denomination that is equal to its Specified 

Denomination. 

(c) The following restrictions with respect to the registration of any transfer of any Bond shall apply: 

(i) Except as provided for in § 2(2)(e), Certificated Bonds will not be issued in exchange for beneficial 
interests in the Global Bonds; all beneficial interests in the Global Bonds will be held directly or 

indirectly through a Participant. 

(ii) Transfers of the Global Bonds will be limited to transfers thereof (in whole but not in part) to DTC, 
its successors or their respective nominees. Beneficial interests in the Global Bonds may be 
transferred by the beneficial owners thereof in accordance with the respective rules and operating 

procedures of DTC or its Participants and the provisions of this § 2(3). 

(iii) Transfers of beneficial interests in one Global Bond to parties who will hold the beneficial interests 
through the same Global Bond may be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with the 

respective rules and operating procedures of DTC or its Participants and the provisions of this 
§ 2(3). 

(iv) Transfers of beneficial interests between Global Bonds will be effected through the Transfer Agent 

who will contact the Registrar to procure the exchange of beneficial interests in one Global Bond 
for beneficial interests of an equal Specified Denomination in another Global Bond; provided, 

however, that the Transfer Agent will not be required to accept for registration of transfer any 
beneficial interests in a Global Bond except upon presentation of evidence satisfactory to the 
Registrar and the Transfer Agent of compliance with § 2(3)(c)(v), (vi) and (vii). For each transfer 

of beneficial interests between the Global Bonds, the Registrar shall record the appropriate 
endorsements to reflect the respective modifications to the aggregate principal amount of each 

Global Bond. 

(v) Unless the Global Bonds have previously been exchanged for Certificated Bonds, beneficial 
interests in a Regulation S Global Bond may only be transferred during the 40-day period 
commencing on the later of the date of issue of the Bonds and the date of commencement of the 

distribution of the Bonds (the “Distribution Compliance Period”) to persons who take delivery in 
the form of a beneficial interest in a Rule 144A Global Bond, if such transfer occurs in connection 

with a transfer of the Bonds pursuant to Rule 144A of the U.S. Securities Act and the transferor first 
delivers to the Registrar with respect to the Bonds a written certificate (substantially in the form set 

forth in the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement (as defined in § 9(3)) and obtainable from the 
Fiscal Agent) to the effect that the Bonds are being transferred to a person who the transferor 
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reasonably believes is a qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A under the 

U.S. Securities Act, acquiring the Bonds for its own account or the account of such a qualified 
institutional buyer in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with 

all applicable securities laws of the states of the United States and other jurisdictions. 

(vi) Unless the Global Bonds have previously been exchanged for Certificated Bonds, beneficial 
interests in a Regulation S Global Bond or a Rule 144A Global Bond may be transferred to a person 
who takes delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in a Regulation S Global Bond, whether prior 

to or after the expiration of the Distribution Compliance Period, only if the transferor first delivers 
to the Registrar a written certificate (substantially in the form set forth in the Fiscal and Paying 

Agency Agreement and obtainable from the Fiscal Agent) to the effect that such transfer is being 
made in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S or Rule 144A of the U.S. Securities 

Act. 

(vii) Transfers of interests in Certificated Bonds may be made only in accordance with the legend 
contained on the face of such Certificated Bonds, and the Transfer Agent will not be required to 
accept for registration of transfer any such Certificated Bonds except upon presentation of evidence 

satisfactory to the Registrar and the Transfer Agent that such transfer is being made in compliance 
with such legend. 

§ 3 
Status 

(1) Status of the Bonds. 

The Bonds constitute unsecured subordinated obligations of the Issuer. In the event of the dissolution, 

liquidation, insolvency or any proceeding to avoid insolvency of the Issuer,  

(a) the obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds rank pari passu among themselves and pari passu with 
obligations of the Issuer under instruments which, pursuant to their terms or mandatory provisions of law, 

rank pari passu with the Bonds (including the Issuer's Existing Hybrid Bonds); and 

(b) the obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds will be subordinated to all the Issuer's Senior Ranking 
Obligations, so that in any such event no amounts will be payable in respect of the Bonds until the Issuer's 
Senior Ranking Obligations have been satisfied in full. 

“Issuer's Senior Ranking Obligations” means all  

(i) unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (for the avoidance of doubt, including any claims of all policy 
holders and beneficiaries under insurance and reinsurance contracts); 

(ii) subordinated obligations of the Issuer pursuant to § 39(1) InsO; 

(iii) subordinated obligations ranking at least pari passu with the Issuer's obligations subordinated by 

operation of law pursuant to § 39(1) InsO; and 

(iv) subordinated obligations of the Issuer required to be preferred by mandatory provisions of law. 

“Issuer's Existing Hybrid Bonds” means the following bond issues: 

(a) EUR 900,000,000 6.250 per cent. 2012/2042 Subordinated Fixed to Floating Rate Bonds, 
ISIN: XS0764278528; 

(b) GBP 450,000,000 6.625 per cent. 2012/2042 Subordinated Fixed to Floating Rate Bonds, 

ISIN: XS0764278288; 

(c) EUR 1,250,000,000 3.250 per cent. 2018/2049 Subordinated Fixed to Floating Rate Bonds, 
ISIN: XS1843448314;  
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(d) EUR 1,250,000,000 1.250 per cent. 2020/2041 Subordinated Fixed to Floating Rate Bonds, 

ISIN: XS2221845683; and 

(e) EUR 1,000,000,000 1.000 per cent. 2021/2042 Subordinated Fixed to Floating Rate Bonds, 
ISIN: XS2381261424. 

(2) No security. 

No security of whatever kind is, or will at any time be, provided by the Issuer or any other person securing 

rights of the Bondholders under the Bonds. 

(3) No right to set-off. 

The Bondholders may not set off any claims arising under the Bonds against any claims that the Issuer may 
have against each of them. The Issuer may not set off any claims it may have against any Bondholder against 

any of its obligations under the Bonds. 

(4) Payment conditions, (pre-insolvency) payment prohibition. 

Prior to the commencement of any insolvency or liquidation proceedings  

(a) any payment of interest and Arrears of Interest on the Bonds will be subject to the conditions set forth in 
§ 4(7) and § 4(8) being fulfilled; and 

(b) any redemption of the Bonds and any repurchase of Bonds will be subject to the Conditions to 
Redemption and Repurchase set forth in § 5(6) being fulfilled.  

The conditions set forth in § 4(7) and § 4(8) and the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase set forth in 
§ 5(6) include the condition that, on the date on which the relevant amount of principal or interest (or Arrears 

of Interest) is scheduled to be paid, neither an Insolvency Event has occurred and is continuing on such date 
nor that such payment would cause or accelerate the occurrence of an Insolvency Event. 

This means that already prior to the commencement of any insolvency or liquidation proceedings over the 

assets of the Issuer the Bondholders will only have a due (fällig) claim for the relevant scheduled payment of 
interest, the settlement of Arrears of Interest or for the redemption of the Bonds if no reason for the opening of 

insolvency proceedings in respect of the Issuer in accordance with the Applicable Insolvency Regulations exists 
and if the payment of the relevant amount were not to cause the insolvency of the Issuer or accelerate the 
process of the Issuer becoming insolvent. Pursuant to the Applicable Insolvency Regulations in effect on the 

date of issue of the Bonds, the following reasons for the opening of insolvency proceedings apply: On the 
scheduled payment date, the Issuer is (i) over-indebted within the meaning of § 19 InsO or (ii) illiquid 

(zahlungsunfähig) within the meaning of § 17 InsO or (iii) an imminent illiquidity (drohende 
Zahlungsunfähigkeit) of the Issuer within the meaning of § 18 InsO exists. 

These payment conditions constitute a prohibition to pay in that any payments on the Bonds may only be made 

by the Issuer if it is made in accordance with the aforementioned conditions. Any payment made in breach of 
this prohibition must be returned to the Issuer irrespective of any agreement to the contrary. 

(5) Subject to § 3(1), the Issuer may satisfy its obligations under the Bonds also from other distributable assets 
(sonstiges freies Vermögen) of the Issuer. 

§ 4 
Interest 

(1) Interest Payment Dates. 

(a) Each Bond shall bear interest based on its Specified Denomination from and including May 23, 2022 (the 

“Interest Commencement Date”) to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date, and thereafter from 
and including each Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next following Interest Payment Date (each 
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such period, an “Interest Period”) at the Rate of Interest (as defined in § 4(2)(a)) applicable to the Interest 

Period. 

(b) Interest is scheduled to be paid semi-annually in arrears on each Interest Payment Date and will be due 
and payable (fällig) in accordance with the conditions set out in § 4(7) and § 4(8).  

“Interest Payment Date” means November 23 and May 23 in each year, commencing on November 23, 

2022. 

(2) Rate of Interest.  

(a) The applicable rate of interest (the “Rate of Interest”) for each Interest Period will, except as otherwise 
provided below, be: 

(i) for the period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the First Reset 

Date a fixed rate of 5.875 per cent. per annum; and 

(ii) for the period from and including the First Reset Date to but excluding the next following Reset 
Date and thereafter from and including each Reset Date to but excluding the next Reset Date (each 

such period a “Reset Period”) the sum of the applicable Reference Rate (as defined below) and the 
Margin (as defined below), subject to a minimum Rate of Interest of 0.00 % per annum. 

“Margin” means 3.982 per cent. 

(b) “Reference Rate” means the CMT Rate which is determined by the Calculation Agent for each Reset 

Date on the relevant Interest Determination Date. 

Where: 

“CMT Rate” means: 

(i) the rate (expressed in per cent. per annum) equal to the semi-annual yield for U.S. Treasury 
Securities at “constant maturity” for a period to maturity of five years, as published in the H.15 

under the caption “U.S. government securities-Treasury constant maturities-Nominal”, as such 
yield is displayed on the relevant Interest Determination Date on the Bloomberg L.P. service, or 

any successor service, on page “NDX” (under caption “H15T5Y”), or any other page as may replace 
that page on that service for the purpose of displaying “U.S. government securities-Treasury 
constant maturities-Nominal” as reported in the H.15 (the “Bloomberg Screen”);  

(ii) if (x) the yield referred to in clause (i) is not published on the Bloomberg Screen on the relevant 

Interest Determination Date, or (y) there is a manifest error with respect to the publication on the 
Bloomberg Screen, the rate (expressed in per cent. per annum) equal to the semi-annual yield for 

U.S. Treasury Securities at “constant maturity” having a period to maturity of five years as 
published on such Interest Determination Date in the H.15 under the caption “U.S. government 

securities-Treasury constant maturities-Nominal”; or 

(iii) if neither the yield referred to in clause (i) nor the yield referred to in clause (ii) above are published 
on the relevant Interest Determination Date, then the CMT Rate will be the rate (expressed in per 
cent. per annum and rounded, if necessary, to the nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being 

rounded upwards)) calculated by the Calculation Agent as a semi-annual yield to maturity for a 5-
year Benchmark U.S. Treasury Security based on the arithmetic mean (as rounded as aforesaid) of 

a selection of three out of five bid yields on the secondary market at approximately 11:00 a.m. (New 
York City time) on the U.S. Treasury Securities Business Day following the relevant Interest 
Determination Date provided to the Calculation Agent by five leading primary dealers of U.S. 

Treasury Securities in New York (each a “Reference Dealer”) selected by the Issuer, disregarding 
the highest (or, in the event of equality, one of the highest) and the lowest (or, in the event of 

equality, one of the lowest) of the five obtained bid yields.  
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If by 11:59 p.m. (New York City time) on the U.S. Treasury Securities Business Day following the 

relevant Interest Determination Date fewer than five but more than two of such bid yields are provided, 
then the CMT Rate will be the rate (expressed as a percentage rate per annum and rounded to the nearest 

0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being rounded upwards)) calculated by the Calculation Agent as the 
semi-annual yield to maturity for a 5-year Benchmark U.S. Treasury Security based on the arithmetic 
mean (rounded as aforesaid) of all of the bid yields obtained on the secondary market as set forth above. 

If by 11:59 p.m. (New York City time) on the U.S. Treasury Securities Business Day following the 

relevant Interest Determination Date fewer than three Reference Dealers selected by the Issuer provide 
bid prices, or there is no outstanding 5-year Benchmark U.S. Treasury Security, then (x) for each Reset 

Period except the first Reset Period, the CMT Rate for the relevant Interest Determination Date shall be 
the CMT Rate on the last preceding Interest Determination Date or (y) for the first Reset Period, the 

Reference Rate shall be 2.893 per cent. per annum. 

In each of paragraphs (i) to (iii) above, the relevant rate shall be as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

“5-year Benchmark U.S. Treasury Security” means, on the relevant Interest Determination Date, the 
U.S. Treasury Security with the longest remaining term to maturity, an original term to maturity upon 

issue of approximately five years, a remaining term to maturity of not less than four years and a nominal 
amount of at least USD 1,000,000,000.

“H.15” means the daily statistical release designated as H.15, or any successor publication, published by 
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System at http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/H15/ or 

any successor site or publication. 

“Interest Determination Date” means, in respect of the Reference Rate to be determined in relation to 
a Reset Period, the second U.S. Treasury Securities Business Day preceding the Reset Date on which 

such period commences. 

“Reset Date” means the First Reset Date and thereafter each fifth anniversary of the preceding Reset 
Date. 

“U.S. Treasury Securities” means securities that are direct obligations of the United States Treasury, 

issued other than on a discount rate basis. 

“U.S. Treasury Securities Business Day” means any day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a day on 
which, due to a recommendation of the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (or its 

successor), the fixed income departments of its members are closed for the entire day for purposes of 
trading in U.S. Treasury Securities. 

(3) Interest Amount and Day Count Fraction. 

The “Interest Amount” shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest and the Day Count Fraction (as 

defined below) to the Specified Denomination of each Bond. The resulting figure will be rounded to the nearest 
USD 0.01, with USD 0.005 being rounded upwards. The Calculation Agent will, without undue delay 
(unverzüglich) after the determination of the Reference Rate, determine the applicable Rate of Interest and 

calculate the Interest Amount payable per Bond in respect of the Specified Denomination per Bond for the 
relevant Interest Period.  

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an Interest Amount on the Bonds for any period 

of time (the “Interest Calculation Period”), the number of days in the Interest Calculation Period divided by 
360, calculated in accordance with the following formula: 

𝐷𝐶𝐹 =
[360 × (𝑌2 − 𝑌1)] + [30 × (𝑀2 −𝑀1)] + (𝐷2 − 𝐷1)

360

Where: 

“DCF” means Day Count Fraction; 



-104- 

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Calculation Period falls; 

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest 

Calculation Period falls; 

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Calculation Period 
falls; 

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the 

Interest Calculation Period falls; 

“D1” is the first day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Calculation Period, unless such number would be 
31, in which case D1 will be 30; and 

“D2” is the day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day of the Interest Calculation Period, 

unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which case D2 will be 30. 

(4) Notification of the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amount. 

The Calculation Agent shall procure that (i) the Issuer, the Paying Agent and the Bondholders (in accordance 
with § 11) and (ii) if required by the rules of any stock exchange on which the Bonds are listed from time to 

time at the request of the Issuer, such stock exchange, will be notified of the Rate of Interest and the Interest 
Amount for the Interest Periods from the relevant Reset Date up to the next Reset Date in each case without 

undue delay (unverzüglich), but in no event later than the fifth day of the Interest Period in relation to which 
the relevant Rate of Interest and the relevant Interest Amount apply for the first time.  

(5) Determinations are binding. 

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, 

expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this § 4 by the Calculation Agent shall (in 
the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agent and the Bondholders. 

(6) End of interest accrual. 

The Bonds will cease to bear interest from the end of the day immediately preceding the day on which they are 

due for redemption. If the Issuer fails to make any payment of principal under the Bonds when due, interest 
shall continue to accrue until the end of the day immediately preceding the day on which such redemption is 
made. In such case the applicable interest rate will be determined pursuant to this § 4.  

(7) Due date for interest payments; optional and mandatory deferral of interest payments. 

(a) Interest which accrues during an Interest Period ending on but excluding a Compulsory Interest Payment 
Date will, subject to § 4(7)(c), be due and payable (fällig) on such Compulsory Interest Payment Date.  

(b) Interest which accrues during an Interest Period ending on but excluding an Optional Interest Payment 
Date will, subject to § 4(7)(c), be due and payable (fällig) on that Optional Interest Payment Date, unless 

the Issuer elects, by giving not less than 10 and not more than 15 Business Days' notice to the Bondholders 
prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date in accordance with § 11, to defer the relevant payment of 

interest in whole or in part. 

If the Issuer elects to defer, or to only pay partially, accrued interest on an Optional Interest Payment 
Date, then it will not have any obligation to pay accrued interest or will only be obliged to pay such part 

of the accrued interest it elects to pay, respectively, on such Optional Interest Payment Date.  

Any such non-payment of accrued interest will not constitute a default of the Issuer or any other breach 
of its obligations under the Bonds or for any other purpose. 

(c) If a Mandatory Deferral Event has occurred in respect of any Interest Payment Date, interest which 

accrued during the period ending on but excluding such Interest Payment Date will not be due and payable 
(fällig) on that Interest Payment Date.  
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Any such failure to pay interest will not constitute a default of the Issuer or any other breach of its 

obligations under the Bonds or for any other purpose. 

The Issuer will give notice to the Bondholders of the occurrence of the Mandatory Deferral Event in 
accordance with § 11 as soon as possible after its determination but in no event later than on the fourth 

Business Day following the relevant Interest Payment Date. Any failure to give such notice shall not 
affect the validity of the deferral of the interest payments and shall not constitute a default for any purpose. 
If the Issuer has not given the notice until the relevant Interest Payment Date, it shall give it without undue 

delay thereafter. 

(d) Interest accrued for any Interest Period which is not due and payable in accordance with this § 4(7) will 
constitute arrears of interest (“Arrears of Interest”).  

Arrears of Interest will not bear interest. 

(8) Settlement of Arrears of Interest. 

(a) Optional settlement of Arrears of Interest. 

The Issuer will be entitled to settle outstanding Arrears of Interest (in whole or in part) at any time if the 
Conditions to Settlement are fulfilled with respect to such payment. 

If the Issuer elects to settle outstanding Arrears of Interest (in whole or in part), it will give not less than 

10 and not more than 15 Business Days' notice to the Bondholders in accordance with § 11, which notice 
shall specify (i) the amount of Arrears of Interest to be paid and (ii) the date fixed for such payment (the 
“Optional Settlement Date”).  

Upon such notice being given, the amount of Arrears of Interest specified therein will become due and 

payable (fällig), and the Issuer will be obliged to settle such amount of Arrears of Interest, on the specified 
Optional Settlement Date. However, this obligation will cease to exist if on or before the Optional 

Settlement Date the Conditions to Settlement are not fulfilled with respect to the relevant payment. 

(b) Mandatory settlement of Arrears of Interest. 

The Issuer must settle outstanding Arrears of Interest (in whole but not in part) on the next Mandatory 
Settlement Date.  

(c) No default. 

If on an Optional Settlement Date or a Mandatory Settlement Date the Conditions to Settlement are not 

fulfilled, Arrears of Interest scheduled to be paid on such date will not become due and payable (fällig) 
on the relevant Optional Settlement Date or Mandatory Settlement Date, as the case may be, but will 

remain outstanding and will continue to be treated as Arrears of Interest. Any such failure to pay will not 
constitute a default of the Issuer or any other breach of its obligations under the Bonds or for any other 

purpose. The Issuer will give notice to the Bondholders regarding the non-fulfilment of the Conditions to 
Settlement in accordance with § 11 as soon as possible after its determination but in no event later than 
on the fourth Business Day following the relevant Optional Settlement Date or Mandatory Settlement 

Date.  

§ 5 
Redemption and repurchase 

(1) Redemption at maturity. 

To the extent not previously redeemed or repurchased, the Bonds will be redeemed at their Redemption Amount 
on the Final Maturity Date. 
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“Final Maturity Date” means, 

(i) if, on the Scheduled Maturity Date, the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase pursuant to § 5(6) are 

fulfilled, the Scheduled Maturity Date; 

(ii) otherwise, the 10th Business Day following the day on which the Conditions to Redemption and 
Repurchase are fulfilled again for the first time after the Scheduled Maturity Date. 

“Scheduled Maturity Date” means May 23, 2042. 

(2) Repurchase. 

(a) Subject to the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase being fulfilled, the Issuer or any of its 
subsidiaries may, as far as legally permissible, at any time acquire Bonds in the open market or otherwise 
and at any price. Such acquired Bonds may be cancelled, held or resold. 

(b) The Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase do not have to be fulfilled for repurchases made by the 

Issuer or any of its subsidiaries for the account of a third party or Undertakings for Collective Investment 
in Transferable Securities (UCITS), unless the majority of the shares in the relevant UCITS are held by 

the Issuer or one of its subsidiaries. 

(c) § 5(2)(a) and (b) shall apply mutatis mutandis to an acquisition of the Bonds by way of exchange for 
other securities. 

(3) Redemption at the option of the Issuer. 

The Issuer may, subject to the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase pursuant to § 5(6) being fulfilled, 

upon giving notice of redemption in accordance with § 5(5), call the Bonds for early redemption (in whole but 
not in part) with effect as of any date during the period from and including November 23, 2031 to and including 

the First Reset Date and on any Interest Payment Date thereafter. If the Issuer exercises its call right in 
accordance with sentence 1 and the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase are fulfilled on the redemption 
date, the Issuer shall redeem the Bonds at the Redemption Amount on the redemption date specified in the 

notice of redemption. 

(4) Redemption following a Gross-Up Event, a Tax Event, a Regulatory Event, an Accounting Event or a Rating 
Event. 

If a Gross-Up Event, a Tax Event, a Regulatory Event, an Accounting Event or a Rating Event occurs, the 

Issuer may, subject to the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase pursuant to § 5(6) being fulfilled, upon 
giving notice of redemption in accordance with § 5(5), call the Bonds for early redemption (in whole but not 

in part) at any time with effect as of the redemption date specified in the notice of redemption (each of such 
call rights, an “Extraordinary Call Right”). If the Issuer exercises any Extraordinary Call Right in accordance 
with sentence 1 and the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase are fulfilled on the specified redemption 

date, the Issuer shall redeem the Bonds at the Redemption Amount on the redemption date specified in the 
notice of redemption. 

The Issuer may waive, however, at any time and in its sole discretion, any of the Extraordinary Call Rights for 

a (definite or indefinite) period of time to be determined by the Issuer (the “Inapplicability Period”) by giving 
notice to the Bondholders in accordance with § 11. Any notice so given will be irrevocable and shall specify 

the Inapplicability Period(s) during which the Issuer shall cease to have the respective Extraordinary Call 
Right(s).  

In the case of a Gross-Up Event, no such notice of redemption may be given earlier than 90 days prior to the 
date on which the Issuer would be for the first time obliged to pay the Additional Amounts pursuant to § 7 if a 

payment in respect of the Bonds were then due. 

In the case of a Tax Event, no such notice of redemption may be given earlier than 90 days prior to the date on 
which the deductibility of interest would fall away. 
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(5) Notice of redemption. 

The Issuer will give not less than 15 days' notice of redemption to the Bondholders in accordance with § 11 of 

any redemption pursuant to § 5(3) and § 5(4). In the case of a redemption in accordance with § 5(4) such notice 
of redemption shall set forth the facts on which the Issuer bases its right to call the Bonds for early redemption 

and specify the redemption date. 

Even if such notice of redemption pursuant to this § 5(5) is given, the redemption pursuant to § 5(3) and § 5(4) 
is subject to the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase being fulfilled on the redemption date specified in 

the notice of redemption. 

(6) Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase. 

“Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase” means the requirements that must be met on any day with 
respect to a scheduled redemption of the Bonds by the Issuer or a planned repurchase of Bonds by the Issuer 

or its subsidiaries in accordance with the Applicable Supervisory Regulations in order for the Bonds to qualify 
as Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer and the Munich Re Group in accordance with the Applicable Supervisory 
Regulations. At the date of issue of the Bonds this requires the following: 

(a) The Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase are fulfilled on any date with respect to a scheduled 

redemption of the Bonds or a planned repurchase of Bonds, if, on such date,  

(i) no Insolvency Event has occurred and is continuing on such date and the payment of the Redemption 
Amount or the repurchase would not result in, or accelerate the occurrence of, an Insolvency Event 

(notwithstanding the above, the claims of the Bondholders under the Bonds in any insolvency or 
liquidation proceedings in relation to the Issuer will fall due in accordance with the Applicable 

Insolvency Regulations); and 

(ii) no Solvency Capital Event has occurred and is continuing on such date or would be caused by the 
redemption or the repurchase, unless the conditions under the Applicable Supervisory Regulations 
for the exceptional permission of the redemption or the repurchase are met on such date; this 

requires the following: 

(A) the Competent Supervisory Authority, being aware of the occurrence of a Solvency Capital 
Event that is continuing, has given, and not withdrawn by such date, its prior consent to the 

redemption or the repurchase; and 

(B) the capital paid-in for the Bonds is replaced by or converted into paid-in Tier 1 basic own-
fund items, or is replaced by or converted into other paid-in Tier 2 basic own-fund items of at 

least the same quality; and 

(C) the applicable Solo MCR and the applicable Group MCR are fulfilled also after the 
redemption or the repurchase;  

and 

(iii) the Competent Supervisory Authority has given, and not withdrawn by such day, its prior consent 

to the redemption or to the repurchase as required under the Applicable Supervisory Regulations; 
and 

(iv) in the case of any redemption or any repurchase prior to May 23, 2027 the capital paid-in for the 

Bonds is replaced by or converted into paid-in Tier 1 basic own-fund items, or is replaced by or 
converted into other paid-in Tier 2 basic own-fund items of at least the same quality, in each case 
with the prior consent of the Competent Supervisory Authority, provided that the replacement or 

conversion requirement in accordance with this clause (iv) applies only subject to clause (iv)(A) 
and clause (iv)(B). 
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(A) No replacement or conversion requirement in accordance with clause (iv) applies if, in the 

case of any redemption following the occurrence of a Gross-Up Event or a Tax Event, the 
following conditions are met: 

(I) an Appropriate Margin exists; and 

(II) the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Competent Supervisory Authority that 

the Gross-Up Event or the Tax Event is material and was not reasonably foreseeable at 
the date of issue of the Bonds. 

(B) No replacement or conversion requirement in accordance with clause (iv) applies if, in the 

case of any redemption following the occurrence of a Regulatory Event the following 
conditions are met: 

(I) an Appropriate Margin exists; and 

(II) the Competent Supervisory Authority considers it to be sufficiently certain that the 

relevant change for the Regulatory Event occurs or will occur, and the Issuer 
demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Competent Supervisory Authority that the 
exclusion of the Bonds from the Tier 2 basic own funds items of the Issuer or the Munich 

Re Group or the regulatory reclassification of the Bonds was not reasonably foreseeable 
at the date of issue of the Bonds. 

(b) If, at the time of a scheduled redemption of the Bonds or a planned repurchase of Bonds, one or more 

alternative or additional pre-conditions to redemption or repurchase must be satisfied under the 
Applicable Supervisory Regulations, then such other and/or additional pre-conditions shall be deemed to 

constitute “Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase” instead of, or in addition to, the conditions set 
forth in this § 5(6) above. 

(c) If the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase are not fulfilled, this will not entitle the Bondholders to 
require the Issuer to redeem the Bonds, and if the Issuer does not redeem the Bonds as a result thereof, 

this shall not constitute a default of the Issuer for any purpose. 

(7) No put or acceleration right of the Bondholders. 

The Bondholders shall have neither any put right nor any other right to accelerate the redemption of the Bonds. 

§ 6 
Payments 

(1) Payments of principal and interest by the Issuer. 

Payments of principal of, and interest on, the Bonds by the Issuer will be made on the relevant payment date 
to, or to the order of, DTC or the person nominated by DTC as the registered owner for credit to the accounts 

of the respective Participants in U.S. dollars for credit to the Bondholders as set forth below. The amount of 
payments of principal shall be equal to the aggregate Specified Denomination of the Bonds represented by the 

Global Bonds, as established at the close of business on the relevant Record Date. Payments of principal will 
be made upon presentation and surrender of the Global Bonds to the Paying Agent. All payments are subject 

to all applicable fiscal and other laws, directives and regulations or agreements to which the Issuer, the 
Calculation Agent or the Paying Agent have agreed to be subject to. Subject to the provisions of § 7, the Issuer 
shall not be obligated to pay to the Bondholders any Additional Amounts (as defined in § 7) as compensation 

for any Taxes (as defined in § 7) or duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by such fiscal and other laws, 
regulations, directives or agreements. 

(2) Discharge. 

(a) The Issuer will be discharged from its duty of payment by making payment to, or to the order of, DTC. 
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(b) Following an exchange of the Global Bonds for Certificated Bonds, payments of principal and interest in 

respect of the Certificated Bonds shall be made to the corporate trust office of the Fiscal Agent. In such 
case, the Issuer shall be discharged from its duty of payment by making payment to, or to the order of, 

the corporate trust office of the Fiscal Agent. 

(3) Record Date. 

The record date (the “Record Date”) (Stichtag) for purposes of payments of principal and interest will be, in 
respect of each such payment, the New York Business Day immediately preceding the relevant due date. In the 

case of Certificated Bonds, the Record Date will be the fifteenth New York Business Day preceding the relevant 
due date. 

“New York Business Day” means any day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) which is not a day on which 
banking institutions in New York City, New York, United States, are generally authorized to close or obligated 

by law or executive order to close.  

(4) Business day convention. 

If the due date for any payment of principal and/or interest and/or Arrears of Interest is not a Business Day, 
payment will be made only on the next following Business Day. The Bondholders will have no right to claim 

payment of any interest or other indemnity in respect of such delay in payment.  

(5) References in these Terms and Conditions to principal and interest on the Bonds include, to the extent 
applicable, all Additional Amounts payable pursuant to § 7 (as therein defined). 

§ 7 
Taxation 

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds will be made without withholding or deduction of any 

taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature (“Taxes”) imposed, levied, collected, 
withheld or assessed by the Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes or any political subdivision or any authority 
or any agency of or in the Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes that has power to levy Taxes, unless the Issuer 

is compelled by law to make such withholding or deduction. If the Issuer is required to make such withholding or 
deduction, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts (the “Additional Amounts”) as may be necessary so that the 

net amounts received by the Bondholder after such withholding or deduction will equal the respective amounts which 
it would have been entitled to receive had no such withholding or deduction been required. However, no such 

Additional Amounts will be payable for any such Taxes in respect of any Bond: 

(a) which are payable by any person acting as Custodian or collecting agent on behalf of a Bondholder, or otherwise 
in any manner which does not constitute a deduction or withholding by the Issuer or the Paying Agent from 
payments of principal or interest made by the Issuer; or 

(b) which are payable by reason of the Bondholder or beneficial owner of a Bond (or a fiduciary, settlor, 
beneficiary, partner, member or shareholder of, or possessor of power over, the relevant Bondholder if the 
relevant Bondholder is an estate, nominee, trust, partnership or corporation) having, or having had, some 

personal or business connection with the Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes and not merely by reason 
of the fact that payments in respect of the Bonds are, or for purposes of taxation are deemed to be, derived from 

sources in, or are secured in, the Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes; or  

(c) which are to be deducted or withheld pursuant to (i) any European Union directive or regulation concerning 
the taxation of interest income, or (ii) any international treaty or understanding relating to such taxation and to 
which the Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes or the European Union is a party, or (iii) any provision 

of law implementing, or complying with, or introduced to conform with, such directive, regulation, treaty or 
understanding; or 

(d) which are to be deducted or withheld solely because of a change in law, regulation, or administrative or judicial 

interpretation occurring after the day on which the payment becomes due or is duly provided for, whichever 
occurs later; or 
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(e) which are estate, inheritance, gift, sales, excise, transfer, wealth, personal property or similar taxes or duties; 

or 

(f) which any disbursing agent (which term may include the Issuer) must withhold or deduct from any payment of 
principal or of interest if such payment can be made without such withholding or deduction by another 

disbursing agent; or 

(g) with respect to any Bondholder that is not the sole beneficial owner of the relevant Bond, or that is a fiduciary 
or partnership, but only to the extent that the beneficial owner, a beneficiary or settlor with respect to the 

fiduciary, or a member of the partnership would not have been entitled to the payment of an Additional Amount 
had such beneficial owner, beneficiary, settlor or member directly received its beneficial interest or distributive 
share of the payment; or 

(h) which are to be deducted or withheld because of the failure of the Bondholder or beneficial owner to comply 

with a timely reasonable request by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent addressed to the Bondholder 
or beneficial owner, as the case may be, to provide information concerning such Bondholder's or beneficial 

owner's nationality, residence, identity or connection with the Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes or 
satisfy other reporting requirements, if and to the extent that due and timely compliance with such request 

would have reduced or eliminated any withholding or deduction as to which Additional Amounts would have 
otherwise been payable to such Bondholder or beneficial owner; or 

(i) in the case of any combination of the above items. 

In any event, the Issuer will have no obligation to pay Additional Amounts deducted or withheld by the Issuer, the 
relevant Paying Agent or any other party in relation to any withholding or deduction of any amounts required by the 

rules of U.S. Internal Revenue Code Sections 1471 through 1474 (or any amended or successor provisions), pursuant 
to any inter-governmental agreement, or implementing legislation adopted by another jurisdiction in connection with 

these provisions, or pursuant to any agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“FATCA Withholding”) or 
to indemnify any investor in relation to any FATCA Withholding. 

§ 8 
Presentation period, prescription 

The period for presentation of the Bonds will be reduced to ten years. The period of limitation for claims under the 
Bonds presented during the period for presentation will be two years calculated from the expiration of the relevant 

presentation period.  

§ 9 
The Agents 

(1) Appointment; specified office. 

The initial fiscal agent (the “Fiscal Agent”), the initial transfer agent (the “Transfer Agent”), the initial 
registrar (the “Registrar”), the initial paying agent (the “Paying Agent”) and the initial calculation agent (the 

“Calculation Agent”) and their respective initial specified offices are: 

Fiscal Agent: 

Citibank, N.A., London Branch 
Agency & Trust 

Citigroup Centre 
Canada Square 
Canary Wharf 

London E14 5LB 
United Kingdom 
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Transfer Agent: 

Citibank, N.A., London Branch 

Agency & Trust 
Citigroup Centre 

Canada Square 
Canary Wharf 
London E14 5LB 

United Kingdom 

Registrar: 

Citibank Europe plc
1 North Wall Quay 

Dublin 1 
Ireland 

Paying Agent: 

Citibank, N.A., London Branch 

Agency & Trust 
Citigroup Centre 

Canada Square 
Canary Wharf 
London E14 5LB 

United Kingdom 

Calculation Agent: 

Citibank, N.A., London Branch 
Agency & Trust 

Citigroup Centre 
Canada Square 

Canary Wharf 
London E14 5LB 

United Kingdom 

The Fiscal Agent, the Transfer Agent, the Registrar, the Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent reserve the 
right at any time to change their respective specified office to some other specified office in the same country. 

(2) Variation or termination of appointment. 

The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, Transfer 

Agent, Registrar, the Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent (collectively, the “Agents” and each an “Agent”) 
and to appoint another Agent or additional Agents. The Issuer shall at all times maintain a Fiscal Agent, 
Transfer Agent, Registrar, Paying Agent and Calculation Agent. Any variation, termination, appointment or 

other change shall only take effect (other than in the case of insolvency, when such change shall be of immediate 
effect) after not less than five days' prior notice thereof shall have been given to the Bondholders in accordance 

with § 11. 

(3) Agents of the Issuer.  

Each Agent acts solely as agent of the Issuer and does not have any obligations towards, nor any relationship 
of agency or trust to, any of the Bondholders. Each Agent will only be responsible for the performance of the 

duties and obligations expressly imposed upon it in the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement or other 
agreements entered into with respect to its appointment or incidental thereto. 
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“Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement” means the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement dated on or about 

May 23, 2022 among the Issuer and the Agents, copies of which are available for inspection, at no charge, 
during normal business hours at the office of the Fiscal Agent. 

§ 10 
Further issues 

The Issuer may at any time, without the consent of the Bondholders, issue further bonds having the same terms and 
conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or in all respects except for the issue date, the interest commencement date 

and/or the issue price) so as to form a single series with the Bonds; provided that the additional bonds will not be 
issued under the same CUSIP, ISIN or Common Code as the Bonds unless such additional bonds are fungible with 

the Bonds for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The term “Bonds” shall, in the event of such further issue, also 
comprise such further bonds. 

No increase of these Bonds will be made in accordance with this § 10 if such increase would result in a Regulatory 

Event entitling the Issuer to redeem the Bonds in accordance with § 5(4). 

§ 11 
Notices 

(1) Notices to DTC. 

The Issuer shall deliver all notices concerning the Bonds to DTC for communication by DTC to the 
Bondholders, other than notices stipulated in § 12 which shall be made exclusively pursuant to the provisions 
of the SchVG (as defined in § 12(1)). Any such notice will be deemed to have been given to the Bondholders 

on the seventh day after the day on which said notice was given to DTC. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to its Participants, by those Participants to indirect 
Participants, and by Participants and indirect Participants to beneficial owners of book-entry interests will be 

governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect 
from time to time. The Fiscal Agent will send any notices in respect of the Bonds held in book-entry form to 

DTC or its nominee. 

(2) Publications on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. 

(a) In addition, all notices regarding the Bonds will be published (so long as the Bonds are listed on the 
official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Euro MTF) on the website 

of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (currently www.bourse.lu). 

(b) So long as any Bonds are listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to 
trading on the Euro MTF, § 11(2)(a) shall apply. To the extent the rules of the Luxembourg Stock 
Exchange so permit, the Issuer may deliver the relevant notice pursuant to § 11(1) instead of publication 

pursuant § 11(2)(a). 

§ 12 
Amendments to the Terms and Conditions by resolution of the Bondholders; Joint Representative 

(1) The Issuer may agree with the Bondholders on amendments to the Terms and Conditions or on other matters 
by virtue of a majority resolution of the Bondholders pursuant to § 5 et seqq. of the German Act on Issues of 

Debt Securities (Gesetz über Schuldverschreibungen aus Gesamtemissionen), as amended (“SchVG”).  

The Issuer's right under this § 12(1) is subject to the following restrictions: 

(i) the regulatory restrictions set out in § 3(2), § 3(3), § 3(4) and § 5(6); 

(ii) the compliance with the Applicable Supervisory Regulations at the time of an amendment of the Terms 
and Conditions for the Bonds to qualify for the inclusion in the determination of the own funds for 

solvency purposes of the Issuer and/or for group solvency purposes of the Munich Re Group as Tier 2 
Capital (or a better category of own funds); and 
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(iii) the prior consent of the Competent Supervisory Authority (if under the Applicable Supervisory 

Regulations such prior consent is required at the time). 

There will be no amendment of the Terms and Conditions without the Issuer's consent. The Bondholders may 
consent to amendments which materially change the substance of the Terms and Conditions, including such 

measures as provided for under § 5 paragraph 3 SchVG, by resolutions passed by such majority of the votes of 
the Bondholders as stated under § 12(2) below. A duly passed majority resolution shall be binding equally upon 
all Bondholders.  

(2) Except as provided by the following sentence and provided that the quorum requirements are being met, the 
Bondholders may pass resolutions by simple majority of the voting rights participating in the vote. Resolutions 
which materially change the substance of the Terms and Conditions, in particular in the cases of § 5 paragraph 3 

numbers 1 through 9 SchVG, or which relate to material other matters may only be passed by a majority of at 
least 75 per cent. of the voting rights participating in the vote (a “Qualified Majority”). 

(3) The Bondholders can pass resolutions in a bondholders' meeting (Gläubigerversammlung) in accordance with 

§ 5 et seqq. SchVG or by means of a vote without a meeting (Abstimmung ohne Versammlung) in accordance 
with § 18 and § 5 et seqq. SchVG. 

(a) Attendance at the bondholders' meeting and exercise of voting rights is subject to the Bondholders' 

registration. The registration must be received at the address stated in the convening notice no later than 
the third day preceding the bondholders' meeting. As part of the registration, Bondholders must provide 
evidence of their eligibility to participate in the vote by means of a special confirmation of the Custodian 

in text form and by submission of a blocking instruction by the Custodian stating that the relevant Bonds 
are not transferable from and including the day such registration has been sent until and including the 

stated end of the bondholders' meeting. 

(b) Together with casting their vote, Bondholders must provide evidence of their eligibility to participate in 
the vote without a meeting by means of a special confirmation of the Custodian in text form and by 

submission of a blocking instruction by the Custodian stating that the relevant Bonds are not transferable 
from and including the day such vote has been cast until and including the day the voting period ends. 

(4) If it is ascertained that no quorum exists for the bondholders' meeting pursuant to § 12(3)(a) or the vote without 
a meeting pursuant to § 12(3)(b), in case of a bondholders' meeting the chair (Vorsitzender) may convene a 

second meeting in accordance with § 15 paragraph 3 sentence 2 SchVG or in case of a vote without a meeting 
the scrutineer (Abstimmungsleiter) may convene a second meeting within the meaning of § 18 paragraph 4 

sentence 2 and § 15 paragraph 3 sentence 3 SchVG. Attendance at the second meeting and exercise of voting 
rights is subject to the Bondholders' registration. The provisions set out in § 12(3)(a) shall apply mutatis 

mutandis to Bondholders' registration for a second meeting. 

(5) The Bondholders may by majority resolution provide for the appointment or dismissal of a holders' joint 
representative (the “Joint Representative”), the duties and responsibilities and the powers of such Joint 
Representative, the transfer of the rights of the Bondholders to the Joint Representative and a limitation of 

liability of the Joint Representative. Appointment of a Joint Representative may only be passed by a Qualified 
Majority if such Joint Representative is to be authorized to consent, in accordance with § 12(2), to a material 

change in the substance of the Terms and Conditions or other material matters. 

(6) Any notices concerning this § 12 shall be made exclusively pursuant to the provisions of the SchVG. 

(7) In the event of a substitution pursuant to § 13(1), § 12 shall apply mutatis mutandis for an amendment of the 
guarantee pursuant to § 13(1)(d), and the Terms and Conditions and such guarantee may only be amended with 

the consent of the New Issuer and Munich Reinsurance Company as guarantor. 

(8) The rights of Bondholders arising under this § 12 may only be exercised in accordance with DTC's applicable 
procedures. 
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§ 13 
Substitution 

(1) Substitution. 

The Issuer may at any time, without the consent of the Bondholders, substitute for itself any other company 

(other than an insurance undertaking) which is directly or indirectly controlled by the Issuer as new issuer (the 
“New Issuer”) in respect of all obligations arising under or in connection with the Bonds with the effect of 
releasing the Issuer of all such obligations, if: 

(a) the New Issuer assumes any and all obligations of the Issuer arising under or in connection with the 
Bonds; and 

(b) the Issuer and the New Issuer have obtained all internal authorizations necessary for the substitution and 
the fulfilment of the obligations arising under or in connection with the Bonds, and the Competent 

Supervisory Authority has given its prior consent to the substitution; and 

(c) the New Issuer is in the position to pay to, or to the order of, DTC in U.S. dollars and without deducting 
or withholding any Taxes or other duties of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld, 

assessed, charged or deducted by the country (or countries) in which the New Issuer has its domicile or 
tax residence all amounts required for the performance of the payment obligations arising from or in 

connection with the Bonds; and 

(d) the Issuer irrevocably guarantees on a subordinated basis such obligations of the New Issuer under the 
Bonds on terms which ensure that each Bondholder will not be put in an economic position that is less 
favorable than if the substitution had not taken place; and 

(e) the Conditions to Redemption and Repurchase are fulfilled at the time of the substitution; these shall 
apply mutatis mutandis to the substitution. 

(2) References. 

In the event of a substitution pursuant to § 13(1), any reference in these Terms and Conditions to the Issuer 

shall be a reference to the New Issuer. 

For the avoidance of doubt this shall apply only to the extent that the meaning and purpose of the relevant 
condition does not require that the relevant reference shall continue to be a reference only to Munich 
Reinsurance Company (i.e. in particular in relation to the solvency applicable to Munich Reinsurance Company 

and the group solvency of the Munich Re Group, the Insolvency Event, the Compulsory Interest Payment 
Event, the Accounting Event, the Rating Event and § 5(2)), or that the reference shall be to the New Issuer and 

Munich Reinsurance Company, in relation to its obligations under the guarantee pursuant to § 13(1)(d), at the 
same time (Gross-Up Event, Tax Event, Regulatory Event, Accounting Event, Rating Event and Taxation). 

In the event of a substitution, any reference to the Federal Republic of Germany (except in § 14) shall be a 

reference to the New Issuer's country of domicile for tax purposes, unless sentence 2 provides otherwise. 

(3) Notice and effectiveness of substitution. 

Notice of any substitution of the Issuer shall be given by notice in accordance with § 11. Upon publication of 
such notice of substitution, the substitution shall become effective, and the Issuer and, in the event of a repeated 

application of this § 13, any previous New Issuer shall be discharged from any and all obligations under the 
Bonds. In the case of such substitution, the stock exchange(s), if any, on which the Bonds are then listed at the 
initiative of the Issuer will be notified by the Issuer. 

(4) Following a substitution pursuant to this § 13 any New Issuer may, with the consent of Munich Reinsurance 

Company, after giving notice in accordance with § 11 and without the consent of the Bondholders, reverse the 
substitution. 
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§ 14 
Final provisions 

(1) Applicable law. 

The form and the content of the Bonds as well as all the rights and duties arising therefrom are governed by, 

and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany, without giving effect to the 
conflict of laws provisions of German international private law (Kollisionsnormen des deutschen 
Internationalen Privatrechts). Any disposition (Verfügung) of beneficial interests in the Bonds, including 

transfers and pledges, executed between Participants and between DTC itself and Participants shall be governed 
by the laws of the State of New York.  

To the extent permitted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 864/2007 of the European Parliament and of the 

Council of July 11, 2007 on the law applicable to non-contractual obligations, all non-contractual claims arising 
out of or in connection with the Bonds are governed by and will be construed in accordance with German law 

without giving effect to the conflict of laws provisions of German international private law. 

(2) Interpretation. 

These Terms and Conditions are to be construed pursuant to German law. German terms in parenthesis and/or 
italics inserted herein are binding for the interpretation of the relevant term. German legal concepts which are 

addressed in the English language in these Terms and Conditions will be interpreted pursuant to German law 
and not with a view to the meaning of such English language terms in any other jurisdiction. 

(3) Place of jurisdiction. 

Subject to any mandatory jurisdiction for specific proceedings under the SchVG, to the extent legally 

permissible, the exclusive place of jurisdiction for all legal disputes arising from matters provided for in these 
Terms and Conditions will be Munich, Federal Republic of Germany. The Issuer irrevocably waives any 
objection which it might now or hereafter have to the courts of Munich being nominated as the forum to hear 

and determine any proceedings and to settle any legal disputes and agrees not to claim that any of those courts 
is not a convenient or appropriate forum. 

(4) Place of performance. 

Place of performance will be Munich, Federal Republic of Germany. 

(5) Enforcement of rights. 

Any Bondholder may in any legal proceedings against the Issuer or to which the Bondholder and the Issuer are 
parties enforce in its own name its rights arising under such Bonds on the basis of: 

(i) a certificate issued by the Custodian (A) stating the full name and address of the Bondholder, (B) 
specifying the aggregate principal amount of Bonds credited on the date of such statement to such 

Bondholder's securities account(s) maintained with such Custodian and (C) confirming that the Custodian 
has given a written notice to the DTC and the Registrar containing the information specified in (A) and 

(B) and bearing acknowledgements of DTC and the relevant Participant and 

(ii) a copy of the Global Bond representing the relevant Bonds certified as being a true copy by an authorized 
officer of DTC or of the Registrar; or 

(iii) any other means of evidence permitted in legal proceedings in the country of enforcement, 

without the need for production in such proceedings of the actual records or the Global Bond representing the 

Bonds. 
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7 BOOK-ENTRY; DELIVERY AND FORM 

The information set out in the sections of this Offering Memorandum describing clearing and settlement 

arrangements is subject to any change or reinterpretation of the rules, regulations and procedures of DTC as 
currently in effect. The information in such sections concerning clearing systems has been obtained from sources 
that the Issuer believes to be reliable. The Issuer accepts responsibility only for the correct extraction and 

reproduction of such information, but not for the accuracy of such information. If an investor wishes to use the 
facilities of any clearing system, it should confirm the applicability of the rules, regulations and procedures of the 

relevant clearing system. The Issuer will not be responsible or liable for any aspect of the records relating to, or 
payments made on account of, book-entry interests held through the facilities of any clearing system or for 
maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such book-entry interests. 

7.1 Summary of Provisions Relating to Bonds in Global Form 

The certificates representing the Bonds will be issued in fully registered form without interest coupons. The Bonds 
will be represented by Book-Entry Interests (as defined below) and are being offered and sold only (i) to QIBs, as 
defined in, and in reliance on, Rule 144A under the Securities Act (the “Rule 144A Bonds”) or (ii) to persons other 

than “U.S. persons” (within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act) in “offshore transactions” in 
reliance on Regulation S (the “Regulation S Bonds”). 

The Regulation S Bonds will be represented by one or more permanent Regulation S Global Bonds in definitive, 

fully registered form without interest coupons, and will be deposited with Citibank, N.A., London Branch as 
custodian for, and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, for the accounts of its participants, 

including Euroclear and Clearstream. Prior to the 40th day after the later of the commencement of the Offering and 
the date of the original issue of the Bonds (the “Distribution Compliance Period”), any resale or other transfer of 
beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Bond (“Regulation S Book-Entry Interests”) to U.S. persons shall not 

be permitted unless such resale or transfer is made pursuant to Rule 144A or Regulation S and in accordance with 
the certification requirements described below. 

The Rule 144A Bonds will initially be represented by one or more permanent Rule 144A Global Bonds in definitive, 

fully registered form without interest coupons, with such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other 
variations as are required or permitted by the Fiscal Agency Agreement and such legends as may be applicable 
thereto, and will be deposited with Citibank, N.A., London Branch as custodian for, and registered in the name of 

Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC duly executed by the Issuer and authenticated by the Fiscal Agent as provided in 
the Fiscal Agency Agreement. Transfers of Bonds shall require appropriate entries in securities accounts maintained 

with DTC by the participants. Exchanges of Bonds pursuant to § 2(3)(a) of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds 
may not be effected during the period commencing on the Record Date (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the 

Bonds—§ 6 (Payments)”) and ending on the related payment date (both dates inclusive). Each Bond may only be 
held and transferred in a denomination that is equal to its current nominal amount. Regulation S Book-Entry Interests 
may be transferred to a person who takes delivery in a beneficial interest in a Rule 144A Global Bond (“Rule 144A 

Book-Entry Interests” and, together with the Regulation S Book-Entry Interests, the “Book-Entry Interests”) 
during the Distribution Compliance Period only if such transfer occurs in connection with a transfer of Bonds 

pursuant to Rule 144A and only upon receipt by the Fiscal Agent of written certifications from the transferor (in the 
form or forms provided in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) to the effect that the Bonds are being transferred to a person 
who the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities Act and who 

is acquiring the Bonds for its own account or the account of a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 
144A and in accordance with all applicable securities laws of the states of the United States and other jurisdictions. 

Rule 144A Book-Entry Interests may be transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of Regulation S Book-
Entry Interests only upon receipt by the Fiscal Agent of written certifications from the transferor (in the form or 

forms provided in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with 
Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S. 

Any Book-Entry Interest in one of the Global Bonds that is transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of 
an interest in another Global Bond will, upon transfer, cease to be an interest in such first Global Bond and become 

an interest in the other Global Bond and, accordingly, will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions, if any, and 
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other procedures applicable to Book-Entry Interests in such other Global Bond for as long as it remains such an 

interest. 

Each Global Bond (and any Bonds issued in exchange therefor) will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer set 
forth therein described under “Transfer Restrictions”. Except in the limited circumstances described below under 

“Summary of Provisions Relating to Certificated Bonds”, owners of Book-Entry Interests will not be entitled to 
receive physical delivery of certificated Bonds. 

Ownership of Book-Entry Interests will be limited to persons who have accounts with DTC, or participants, or 

persons who hold interests through participants. Ownership of Book-Entry Interests will be shown on, and the 
transfer of that ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee (with respect to 
interests of participants) and the records of participants (with respect to interests of persons other than participants). 

QIBs may hold their Rule 144A Book-Entry Interests directly through DTC if they are participants in such system, 
or indirectly through organizations which are participants in such system. 

Non-U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S) may hold their Regulation S Book-Entry Interests directly through 

Euroclear or Clearstream, if they are participants in such systems, or indirectly through organizations that are 
participants in such systems. Euroclear and Clearstream will hold Regulation S Book-Entry Interests on behalf of 

their participants through DTC. 

So long as DTC, or its nominee, is the registered owner or Holder of a Global Bond, DTC or such nominee, as the 
case may be, will be considered the sole owner or Holder of the Bonds represented by such Global Bond for all 
purposes under the Fiscal Agency Agreement and the Bonds. No beneficial owner of a Book-Entry Interest will be 

able to transfer that interest except in accordance with DTC’s applicable procedures, in addition to those provided 
for under the Fiscal Agency Agreement and, if applicable, those of Euroclear and Clearstream. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to its participants, by those participants to its indirect 

participants, and by participants and indirect participants to beneficial owners of Book-Entry Interests will be 
governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from 

time to time. 

The Fiscal Agent will send any notices in respect of the Bonds held in book-entry form to DTC or its nominee. 

In addition, all notices regarding the Bonds will be published (so long as the Bonds are listed on the official list of 
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Euro MTF) on the website of the Luxembourg Stock 

Exchange (currently www.bourse.lu). 

Neither DTC nor its nominee will consent or vote with respect to the Bonds unless authorized by a participant in 
accordance with DTC’s procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an omnibus proxy to the Issuer as soon 
as possible after the record date. The omnibus proxy assigns DTC’s or its nominee’s consenting or voting rights to 

those participants to whose account the Bonds are credited on the record date. 

Payments of the principal of, and interest on, a Global Bond will be made to DTC or its nominee, as the case may 
be, as the registered owner thereof. None of the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent will have any responsibility or liability for 

any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of Book-Entry Interests or for maintaining, 
supervising or reviewing any records relating to such Book-Entry Interests. 

The Issuer expects that DTC or its nominee, upon receipt of any payment of principal or interest in respect of a 

Global Bond, will credit participants’ accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective Book-
Entry Interests in the principal amount of such Global Bond as shown on the records of DTC or its nominee. The 
Issuer also expects that payments by participants to owners of Book-Entry Interests in such Global Bond held through 

such participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with securities 
held for the accounts of customers registered in the names of nominees for such customers. Such payments will be 

the responsibility of such participants. 

Transfers between participants in DTC will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will 
be settled in same-day funds. Transfers between participants in Euroclear and Clearstream will be effected in the 

ordinary way in accordance with their respective rules and operating procedures. 
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Cross-market transfers between persons holding directly or indirectly through DTC, on the one hand, and directly or 

indirectly through Euroclear or Clearstream participants, on the other hand, will be effected in DTC in accordance 
with DTC rules on behalf of the relevant European international clearing system by the relevant European depositary; 

however, those cross-market transactions will require delivery of instructions to the relevant European international 
clearing system by the counterparty in that system in accordance with its rules and procedures and within its 
established deadlines (European time). The relevant European international clearing system will, if the transaction 

meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to the relevant European depositary to take action to effect 
final settlement on its behalf by delivering or receiving securities in DTC, and making or receiving payment in 

accordance with normal procedures for same-day funds settlement applicable to DTC. Euroclear and Clearstream 
participants may not deliver instructions directly to the European depositaries. 

Because of time zone differences, credits of securities received in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of a transaction 

with a person that does not hold the Bonds through Euroclear or Clearstream will be made during subsequent 
securities settlement processing and dated the first day Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, is open for 
business following the DTC settlement date. Those credits or any transactions in those securities settled during that 

processing will be reported to the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream participants on that business day. Cash received 
in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of sales of securities by or through a Euroclear participant or a Clearstream 

participant to a DTC participant will be received with value on the DTC settlement date, but will be available in the 
relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash account only as of the first day Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, 
is open for business following settlement in DTC. 

The Issuer expects that DTC will take any action permitted to be taken by a Holder (including the presentation of 

Bonds for exchange as described below) only at the direction of one or more participants to whose account the Book-
Entry Interests in a Global Bond are credited and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount 

of Bonds as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction.  

7.2 DTC 

DTC advises that it is a limited purpose trust company organized under The New York Banking Law, a “banking 
organization” within the meaning of The New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a 

“clearing corporation” within the meaning of The New York Uniform Commercial Code and a “clearing agency” 
registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC holds securities for its participants 

and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between participants through electronic book-
entry changes in accounts of its participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities 
certificates. Direct participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations 

and certain other organizations. Indirect access to the DTC system is available to others such as banks, brokers, 
dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly 

or indirectly, or indirect participants. 

7.3 Euroclear 

Euroclear holds securities and book-entry interests in securities for participating organizations and facilitates the 
clearance and settlement of securities transactions between Euroclear participants, and between Euroclear 

participants and participants of certain other securities intermediaries through electronic book-entry changes in 
accounts of such participants or other securities intermediaries. Euroclear provides Euroclear participants, among 
other things, with safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement, securities lending and borrowing, and 

related services. Euroclear participants are investment banks, securities brokers and dealers, banks, central banks, 
supra-nationals, custodians, investment managers, corporations, trust companies and certain other organizations. 

Certain of the Initial Purchasers, or other financial entities involved in this offering, may be Euroclear participants. 
Non-participants in the Euroclear system may hold and transfer book-entry interests in the Bonds through accounts 
with a participant in the Euroclear system or any other securities intermediary that holds a book-entry interest in the 

securities through one or more securities intermediaries standing between such other securities intermediary and 
Euroclear. 

Investors electing to acquire Bonds in the Offering through an account with Euroclear or some other securities 

intermediary must follow the settlement procedures of such intermediary with respect to the settlement of new issues 
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of securities. Bonds to be acquired against payment through an account with Euroclear will be credited to the 

securities clearance accounts of the respective Euroclear participants in the securities processing cycle for the first 
day Euroclear is open for business following the settlement date for value as of the settlement date. 

Investors electing to acquire, hold or transfer Bonds through an account with Euroclear or some other securities 

intermediary must follow the settlement procedures of such intermediary with respect to the settlement of secondary 
market transactions in securities. Euroclear will not monitor or enforce any transfer restrictions with respect to the 
Bonds. Investors that acquire, hold and transfer interests in the Bonds by book-entry through accounts with Euroclear 

or any other securities intermediary are subject to the laws and contractual provisions governing their relationship 
with their intermediary, as well as the laws and contractual provisions governing the relationship between such 

intermediary and each other intermediary, if any, standing between themselves and the individual Bonds. 

7.4 Clearstream 

Clearstream advises that it is incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg and registered as a bank and professional 
depositary. Clearstream holds securities for its participating organizations and facilitates the clearance and settlement 

of securities transactions among its participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its participants, 
thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Clearstream provides to its participants, among 

other things, services for safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities 
and securities lending and borrowing. Clearstream interfaces with domestic markets in several countries. Clearstream 
has established an electronic bridge with the Euroclear operator to facilitate the settlement of trades between 

Clearstream and Euroclear. As a registered bank in Luxembourg, Clearstream is subject to regulation by the 
Luxembourg Commission for the Supervision of the Financial Sector. As a professional depositary, Clearstream is 

subject to regulation by the Luxembourg Monetary Institute. Clearstream participants are recognized financial 
institutions around the world, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and 
clearing corporations. In the United States, Clearstream participants are limited to securities brokers and dealers and 

banks, and may include the Initial Purchasers, or other financial entities involved in this offering. Other institutions 
that maintain a custodial relationship with a Clearstream participant may obtain indirect access to Clearstream. 

Clearstream is an indirect participant in DTC. Distributions with respect to Bonds held beneficially through 
Clearstream will be credited to cash accounts of Clearstream participants in accordance with its rules and procedures 
to the extent received by or on behalf of Clearstream. 

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream are expected to follow the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate 
transfers of interests in Global Bonds among participants and account holders of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, 
they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be 

discontinued at any time. Neither the Issuer nor the Fiscal Agent will have any responsibility for the performance by 
DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream or their respective participants or indirect participants of their respective obligations 

under the rules and procedures governing their respective operations. 

7.5 Summary of Provisions Relating to Certificated Bonds 

If DTC is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as a depositary for the Global Bonds and a successor depositary 
is not appointed by the Issuer within 90 days, and a holder so requests, the Issuer will issue certificated Bonds of the 

same series in exchange for the related Global Bonds. Certificated Bonds delivered in exchange for Book-Entry 
Interests will be registered in the names, and issued in denominations of U.S.$ 200,000 and integral multiples in 
excess thereof, requested by or on behalf of DTC or the successor depositary (in accordance with its customary 

procedures).  

Except in the limited circumstances described above, owners of Book-Entry Interests will not be entitled to receive 
physical delivery of individual definitive certificates. The Bonds are not issuable in bearer form. 

Transfers of interests in certificated Bonds may be made only in accordance with the legend contained on the face 

of such certificated Bonds, and the Fiscal Agent will not be required to accept for registration of transfer any such 
Bonds except upon presentation of evidence satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent and the applicable Transfer Agent that 

such transfer is being made in compliance with such legend. 
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Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of certificated Bonds bearing the legend described above, or upon a 

specific request for removal of the legend from such certificated note, the Fiscal Agent will deliver only certificated 
Bonds bearing such legend or will refuse to remove such legend, as the case may be, unless there is delivered to the 

Issuer such satisfactory evidence, which may include an opinion of legal counsel of recognized standing, as may be 
reasonably required by the Issuer that neither the legend nor the restrictions on transfer set forth therein are required 
to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act. 

Payment of principal and interest in respect of the certificated Bonds shall be payable at the agency of the Issuer in 

London, which shall initially be at the corporate trust office of the Fiscal Agent, which is located at Citigroup Centre, 
Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB, United Kingdom. 
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8 CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

The following is a summary of certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and 
disposition of the Bonds by a U.S. Holder (as defined below). This summary deals only with initial purchasers of the 

Bonds at the “issue price” (the first price at which a substantial amount of the Bonds are sold for money, excluding 
sales to underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers) in the initial offering that are U.S. Holders and that will hold 
the Bonds as capital assets. The discussion does not cover all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be 

relevant to, or the actual tax effect that any of the matters described herein will have on, the acquisition, ownership 
or disposition of the Bonds by particular investors (including consequences under the alternative minimum tax or net 

investment income tax), and does not address state, local, non-U.S. or other tax laws (such as estate or gift tax laws). 
This summary also does not discuss all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to certain types of investors 
subject to special treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws (such as financial institutions, insurance companies, 

individual retirement accounts and other tax-deferred accounts, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or 
currencies, investors that will hold the Bonds as part of straddles, hedging transactions or conversion transactions for 

U.S. federal income tax purposes, persons that have ceased to be U.S. citizens or lawful permanent residents of the 
United States, investors holding the Bonds in connection with a trade or business conducted outside of the United 

States, U.S. citizens or lawful permanent residents living abroad or investors whose functional currency is not the 
U.S. dollar).  

As used herein, the term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of the Bonds that is, for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes, (i) an individual citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation created or organized under the 

laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject 
to U.S. federal income tax without regard to its source or (iv) a trust if a court within the United States is able to 

exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to 
control all substantial decisions of the trust, or the trust has validly elected to be treated as a domestic trust for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes. 

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes that holds the Bonds will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. 
Prospective purchasers that are entities or arrangements treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes 

should consult their tax advisers concerning the U.S. federal income tax consequences to them and their partners of 
the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Bonds by the partnership. 

This summary is based on the tax laws of the United States, including the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 

(the “Code”), its legislative history, existing and proposed regulations thereunder, published rulings and court 
decisions, all as of the date hereof and all subject to change at any time, possibly with retroactive effect. 

THE SUMMARY OF U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES SET OUT BELOW IS FOR 

GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. ALL PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR 
TAX ADVISERS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF ACQUIRING, 
OWNING, AND DISPOSING OF THE BONDS, INCLUDING THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF 

STATE, LOCAL, NON-U.S. AND OTHER TAX LAWS AND POSSIBLE CHANGES IN TAX LAW.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Characterization of the Bonds 

The determination of whether an obligation represents debt or equity is based on all the relevant facts and 
circumstances. There is no direct legal authority as to the proper U.S. federal income tax treatment of an instrument 

that is denominated as a debt instrument and has significant debt features, but has a maturity date that may be deferred 
indefinitely without triggering a default (e.g., as a result of a Solvency Capital Event), such as the Bonds. As a 

consequence, it is unclear whether the Bonds should be properly characterized as debt or equity for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes. To the extent the Issuer is required to take a position, it intends to take the position that the 
Bonds are properly characterized as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and accordingly, the Bonds may be 

reported to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) in that manner. However, the Issuer’s position is not 
binding on the IRS or the courts and there can be no assurance that this characterization will be accepted by the IRS 

or a court. If the Bonds are properly characterized as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then the U.S. 
federal income tax consequences of acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Bonds by a U.S. Holder would be 
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materially different and potentially materially more adverse than as described below. Each prospective investor 

should consult its own tax adviser about the proper characterization of the Bonds for U.S. federal income tax purposes, 
and the consequences of acquiring, owning or disposing of the Bonds if the Bonds are characterized as equity in the 

Issuer, including the consequences of the Issuer being treated as a passive foreign investment company for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes. 

Assuming the Bonds are treated as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes, although the matter is not free from 
doubt, the Issuer intends to treat the Bonds as “variable rate debt instruments” for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

The Issuer intends to take the position that for purposes of determining whether and to what extent the Bonds will 
have original issue discount, the Bonds provide for stated interest at a single fixed income rate from (and including) 

the Issue Date to (but excluding) the first Reset Date, followed by qualified floating rates from (and including) each 
Reset Date to (but excluding) the next following Reset Date for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If the Bonds do 

not qualify as “variable rate debt instruments” as described above, then the Bonds may be treated as “contingent 
payment debt instruments” for U.S. federal income tax purposes, in which case U.S. Holders would be required to 
recognize income for U.S. federal income tax purposes at different times and in different amounts than as described 

below, to treat any income realized on the sale, exchange, redemption or other disposition of a Note as ordinary 
income rather than capital gain, and potentially to suffer additional adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences. 

Each prospective investor should consult its own tax advisor regarding the possible treatment of the Bonds as 
contingent payment debt instruments.  

Further, assuming the Bonds are treated as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Issuer intends to take the 
position that the stated interest on the Bonds is properly treated as qualified stated interest. In general, an interest 

payment on a debt security is "qualified stated interest" if it is one of a series of stated interest payments on a debt 
security that are unconditionally payable at least annually at a single fixed rate or certain floating rates. Interest is 

considered "unconditionally payable" if reasonable legal remedies exist to compel timely payment or terms and 
conditions of the debt instrument make the likelihood of late payment (other than late payment that occurs within a 

reasonable grace period) or non-payment (ignoring the possibility of non-payment due to default, insolvency or 
similar circumstances) a remote contingency. While interest payments on the Bonds may be deferred at the option of 
the Issuer or as a result of a Mandatory Deferral Event, the Issuer intends to take the position (to the extent it is 

required to take a position) that the possibility of such deferral is remote because of the terms of the Bonds and 
therefore should not cause the stated interest on the Bonds to not be qualified stated interest, but if there is actual 

deferral or if the Issuer’s position regarding the possibility of deferral is incorrect, then the Bonds may be treated as 
having been issued with OID. Potential investors should consult their own tax advisers as to the U.S. federal income 
tax consequences to them if the stated interest on the Bonds is not qualified stated interest. 

The remainder of this discussion assumes that the Bonds are properly characterized as debt, and as variable rate debt 
instruments, and that the interest on the Bonds is properly treated as qualified stated interest for U.S. federal income 
tax purposes.  

Payments of Interest 

Interest on a Bond (including any taxes withheld and any additional amounts paid with respect thereto) will be taxable 

to a U.S. Holder as ordinary income at the time it is received or accrued, depending on such holder’s method of 
accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Interest paid by the Issuer on the Bonds constitutes income from 

sources outside the United States. Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisers concerning the 
applicability of the foreign tax credit and source of income rules to income attributable to the Bonds. 

Substitution of Issuer 

The terms of the Bonds provide that, in certain circumstances, the obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds may be 

assumed by another entity without the consent of the Bondholders. Any such assumption might be treated for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes as a deemed disposition of Bonds by a U.S. Holder in exchange for new bonds issued 

by the new obligor. As a result of this deemed disposition, a U.S. Holder could be required to recognize capital gain 
or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes equal to the difference, if any, between the issue price of the new bonds 
(as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes), and the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in the Bonds. U.S. Holders 
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should consult their tax advisers concerning the U.S. federal income tax consequences to them of a change in obligor 

with respect to the Bonds. 

Sale, Retirement or Other Disposition of the Bonds 

A U.S. Holder generally will recognize gain or loss on the sale, retirement or other disposition (including upon 
redemption) of a Bond equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, retirement or other disposition 

and the U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis of the Bond, in each case as determined in U.S. dollars. A U.S. Holder’s 
adjusted tax basis in a Bond generally will be its U.S. dollar cost included in the U.S. Holder’s income with respect 

to the Bond. The amount realized does not include the amount attributable to accrued but unpaid interest, which will 
be taxable as interest income to the extent not previously included in the U.S. Holder’s income.  

Gain or loss recognized by a U.S. Holder on the sale, retirement or other disposition of a Bond will be capital gain 
or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if the Bond was held by the U.S. Holder for more than one year. 

Gain or loss realized by a U.S. Holder on the sale or retirement of a Bond generally will be U.S. source.  

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting 

Payments of principal, interest on, and the proceeds of sale, retirement or other disposition of the Bonds, by a U.S. 
paying agent or other U.S. intermediary will be reported to the IRS and to the U.S. Holder as may be required under 

applicable regulations. Backup withholding may apply to these payments if the U.S. Holder fails to provide an 
accurate taxpayer identification number or certification of exempt status or fails to comply with applicable 

certification requirements. Certain U.S. Holders are not subject to backup withholding. U.S. Holders should consult 
their tax advisers about these rules and any other reporting obligations that may apply to the ownership or disposition 
of the Bonds, including requirements related to the holding of certain foreign financial assets.  

FATCA Withholding 

Pursuant to certain provisions of the Code, commonly known as FATCA, a “foreign financial institution” may be 
required to withhold on certain payments it makes (“foreign passthru payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain 
certification, reporting, or related requirements. The Issuer is a foreign financial institution for these purposes. A 

number of jurisdictions (including Germany) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental 
agreements with the United States to implement FATCA (“IGAs”), which modify the way in which FATCA applies 

in their jurisdictions. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as 
the Bonds, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to 

payments on instruments such as the Bonds, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if withholding would 
be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Bonds, proposed 
regulations have been issued that provide that such withholding would not apply prior to the date that is two years 

after the date on which final regulations defining “foreign passthru payments” are published in the U.S. Federal 
Register. In the preamble to the proposed regulations, the U.S. Treasury Department indicated that taxpayers may 

rely on these proposed regulations until the issuance of final regulations. Additionally, Bonds that are not treated as 
equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that have a fixed term that are issued on or prior to the date that is 
six months after the date on which final regulations defining “foreign passthru payments” are filed with the U.S. 

Federal Register generally would be “grandfathered” for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified 
after such date. Holders should consult their own tax advisers regarding how these rules may apply to their investment 

in the Bonds. In the event any withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments 
on the Bonds, none of the Issuer or any other person will be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the 
withholding. 
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9 ERISA CONSIDERATIONS 

The following is a summary of certain considerations associated with the purchase of the Bonds by pension, profit-

sharing or other employee benefit plans that are subject to Title I of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), individual retirement accounts (“IRAs” and each, an “IRA”) and other 
arrangements that are subject to Section 4975 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) 

or provisions under any other federal, state, local, non-U.S. or other laws or regulations that are similar to such 
provisions of ERISA or the Code (collectively, “Similar Laws”), and entities whose underlying assets are considered 

to include “plan assets” of any such plan, account or arrangement (each, a “Plan”). 

General fiduciary matters 

ERISA and the Code impose certain duties on persons who are fiduciaries of a Plan subject to Title I of ERISA or 
Section 4975 of the Code (an “ERISA Plan”) and prohibit certain transactions involving the assets of an ERISA 

Plan and its fiduciaries or other interested parties. Under ERISA and the Code, any person who exercises any 
discretionary authority or control over the administration of such an ERISA Plan or the management or disposition 
of the assets of such an ERISA Plan, or who renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation to such an 

ERISA Plan, is generally considered to be a fiduciary of the ERISA Plan. 

In considering an investment in the Bonds of a portion of the assets of any Plan, a fiduciary should determine whether 
the investment is in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the Plan and the applicable provisions 

of ERISA, the Code or any Similar Law relating to a fiduciary’s duties to the Plan including, without limitation, the 
prudence, diversification, delegation of control and prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA, the Code and any 

other applicable Similar Laws. 

Prohibited transaction issues 

Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit ERISA Plans from engaging in specified transactions 
involving plan assets persons or entities who are “parties in interest,” within the meaning of ERISA, or “disqualified 

persons,” within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code (referred to as “Parties in Interest” or “Disqualified 
Persons”) having certain relationships to such Plans, unless a statutory or administrative exemption applies to the 
transaction. A party in interest or disqualified person who engages in a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be 

subject to excise taxes or other penalties and liabilities under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code. In addition, the 
fiduciary of the ERISA Plan that engaged in such a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to penalties 

and liabilities under ERISA and the Code. The acquisition and/or holding of Bonds by an ERISA Plan with respect 
to which the Issuer or the initial purchasers are considered a party in interest or a disqualified person may constitute 
or result in a direct or indirect prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA and/or Section 4975 of the Code, 

unless the investment is acquired and is held in accordance with an applicable statutory, class or individual prohibited 
transaction exemption.  

In this regard, the U.S. Department of Labor has issued prohibited transaction class exemptions, or “PTCEs,” that 

may provide exemptive relief for direct or indirect prohibited transactions resulting from the sale, purchase or holding 
of the Bonds. These class exemptions include, without limitation, PTCE 84-14 respecting transactions determined 

by independent qualified professional asset managers, PTCE 90-1 respecting insurance company pooled separate 
accounts, PTCE 91-38 respecting bank collective investment funds, PTCE 95-60 respecting life insurance company 
general accounts, and PTCE 96-23 respecting transactions determined by in-house asset managers. In addition, 

Section 408(b)(17) of ERISA and Section 4975(d)(20) of the Code provide relief from the prohibited transaction 
provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code for certain transactions, provided that neither the issuer of the 

notes nor any of its affiliates (directly or indirectly) has or exercises any discretionary authority or control or renders 
any investment advice with respect to the assets of any ERISA Plan involved in the transaction and provided further 
that the ERISA Plan receives no less, nor pays no more than, adequate consideration in connection with the 

transaction. There can be no assurance that all of the conditions of any such exemptions will be satisfied. 

Because of the foregoing, each original or subsequent purchaser or transferee of a Bond that is or may become a Plan 
is responsible for determining that its purchase, holding and disposition of such Bond will not constitute or result in 

a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code. 
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Representation 

Each purchaser or transferee of a Bond or any interest therein will be deemed to have represented and agreed that 

either:  

(a) it is not and for so long as it holds the Bonds will not be a Plan, it is not purchasing the Bonds on behalf 
of any Plan and that no portion of the assets used by such purchaser or transferee to acquire or hold the 

Bonds constitutes assets of any Plan; or 

(b) it is a Plan and its purchase, holding and disposition of a Bond (or any interest therein) will not constitute 
or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the 

Code or a violation of any applicable Similar Laws.  

Any purported transfer of a Bond or any interest therein to a purchaser or transferee that does not comply with the 
above requirements will be of no force and effect and shall be null and void ab initio. 

This Offering Memorandum is not directed to any particular prospective investor, nor does it address the needs of 

any particular prospective investor. None of the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent 
and Calculation Agent nor any of their respective affiliates has undertaken to provide any investment advice, or to 
give advice in a fiduciary capacity, and none of these parties has or shall provide any advice or recommendation with 

respect to the management of any interest in a Bond or the advisability of acquiring, holding, disposing or exchanging 
of any such interest. Due to the complexity of these rules and the penalties that may be imposed upon persons 

involved in non-exempt prohibited transactions, it is particularly important that fiduciaries, or other persons 
considering purchasing or holding the Bonds with the assets of any Plan, consult with their counsel regarding the 
potential applicability of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code and any Similar Laws to such investment and whether 

an exemption would be applicable to the purchase and holding of the Bonds. Any Plan that purchases or acquires a 
Bond shall, by its purchase and holding of the Bond (or any interest therein), be deemed to represent that the fiduciary 

making the decision to invest in the Bond (or any interest therein) is an independent fiduciary with financial expertise 
and the authority to purchase such Bond (or interest therein) and has received and understands the disclosure 

contained in the offering circular and related materials. 

Purchasers of the Bonds have the exclusive responsibility for ensuring that their purchase and holding of the Bonds 
comply with the fiduciary responsibility rules of ERISA and do not violate the prohibited transaction rules of ERISA, 
the Code or applicable Similar Laws. 

THE PRECEDING DISCUSSION IS ONLY A SUMMARY OF CERTAIN ERISA AND OTHER U.S. 
IMPLICATIONS OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES AND DOES NOT PURPORT TO BE 
COMPLETE. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR OWN LEGAL, TAX, 

FINANCIAL AND OTHER ADVISORS PRIOR TO INVESTING TO REVIEW THESE IMPLICATIONS 
IN LIGHT OF SUCH INVESTOR’S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.
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10 PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Goldman Sachs 

& Co. LLC, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC are the initial purchasers named in the 
table below (the “Initial Purchasers”). Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in a purchase agreement among 
the Issuer and the Initial Purchasers (the “Purchase Agreement”), the Issuer has agreed to sell to the Initial 

Purchasers, and each of the Initial Purchasers has agreed, severally and not jointly, to purchase from the Issuer, the 
principal amount of Bonds set forth opposite its name below. 

Initial Purchasers Principal Amount of Bonds

Citigroup Global Markets Inc.  ...................................................  U.S.$ 500,000,000

Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC  .........................................  U.S.$ 150,000,000

Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. ....................................................  U.S.$ 150,000,000

Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC  ......................................................  U.S.$ 150,000,000

HSBC Securities (USA) Inc.  .....................................................  U.S.$ 150,000,000

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC  ......................................................  U.S.$ 150,000,000

Total .......................................................................................... U.S.$ 1,250,000,000

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement, the Initial Purchasers have agreed, severally 
and not jointly, to purchase all of the Bonds sold under the Purchase Agreement. The Initial Purchasers are obligated 

to take and pay for all of the Bonds offered hereby if any are taken. If an Initial Purchaser defaults, the Purchase 
Agreement provides that the purchase commitments of the non-defaulting Initial Purchasers may be increased or, in 

certain cases, the Purchase Agreement may be terminated. 

The Purchase Agreement provides that the Issuer will indemnify the several Initial Purchasers against certain 
liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribute to payments which the Initial Purchasers 
may be required to make in respect of those liabilities. 

The Initial Purchasers are offering each series of the Bonds, subject to prior sale, when, as and if issued to and 
accepted by them, subject to approval of legal matters by their counsel, including the validity of the Bonds, and other 
conditions contained in the Purchase Agreement, such as the receipt by the Initial Purchasers of officer’s certificates 

and legal opinions. The Initial Purchasers reserve the right to withdraw, cancel or modify offers and to reject orders 
in whole or in part. Each Initial Purchaser has agreed to resell the Bonds to purchasers only in accordance with the 

restrictions described herein under “Selling Restrictions” and “Notice to Investors”. 

10.1 Settlement 

The Initial Purchasers expect that delivery of the Bonds will be made against payment therefor on or about the issue 
date, which is expected to be the third Business Day (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds”) following 

the date of pricing of the Bonds (such settlement being referred to as “T+3”). Under Rule 15c6-1 under the Exchange 
Act, trades in the secondary market are required to settle in two business days, unless the parties to any such trade 
expressly agree otherwise. Accordingly, purchasers who wish to trade Bonds prior to the delivery of the Bonds 

hereunder will be required, by virtue of the fact that the Bonds initially settle in T+3, to specify an alternate settlement 
arrangement at the time of any such trade to prevent a failed settlement. Purchasers of the Bonds who wish to trade 

the Bonds prior to their date of delivery hereunder should consult their advisors. 

10.2 Commissions and Discounts 

The Initial Purchasers have advised the Issuer that the Initial Purchasers propose initially to offer the Bonds at the 
prices set forth on the cover page of this Offering Memorandum. After the initial offering, the offering price or any 

other term of the Offering may from time to time be varied by the Initial Purchasers. 
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10.3 Bonds Are Not Being Registered 

The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act or any state securities laws. The Initial Purchasers 

propose to offer the Bonds for resale in transactions not requiring registration under the Securities Act or applicable 
state securities laws, including sales pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act. The Initial 

Purchasers will not offer or sell the Bonds except to persons they reasonably believe to be QIBs, as defined in, and 
in reliance on, Rule 144A, or pursuant to offers and sales that occur outside of the United States within the meaning 
of, and in reliance on, Regulation S. In addition, until 40 days following the commencement of this offering, an offer 

or sale of Bonds within the United States by a dealer (whether or not participating in the Offering) may violate the 
registration requirements of the Securities Act unless the dealer makes the offer or sale in compliance with Rule 

144A or another exemption from registration under the Securities Act. Each purchaser of the Bonds will be deemed 
to have made acknowledgments, representations and agreements as described under “Transfer Restrictions”. 

10.4 No Sales of Similar Securities 

The Issuer has agreed that it will not, until the Business Day (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Bonds”) 

following the closing date of this offering, without first obtaining the prior written consent of the Initial Purchasers, 
directly or indirectly, issue, sell, offer to contract or grant any option to sell, pledge, transfer or otherwise dispose of, 

any debt securities denominated in U.S. dollars or securities exchangeable for or convertible into debt securities 
denominated in U.S. dollars of the Issuer, except for commercial paper or other short-term debt instruments of the 
Issuer or as contemplated by the Purchase Agreement. 

10.5 Price Stabilization, Short Positions 

In connection with the Offering, the Initial Purchasers may purchase and sell the Bonds in the open market. These 

transactions may include short sales, purchases on the open market to cover positions created by short sales and 
stabilizing transactions. Short sales involve the sale by the Initial Purchasers of a greater principal amount of Bonds 

than they are required to purchase in the Offering. The Initial Purchasers must close out short positions by purchasing 
Bonds in the open market. A short position is more likely to be created if the Initial Purchasers are concerned that 

there may be downward pressure on the price of the Bonds in the open market after pricing that could adversely 
affect investors who purchase in the Offering. 

Similar to other purchase transactions, the Initial Purchasers’ purchases to cover the syndicate short sales may have 
the effect of raising or maintaining the market price of the Bonds or preventing or retarding a decline in the market 

price of the Bonds. As a result, the price of the Bonds may be higher than the price that might otherwise exist in the 
open market. 

Neither the Issuer nor any of the Initial Purchasers make any representation or prediction as to the direction or 

magnitude of any effect that the transactions described above may have on the price of the Bonds. In addition, neither 
the Issuer nor any of the Initial Purchasers make any representation that any Initial Purchaser will engage in these 

transactions or that these transactions, once commenced, will not be discontinued without notice. 

The Initial Purchasers also may impose a penalty bid. This occurs when a particular Initial Purchaser repays to the 
Initial Purchasers a portion of the underwriting discount received by it because another Initial Purchaser has 
repurchased Bonds sold by or for the account of such Initial Purchaser in stabilizing or short covering transactions. 

10.6 No Established Trading Market; Market Making 

The Bonds are a new issue of securities with no established trading market. Although application has been made to 
have the Bonds listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and traded on the Euro MTF market, 
no assurances can be given that an active trading market will develop. The Initial Purchasers have advised the Issuer 

that certain of the Initial Purchasers presently intend to make a market in the Bonds as permitted by applicable laws 
and regulations. Such Initial Purchasers are not obligated, however, to make a market in the Bonds and any such 

market making may be discontinued at any time at the discretion of such Initial Purchasers. Accordingly, no 
assurance can be given as to the liquidity of, or trading market for, the Bonds. 
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10.7 Other Relationships 

The Initial Purchasers and their respective affiliates are full-service financial institutions engaged in various activities, 

which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment 
management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, financing, cash management and brokerage 

activities. From time to time in the ordinary course of their respective businesses, one or more of the Initial Purchasers 
and/or their affiliates have performed and will continue to perform investment banking, commercial banking, hedging, 
cash management and advisory services for the Issuer and/or its respective affiliates from time to time, including 

acting as underwriters or book-runners in the Issuer’s past offerings, for which they have received or may receive 
customary fees and expenses. 

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Initial Purchasers and/or their affiliates may make 

or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) 
and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such 

investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or its affiliates. The 
Initial Purchasers and/or their affiliates may receive allocations of Bonds which could affect future trading of the 
Bonds. If any of the Initial Purchasers or their affiliates have a lending relationship with the Group, certain of those 

Initial Purchasers or their affiliates routinely hedge, and certain other of those Initial Purchasers have hedged, or may 
in the future hedge, their credit exposure to the Group consistent with their customary risk management policies. A 

typical such hedging strategy would include these Initial Purchasers or their affiliates hedging such exposure by 
entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions 
in the Group’s securities, including potentially any series of Bonds offered hereby. Any such credit default swaps or 

short positions could adversely affect future trading prices of any series of Bonds offered hereby. 

The Initial Purchasers and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express 
independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to 

clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. 

10.8 Selling Restrictions 

United States 

The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within 
the United States except in certain transactions exempt pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject 

to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Accordingly, the Bonds are being offered and sold only (1) to 
QIBs in accordance with Rule 144A and (2) outside the United States, as defined in, and in reliance on, Regulation 

S under the Securities Act. 

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed with the Issuer that (1) it has not offered or sold, and will not offer 
or sell, any Securities except (A) to those it reasonably believes to be QIBs (as defined in, and in reliance on, Rule 

144A under the Securities Act) or (B) in offshore transactions in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S; (2) no 
general solicitation or general advertising (within the meaning of Rule 502 under the Securities Act) will be used in 
the United States in connection with the offering of the Bonds; and (3) neither it nor any of its affiliates nor any 

person acting on its or their behalf has engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts (within the meaning of 
Regulation S) with respect to the Bonds. 

Terms used in the preceding two paragraphs have the meanings ascribed to them by Regulation S under the Securities 

Act. 

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of the Bonds, an offer or sale of Bonds within the 
United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering of the Bonds) may violate the registration 

requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A under 
the Securities Act. 



-129- 

European Economic Area 

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors 

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will 

not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Bonds to any retail investor in the EEA. For the purposes of this 
provision, the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following: 

(a) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or

(b) a customer within the meaning of the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not 

qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. 

United Kingdom 

Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors 

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will 

not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Bonds to any retail investor in the UK. For the purposes of this 
provision, the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following: 

(a) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of 
domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or

(b) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under 
the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as 
a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms 

part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. 

In addition, each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that: 

(i) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of 

Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Bonds in circumstances 
in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and

(ii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything 

done by it in relation to the Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the UK. 

Hong Kong 

The Bonds have not been offered or sold and will not be offered or sold in Hong Kong by means of any document 
other than (i) to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong 

(the “SFO”) and any rules made thereunder, or (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being 
a “prospectus” as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of 
Hong Kong (the “C(WUMP)O”) or which do not constitute an offer to the public as defined in the C(WUMP)O; 

and no advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Bonds has been or may be issued or has been or may be 
in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, which is directed at, 

or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so 
under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Bonds which are or are intended to be disposed 
of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to “professional investors” as defined in the SFO and any rules made 

thereunder. 

Japan 

The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan 
(Law No. 25 of 1948, as amended) (“FIEL”) on the ground that the solicitation for subscription of the Bonds falls 

within the definition of “solicitation to qualified institutional investors” as defined in Article 2, paragraph 3, item 2 
(I) of the FIEL. Such solicitation shall be subject to the condition that qualified institutional investors (as defined 
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under the FIEL, “QIIs”) who desire to acquire the Bonds shall be made aware that they shall not transfer the bonds 

to anyone other than other QIIs. Accordingly, the Bonds have not been offered or sold and will not be offered or sold, 
directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, for the benefit of or for the account of any resident of Japan (which term as used 

herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organized under the laws of 
Japan), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, for the benefit of or for the account 
of any resident of Japan, except the private placement above pursuant to an exemption from the registration 

requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, FIEL, and in compliance with the other relevant laws, regulations 
and ministerial guidelines of Japan. 

Singapore 

This Offering Memorandum has not been and will not be registered as a prospectus under the Securities and Futures 

Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the “SFA”) by the Monetary Authority of Singapore, and the offer of the Bonds in 
Singapore is made primarily pursuant to the exemptions under Section 274 and 275 of the SFA. Accordingly, this 

Offering Memorandum or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for 
subscription or purchase, of the Bonds may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the Bonds be offered or sold, or 
caused to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to any 

person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (an “Institutional Investor”) as defined in Section 4A 
of the SFA pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to an accredited investor as defined in Section 4A of the SFA (an 

“Accredited Investor”) or other relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) 
of the SFA (a “Relevant Person”), or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, in accordance with the 
conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA and (where applicable) Regulation 3 of the Securities and Futures 

(Classes of Investors) Regulations 2018 or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any 
other applicable provision of the SFA. 

Where the Bonds are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a Relevant Person which is: 

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor as defined in Section 4A of the SFA (an “Accredited 

Investor”)), the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is 
owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an Accredited Investor; or

(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an Accredited Investor), whose sole purpose is to hold investments and 

each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an Accredited Investor, 

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that 
corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within 

six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Bonds pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of 
the SFA except: 

(i) to an Institutional Investor, an Accredited Investor, a Relevant Person, or to any person arising from an 

offer referred to in Section 275(1A) of the SFA (in the case of a corporation) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of 
the SFA (in the case of a trust);

(ii) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;

(iii) where the transfer is by operation of law;

(iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or

(v) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments)(Securities and 

Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018 of Singapore). 

Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification—Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to 
sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the SFA, the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all persons that the 

Securities are “prescribed capital markets products” (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets 
Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and “Excluded Investment Products” (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-
N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on 

Investment Products). 
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Switzerland 

This Offering Memorandum is not intended to constitute an offer or solicitation to purchase or invest in the Bonds 

in Switzerland. The Bonds may not be publicly offered, directly or indirectly, in Switzerland within the meaning of 
the Swiss Financial Services Act (the “FinSA”) and no application has or will be made to admit the Bonds to trading 

on any trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland. Neither this Offering Memorandum 
nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Bonds constitutes a prospectus pursuant to the FinSA, 
and neither this Offering Memorandum nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Bonds may be 

publicly distributed or otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland.  

Canada

The Bonds may be sold only to purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are accredited 
investors, as defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities 

Act (Ontario), and are permitted clients, as defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, 
Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of the Bonds must be made in accordance with an 

exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws. 

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for 
rescission or damages if this Offering Memorandum (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, 

provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed 
by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable 
provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory for particulars of these rights or consult 

with a legal advisor. 

Pursuant to section 3A.3 of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts (“NI 33-105”), the Initial Purchasers 
are not required to comply with the disclosure requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter conflicts of interest 

in connection with this offering. 

General

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that it will comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each 
jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Bonds or has in its possession or distributes any offering 

material relating to them. 

Neither the Issuer nor the Initial Purchasers represents that the Bonds may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance 
with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available 

thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale. 
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11 TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS  

Because of the following restrictions, purchasers are advised to consult legal counsel prior to making any offer, 
resale, pledge or other transfer of the Bonds offered hereby. 

The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction and, 

unless so registered, may not be offered or sold except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject 
to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and any other applicable securities laws. Accordingly, the 
Bonds offered hereby are being offered and sold only (A) to QIBs in accordance with Rule 144A and (B) in offshore 

transactions, as defined in, and in reliance on, Regulation S under the Securities Act. 

Each purchaser of Bonds in a transaction relying upon the exemption provided by Rule 144A will be deemed to have 
acknowledged, represented to and agreed with the Issuer and the Initial Purchasers as follows: 

(a) It understands and acknowledges that the Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act or any 

other applicable securities laws, are being offered for sale in transactions not requiring registration under 
the Securities Act or any other securities laws, including sales pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities 

Act, and may not be offered, sold or otherwise transferred except in compliance with registration 
requirements of the Securities Act and any other applicable securities laws, pursuant to an exemption 

therefrom or in any transaction not subject thereto and, in each case, in compliance with the conditions 
for transfer set forth in paragraphs (d) and (e) below. 

(b) It is not an “affiliate” (as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act) of the Issuer or a person acting 
on behalf of the Issuer or any such affiliate. It is a QIB and is aware that any sale of Bonds to it will be 

made in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act, and the purchase of the Bonds will be for its 
own account or the account of another QIB. 

(c) It understands that the Bonds may not be reoffered, resold, pledged or otherwise transferred except (A) 

(i) to a person who it reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 
144A, (ii) in an offshore transaction in compliance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S, (iii) 

pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act provided by Rule 144 thereunder (if 
available) or (iv) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, and (B) in 
accordance with all applicable securities laws of any other jurisdiction. 

(d) It acknowledges that the Bonds will bear a legend substantially to the following effect: 

“THE BONDS EVIDENCED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. 
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND MAY NOT BE 
OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT (A) TO A PERSON 

WHO THE SELLER REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER 
WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (A “QUALIFIED 

INSTITUTIONAL BUYER”) ACQUIRING THIS SECURITY FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR 
THE ACCOUNT OF ONE OR MORE OTHER QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS IN A 
TRANSACTION MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 144A, (B) IN AN OFFSHORE 

TRANSACTION COMPLYING WITH RULE 903 OR 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT, (C) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE 

SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144 THEREUNDER (IF AVAILABLE) OR (D) 
PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT 
AND, IN EACH CASE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF 

ANY OTHER JURISDICTION. THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY ACQUIRING THIS SECURITY, 
REPRESENTS AND AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE ISSUER THAT IT WILL NOTIFY ANY 

TRANSFEREE OF THIS SECURITY FROM IT OF THE RESALE RESTRICTIONS REFERRED TO 
ABOVE.” 

(e) It agrees that it will give to each person to whom it transfers the Bonds notice of any restrictions on 

transfer of such Bonds. 
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(f) It acknowledges that the Fiscal Agent will not be required to accept for registration of transfer any Bonds 

except upon presentation of evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent that the restrictions 
set forth therein have been complied with. 

(g) It acknowledges that the Issuer and the Initial Purchasers and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy 

of the foregoing acknowledgments, representations, warranties and agreements and agrees that if any of 
the acknowledgments, representations, warranties and agreements deemed to have been made by its 
purchase of the Bonds are no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify the Initial Purchasers. If it is 

acquiring any Bonds as a fiduciary or agent for one or more investor accounts, it represents that it has 
sole investment discretion with respect to each such investor account and that it has full power to make 

the foregoing acknowledgments, representations and agreements on behalf of each such investor 
account. 

Each purchaser of Bonds in a transaction made in reliance on Regulation S will be deemed to have acknowledged, 

represented to and agreed with the Issuer and the Initial Purchasers as follows: 

(a) It understands and acknowledges that the sale of the Bonds to it is being made pursuant to and in 
accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S under the Securities Act and it is, or at the time 

such Bonds are purchased, will be, the beneficial owner of such Bonds and (A) it is not a U.S. person 
(as defined in Regulation S) and is located outside the United States (within the meaning of Regulation 
S), and (B) it is not an affiliate of the Issuer or a person acting on behalf of the Issuer or any such affiliate. 

(b) It understands and acknowledges that the Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the 

Securities Act and, during the distribution compliance period (defined as 40 days after the later of the 
commencement of the offering and issuance of the Bonds), may not be offered, sold, pledged or 

otherwise transferred except (A) (i) in an offshore transaction in compliance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 
of Regulation S, (ii) to a person who it reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the 
requirements of Rule 144A, (iii) pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act 

provided by Rule 144 thereunder (if available) or (iv) pursuant to an effective registration statement 
under the Securities Act, and (B) in accordance with all applicable securities laws of any other 

jurisdiction. 

(c) Each purchaser acknowledges that the Bonds will bear a legend substantially to the following effect: 

“THE BONDS EVIDENCED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. 
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), AND, PRIOR TO THE 

EXPIRATION OF FORTY DAYS FROM THE LATER OF (1) THE DATE ON WHICH THESE 
BONDS WERE FIRST OFFERED AND (2) THE DATE OF ISSUANCE OF THESE BONDS, MAY 

NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR DELIVERED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES (AS DEFINED IN 
REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION 
FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND, IN EACH CASE, IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION. 
THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY ACQUIRING THIS SECURITY, REPRESENTS AND AGREES FOR 

THE BENEFIT OF THE ISSUER THAT IT WILL NOTIFY ANY TRANSFEREE OF THIS 
SECURITY FROM IT OF THE RESALE RESTRICTIONS REFERRED TO ABOVE.” 

(d) It agrees that it will give to each person to whom it transfers the Bonds notice of any restrictions on 
transfer of such Bonds. 

(e) It acknowledges that the Fiscal Agent will not be required to accept for registration of transfer any Bonds 
except upon presentation of evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent that the restrictions 
set forth therein have been complied with. 

(f) It acknowledges that the Issuer, the Initial Purchasers and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy 

of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations, warranties and agreements and agrees that if any 
of the acknowledgements, representations, warranties and agreements deemed to have been made by its 

purchase of the Bonds are no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify the Initial Purchasers. If it is 
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acquiring any Bonds as a fiduciary or agent for one or more investor accounts, it represents that it has 

sole investment discretion with respect to each such investor account and that it has full power to make 
the foregoing acknowledgments, representations and agreements on behalf of each such investor 

account. 
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12 VALIDITY OF SECURITIES 

The validity of the Bonds and certain legal matters in connection with the offering with respect to United States 

federal, New York state and German law will be passed upon on behalf of the Issuer by Linklaters LLP, counsel to 
the Issuer. The validity of the Bonds and certain legal matters in connection with the Offering with respect to United 
States federal, New York state and German law will be passed upon on behalf of the Initial Purchasers by Sullivan 

& Cromwell LLP, counsel to the Initial Purchasers in connection with the Offering. 
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13 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Stuttgart, Munich office, Arnulfstrasse 59, 80636 Munich, 

Germany, (“EY”) is the independent auditor of the Issuer. EY is a member of the Chamber of Public Accountants 
(Wirtschaftsprüferkammer, Körperschaft des öffentlichen Rechts), Berlin, Germany. 

The Issuer’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 
December 31, 2021, of which English language translations are incorporated by reference in this Offering 

Memorandum, have been prepared on the basis of the International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the 
European Union (“IFRS”), and the additional requirements of § 315e (1) of the German Commercial Code 

(Handelsgesetzbuch)(the “HGB”). The German language consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as of and 
for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021 have been audited by EY in accordance 
with § 317 of the German Commercial Code, and German generally accepted standards for financial statements 

audits promulgated by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer in Deutschland 
e.V., IDW) as stated in its German-language unqualified independent auditor's reports (Bestätigungsvermerke des 

unabhängigen Abschlussprüfers) thereon. 
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14 GENERAL INFORMATION 

The following information is required by the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange: 

1. The issuance of the Bonds has been authorized by resolution of the Issuer’s Management Board on May 

11, 2022. 

2. The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through DTC. The Global Bonds have been assigned 
ISIN(s): US62582PAA84 (144A) / USD5558XAA66 (Regulation S), CUSIP No(s).: 62582P AA8 

(144A) / D5558X AA6 (Regulation S) and Common Code(s): 248528320 (144A) / 248528117 
(Regulation S).  

3. The Issuer will appoint Citibank, N.A., London Branch as Fiscal Agent, Paying Agent, Transfer Agent 
and Calculation Agent and Citibank Europe plc as Registrar with respect to the Bonds. A physical copy 

of the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement, dated the date of the issuance of the Bonds, will be available 
for inspection at Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB, United Kingdom. 

In addition, a copy of the current, and any future, published annual and interim report of the Issuer may 
be obtained free of charge at the office of the Issuer.  

4. The independent auditors of the Issuer are Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft.  

5. This Offering Memorandum constitutes a prospectus for purpose of Part IV of the Luxembourg law on 

prospectuses for securities dated July 16, 2019. 

6. Save as disclosed in the Group 1/2022 Quarterly Statement incorporated herein by reference, and the 
sections entitled “Summary—Recent Developments Since March 31, 2022” and “Risk Factors”, there 

has been no material change in the financial position of the Issuer since March 31, 2022. 

7. The Articles of Association of the Issuer are registered in the commercial register at the local court 
(Amtsgericht) in Munich under the entry number HRB 42039. Copies of the Articles of Association of 
the Issuer, this Offering Memorandum and each of the Group Reports (in certain cases, only portions of 

which are incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum, as is specified in the section entitled 
“Incorporation by Reference” above) are available for electronic inspection free of charge during normal 

business hours upon written request to the Fiscal Agent at the offices of the Fiscal Agent. In addition, 
each of the Group Reports are accessible free of charge on the following websites of the Issuer: 

Group 1/2022 Quarterly Statement https://www.munichre.com/content/dam/munichre/mrwebs
iteslaunches/2022-q1/MunichRe-Quarterly-Statement-1-
2022_en.pdf/_jcr_content/renditions/original./MunichRe-
Quarterly-Statement-1-2022_en.pdf 

Group 1/2022 Financial Supplement https://www.munichre.com/en/company/investors/reports-
and-presentations/results-reports.html 

Group Annual Report 2021 https://www.munichre.com/content/dam/munichre/mrwebs
iteslaunches/2021-annual-report/MunichRe-Group-Annual-
Report-2021-
en.pdf/_jcr_content/renditions/original./MunichRe-Group-
Annual-Report-2021-en.pdf 

Group Annual Report 2020 https://www.munichre.com/content/dam/munichre/mrwebs
iteslaunches/2020-annual-report/MunichRe-Group-Annual-
Report-2020-
en.pdf/_jcr_content/renditions/original./MunichRe-Group-
Annual-Report-2020-en.pdf 

Group 2021 SFCR https://www.munichre.com/content/dam/munichre/mrwebs
iteslaunches/2021-sfcr/MunichRe-SFCR-2021-
Group_en.pdf/_jcr_content/renditions/original./MunichRe-
SFCR-2021-Group_en.pdf 
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Exhibit A: 2021-2020 Management Discussion & Analysis of Munich Re Group 

Business performance 

Overall assessment by the Board of 

Management on the business performance and 

situation of the Group 

Despite the difficult market environment, Munich Re achieved a 

consolidated profit of €2.9bn in 2021. Accordingly, we succeeded 

in slightly exceeding our profit forecast of €2.8bn from the 

beginning of the financial year 2021. 

The reporting year was greatly influenced by the ongoing 

pandemic and extreme weather events particularly in America 

and Europe. We were able to significantly increase gross 

premiums written – by 8.5% to €59,567m for the financial year 

2021 (€54,890m for the financial year 2020). In reinsurance, 

pandemic-related losses amounted to €1.0bn for the financial 

year 2021 (€3.4bn for the financial year 2020), of which €785m 

(€370m for the financial year 2020) was attributable  

to life and health reinsurance and €212m (slightly more than 

€3bn for the financial year 2020) to property-casualty 

reinsurance. At ERGO, the adverse earnings impact of COVID-

19 totalled €5m for the financial year 2021 (€64m for the 

financial year 2020). 

Climbing by 17.0% to €28,793m in the financial year 2021, 

property-casualty reinsurance greatly contributed to the 

increase in gross premiums written. Due to high natural 

catastrophe losses, the combined ratio amounted to 99.6% for 

the financial year 2021 (105.6% for the financial year 2020) of 

net earned premiums and was therefore above the target  

value from the beginning of 2021 (96%). The segment 

generated a substantially higher profit: €2,003m for the 

financial year 2021 (€571m for the financial year 2020). Claims 

costs for major losses totalled €4,304m in the financial year 

2021 (€4,689m in the financial year 2020). Man-made major 

losses amounted to €1,165m in the financial year 2021 

(€3,784m in the financial year 2020), and major losses from 

natural catastrophes rose to €3,139m (€906m in the financial 

year 2020). 

In life and health reinsurance, pandemic-related losses,  

at €785m for the financial year 2021 (€370m for the financial 

year 2020), continued to be extremely high. The segment 

contributed €325m (€123m for the financial year 2020) to the 

consolidated profit for the financial year 2021. The technical 

result, including insurance contracts with non-significant risk 

transfer (which are not recognised in the technical result), 

amounted to €218m in the financial year 2021 (€97m in the 

financial year 2020). In response to the high COVID-19-related 

losses, particularly in the USA, India and South Africa, in 

October 2021 we  

had adjusted the 2021 projected profit target for life and health 

reinsurance from roughly €400m to €200m. 

In the ERGO field of business, we enjoyed a year-on-year 

improvement in profit to €605m for the financial year 2021 

(€517m for the financial year 2020). Premium income climbed 

in all three segments, with the Property-casualty Germany 

segment posting very pleasing growth that outperformed the 

market. The ERGO Property-casualty Germany segment 

reported a profit of €234m in the financial year 2021 (€157m in 

the financial year 2020) – buoyed by a high technical result and 

increased investment result, major losses notwithstanding. We 

also posted substantial profit growth in the segment ERGO Life 

and Health Germany. The increase to €164m for the financial 

year 2021 (€130m for the financial year 2020) was primarily 

due to the good technical result – driven by improvements in 

health business and far better claims experience in travel 

insurance than expected – and to an improved currency result, 

which more than offset a lower investment result. The ERGO 

International segment reported a profit of €207m in the financial 

year 2021 (€230m in the financial year 2020), chiefly due to an 

improved technical result. The year-on-year decrease was 

attributable to a positive one-off effect in 2020. 

Munich Re’s investment result (excluding insurance-related 

investments) was €7,156m in the financial year 2021 (€7,398m in 

the financial year 2020). Overall, this represents a return of 2.8% 

for the financial year 2021 (3.0% for the financial year 2020) on 

the average market value of the portfolio.

Comparison of the prospects for 2021 with  

the result achieved 

Munich Re
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Comparison of 2021 prospects for Munich Re with results achieved in 2021 

Target

2021

Adjustment

2021

Result

2021

Gross premiums written €bn 55 58 59.6

Technical result life and health reinsurance1 €m 400 200 218

Combined ratio property-casualty reinsurance % 96 100 99.6

Combined ratio ERGO Property-casualty Germany % 92 92 92.4

Combined ratio ERGO Property-casualty International % 93 93 92.9

Return on investment2 % Over 2.5 Over 2.5 2.8

Consolidated result €bn 2.8 2.8 2.9

Economic earnings €bn Over 2.8 Over 2.8 8.1

1 Including the result from insurance contracts with non-significant risk transfer. 

2 Excluding insurance-related investments. 

Like its predecessor, the year 2021 was marked by the global 

coronavirus pandemic and far-reaching restrictions on private, 

public and economic life. We continue to face enormous social, 

economic and business challenges.  

Protecting the health of our staff, their families and our 

business partners remains our highest priority. We are using 

appropriate models such as flexible working hours and home 

working in order to secure our business operations. 

The adjustments to the targets originally forecast for  

the year 2021 are primarily the result of high losses from 

natural catastrophes and changed loss expectations  

in connection with COVID-19. There was a positive 

development in our business opportunities, which led to 

increased premium income. As a result, we were able to 

increase the target values for gross premiums written in the 

first half of the 2021 financial year. In the third quarter of 2021, 

we had  

to reduce the projected value for the technical result including 

the result from insurance contracts with non-significant risk 

transfer in life and health reinsurance;  

the projection for the combined ratio in property-casualty 

reinsurance was increased. 

At the beginning of 2021, we had projected gross premium 

income of around €55bn for Munich Re for  

the 2021 financial year. After pleasing performance in the first 

six months, especially the considerable gains in property-

casualty reinsurance, we raised our forecast to around €58bn. 

With gross premium income of €59.6bn for the financial year 

2021, we surpassed our target by around €1.6bn. 

At the beginning of the 2021 financial year, we had projected a 

consolidated result of around €2.8bn. Despite the ongoing 

pandemic and extreme weather events particularly in America 

and Europe, we were able to exceed our profit target with a 

figure of €2.9bn for the financial year 2021, thanks to the 

pleasing and continued operational performance of our 

segments, a high investment result, and a positive trend in the 

currency result. 

The 2021 investment result generated an overall return  

of 2.8% in relation to the average market value of our portfolio. 

Accordingly, we easily surpassed our target return on 

investment of more than 2.5%. We were able to more than 

offset lower regular income and a reduced net balance of 

derivatives, thanks to lower impairment losses on our equity 

portfolio and higher gains from the disposal of fixed-interest 

securities and equities. 

For the 2021 financial year, we had set the target for economic 

earnings at over €2.8bn. The economic earnings for the 

financial year 2021 totalled €8.1bn despite the major-claims 

burden, which, due to losses from natural catastrophes and 

COVID-19, was higher than expected. These adverse effects 

notwithstanding, in both fields of business the contribution from 

new business and the variances from in-force business were 

positive. In terms of market variances, especially the 

appreciation of foreign currencies against the euro and the 

increase in share prices and inflation had a favourable impact 

on economic earnings. 

Reinsurance 

At the beginning of the 2021 financial year, we had forecast 

gross premiums written of around €37bn in the reinsurance field 

of business. Following pleasing performance in the first two 

quarters of 2021, we raised the forecast to around €40bn. 

Despite negative currency effects, at €41.4bn for the financial 

year 2021 we were able to surpass this higher target value. We 

saw significant growth, predominantly in property-casualty 

reinsurance, thanks to an expansion of existing business 

across almost all lines and regions. The main drivers were the 

expansion of, and new business with, selected clients in North 

America and selective growth in continental Europe (primarily 

in France), in South America and Asia as well as in Australia. 

At the beginning of 2021, we had projected a technical result, 

including the result from insurance contracts with non-

significant risk transfer, of €400m in life and health 

reinsurance. In response to high losses resulting from COVID-

19, this figure had to be adjusted downwards to around €200m 

in the third quarter of 2021. COVID-19-related losses in life and 

health reinsurance amounted to €785m in the financial year 

2021. These losses chiefly came from mortality covers in the 

USA, India and South Africa. 

At the beginning of the 2021 financial year, our declared goal 

was to achieve a combined ratio of 96% of net earned 

premiums in property-casualty reinsurance. Due to the high 

losses from natural catastrophes in the quarter, upon 
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publication of the third-quarter results we retracted this target, 

raising it to 100%. At the end of the financial year 2021, the 

ratio was, at 99.6%, slightly better than the revised target. 

Amounting to 16.5% of net earned premiums for the financial 

year 2021, major-loss expenditure significantly exceeded our 

expectation of 12%. Expenditure for the financial year 2021 

totalled €1,165m (€3,784m for the financial year 2020) for 

man-made major losses, including €212m (slightly more than 

€3bn for the financial year 2020) for COVID-19. 

For reinsurance as a whole, at the beginning of the year we 

had projected a consolidated result of €2.3bn for the financial 

year 2021, a target that we reached with €2.328bn. 

ERGO 

For the ERGO field of business, at the beginning of the year 

we had projected gross premiums of just over €17.5bn for the 

financial year 2021. With €18.2bn, we surpassed this target. 

At the beginning of 2021, we forecast a combined ratio of 

around 92% in the ERGO Property-casualty Germany segment 

– provided major losses remained within normal bounds. 

Despite the loss expenditure from natural catastrophes, at the 

end of the financial year we met our target with a combined 

ratio of 92.4% for the financial year 2021. 

Also at the beginning of 2021, we had aimed for a combined 

ratio of around 93% in the segment ERGO International, 

provided major losses remained within normal bounds. Major 

losses in the Baltic and Austria were compensated for by the 

continuing positive development in operational performance, 

particularly in Poland and Spain, which allowed us to achieve 

our target with a pleasing combined ratio of 92.9% for the 

financial year 2021. 

We generated a result for the financial year 2021 of €605m, 

thus surpassing the profit target of around €500m which we 

had announced at the beginning of the year. For the  

ERGO field of business, we had projected at the beginning of 

2021 that the impact on the result caused by the coronavirus 

pandemic would amount to between  

€90m and €100m. But thanks to better development  

in Germany, particularly in travel insurance, there was merely 

immaterial expenditure of €5m for the financial year 2021 

(€64m for the financial year 2020). Negative effects primarily 

involved the joint venture in India. All segments contributed to 

performance that exceeded our expectations. We achieved a 

good technical result and an improved currency result in the 

ERGO Life and Health Germany segment. Despite the burden 

from major losses, we achieved a very good technical result 

and a higher investment result in  

the ERGO Property-casualty Germany segment. An improved 

technical result in the ERGO International segment contributed 

to the good profit.

Business performance of the Group and overview of investment performance 

Key figures 

2021 2020 Change

%

Gross premiums written €bn 59.6 54.9 8.5

Combined ratio 

Reinsurance property-casualty % 99.6 105.6

ERGO Property-casualty Germany % 92.4 92.4

ERGO International % 92.9 92.7

Technical result €m 1,927 600 221.0

Investment result €m 7,156 7,398 –3.3

Insurance-related investment result €m 1,119 105 966.1

Operating result €m 3,517 1,986 77.1

Currency result €m 262 –200 –

Taxes on income €m –552 –269 –105.0

Economic earnings €bn 8.1 –2.2 –

Solvency II ratio % 227.0 208.1

Return on equity (RoE)1

Group % 12.6 5.3

Reinsurance % 13.5 4.1

ERGO % 10.1 8.8

Consolidated result €m 2,932 1,211 142.1

Investments €bn 240.3 232.9 3.2

Insurance-related investments €bn 12.3 11.0 11.3

Net technical provisions €bn 234.0 221.5 5.7

Equity €bn 30.9 30.0 3.2

Earnings per share € 20.93 8.63 142.5

Dividend per share € 11.00 9.80 12.2

1 Information on the calculation of this indicator can be found in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, in the section “Segment 

reporting – Notes on determining the return on equity (RoE)”. 
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Munich Re’s gross premiums written, at €59,567m for the 

financial year 2021, were significantly higher year on year 

(€54,890m for the financial year 2020). This was mainly due to 

organic growth in the property-casualty reinsurance segment. 

Group premium income for the financial year 2021 

2021 2020 

Life and health reinsurance 21% 23%

Property-casualty reinsurance 48% 45%

ERGO Life and Health Germany 15% 16%

ERGO Property-casualty Germany 7% 7%

ERGO International 9% 9%

Economic earnings are mainly attributable to factors from new 

and in-force business deriving from underwriting,  

and to the impact of capital market parameters on assets and 

liabilities. Despite the fact that expenditure from  

major losses was in excess of expectations, favourable 

operational value creation in reinsurance and primary 

insurance, paired with positive market variances, had a 

significant impact on economic earnings in the financial year 

2021. In terms of market variances, especially the appreciation 

of important foreign currencies against the euro and the effects 

of favourable trends in equity markets and inflation had a 

positive impact. 

The investment result (excluding insurance-related 

investments) fell slightly year on year to €7,156m in the 

financial year 2021 (€7,398m in the financial year 2020). Net 

profits from the disposal of non-derivative investments were 

lower overall in 2021 compared with 2020 – primarily  

due to the sale of equities and to normal restructuring 

concerning portfolios of fixed-interest securities, against the 

backdrop of persistently low interest rates. Regular income 

from investments was down slightly. 

The currency result increased to €262m in the financial year 

2021 (€–200m in the financial year 2020), mainly owing to 

currency gains against the US dollar and the Indian rupee. Our 

effective tax rate amounted to 15.9% in the financial year 2021 

(18.2% in the financial year 2020), which was lower than in the 

previous year owing to tax-free effects on our investments. 

In September 2021, Munich Re issued its second subordinated 

green bond, with the volume issued amounting to €1bn. This 

bond will mature on 26 May 2042 and is callable for the first 

time in 2031. It pays a fixed rate of 1.00% p.a. until 26 May 

2032, and a variable rate thereafter. In addition, the green 

bond meets the criteria for classification as regulatory Tier 2 

capital under Solvency II, as well as the current requirements 

for full recognition as rating capital. Munich Re will use the 

capital thus raised to finance or refinance suitable projects in 

accordance with our Green Bond Framework. Please see the 

section “Sustainability in investment and insurance” of our 

combined non-financial statement for details. 

In accordance with the terms of Munich Reinsurance 

Company’s subordinated bond 2011/2041, we exercised our 

call option and repurchased the bond in Q2 2021; it had a 

nominal volume of €1bn and paid a fixed rate of 6.00% p.a.

Investment mix 

Carrying amounts Unrealised gains/losses1 Fair values

€m 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Land and buildings, 

including buildings on third-party land 7,029 6,539 6,291 5,592 13,320 12,131

Investments in affiliated companies, 

associates and joint ventures 3,635 3,372 2,812 1,584 6,258 4,841

Loans 50,389 51,944 8,270 12,778 58,659 64,722

Other securities available for sale 162,468 155,389 12,967 17,293 162,468 155,389

Thereof: Fixed-interest 138,209 138,404 8,078 14,426 138,209 138,404

Thereof: Non-fixed-interest 24,259 16,985 4,888 2,866 24,259 16,985

Other securities at fair value through profit or loss 2,950 2,927 0 0 2,950 2,927

Thereof: Derivatives 1,718 2,339 0 0 1,718 2,339

Deposits retained on assumed reinsurance 9,027 7,980 0 0 9,027 7,980

Other investments 4,803 4,800 0 0 4,803 4,800

Total 240,300 232,950 30,340 37,247 257,485 252,789

1 Including on- and off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses. 
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The fair value of our investment portfolio increased slightly, 

mainly as a result of a larger equity portfolio and the 

development of exchange rates. This was offset mainly  

by higher interest rates. Our portfolio continues to be 

dominated by fixed-interest securities and loans. 

The decrease in unrealised gains/losses on other fixed-interest 

securities available for sale and loans was chiefly attributable 

to the higher interest-rate level. 

Fixed-interest portfolio by economic category1

Total: €209bn as of 31 December 2021 (€215bn as of 31 December 2020) 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

Government bonds2 55% 55%

Thereof: Inflation-linked bonds 8% 7%

Covered bonds 16% 18%

Corporate bonds 14% 14%

Cash/Other 6% 5%

Policy and mortgage loans 4% 4%

Structured products (credit structures) 3% 2%

Bank bonds 2% 2%

1 Presentation essentially shows fixed-interest securities and loans, including deposits 
and cash at banks, at fair value. 

2 Including other public-sector issuers and government-guaranteed bank bonds. 

As of 31 December 2021, over half of our portfolio of interest-

bearing securities was invested in government bonds. The vast 

majority of these continue to come from countries with a high 

credit rating. As of 31 December 2021, our German and US 

government bond holdings at fair value constituted 11.9% 

(13.1% as of 31 December 2020) and 10.8% (9.2% as of 31 

December 2020) of the portfolio of interest-bearing securities. 

Italian and Spanish government bonds each accounted for 

0.7% (0.8% as of 31 December 2020) and 1.8% (1.9% as of 31 

December 2020) of the portfolio of interest-bearing securities 

as of 31 December 2021. Our new investments in the financial 

year 2021 were mostly in US and Australian government bonds. 

We mainly reduced our bond holdings from issuers in Germany 

in 2021. The purchase of government bonds from emerging 

markets is part of our balanced investment strategy. As of 31 

December 2021, they constituted 9.2% of our government 

bond portfolio. 

At 30% as of 31 December 2021, our investment in covered 

bonds remained focused on German securities. As of that 

date, we also held bonds from France (22%) and the United 

Kingdom (11%) in our portfolio. 

As of 31 December 2021, the regional weighting of corporate 

bonds in our portfolio was 32% for the USA and 40% for the 

eurozone. 

Our portfolio of government bonds, covered bonds and 

corporate bonds had a good rating structure: as at 

31 December 2021, some 81% of securities were rated  

AAA to A. 

Our investment in bank bonds is limited and amounted to 2% 

of our portfolio of interest-bearing securities as of 31 December 

2021. Financial instruments from states in southern Europe 

made up 4% of this portfolio. As of 31 December 2021, most of 

our bank bonds were senior bonds (92%), i.e. bonds that are 

not subordinated or subject to loss participation. Subordinated 

bonds and loss-bearing bonds made up 8% of our bank bond 

holdings as of 31 December 2021. 

The portfolio of structured credit products at fair value totalled 

3% of the overall portfolio of interest-bearing securities as at 31 

December 2021. This asset class is composed of securitised 

receivables (asset-backed securities or mortgage-backed 

securities), e.g. securitisations of real estate finance or 

consumer credit. Around 52%  

of our structured credit products as of 31 December 2021 had 

a rating of AAA. 

The carrying amount of our equity portfolio increased  

due to the purchase of equities and the positive market 

development. Our equity-backing ratio (before taking 

derivatives into account, and including investments in affiliated 

companies, associates and joint ventures at fair value) came to 

8.7% as at 31 December 2021 (6.4% as at 31 December 

2020). The equity-backing ratio including derivatives was 7.7% 

as at 31 December 2021 (6.0% as at 31 December 2020). 

Besides this, we protect ourselves against accelerated inflation 

in an environment of continuing low interest rates by holding 

inflation-linked bonds with a fair value of €9.3bn as at 31 

December 2021 (€8.5bn as at 31 December 2020). Real and 

financial assets such as shares, property and commodities, as 

well as investments in infrastructure, renewable energies and 

new technologies, also serve to guard against inflation. 

Additionally, our investments in real and financial assets have 

a positive diversification effect on the entire portfolio. 
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Investment result1

2021 RoI2 2020 RoI2

€m % €m %

Regular income 6,017 2.4 6,273 2.5

Write-ups/write-downs of non-derivative investments –505 –0.2 –1,957 –0.8

Gains/losses on the disposal of non-derivative investments 3,182 1.3 3,698 1.5

Net balance of derivatives –774 –0.3 74 0.0

Other income/expenses –764 –0.3 –690 –0.3

Total 7,156 2.8 7,398 3.0

1 Details of the result by type of investment are shown in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, (34) Investment result. 

2 Annual % return on the mean value of the investment portfolio (RoI) measured at market value as at the quarterly reporting dates. The overall investment portfolio used  
to determine the return for 2021 (2.8%) was calculated as the mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at 31 December 2020 (€232,950m), 31 March 2021 

(€231,565m), 30 June 2021 (€233,961m), 30 September 2021 (€236,668m) and 31 December 2021 (€240,300m), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding 
owner-occupied property and insurance-related loans) as at 31 December 2020 (€19,839m), 31 March 2021 (€17,142m), 30 June 2021 (€16,636m), 30 September 2021 (€16,215m) 

and 31 December 2021 (€17,185m). 

Regular income in 2021 decreased slightly compared with the 

previous year, primarily due to lower interest income. The 

average reinvestment yield1 in the financial year 2021 was 

unchanged at 1.5% (1.5% in the financial year 2020). Due to 

the low interest rates in the financial year 2021, yields on new 

investments remained lower than the average return on our 

existing portfolio of fixed-interest investments. 

We posted considerably lower net write-downs of non-

derivative investments year on year; Q1 of 2020 had been 

particularly impacted by pandemic-related impairment losses 

on equities owing to price falls. 

Gains on disposal were lower overall than in the previous year, 

and chiefly related to our portfolio of fixed-interest securities 

and equities. These gains include the reduction of our stake in 

a strategic shareholding. 

We posted a net loss from write-downs and write-ups of 

derivatives and from the disposal of derivatives, primarily due 

to losses from equity and interest-rate derivatives held for 

hedging purposes.  

Result from equities and equity derivatives1 

€m 2021 2020

Regular income 974 735

Impairment losses –334 –1,750

Realised gains/losses 1,302 1,077

Result from equities 1,942 62

Change in on-balance-sheet unrealised 

gains and losses in equity (gross) 2,022 –766

Result from equity derivatives –553 –425

Total 3,411 –1,129

1 To determine the total annualised return on our equity portfolio (see text), we 
calculate the ratio of the total result shown in the table and the mean value of the 

following figures: Equity portfolio (carrying amounts) as at 31 December 2020 
(€16,985m), 31 March 2021 (€20,223m), 30 June 2021 (€22,116m), 30 September 

2021 (€22,511m) and 31 December 2021 (€24,259m). 

The return on equities was affected by the increase in valuation 

reserves in the financial year 2021. The return on our equity 

portfolio including equity derivatives increased to 16.1% in the 

financial year 2021 (−6.8% in the financial year 2020). 

1 The average reinvestment yield is shown as an annual rate of return. All 

reinvestments that are transacted in a specific reporting period and have remaining 
terms to maturity of more than one year are recognised at the rates of return 

applicable at the relevant trade dates; for securities with terms to maturity of up to 
one year, the proportionate term to maturity is taken into account. Investments are 

not included if their return cannot be calculated (e.g. equities, debt securities with 
variable rates, inflation-linked bonds, derivatives, real estate) or if they do not have 

the characteristics of investments (e.g. cash  

at banks). Hedging costs for securities in foreign currency are not considered. 
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Reinsurance – Life and health 

Key figures 

2021 2020 Change

%

Gross premiums written €m 12,561 12,707 –1.1

Share of gross premiums written in reinsurance % 30.4 34.0

Technical result incl. result from 

insurance contracts with non-significant risk transfer €m 218 97 124.2

Investment result €m 860 846 1.7

Operating result €m 344 225 52.8

Consolidated result €m 325 123 164.4

Premium 

Negative currency translation effects had an impact on the 

development of premiums. We write the majority of our 

business in non-euro currencies (85% in 2021). Exchange rate 

fluctuations therefore have a substantial impact on premium 

development. If exchange rates had remained unchanged, our 

gross premiums written would have decreased slightly by 0.6% 

in 2021 compared with the previous year. The decline is mainly 

attributable to our business in Asia, where a number of treaties 

were terminated or not renewed. This was partly offset by 

growth in North America. The stagnating premium development 

particularly reflected the fact that, although our portfolio of 

financially motivated reinsurance continues to grow, the 

majority  

of new treaties are not posted as income in underwriting. 

Result 

The technical result of −€9m for the financial year 2021 

(€−78m for the financial year 2020) was below our original 

expectations for the year, owing to higher claims expenditure 

resulting from COVID-19. 

Overall, Iosses attributable to COVID-19 totalled €785m in the 

financial year 2021 (€370m in the financial year 2020). This 

figure comprises losses incurred in the reporting year, 

including provisions for losses incurred but not reported. There 

is no provision included for future expected losses. 

The COVID-19 expenditure is dominated by mortality covers in 

the USA, India and South Africa. In addition, the expenditure in 

Canada was in the mid-double-digit million euro range. In the 

United Kingdom, losses in mortality business were largely 

offset by positive effects in our longevity business. We also 

posted moderate losses caused by COVID-19 in continental 

Europe and Latin America, as well as in a part of Asia. We saw 

positive effects in Australia, where we were able to reduce 

reserves for COVID-19 because the expected IBNR losses 

were not realised. 

Without the exceptional expenditure attributable to COVID-19, 

the technical result would have been significantly higher than we 

projected at the beginning of 2021. 

A positive impact mainly derived from our annual review  

of provisions. In addition, there were increases in premium for 

Australian disability business, as well as a one-off  

effect from a large North American reinsurance treaty. 

Furthermore, the termination of a number of contracts led to 

positive one-off effects. 

Adjusted for COVID-19, claims expenditure was within our 

anticipated range. Whereas we benefited from favourable 

claims development in Europe, Asia and Australia, the COVID-

19-adjusted claims expenditure in North America and South 

Africa was higher than expected. In North America, this 

increase was partly attributable to high individual losses. 

The result from insurance contracts with non-significant risk 

transfer continued to perform very favourably. At €227m for the 

financial year 2021 (€175m for the financial year 2020), the 

result was significantly higher than in the same period last year 

as a consequence of business growth, in particular in Asia and 

the USA. Those contracts have thus reaffirmed their stabilising 

impact on the overall result. 

The investment result for the financial year 2021 was up by 

€14m compared with the financial year 2020; the increase was 

primarily due to higher gains on  

the disposal of equities, as well as income from the 

remeasurement of existing shares held following the expansion 

of our stake in GHGH Holdings Inc., Surrey (GroupHEALTH). 

Our individual core markets 

Based on premium volume, 40% of our 2021 global 

reinsurance business is written in North America, with the USA 

accounting for 25% and thus ranking before Canada. 25% of 

our 2021 premium stems from Europe – with 10% generated in 

the United Kingdom and Ireland, and 5% in Germany. Another 

significant share of 25% stems from Asia and the MENA 

region. Australia and New Zealand contributed 5% to 2021 

premium income. We are also well positioned in Africa and 

Latin America, but due to the small size of these markets, their 

share of our 2021 global business is modest (less than 5% in 

total). 

Gross premium in the USA increased to €3.1bn in the financial 

year 2021 (€2.9bn in the financial year 2020) despite negative 

currency translation effects.  

We therefore continue to be one of the most important 

reinsurers in this market, which is the largest worldwide. Due to 

higher COVID-19-related loss expenditure, the technical result 
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was lower than expected. The negative COVID-19-adjusted 

claims experience was largely offset by positive effects 

resulting from the annual review of our reserve position. We 

continue to be very satisfied with the development of our new 

business, both in terms of volume and profitability. 

At €1.8bn for the financial year 2021 (€1.8bn for the financial 

year 2020), our premium income in Canada was unchanged. 

The 2021 technical result, in turn, accounted for  

an over-proportionate contribution to the overall result. COVID-

19 losses were higher than expected. However,  

this was offset by positive one-off effects, including on  

our claims reserves due to interest-rate changes and the one-

off adjustment of a large treaty. 

At €3.3bn for the financial year 2021 (€3.3bn for the financial 

year 2020), premium income in Europe also remained 

unchanged year on year, with €1.5bn (€1.5bn for the financial 

year 2020) deriving from the United Kingdom and Ireland, and 

a further €697m (€715m for the financial year 2020) from 

Germany. The technical result slightly exceeded our 

expectations, despite COVID-19-related loss expenditure. 

Premium income in Asia/MENA decreased to €3.2bn in the 

financial year 2021 (€3.4bn in the financial year 2020), 

primarily due to the termination of several treaties. The majority 

of our new contracts in the area of financially motivated 

reinsurance are posted outside underwriting, which also had 

an impact on premium development. New business, on the 

other hand, was at a very gratifying level. Thanks to our broad 

diversification, we are in a position to benefit from the region’s 

growth potential. The technical result – adjusted for COVID-19 

losses – developed favourably and exceeded our expectations. 

Premium generated by our business activities in Australia and 

New Zealand was up slightly to €871m in the financial year 

2021 (€824m in the financial year 2020). This increase was 

supported by positive currency translation effects and reflected 

the influence of price increases under contracts in force. Our 

main focus here remains the rehabilitation of our existing 

portfolio. The technical result significantly exceeded our 

expectations; among other things, we benefited from positive 

effects from our rehabilitation measures and the generally 

favourable performance of  

our portfolio. The effect of COVID-19 on the result was also 

positive, as we were able to reduce provisions.

Reinsurance – Property-casualty 

Key figures 

2021 2020 Change

%

Gross premiums written €m 28,793 24,615 17.0

Share of gross premiums written in reinsurance % 69.6 66.0

Loss ratio % 68.7 74.7

Thereof: Major losses Percentage points 16.5 20.8

Expense ratio % 30.9 30.9

Combined ratio % 99.6 105.6

Technical result €m 972 –171 –

Investment result €m 2,562 2,347 9.2

Operating result €m 2,352 759 209.7

Consolidated result €m 2,003 571 250.8

Premium 

Premium income in property-casualty reinsurance increased by 

17.0% in the financial year 2021 compared with the financial 

year 2020, although changes in exchange rates had a negative 

impact on premium development. As at 31 December 2021, 

11% of the portfolio is written in euros and 89% in foreign 

currency,  

of which 56 percentage points is in US dollars and 

11 percentage points in pounds sterling. If exchange rates had 

remained unchanged, premium volume would have risen by 

19.5% year on year. 

The substantial increase in premium volume was due to an 

expansion of business across almost all lines and regions. The 

main drivers were the expansion of, and new business with, 

selected clients in North America and selective growth in 

continental Europe (primarily in France and Germany), as well 

as in South America, Asia and Australia. 

Reinsurance treaty renewals in 2021 saw prices rise in regions 

affected by natural catastrophes. In other markets and lines of 

business, prices remained stable or increased slightly. Despite 

high losses from natural catastrophes in 2020, during the 2021 

renewals the supply of reinsurance capacity remained high, 

and the risk-adjusted price increase amounted to 

approximately 2.3%. Overall, we are adhering to our profit-

oriented underwriting policy. 



9

Exhibit A: 2021-2020 Management Discussion & Analysis of Munich Re Group 

Result 

The consolidated result and the operating result in property-

casualty reinsurance improved significantly in the financial year 

2021 compared with the financial year 2020, despite high 

natural hazard losses. The main reason is that the result in 

2020 had been severely impacted by COVID-19-related losses  

in cancellation-of-events business. Expenditure for major 

losses was down for the financial year 2021, and the technical 

result increased significantly compared with the financial year 

2020. As a result of our customary review of provisions, we 

were able to reduce our basic claims provisions for prior years 

– adjusted for commissions – by €1,041m for the financial year 

2021, which is equivalent to 4.0 percentage points of the 

combined ratio. This positive development related to almost all 

lines in our portfolio. The safety margin in the provisions 

remained unchanged year on year. 

Major losses – in excess of €10m each – totalled €4,304m in 

the financial year 2021 (€4,689m in the financial year 2020), 

after retrocession and before tax. This amount includes run-off 

profits and losses for major claims from previous years, and is 

equivalent to 16.5% (20.8% for the financial year 2020) of net 

earned premium for the financial year 2021. Despite high 

natural hazard losses, expenditure in the financial year 2021 

was much lower than in the financial year 2020 – which had 

been negatively impacted by COVID-19 losses – but once 

again exceeded our major-loss expectation of 12% of net 

earned premium. 

Man-made major losses totalling €1,165m in the financial year 

2021 (€3,784m in the financial year 2020) were down 

significantly on the previous year, which had been  

hit by COVID-19 losses. This figure is equivalent to 4.5% 

(16.8% for the financial year 2020) of net earned premium for 

the financial year 2021. The number of losses above our 

major-loss threshold was much higher than in the previous 

year. 

Major losses from natural catastrophes totalled €3,139m for 

the financial year 2021 (€906m for the financial year 2020). 

This corresponds to 12.0% (4.0% for the financial year 2020) 

of net earned premium for the financial year 2021. The largest 

natural catastrophes in 2021 happened in the USA and in 

Europe, the largest individual loss being Hurricane Ida with 

anticipated expenditure of €1,200m, followed by flood events in 

Europe (especially Storm Bernd in Germany) with anticipated 

expenditure of €464m. There were also a number of winter 

storms and tornadoes in the USA. 

The combined ratio improved significantly to 99.6% for the 

financial year 2021 (105.6% for the financial year 2020) on 

account of lower major-loss expenditure in 2021. Paid claims 

and the change in claims provisions totalled €17,920m for the 

financial year 2021 (€16,860m for the financial year 2020), 

along with net operating expenses of €8,054m (€6,978m for 

the financial year 2020), compared with net earned premiums 

of €26,071m (€22,566m for the financial year 2020). 

The investment result for the financial year 2021 increased by 

€215m compared with the financial year 2020, largely owing to 

an improved net balance of write-ups and write-downs, as well 

as higher gains on the disposal of equities. These gains 

included the reduction of our share in a strategic holding. 

Our individual core markets and selected special 

lines 

Based on premium volume, 45% of our 2021 global property-

casualty reinsurance business – including Risk Solutions – is 

written in North America. 30% of  

our 2021 premium comes from Europe, of which around half is 

generated in the United Kingdom. Further substantial shares 

were contributed by Asia (10%), as well  

as Australia/New Zealand, Africa and Latin America (5% each). 

Prices in the US market improved significantly on account of 

the many loss events. Major losses from natural catastrophes 

– such as Hurricane Ida, winter storms, wildfires and tornadoes 

– exceeded the long-term average in 2021. 

Reinsurance business grew at Munich Reinsurance America, 

Inc. in 2021 thanks to attractive prices, and we significantly 

expanded our business relationship with one client through a 

large-volume treaty. Our primary insurance unit Munich Re 

Specialty Insurance also expanded its business. Overall, 

premium volume totalling €5,867m for the financial year 2021 

was up significantly compared with the previous year (€4,138m 

for the financial year 2020). 

The premium income of the Hartford Steam Boiler Group (HSB 

Group) amounted to €1,371m for the financial year 2021 and 

was once again up compared with the previous year (€1,179m 

for the financial year 2020). This increase is mainly attributable 

to growth generated not only with new products, but also with our 

core business. The result was once again very favourable. 

American Modern also posted a rise in premium income to 

€1,472m for the financial year 2021 (€1,252m for the financial 

year 2020) owing to higher prices and new business. The 

result situation fell short of expectations due to natural hazard 

losses, such as winter storms, Hurricane Ida and tornadoes. 

In Canada, we are represented by the Munich Reinsurance 

Company of Canada and Temple Insurance Company. 

Premium volume was expanded to €491m in the financial year 

2021 (€428m in the financial year 2020). The result for 2021 was 

positive, in spite of flood losses. 

Notwithstanding the still-difficult market environment, premium 

volume increased significantly year on year to €9,032m for the 

financial year 2021 (€8,299m for the financial year 2020) in the 

United Kingdom and in continental Europe. In many markets, 

the increase was driven by the targeted development of 

business with selected clients and additional profitable new 

business. In line with our strategic orientation, a high growth 

rate was achieved in France, where premium income increased 

to €459m in the financial year 2021 (€398m in the financial year 

2020). In Germany, premium income rose to €888m in the 

financial year 2021 (€752m in the financial year 2020). 

At our Swiss subsidiary, New Reinsurance Company Ltd., 

business volume in property-casualty business increased 
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markedly to €1,017m in the financial year 2021 (€816m in the 

financial year 2020). This growth benefited from the expansion 

of existing client relationships and profitable new business with 

traditional and, in particular, structured products. 

Premium in Australia and New Zealand once again increased 

significantly overall, to €1,273m in the financial year 2021 

(€1,073m in the financial year 2020). 

Premium income in Japan was up slightly year on year: 

following two years of heavy losses in 2018 and 2019, it 

totalled €593m in the financial year 2021 (€578m in the 

financial year 2020). 

Business expanded greatly again in China, where premium 

income amounted to €1,017m for the financial year 2021 

(€885m for the financial year 2020). 

India continued on its path to growth, with premium income 

climbing to €577m in the financial year 2021 (€427m in the 

financial year 2020). 

In the Caribbean as well as in Central and South America, we 

still provide high capacity for the coverage of natural hazards, 

in particular windstorms and earthquakes. The increased 

demand owing to major losses from natural catastrophes 

(hurricanes, floods, earthquakes and wildfires) in recent years 

remained at a high level in 2021. We took systematic 

advantage of this situation to further improve our portfolio. This 

enabled us to grow the already high premium volume attained 

in recent years to €1,456m in the financial year 2021 (€1,244m 

in the financial year 2020) and to achieve a further margin 

improvement. 

In agricultural reinsurance, we saw a significant increase in 

premium income to €500m in the financial year 2021 (€397m in 

the financial year 2020) in the North American market, due 

mainly to a rise in sums insured. Our good result in the USA 

was negatively impacted by a catastrophic event (drought) in 

Canada. 

Supported by a positive market environment, total premium 

volume in marine business increased by 13% to €1,315m for 

the financial year 2021 (€1,165m for the financial year 2020). 

The result was gratifying. 

At €946m for the financial year 2021 (€849m for the financial 

year 2020), credit and bond reinsurance saw significant year-

on-year growth in premium volume. Whilst traditional credit 

business generated a moderate rise, growth was mainly 

attributable to profitable new business in specialty and niche 

segments. 

The market environment in direct industrial insurance continues 

to be very attractive. Renewals in the market were marked by 

price increases and new business. We were therefore able to 

substantially increase premium income in direct business 

generated by our Facultative & Corporate unit to €1,524m in 

the financial year 2021 (€1,199m in the financial year 2020). 

Despite Hurricane Ida and the winter storms in North America, 

the result was good. 

Premium in aviation and space business grew to €779m in the 

financial year 2021 (€734m in the financial year 2020). Despite 

the loss of earnings triggered by COVID-19, premium was up 

thanks to price increases. The result was pleasing. 

Our Capital Partners division offers clients a broad range of 

structured individual reinsurance and capital market products, 

as well as parametric and derivative solutions  

to hedge against weather and other risks. These solutions are 

applied to clients from the agricultural sector as well. We also 

use Capital Partners’ services for our own purposes in order to 

buy retrocession cover on the basis  

of our defined risk strategy. In the financial year 2021, we 

concluded client transactions worth €2.5bn  

in the area of structured reinsurance. In line with the corporate 

retrocession strategy implemented by Capital Partners, we 

have in place a comprehensive traditional retrocession 

programme totalling almost US$ 600m and two sidecar 

transactions worth around US$ 600m.
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ERGO Life and Health Germany 

Key figures 

2021 2020 Change

%

Total premium income1 €m 9,909 9,687 2.3

Gross premiums written €m 9,203 9,030 1.9

Share of gross premiums written by ERGO % 50.5 51.4

Technical result €m 349 353 –1.2

Investment result €m 3,201 3,605 –11.2

Operating result €m 202 448 –54.9

Consolidated result €m 164 130 25.5

1 Total premium income includes not only gross premiums written, but also savings premiums for unit-linked life insurance and capitalisation products in accordance with the applicable 

statutory accounting guidelines. 

Premium 

For the ERGO Life and Health Germany segment, information 

about the German life, health and Digital Ventures operations 

is provided below. 60% of the segment’s gross premiums 

written for the financial year 2021 derives from Health 

Germany, 31% from Life Germany and 9% from Digital 

Ventures. 

Gross premiums written in the segment were up in the 2021 

financial year, chiefly driven by positive development in Health 

Germany, especially in travel and supplementary insurance. In 

the previous year, we had posted a COVID-19-related decline 

in travel insurance. We also saw premium growth in Digital 

Ventures, especially from health business, as well as from the 

new products in Life Germany. The segment’s total premium 

income was also up on the previous year. 

Result 

The 2021 technical result in the ERGO Life and Health 

Germany segment was almost at the same level as in the 

previous year, benefiting from this year’s good operational 

development in the Health Germany division. The 2021 

investment result was down year on year, partly because of a 

lower net balance of derivatives owing to market conditions, as 

well as lower net gains on disposal. 

The increase in the 2021 consolidated result was mainly 

attributable to an improved technical result in Health Germany 

and a higher currency result. 

Development of premium income and results by 

division 

Life Germany 

Key figures 

2021 2020 Change

€m €m %

Total premium income1 3,540 3,515 0.7

Gross premiums written 2,834 2,858 –0.8

Technical result 9 23 –60.3

Operating result 36 232 –84.4

1 Total premium income includes not only gross premiums written but also savings 

premiums for unit-linked life insurance and capitalisation products in accordance with 

the applicable statutory accounting guidelines. 

Gross premiums written in 2021 were nearly at the same level 

as in the previous year. Lower regular premium income owing 

to the ongoing portfolio reduction was essentially offset by 

premium income from new products. Total premium income 

was slightly up on the previous year’s level. Regular-premium 

new business and single-premium new business rose 

significantly year on year, as the new products were received 

very well by customers. We posted pleasing growth also in 

terms of annual premium equivalent (APE, see also the 

following table), which is the performance measure customary 

among investors. 

New business Life Germany 

2021 2020 Change

€m €m %

Regular premiums 205 180 14.0

Single premiums 616 525 17.2

Total 821 705 16.4

Annual premium 

equivalent1 267 232 14.7

1 The annual premium equivalent corresponds to the regular premium income plus 

10% of single-premium volume. 
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The 2021 technical result was down year on year, largely 

because of higher costs at ERGO Vorsorge due to business 

growth. The investment result totalled €2,066m in the financial 

year 2021 (€2,567m in the financial year 2020); the decline 

was partly triggered by a lower net balance of derivatives on 

equities and fixed-interest securities owing to market 

conditions, which was not offset by gains on disposal. Instead, 

we built up valuation reserves on equities. The operating result 

decreased overall, partly on account of policyholder 

participation in the significantly higher currency result. 

Health Germany 

Key figures 

2021 2020 Change

€m €m %

Gross premiums written 5,513 5,372 2.6

Technical result 283 225 25.7

Operating result 155 169 –8.4

Gross premiums written in the Health Germany division, which 

also includes travel insurance business, were up year on year. 

Premium income grew by 4.0% for the financial year 2021 in 

supplementary health insurance and by 1.0% in 

comprehensive health insurance. The growth in supplementary 

insurance was mainly attributable to business not similar to life 

insurance, which increased by 8.8% in the financial year 2021. 

The increase in comprehensive cover was partly due to 

premium adjustment. Travel insurance, which was up 14.5% to 

€442m in the financial year 2021 (€386m in the financial year 

2020), also contributed to premium growth in the Health 

Germany division. Travel insurance premium grew appreciably  

in the past financial year as the previous year had still  

been severely affected by travel restrictions due to the 

coronavirus pandemic. 

The technical result was up on the previous year, thanks to 

good operational development in health and significant 

improvement in travel insurance business. The investment 

result climbed to €1,127m in the financial year 2021 (€1,041m 

in the financial year 2020), in particular thanks to much lower 

impairment losses on equities. The operating result was 

slightly down year on year, above all due to policyholder 

participation in the significantly higher currency result. 

Digital Ventures 

Key figures 

2021 2020 Change

€m €m %

Gross premiums written 855 800 6.9

Technical result 56 104 –46.1

Operating result 11 47 –76.4

Gross premiums written were up year on year. The increase 

was partly attributable to health insurance business, which 

grew by 6.3% in the financial year 2021, chiefly driven by 

supplementary dental insurance. Gross premiums written in 

property-casualty business were also up, by 8.5% in the 

financial year 2021 compared with the financial year 2020. 

At 90.1%, the 2021 combined ratio for property-casualty 

business was down 4.6 percentage points compared with the 

previous year (94.7% for the financial year 2020), in particular 

on account of an improved loss ratio. 

The 2021 technical result decreased compared with the 

previous year, which had benefited from a temporary decline in 

expenses for claims and benefits in health insurance, among 

other factors. The investment result improved to €8m in the 

financial year 2021 (€–3m in the financial year 2020), chiefly 

on account of lower impairment losses. Altogether, the 

operating result decreased as a result of these developments.
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ERGO Property-casualty Germany 

Key figures 

2021 2020 Change

%

Gross premiums written €m 3,919 3,677 6.6

Share of gross premiums written by ERGO % 21.5 20.9

Loss ratio % 62.6 61.9

Expense ratio % 29.8 30.5

Combined ratio % 92.4 92.4

Technical result €m 302 294 2.7

Investment result €m 209 175 19.3

Operating result €m 354 255 38.7

Consolidated result €m 234 157 48.5

Premium 

With regard to the segment’s 2021 gross premiums written, our 

most important classes of business were fire and property 

insurance and motor insurance – accounting for 19% each – 

as well as third-party liability insurance (18%). 

Gross premiums written were significantly up on the previous 

year. The increase in the financial year 2021 was mainly 

attributable to growth in the other classes of business, 

especially in engineering, of 24.6%, marine (15.2%), and third-

party liability (14.8%). Growth in gross premiums written for the 

financial year 2021 was also posted in motor insurance (3.0%), 

fire and property insurance (1.6%) and legal protection 

insurance (1.5%).  

By contrast, gross premiums written in personal accident 

insurance were down by 2.3% in the financial year 2021. 

Result 

The 2021 technical result improved despite major losses from 

natural catastrophes and man-made losses, chiefly thanks to 

good organic premium growth, improved operational 

performance above all in third-party liability and marine 

insurance, and ongoing strict cost management. 

The combined ratio for 2021 remained at its very good 2020 

level. While the expense ratio improved year on year, the 2021 

loss ratio was impacted in particular by higher losses from 

natural catastrophes and man-made losses. Paid claims and 

the change in claims provisions totalled €2,357m for the 

financial year 2021 (€2,209m for the financial year 2020), 

along with net operating expenses of €1,122m (€1,088m for 

the financial year 2020), compared with net earned premiums 

of €3,764m (€3,569m for the financial year 2020). 

The 2021 investment result increased significantly compared 

with the previous year, partly thanks to one-off effects from 

private equity and property investments. Moreover, the 

previous year had been impacted by higher impairment losses 

on equities due to the coronavirus pandemic. 

The 2021 consolidated result was up compared with the 

previous year mainly on account of the higher investment result 

and improvements in the other operating result.

ERGO International 

Key figures 

2021 2020 Change

%

Total premium income1 €m 5,339 5,083 5.0

Gross premiums written €m 5,092 4,861 4.7

Share of gross premiums written by ERGO % 28.0 27.7

Loss ratio % 62.4 62.7

Expense ratio % 30.5 30.0

Combined ratio % 92.9 92.7

Technical result €m 313 202 54.6

Investment result €m 324 425 –23.7

Operating result €m 266 298 –10.9

Consolidated result €m 207 230 –9.7

1 Total premium income includes not only gross premiums written but also savings premiums for unit-linked life insurance and capitalisation products in accordance with the applicable 

statutory accounting guidelines. 
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Premium 

With regard to the segment’s gross premiums written during the 

financial year 2021, property-casualty insurance accounted for 

58%, health for 30% and life insurance for 12%. Our biggest 

markets are Poland, accounting for 34% of the premium 

volume for the financial year 2021, and Spain and Belgium, 

accounting for 18% each. 

Gross premiums written in 2021 increased year on year, chiefly 

thanks to strong premium growth in Poland and positive 

development in international health and legal protection 

business. Adjusted to eliminate negative currency translation 

effects and the disposal of a foreign subsidiary, gross 

premiums written in the ERGO International segment would 

have increased by 6.3% in 2021 compared with  

the previous year. The segment’s 2021 total premium income 

was also up compared with the previous year. 

In international property-casualty business, gross premiums 

written rose by 8.3% to €2,939m in the financial year 2021 

(€2,714m in the financial year 2020). We posted significantly 

higher premiums particularly in Poland and in international legal 

protection business. In Poland, premiums grew across nearly 

all classes of business. 

As a result of organic growth in our Belgian and Spanish 

markets, gross premiums written were up in international health 

business. In Spain, we sold our shareholding  

in Marina Salud in 2021. Gross premiums written in the 

international health business rose by 2.0% to €1,538m in the 

financial year 2021 (€1,509m in the financial year 2020). 

At €614m for the financial year 2021 (€639m for the financial 

year 2020), gross premiums written in international life 

insurance business were down by 3.8% compared with the 

previous year. Negative development in Belgium, where we 

stopped writing new business in 2017, but above all lower 

gross premiums written in Austria contributed to this outcome. 

By contrast, we posted pleasing premium growth in Poland. 

Total premium income of €862m for the financial year 2021 

remained constant year on year (€861m for the financial year 

2020). 

New business Life International 

2021 2020 Change

€m €m %

Regular premiums 68 64 7.4

Single premiums 112 96 16.6

Total 180 159 13.0

Annual premium 

equivalent1 80 73 8.6

1 The annual premium equivalent corresponds to the regular premium income plus 10% 

of single-premium volume. 

Result 

The 2021 technical result improved significantly compared with 

the previous year, chiefly on account of an increase in 

international health and life insurance business in Belgium, and 

better performance of property-casualty business in Poland and 

Greece. 

In international property-casualty business, the combined ratio 

remained almost stable year on year. It improved by 1.3 

percentage points in the financial year 2021 in Poland and by 

8.3 percentage points in Greece. By contrast, we posted higher 

combined ratios in Austria, driven by higher losses from 

weather events, and in the Baltic states, due to major losses. 

Paid claims and the change in claims provisions totalled 

€2,163m for the financial year 2021 (€2,063m for the financial 

year 2020), along with net operating expenses of €1,056m 

(€988m for the financial year 2020), compared with net earned 

premiums of €3,467m (€3,289m for the financial year 2020). 

The 2021 investment result was down compared with the 

previous year chiefly due to lower net income from our joint 

venture investments. Other drivers included a lower net 

balance of derivatives and lower net gains on disposal. 

Overall, the 2021 consolidated result was down year on year 

due to a lower investment result, and also because the 

previous year had benefited from a one-off effect resulting from 

a merger of two shareholdings in India. 
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Financial position 

Analysis of our capital structure 

Our primary insurance and reinsurance operations have a 

significant influence on the structure of our balance sheet. In 

this context, investments serve to cover technical provisions 

(77% of the balance sheet total as at 31 December 2021). 

Equity (10% of the balance sheet total as at 31 December 

2021) and bonds classified as strategic debt (2% of the balance 

sheet total as at 31 December 2021) are the most important 

sources of funds. 

Development of Group equity 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020 Change

€m €m %

Issued capital and 

capital reserve 7,432 7,432 0.0

Retained earnings 13,822 13,568 1.9

Other reserves 6,642 7,683 –13.5

Consolidated result 

attributable to equity 

holders of Munich 

Reinsurance Company 2,933 1,211 142.1

Non-controlling interests 116 100 15.9

Total 30,945 29,994 3.2

The higher Group equity is mainly attributable to the good 

consolidated result and a higher currency translation reserve. This 

was offset by the dividend payment and a decline  

in the valuation reserves for fixed-interest securities and 

equities. 

Strategic debt 

We define as strategic debt all financial instruments with the 

character of outside financing that do not have a direct link to 

our operative business. Strategic debt supplements our 

financial resources, is essentially designed to optimise the cost 

of capital, and ensures that we have sufficient liquidity at all 

times. We quantify our debt leverage to make our capital 

structure transparent. Debt leverage is defined as the ratio – 

expressed as a percentage – of strategic debt to the sum of 

Group equity and strategic debt. Our technical provisions are 

not considered, even though they are mostly available to us on 

a long-term basis as a source of financing for investment. 

Debt leverage 

31.12.2021 31.12.2020 Change

€m €m %

Strategic debt1 5,348 5,320 0.5

Group equity 30,945 29,994 3.2

Total 36,293 35,314 2.8

Debt leverage % 14.7 15.1

1 The components of our strategic debt are subordinated liabilities, and bonds and 

notes issued (see the relevant sections in the Notes to the consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2021). 

As at 31 December 2021, Munich Re’s subordinated liabilities 

amounted to €5,055m. Of this sum, €4,912m were recognised 

as at 31 December 2021 as eligible own funds pursuant to 

Solvency II. Under the supervisory regulations of Solvency II, 

subordinated liabilities are recognised as own funds provided 

that they are available at all times to cover losses on a going-

concern basis. 

Technical provisions 

Reinsurance business accounts for 38% of 2021 technical 

provisions; 62% comes from primary insurance. In contrast to 

liabilities under loans and securities issued, we cannot foresee 

with certainty how high our liabilities from underwriting business 

will be and when they will arise. This applies especially to 

reinsurance. Whereas in property insurance a major portion of 

the provisions is generally paid out within two to three years, in 

life or liability insurance substantial amounts may still be due 

decades after the contracts were concluded. The currency 

distribution of our provisions reflects the global orientation of 

our Group. Besides the euro, our main currencies are the US 

dollar, pound sterling, the Canadian dollar and the Australian 

dollar. 

Restraints on disposal 

Since we are an international (re)insurance group, some of our 

financial resources are subject to restraints on disposal. 

Supervisory authorities in some countries, for example, require 

foreign reinsurers to establish premium and reserve deposits to 

the benefit of primary insurers, or set up trustee accounts or 

guarantees with certain financial institutions. As at 31 

December 2021, restraints on disposal applied to investments 

with a volume of €11.4bn (€10.1bn as at 31 December 2020). 

In addition, there were contingent liabilities. 
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Capital position 

Through active capital management, we strive to ensure that 

Munich Re’s capital satisfies all applicable standards. In 

addition to the capital requirements determined using our 

internal risk model, more far-reaching requirements by 

regulatory authorities, rating agencies and our key insurance 

markets must be met. The Solvency II ratio is a fundamental 

measure of Munich Re’s capital strength. We aim to ensure 

that our financial strength is such that it enables us to take 

advantage of profitable opportunities for growth, is not 

significantly affected by normal fluctuations in capital market 

conditions, and remains at a reasonable level even in the wake 

of major loss events or substantial falls in the stock markets. 

At the same time, we also define an appropriate level of Group 

own funds as one which does not lastingly exceed that which is 

required. Excess capital is returned to our shareholders via 

dividends and share buy-backs. In practice, capital repatriation 

comes up against limits because the German Commercial 

Code (HGB) obligates our parent, Munich Reinsurance 

Company, to conduct prudent accounting – with regard to the 

claims equalisation provision, for instance. This restricts the 

revenue reserves and profit distribution possibilities, but 

stabilises results in years with high claims expenditure.  

Between 2006 and 2021, we returned a total of €32.0bn  

to our shareholders in the form of dividends and share buy-

backs. 

Analysis of the consolidated cash flow statement 

Our primary insurance and reinsurance operations have a 

significant influence on Munich Re’s cash flow. We generally 

first collect the premiums for the risks assumed and do not 

make payments until later, when claims need to be settled. 

Cash flow statements of insurance companies are therefore of 

limited relevance. The cash flow statement is adjusted to 

eliminate the effects of fluctuations in exchange rates and 

changes in the entities consolidated. 

Consolidated cash flow statement 

2021 2020 Change

€m €m %

Cash flows from 

operating activities 5,226 7,219 –27.6

Cash flows from 

investing activities –3,818 –6,135 37.8

Cash flows from 

financing activities –1,681 –323 –420.4

Cash flows for 

the financial year –273 761 –

In the consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year 

2021, the consolidated profit of €2,932m is used as the starting 

point for determining the cash inflows from operating activities.  

The consolidated result for the financial year 2021 is also 

adjusted by €11,409m to take account of the higher technical 

provisions. The net gains on the disposal of investments – 

which in adjusting the consolidated profit have to be deducted 

from the cash flows – are essentially attributable to the disposal 

of securities available for sale. 

Outflows from investing activities were determined by the 

change from the acquisition/sale and maturity of investments 

and insurance-related investments totalling €3,670m in the 

financial year 2021. 

The cash outflows for financing activities stem mainly from the 

dividend payment in 2021. 

Overall in the year under review, cash – which encompasses 

cash with banks, cheques and cash in hand – fell by €273m 

(including currency effects) to €5,487m in the financial year 

2021. There were items pledged as security and other 

restrictions on title amounting to €10m in the financial year 2021 

(€8m in the financial year 2020).  
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Business performance 
Overall assessment of the Board of 
Management on the business performance and 
situation of the Group 

Munich Re generated a profit of €1.2bn in the financial year 
2020; on 31 March 2020, owing to high uncertainty regarding 
the effects of COVID-19 we retracted the profit forecast of 
€2.8bn for 2020 we had set at the beginning of the financial 
year and postponed the 2020/2021 share buy-back 
programme announced in February 2020. In reinsurance, we 
posted pandemic-related losses totalling €3.4bn for the 
financial year 2020, of which €370m was attributable to life and 
health reinsurance and slightly over €3bn to property-casualty 
reinsurance. At ERGO, the negative impact arising from 
COVID-19 totalled €64m for the financial year 2020. Adjusted 
for the losses caused by the pandemic, the profit target of €2.8bn 
set at the beginning of the year 2020 would have been 
achieved. 

In property-casualty reinsurance, the combined ratio was 
105.6% for the financial year 2020 (100.2% for the financial 
year 2019). Notwithstanding the very high claims expenditure 
due to COVID-19, we achieved a profit of €571m for the 

financial year 2020 (€1,562m for the financial year 2019) in this 
segment. In life and health reinsurance, the coronavirus 
pandemic also led to a drop in profits. The segment contributed 
€123m (€706m for the financial year 2019) to the consolidated 
profit of the financial year 2020. The technical result, including 
business with non-significant risk transfer (which is not 
recognised in the technical result), amounted to €97m for the 
financial year 2020 (€493m for the financial year 2019). 

We posted a profit of €517m for the financial year 2020 
(€440m for the financial year 2019) in the ERGO field of 
business, thereby almost achieving our profit target of €530m 
defined at the beginning of the financial year 2020 – despite 
the negative impact of the pandemic. For the financial year 
2020, ERGO Property-casualty Germany and ERGO 
International enjoyed a year-on-year improvement in profits of 
€157m (€148m for the financial year 2019) and €230m (€105m 
for the financial year 2019) respectively. 

The Group’s investment result (excluding insurance-related 
investments) totalling €7,398m in the financial year 2020 
(€7,822m in the financial year 2019) is equivalent to a return 
on investment of 3.0% in terms of the average market value of 
the portfolio. Munich Re was thus able to achieve its target 
return on investment of around 3% – in spite of the challenging 
conditions and high volatility prevailing on the capital markets. 

 
Business performance of the Group and overview of investment performance1 

Key figures 

 2020  2019 Change
    %
Gross premiums written €bn 54.9  51.5 6.7
Combined ratio    

Reinsurance property-casualty % 105.6  100.2 
ERGO Property-casualty Germany % 92.4  92.3 
ERGO International % 92.7  94.3 

Technical result €m 600  2,283 –73.7
Investment result €m 7,398  7,822 –5.4
Result from insurance-related investments €m 105  1,182 –91.1
Operating result €m 1,986  3,430 –42.1
Currency result €m –200  73 –
Taxes on income €m –269  –483 44.2
Economic earnings €bn –2.2  7.4 –
Solvency II ratio % 208.1  237.0 
Return on equity (RoE)2    

Group % 5.3  11.7 
Reinsurance % 4.1  13.3 
ERGO % 8.8  7.4 

Consolidated result €m 1,211  2,707 –55.3
Investments €bn 232.9  228.8 1.8
Insurance-related investments €bn 11.0  9.2 20.4
Net technical provisions €bn 221.5  217.9 1.6
Equity €bn 30.0  30.6 –1.9
Earnings per share € 8.63  18.97 –54.5
Dividend per share € 9.80  9.80 0.0

1 2019 figures adjusted owing to IAS 1 and IAS 8. See the section Recognition and measurement – Changes in accounting policies and other adjustments in the Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

2 Information on the calculation of this indicator can be found in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, section Segment reporting, 
Notes on determining the return on equity (RoE). 
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Munich Re’s gross premiums written, at €54,890m for the 
financial year 2020, were significantly higher year on year 
(€51,457m for the financial year 2019). This was mainly due to 
organic growth in reinsurance. 
 

Group premium income for the financial year 2020 

    
    

 2020 2019 

 Life and health reinsurance 23% 23%

 Property-casualty reinsurance 45% 43%

 ERGO Life and Health Germany 16% 18%

 ERGO Property-casualty Germany 7% 7%

 ERGO International 9% 10%

   

    

Economic earnings are mainly attributable to factors from new 
and in-force business deriving from underwriting, and to the 
impact of capital market parameters on assets and liabilities. 
Although operational value creation was positive in all 
segments when adjusted for COVID-19 losses, both the high 
pandemic-related losses and the adverse fluctuations in capital 

markets led to negative economic earnings in the financial year 
2020. The depreciation of important foreign currencies against 
the euro, widening risk spreads on interest-bearing 
investments and the impact on profit or loss arising from 
downward trends in equity markets, particularly in Q1 2020, 
significantly strained economic earnings. 

The investment result (excluding insurance-related 
investments) decreased to €7,398m in the financial year 2020 
(€7,822m in the financial year 2019). This was largely due to 
lower regular income and impairment losses on account of 
temporary price falls in equity markets in Q1 2020. Conversely, 
the investment result increased owing to higher gains on the 
disposal of, above all, fixed-interest securities, equities and 
real estate, as well as an improved net balance of derivatives. 

The currency result amounted to –€200m in the financial year 
2020 (€73m in the financial year 2019), mainly driven by losses 
on the Canadian dollar and Russian rouble. Our effective tax 
rate was 18.2% for the financial year 2020 (15.1% for the 
financial year 2019), which fell short of our expectations due to 
one-off effects for previous years. 

Munich Re issued a subordinated green bond with a volume of 
€1.25bn in September 2020. This bond will mature on 26 May 
2041 and is callable for the first time in 2030. It pays a fixed rate 
of 1.25% p.a. until 26 May 2031, and a variable rate thereafter. 
The green bond meets the criteria for classification as 
regulatory Tier 2 capital under Solvency II, as well as the 
current requirements for full recognition as rating capital. In 
light of the repayment options provided by our outstanding 
subordinated bonds in 2021 and 2022, this issue allows us to 
optimise our capital structure. 

Munich Re will use the raised capital to finance projects as 
defined in the Group’s Green Bond Framework.  

 
 
Investment mix 

  Carrying amounts Unrealised gains/losses1  Fair values

€m  31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019  31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Land and buildings, 
including buildings on third-party land 

 
6,539 5,989 5,592 5,600  12,131 11,589

Investments in affiliated companies, 
associates and joint ventures 

 
3,372 2,847 1,584 968  4,841 3,646

Loans  51,944 52,507 12,778 12,147  64,722 64,654
Other securities available for sale  155,389 151,558 17,293 14,370  155,389 151,558

Thereof: Fixed-interest  138,404 132,120 14,426 10,738  138,404 132,120
Thereof: Non-fixed-interest  16,985 19,438 2,866 3,632  16,985 19,438

Other securities at fair value through profit or loss  2,927 2,781 0 0  2,927 2,781
Thereof: Derivatives  2,339 2,099 0 0  2,339 2,099

Deposits retained on assumed reinsurance  7,980 7,938 0 0  7,980 7,938
Other investments  4,800 5,144 0 0  4,800 5,144
Total  232,950 228,764 37,247 33,085  252,789 247,310

1 Including on- and off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses. 
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The fair value of our investment portfolio increased mainly as a 
result of falling interest rates, with negative effects coming 
most notably from the development of exchange rates and a 
smaller equity portfolio. Our portfolio continues to be 
dominated by fixed-interest securities and loans. 

The increase in unrealised gains/losses on other fixed-interest 
securities available for sale and loans was chiefly attributable 
to the lower interest-rate level. 
 

Fixed-interest portfolio by economic category1 

Total: €215bn as of 31 December 2020 (€208bn as of 31 December 2019) 

    

    

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

  Government bonds2 55% 53%

 Thereof: Inflation-linked bonds 7% 8%

 Covered bonds 18% 21%

 Corporate bonds 14% 13%

 Cash/Other 5% 5%

 Policy and mortgage loans 4% 4%

 Structured products (credit structures) 2% 2%

 Bank bonds 2% 1%

    

1 Presentation essentially shows fixed-interest securities and loans, including deposits 
and cash at banks, at fair value. 

2 Including other public-sector issuers and government-guaranteed bank bonds. 
 

 

As of 31 December 2020, over half of our portfolio of interest-
bearing securities was invested in government bonds. The vast 
majority of these continue to come from countries with a high 
credit rating. As of 31 December 2020, the fair value of our 
German and US government bond holdings came to 13.1% 
(12.8% as of 31 December 2019) and 9.2% (8.8% as of 31 
December 2019) of the total portfolio of interest-bearing 
securities. Italian and Spanish government bonds each 
accounted for 0.8% (0.8% as of 31 December) and 1.9% (2.3% 
as of 31 December 2019) of the portfolio of interest-bearing 
securities as of 31 December 2020. Our new investments in the 
financial year 2020 were mostly in Australian and US 

government bonds. We reduced our bond holdings mainly from 
issuers in the United Kingdom and Spain in the reporting year. 
The purchase of government bonds from emerging markets is 
part of our balanced investment strategy. As of 31 December 
2020, they constituted 9.2% of our government bond portfolio. 

At 32% as of 31 December 2020, our investment in covered 
bonds remained focussed on German securities. As of that 
date, we also held bonds from France (21%) and the United 
Kingdom (10%) in our portfolio. 

As of 31 December 2020, the regional weighting of corporate 
bonds in our portfolio was 33% for the USA and 39% for the 
eurozone. 

Our portfolio of government bonds, covered bonds and 
corporate bonds had a good rating structure: as at 
31 December 2020, some 81% of securities were rated AAA to 
A. 

Our investment in bank bonds is limited and amounted to 2% 
of our portfolio of fixed-interest securities as of 31 December 
2020. Financial instruments from states in southern Europe 
made up 5% of this portfolio. As of 31 December 2020, most of 
our bank bonds were senior bonds (91%), i.e. bonds that are 
not subordinated or subject to loss participation. Subordinated 
bonds and loss-bearing bonds made up 9% of our bank bond 
holdings as of 31 December 2020. 

The portfolio of structured credit products at fair value totalled 
2% of the overall portfolio of interest-bearing securities as at 31 
December 2020. This asset class is composed of securitised 
receivables (asset-backed securities or mortgage-backed 
securities), e.g. securitisations of real estate finance or 
consumer credit. Around 52% of our structured credit products 
as of 31 December 2020 had a rating of AAA. 

The carrying amount of our equity portfolio decreased as a 
result of the sale of equities and the overall negative market 
development. Our equity-backing ratio (before taking 
derivatives into account, and including investments in affiliated 
companies, associates and joint ventures at fair value) came to 
6.4% as at 31 December 2020 (7.1% as at 31 December 2019). 
The equity-backing ratio including derivatives was 6.0% as at 
31 December 2020 (6.4% as at 31 December 2019). Besides 
this, we protect ourselves against accelerated inflation in an 
environment of continuing low interest rates by holding 
inflation-linked bonds with a fair value of €8.5bn as at 31 
December 2020 (€8.6bn as at 31 December 2019). Real and 
financial assets such as shares, real estate, commodities, and 
investments in infrastructure, renewable energies and new 
technologies also serve to guard against inflation. Additionally, 
our investments in real and financial assets have a positive 
diversification effect on the entire portfolio. The increase in our 
real estate portfolio is largely explained by the acquisition of a 
high-rise office building in New York City in Q1 2020.    
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Investment result1 

 2020 RoI2  2019 RoI2

 €m %  €m %
Regular income 6,273 2.5  6,751 2.8
Write-ups/write-downs of non-derivative investments –1,957 –0.8  –309 –0.1
Gains/losses on the disposal of non-derivative investments 3,698 1.5  2,779 1.1
Net balance of derivatives 74 0.0  –717 –0.3
Other income/expenses –690 –0.3  –681 –0.3
Total 7,398 3.0  7,822 3.2

1 Details of the result by type of investment are shown in the Notes to the consolidated income statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, (34) Investment result. 
2 Annual % return on the mean value of the investment portfolio (RoI) measured at market value as at the quarterly reporting dates. The overall investment portfolio used  

to determine the return for 2020 (3.0%) was calculated as the mean value of the investment portfolios (carrying amounts) as at 31 December 2019 (€228,764m), 31 March 2020 
(€227,949m), 30 June 2020 (€230,080m), 30 September 2020 (€232,252m) and 31 December 2020 (€232,950m), and the off-balance-sheet unrealised gains and losses (excluding 
owner-occupied property and insurance-related loans) as at 31 December 2019 (€18,546m), 31 March 2020 (€19,246m), 30 June 2020 (€19,778m), 30 September 2020 (€19,676m) 
and 31 December 2020 (€19,839m). 

 
Regular income in 2020 decreased compared with the previous 
year, primarily due to lower interest and dividend income. The 
average reinvestment yield1 in the financial year 2020 was 
1.5% (2.1% in the financial year 2019). Due to the low interest 
rates in the financial year 2020, yields on new investments 
remained lower than the average return on our existing portfolio 
of fixed-interest investments. 

We posted considerably higher net write-downs of non-
derivative investments because – in the first quarter of the 
financial year 2020 in particular – our equity portfolio had been 
affected by heavy price falls on the stock markets on account of 
the impact of the coronavirus pandemic. 

Gains on disposal were higher overall than in the previous 
year, and chiefly related to our portfolio of fixed-interest 
securities and equities, as well as Q1 2020 and Q4 2020 gains 
from the disposal of real estate. 

We posted a net profit from write-downs and write-ups of 
derivatives and from the disposal of derivatives, primarily due to 
gains on interest-rate derivatives, which compensated for losses 
on equity and credit derivatives held for hedging purposes.  
 

Result from equities and equity derivatives1 

€m  2020 2019
Regular income  735 748
Write-downs  –1,750 –311
Realised gains/losses  1,077 1,037
Result from equities  62 1,475
Change in on-balance-sheet unrealised 
gains and losses in equity (gross)  –766 1,814
Result from equity derivatives  –425 –927
Total  –1,129 2,362

1 To determine the total annualised return on our equity portfolio (see text), we 
calculate the ratio of the total result shown in the table and the mean value of the 
following figures: Equity portfolio (carrying amounts) as at 31 December 2019 
(€19,438m), 31 March 2020 (€15,323m), 30 June 2020 (€15,568m), 30 September 
2020 (€16,068m) and 31 December 2020 (€16,985m). 

 
The return on equities was adversely affected by impairment 
losses and the impact of the fall in valuation reserves in Q1 
2020. The return on our equity portfolio including equity 
derivatives decreased to –6.8% in the financial year 2020 
(13.0% in the financial year 2019). 

  

1 The average reinvestment yield is shown as an annual rate of return. All 
reinvestments that are transacted in a specific reporting period and have re-maining 
terms to maturity of more than one year are recognised at the rates  
of return applicable at the relevant trade dates; for securities with terms to maturity of 
up to one year the proportionate term to maturity is taken into account. Investments 
whose return cannot be calculated (e.g. equities, debt securities with variable rates, 
inflation-linked bonds, derivatives, real estate) or which do not have the 
characteristics of investments (e.g. cash at banks) are not included. Hedging costs for
securities in foreign currency are not considered. 
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Reinsurance – Life and health 

Key figures 

 2020  2019 Change
    %
Gross premiums written €m 12,707  11,716 8.5
Share of gross premiums written in reinsurance % 34.0  34.7 
Technical result incl. result from 
reinsurance treaties with non-significant risk transfer €m 97  493 –80.3
Investment result €m 846  1,097 –22.9
Operating result €m 225  849 –73.5
Consolidated result €m 123  706 –82.6

    

Premium 

Year-on-year growth in premium primarily derived from Europe 
and Asia, and to a lesser extent also from North America. The 
2020 increase in premium in Europe was aided by the 
conclusion of two new longevity treaties, one of which was 
written outside the United Kingdom for the very first time. The 
ongoing strong demand for financially motivated reinsurance 
also contributed to the development in premium income. 

Given that we generate the majority of our business in foreign 
currencies, fluctuations in exchange rates have a significant 
impact on premium development. If exchange rates had 
remained unchanged, our gross premiums written would have 
increased by 10.1% in the financial year 2020 compared with 
the financial year 2019. 

Result 

The technical result of only −€78m for the financial year 2020 
(€365m for the financial year 2019) was significantly below our 
original expectations for the year, mainly owing to claims 
expenditure resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Overall, Iosses attributable to COVID-19 totalled €370m in the 
financial year 2020. This figure comprises losses incurred in 
the reporting year; it does not include provisions for losses that 
may be incurred in 2021. The expenditure is dominated by 
mortality covers in the USA. In the United Kingdom, losses in 
mortality business that were attributable to COVID‑19 were 
offset by positive effects in our longevity business. Likewise, in 
Canada part of the expenditure was compensated for by lower 
benefit payments in health business. In total, the negative 
impact on the result was in the low double-digit million euro 
range. Australian disability business was also slightly impacted 
by claims notifications. As claims may  
be reported to us with delay, we recognised additional 
provisions. Expenditure in Africa was a single-digit million 
amount. We did not post significant COVID-19-related losses 
in continental Europe and Asia. 

Following several years of favourable loss experience, we saw 
higher mortality in our US portfolio in 2020, even when 
adjusted for COVID-19 effects. This circumstance is consistent 
with the population mortality observed. We are of the opinion 
that this may be at least partially an indirect consequence of 
COVID-19. 

Our global annual review of provisions also had a decreasing 
impact on the underwriting result. This includes the adjustment 
of our provisions for outstanding claims to interest-rate levels. 

By contrast, we achieved a good result overall in Europe. 
Despite a high individual loss in mortality business, in  
Asia too we posted an overall result that was within our 
expectations, primarily owing to a high result contribution from 
our health business. Adjusted for COVID-19, the performance 
of our Australian business was somewhat better than 
expected; among other things, we benefited from price 
adjustments granted retroactively as well as from fewer lapses 
than anticipated in 2019. By contrast, claims expenditure was 
above our expectations. 

Moreover, the development of new business also had a 
positive impact on the result. 

The result from reinsurance treaties with non-significant risk 
transfer continued to perform very favourably. Thanks to growth 
in new business, above all in Asia and the USA, the result of 
€175m for the financial year 2020 was significantly up on the 
previous year’s figure (€128m for the financial year 2019) and 
in excess of our expectations. Business performance was not 
influenced by COVID-19, thus reaffirming its stabilising effect 
on the aggregate result. 

The investment result was down €252m in the financial year 
2020 compared with the financial year 2019; the decline is 
mainly attributable to lower gains on the disposal of fixed-
interest securities. 

Our individual core markets 

Based on premium volume, 40% of our 2020 global 
reinsurance business is written in North America, with the USA 
accounting for 25% and thus ranking before Canada. 25% of 
our 2020 premium stems from Europe – with 10% generated in 
the United Kingdom and Ireland, and 5% in Germany. Another 
significant share of 25% stems from Asia and the MENA 
region. Australia and New Zealand contributed 5% to 2020 
premium income. We are also well positioned in Africa and 
Latin America, but due to the small size of these markets, their 
share of our 2020 global business is modest (less than 5% in 
total). 
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Gross premium in the USA increased by 2.7% to €2.9bn in the 
financial year 2020 (€2.9bn in the financial year 2019). We 
therefore continue to be one of the most important reinsurers in 
this market, which is the largest worldwide. The segment’s 
technical result fell short of expectations chiefly on account of 
COVID-19-related loss expenditure, additional negative 
mortality and reserving effects attributable to the US portfolio. 
We continue to be very satisfied with the development of our 
new business, both in terms of volume and profitability. 

In Canada, we also posted an increase in premium income to 
€1.8bn for the financial year 2020 (€1.7bn for the financial year 
2019), thereby retaining our leading market position in 
traditional business. The 2020 technical result, in turn, 
accounted for an over-proportionate contribution to the overall 
result, even though it did not fully reach the previous year’s 
level, partly owing to COVID-19. 

Premium income was extremely gratifying in Europe, where it 
totalled €3.3bn in the financial year 2020 (€2.8bn in the 
financial year 2019), with €1.5bn (€1.8bn in the financial year 
2019) stemming from the United Kingdom and Ireland, and a 
further €715m (€597m in the financial year 2019) from 

Germany. This growth was bolstered by financially motivated 
reinsurance and the expansion of our longevity business. The 
technical result was higher than expected, in particular owing 
to favourable claims experience in continental Europe. 

In Asia/MENA, our premium income climbed to €3.4bn in the 
financial year 2020 (€3.0bn in the financial year 2019). New 
business continued to perform very well. Thanks to our broad 
diversification, we are in a position to benefit from the region’s 
growth potential. The technical result continued to develop 
favourably and was within our expectations – despite a major 
loss. 

Premium generated by our business activities in Australia and 
New Zealand was up slightly to €824m in the financial year 
2020 (€808m in the financial year 2019), benefiting from the 
impact of premium increases under contracts in force. Our 
main focus here remains the rehabilitation of our existing 
portfolio. The technical result – adjusted for COVID-19-related 
losses – slightly exceeded our expectations. We profited from 
positive effects from our rehabilitation measures and from 
fewer lapses than we had anticipated in 2019. By contrast, 
claims expenditure was higher than we expected. 

 
Reinsurance – Property-casualty 

Key figures 

 2020  2019 Change
    %
Gross premiums written €m 24,615  22,091 11.4
Share of gross premiums written in reinsurance % 66.0  65.3 
Loss ratio % 74.7  66.6 

Thereof: Major losses Percentage points 20.8  15.2 
Expense ratio % 30.9  33.6 
Combined ratio % 105.6  100.2 
Technical result €m –171  1,157 –
Investment result €m 2,347  2,220 5.7
Operating result €m 759  1,764 –56.9
Consolidated result €m 571  1,562 –63.4

    

Premium 

Premium income in property-casualty reinsurance increased by 
11.4% in the financial year 2020 compared with the financial 
year 2019. Changes in exchange rates had a negative impact 
on premium development. As at 31 December 2020, 11% of the 
portfolio was written in euros and 89% in foreign currency, of 
which 55 percentage points was in US dollars and 11 
percentage points in pounds sterling. If exchange rates had 
remained the same, premium volume would have risen by 
13.1% year on year. 

The substantial increase in premium volume was due to an 
expansion of business across almost all lines and regions. The 
main drivers were the expansion of, and new business with, 
selected clients in North America and selective growth in 
continental Europe, in the United Kingdom, and in Asia and 
Australia. Fire and liability were the primary sources of growth. 

Reinsurance treaty renewals in 2020 saw prices rise in regions 
affected by natural catastrophes. In other markets and lines of 
business, prices remained stable or increased  

slightly. Despite high losses from natural catastrophes in 2019, 
the supply of reinsurance capacity remained high during the 
2020 renewals. In the renewals for 2020, prices rose by 
approximately 1.8%. Overall, we adhered to our profit-oriented 
underwriting policy. 

Result 

The consolidated result and the operating result in property-
casualty reinsurance deteriorated considerably in the financial 
year 2020 compared with the financial year 2019, in particular 
owing to losses in cancellation-of-events business resulting 
from COVID-19. Expenditure for major losses was up for the 
financial year 2020, and the technical result declined 
significantly compared with the financial year 2019. Adjusted 
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for commissions, Munich Re’s customary review of provisions 
resulted in a reduction in the basic claims provisions for prior 
years of €938m for the financial year 2020, which is equivalent 
to 4.2 percentage points of  
the combined ratio. This positive development related to 
almost all lines in our portfolio. The safety margin in the 
provisions remained unchanged year on year. 

Major losses – in excess of €10m each – totalled €4,689m in 
the financial year 2020 (€3,124m in the financial year 2019), 
after retrocession and before tax. This amount includes run-off 
profits and losses for major claims from previous years, and is 
equivalent to 20.8% of net earned premium. As a consequence 
of COVID-19, the expenditure in the financial year 2020 is 
much higher than in the financial year 2019, and exceeds our 
major-loss expectation of 12% of net earned premium. Apart 
from COVID-19-related losses, 2020 was by and large a 
normal claims year. 

At €3,784m for the financial year 2020, man-made major 
losses were much higher than in the previous year (€1,071m 
for the financial year 2019). This figure is equivalent to 16.8% 
(5.2% for the financial year 2019) of net earned premium for 
the financial year 2020. Owing to COVID-19-related burdens, 
the number of losses above the major-loss threshold was 
much higher in the financial year 2020 than in previous years. 
COVID-19 resulted in claims expenditure in many lines of 
business – amounting to €3,066m in total for the financial year 
2020– and particularly affected the cancellation-of-events and 
business interruption reinsurance lines. 

Major losses from natural catastrophes totalled €906m for the 
financial year 2020 (€2,053m for the financial year 2019). This 
corresponds to 4.0% (10.0% for the financial year 2019) of net 
earned premium for the financial year 2020. The largest natural 
catastrophes of the year happened in the USA, the largest 
individual loss being Hurricane Laura, with anticipated 
expenditure of €280m. There were also a series of 
thunderstorms and wildfires. 

The combined ratio deteriorated significantly to 105.6% for the 
financial year 2020 (100.2% for the financial year 2019) on 
account of higher major-loss expenditure in 2020. Paid claims 
and the change in claims provisions totalled €16,860m for the 
financial year 2020 (€13,701m for the financial year 2019), 
along with net operating expenses of €6,978m (€6,910m for 
the financial year 2019), compared with net earned premiums 
of €22,566m (€20,566m for the financial year 2019). 

The investment result for the financial year 2020 increased by 
€126m compared with the financial year 2019, largely owing to 
an improved net balance of derivatives owing to gains on 
interest-rate derivatives and higher gains on the disposal of 
fixed-interest securities. 

Our individual core markets and selected special 
lines 

Based on premium volume, 45% of our 2020 global property-
casualty reinsurance business – including Risk Solutions – is 
written in North America. 35% of  

our 2020 premium comes from Europe, of which around half is 
generated in the United Kingdom. Further substantial shares 
are contributed by Asia (10%), Australia/ 
New Zealand (5%) and Latin America (5%). 

Prices in the US market improved significantly on account of 
the many loss events. Owing to hurricanes, tornadoes and 
wildfires, major natural catastrophe losses exceeded the long-
term average in 2020. In 2020, we saw growth with selected 
clients in reinsurance and wrote additional profitable new 
business. 

At Munich Reinsurance America Inc., we further optimised our 
reinsurance portfolio, in particular thanks to a more restrictive 
underwriting policy in liability business. This led to lower 
premium volume. We were in a position to expand our 
business in our newly combined primary insurance unit 
Munich Re Specialty Insurance (MRSI). Overall, premium 
volume totalling €4,138m for the financial year 2020 was down 
compared with the previous year (€4,449m for the financial 
year 2019). 

The premium income of the Hartford Steam Boiler Group (HSB 
Group) amounted to €1,179m for the financial year 2020 
(€1,072m for the financial 2019) and was once again up 
compared with the previous year. This increase is mainly 
attributable to growth generated not only by new products, but 
also with our core business. The result was very gratifying. 
American Modern also posted a rise in premium income to 
€1,252m for the financial year 2020 (€1,168m for the financial 
year 2019) owing to higher prices and new business. The result 
situation fell short of expectations owing to natural hazard 
losses, such as hurricanes, tornadoes and wildfires. 

In Canada, we are represented by the Munich Reinsurance 
Company of Canada and Temple Insurance Company. 
Premium volume was expanded further thanks to good market 
conditions. The year’s result was adversely affected by a local 
hail event in the province of Alberta. 

Despite the still-difficult market environment, premium volume 
increased significantly year on year to €8,299m for the financial 
year 2020 (€7,234m for the financial year 2019) in the United 
Kingdom and in continental Europe. In many markets, the 
increase was driven by the targeted development of business 
with selected clients and additional profitable new business. The 
highest growth was achieved in the United Kingdom, Germany, 
Spain and Italy. In Germany, for instance, premium income rose 
to €752m for the financial year 2020 (€608m for the financial 
year 2019). 

At our Swiss subsidiary, New Reinsurance Company Ltd. 
(New Re), business volume in the area of property-casualty 
increased markedly to €816m in the financial year 2020 
(€542m in the financial year 2019). This growth benefited from 
the expansion of existing client relationships and profitable new 
business with traditional and structured products. 

Premium income in Australia and New Zealand was expanded 
significantly to €1,073m in the financial year 2020 (€954m in 
the financial year 2019). 
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Premium in Japan was up appreciably year on year following two 
years of heavy losses; it totalled €578m in the financial year 
2020 (€425m in the financial year 2019). 

Business expanded greatly in China, where premium income 
amounted to €885m for the financial year 2020 (€682m for the 
financial year 2019). 

India continued on its path to growth, with premium income 
climbing to €427m in the financial year 2020 (€367m in the 
financial year 2019). 

In the Caribbean as well as in Central and South America, we 
still provide high capacity for the coverage of natural hazards, 
in particular windstorms and earthquakes. The increased 
demand owing to major losses from natural catastrophes 
(hurricanes, floods, earthquakes and wildfires) in recent years 
remained at a high level in 2020. We took systematic 
advantage of this situation to further improve our portfolio. This 
enabled us to grow the already high premium volume attained 
in recent years to €1,244m in the financial year 2020 (€1,232m 
in the financial year 2019) and to achieve a further margin 
improvement. 

In agricultural reinsurance, we saw a decline in premium 
income to €397m in the financial year 2020 (€410m in the 
financial year 2019) in the North American market. Claims 
experience saw an amelioration compared with the previous 
year, but storm events in the USA had an adverse impact. 

Supported by a positive market environment, total premium 
volume in marine business increased by 14% to €1,165m for 
the financial year 2020 (€1,022m for the financial year 2019). 
The result was gratifying. 

At €849m for the financial year 2020 (€787m for the financial 
year 2019), credit and bond reinsurance saw significant year-
on-year growth in premium volume. Whilst traditional credit 
business posted a moderate rise, growth was mainly 
attributable to profitable new business in specialty and niche 
segments. 

The market environment in direct industrial insurance is very 
attractive. The renewals in the North American market were 
marked by price increases. We were therefore able to 
substantially increase premium income in our direct facultative 
and corporate business, which was newly established in mid-
2019, to €1,199m in the financial year 2020 (€906m in the 
financial year 2019). The result was gratifying. 

Premium in aviation and space business grew appreciably to 
€734m in the financial year 2020 (€595m in the financial year 
2019). In spite of the loss of earnings triggered by COVID-19, 
premium was up thanks to price increases, especially at the 
beginning of 2020, in the wake of numerous major losses in 
the previous year. The result was gratifying. 

Capital Partners offers clients a broad range of structured 
individual reinsurance and capital-market products, as well as 
parametric and derivative solutions to hedge against weather 
and other risks. These solutions are applied to clients from the 
agricultural sector as well. We also use Capital Partners’ 
services for our own purposes in order to buy retrocession 
cover on the basis of our defined risk strategy. In the financial 
year 2020, we concluded client transactions worth more than 
€1.5bn in the area of structured reinsurance. In addition to a 
comprehensive traditional retrocession programme totalling 
US$ 600m, Capital Partners also placed two sidecar 
transactions worth around US$ 635m in the capital market on 
its own behalf. 
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ERGO Life and Health Germany 

Key figures 

 2020  2019 Change
    %
Total premium income1 €m 9,687  10,232 –5.3
Gross premiums written €m 9,030  9,238 –2.3
Share of gross premiums written by ERGO % 51.4  52.3 
Technical result €m 353  287 22.9
Investment result €m 3,605  3,916 –7.9
Operating result €m 448  389 15.2
Consolidated result €m 130  187 –30.2

1 Total premium income includes not only gross premiums written, but also savings premiums for unit-linked life insurance and capitalisation products in accordance with the applicable 
statutory accounting guidelines. 

 
Premium 

For the ERGO Life and Health Germany segment, information 
about the German life, health and Digital Ventures operations 
is provided below. 59% of the segment’s 2020 gross premiums 
written derives from the  
Health Germany division, 32% from Life Germany and 9% from 
Digital Ventures. 

Gross premiums written in the segment were down in the 2020 
financial year, owing to a COVID-19-related decrease in travel 
insurance. Positive development in Health Germany (especially 
in supplementary insurance) and Digital Ventures (above all in 
health insurance business), and growth from new products in 
Life Germany more than offset the planned portfolio reduction 
in Life Germany.  
The segment’s total premium income was also down on the 
previous year. 

Result 

The 2020 technical result in the ERGO Life and Health 
Germany segment was up compared with the previous year, in 
particular because the previous year had been impacted by a 
one-off effect in Life Germany, and because of lower claims 
expenditure in Digital Ventures. The 2020 investment result 
was down year on year, mainly due to higher impairment 
losses on equities, above all in the Health Germany division. 
The negative impact was partly offset by an improved net 
balance of derivatives and higher gains on disposals. Overall, 
our hedging strategy proved effective in 2020’s volatile capital 
market environment. 

The decline in the 2020 consolidated result was attributable to 
a lower investment result and currency result. 

Development of premium income and results by 
division 

Life Germany 
 
Key figures 

 2020  2019 Change
 €m  €m %
Total premium income1 3,515  3,907 –10.0
Gross premiums written 2,858  2,913 –1.9
Technical result 23  –4 –
Operating result 232  133 75.1

1 Total premium income includes not only gross premiums written but also savings 
premiums for unit-linked life insurance and capitalisation products in accordance with 
the applicable statutory accounting guidelines. 

 
Gross premiums written in 2020 were slightly down compared 
with the previous year. This was attributable in particular to 
lower regular premium income owing to the ongoing portfolio 
reduction, which could not be sufficiently offset by premium 
income from new products. Total premium income was 
significantly down on the previous year. The reduction was 
mainly due to a positive, one-off accounting effect of €346m in 
the financial year 2019, which had arisen from a rate change. 
This effect also had a significant impact on new business. In 
terms of annual premium equivalent (see table below), which is 
the performance measure customary among investors, our new 
business volume for the financial year 2020 saw a decrease 
which would have amounted to 4.4% without the one-off effect. 
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New business Life Germany 

  2020  2019  Change
  €m  €m  %
Regular premiums  180  198  –9.2
Single premiums  525  797  –34.1
Total  705  995  –29.1
Annual premium 
equivalent1 

 
232  278  –16.3

1 The annual premium equivalent corresponds to the regular premium income plus 
10% of single-premium volume. 

 
The 2020 technical result increased substantially year on year, 
largely because the previous year had been impacted by a 
one-off effect. At €2,567m for the financial year 2020 (€2,368m 
for the financial year 2019), the investment result also 
improved slightly in the past financial year. The negative 
effects of the capital market environment were offset by higher 
gains on disposals and an improved net balance of derivatives. 
Overall, our hedging strategy proved effective in 2020’s volatile 
capital market environment. To finance the additional interest 
reserve (ZZR – to be built up only in single-entity financial 
statements under German GAAP), we realised slightly higher 
valuation reserves in 2020 than in the previous year. The 
operating result grew significantly overall. 

Health Germany 
 
Key figures 

  2020  2019  Change
  €m  €m  %
Gross premiums written  5,372  5,560  –3.4
Technical result  225  224  0.5
Operating result  169  230  –26.6

    

Premium income grew by 2.8% for the financial year 2020 in 
supplementary health insurance and by 1.3% in 
comprehensive health insurance. The increase in 
comprehensive cover was mainly due to a premium adjustment 
in private long-term care insurance. The growth in 
supplementary insurance in the financial year 2020 was 
attributable to business not similar to life insurance, which 
increased by 9.7% compared with the financial year 2019. 
Premium growth in the Health Germany division was offset by 
a substantial fall in premium income from travel insurance, 

where gross premiums written dropped by 41.1% to €386m in 
the financial year 2020 (€655m in the financial year 2019) 
compared with the previous year. Travel business was hit 
particularly hard by the coronavirus pandemic due to travel 
restrictions and mass cancellations of leisure and business 
travel. 

The technical result remained nearly constant despite COVID-
19. The investment result fell to €1,041m in the financial year 
2020 (€1,539m in the financial year 2019), especially due to 
higher impairment losses on equities amidst the volatile capital 
market environment. Overall,  
the 2020 operating result was down compared with the 
previous year. 

Digital Ventures 
 
Key figures 

 2020  2019 Change
 €m  €m %
Gross premiums written 800  765 4.6
Technical result 104  67 55.4
Operating result 47  26 78.6

    

Gross premiums written were up year on year thanks to health 
insurance business, which saw 5.6% growth in the financial 
year 2020 supported by our supplementary dental insurance 
plans. Gross premiums written in property-casualty business 
were also up, by 1.7 % in the financial year 2020. 

At 94.7% (93.4% for 2019), the 2020 combined ratio for 
property-casualty business was up 1.3 percentage points 
compared with the previous year, in particular on account of a 
higher expense ratio. 

The 2020 technical result increased substantially compared 
with the previous year, mainly driven by a temporary reduction 
in claims expenditure for health insurance, and business 
growth in supplementary dental insurance. The investment 
result fell to –€3m in the financial year 2020 (€10m in the 
financial year 2019), chiefly on account of higher impairment 
losses on equities. Altogether, the operating result increased 
as a result of these developments. 
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ERGO Property-casualty Germany 

Key figures 

 2020  2019 Change
    %
Gross premiums written €m 3,677  3,500 5.1
Share of gross premiums written by ERGO % 20.9  19.8 
Loss ratio % 61.9  60.3 
Expense ratio % 30.5  32.0 
Combined ratio % 92.4  92.3 
Technical result €m 294  303 –2.9
Investment result €m 175  157 11.4
Operating result €m 255  212 20.4
Consolidated result €m 157  148 6.5

    

Premium 

As regards premium income, our most important classes  
of business in the ERGO Property-casualty Germany segment 
were motor insurance and third-party liability insurance. They 
respectively accounted for 19% and 17% of the gross 
premiums written for the financial year 2020. 

Gross premiums written in 2020 were significantly up 
compared with the previous year. The increase in the financial 
year 2020 was mainly attributable to substantial growth 
(16.7%) in the other classes of business, in particular 
engineering and marine, and 6.8% growth in fire and property 
insurance. Growth in gross premiums written for the financial 
year 2020 was also posted in third-party liability insurance 
(4.4%) and motor insurance (4.0%). By contrast, gross 
premiums written for the financial year 2020 were down by 
0.2% in legal protection insurance, and by 1.4% in personal 
accident insurance. 

Result 

The 2020 technical result remained nearly constant compared 
with the previous year, and was at a very good level despite 
the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. The slight 
decrease was mainly attributable to organic premium growth 

 and favourable cost development. On the claims side, COVID-
19-related losses from business closure and event insurance 
were partly compensated for by lower losses in personal lines 
business, especially in motor, and lower major losses, both 
from natural catastrophes and man-made. 

The combined ratio for 2020 slightly exceeded the 2019 figure 
by 0.1 percentage points, and thus remained at a very good 
level. While the expense ratio improved considerably year on 
year, the 2020 loss ratio was adversely affected by COVID-19, 
among other factors. Paid claims and the change in claims 
provisions totalled €2,209m for the financial year 2020 
(€2,025m for the financial year 2019), along with net operating 
expenses of €1,089m (€1,077m for the financial year 2019), 
compared with net earned premiums of €3,570m (€3,362m for 
the financial year 2019). 

The 2020 investment result increased compared with the 
previous year. An improved net balance of derivatives  
and higher gains on disposals more than offset higher 
impairment losses on equities in a volatile capital market 
environment caused by the coronavirus pandemic. 

The 2020 consolidated result was up compared with the 
previous year thanks to an improved investment result and an 
increase in the other operating result. 

ERGO International 

Key figures 

 2020  2019 Change
    %
Total premium income1 €m 5,083  5,148 –1.3
Gross premiums written €m 4,861  4,912 –1.0
Share of gross premiums written by ERGO % 27.7  27.8 
Loss ratio % 62.7  63.7 
Expense ratio % 30.0  30.6 
Combined ratio % 92.7  94.3 
Technical result €m 202  171 18.2
Investment result €m 425  430 –1.2
Operating result €m 298  217 37.9
Consolidated result €m 230  105 118.1

1 Total premium income includes not only gross premiums written but also savings premiums for unit-linked life insurance and capitalisation products in accordance with the applicable 
statutory accounting guidelines. 
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Premium 

With regard to the segment’s gross premiums written for the 
financial year 2020, property-casualty insurance accounted for 
56%, health for 31% and life insurance for 13%. Our biggest 
markets are Poland, accounting for 31% of the premium 
volume for the financial year 2020, Spain (19%) and Belgium 
(18%). 

Gross premiums written in 2020 decreased marginally overall, 
chiefly owing to the sale of companies outside Germany  
as part of portfolio optimisation and negative currency effects. 
Adjusted for the sales and for currency effects, gross premiums 
written in the ERGO International segment would have 
increased by 2.3% year on year in 2020. The segment’s 2020 
total premium income was also slightly down compared with the 
previous year. 

In international property-casualty business, gross premiums 
written were down 2.8% to €2,714m in the financial year 2020 
(€2,791m in the financial year 2019). The decline was mainly 
attributable to the sale of companies outside Germany and 
negative currency effects from our business in Poland. We 
posted premium growth mainly in the Netherlands, Austria and 
Greece. 

As a result of organic growth in our Spanish and Belgian 
markets, gross premiums written developed favourably in 
international health business, climbing by 6.0% to €1,509m in 
the financial year 2020 (€1,424m in the financial year 2019). 

At €639m for the financial year 2020 (€698m for the financial 
year 2019), gross premiums written in international life 
insurance business were down by 8.4% compared with the 
previous year. Negative development in Belgium, where we 
stopped writing new business already in 2017, and a decline in 
new business in Austria due to COVID-19 contributed to this 
outcome. Total premium income was down by 7.8% year on 
year to €861m for the financial year 2020 (€934m for the 
financial year 2019). 
 

New business Life International 

  2020  20191  Change
  €m  €m  %
Regular premiums  64  61  3.7
Single premiums  96  156  –38.5
Total  159  217  –26.6
Annual premium 
equivalent2  73  77  –4.9

1 2019 figures have been adjusted. 
2 The annual premium equivalent corresponds to the regular premium income plus 

10% of single-premium volume. 

 
 
 
 
 

Result 

The 2020 technical result improved compared with the 
previous year. Spanish health business and Belgian life business 
were the main drivers of this positive development. In Spain, 
the increase was partly attributable to premium growth. In 
Belgian life business, the 2019 figure had been affected by 
higher impairment losses on deferred acquisition costs owing to 
the low-interest-rate environment. In international property-
casualty business, the 2020 technical result was down 
compared with the previous year, mainly on account  
of the disposal of our Turkish company in 2019. 

In international property-casualty business, the combined ratio 
improved year on year. This included our biggest market, 
Poland, where the combined ratio decreased by 0.9 
percentage points in the financial year 2020, and Austria, 
where it was down by 2.6 percentage points in the financial 
year 2020. We also posted an improved combined ratio in 
international health business, down 2.0 percentage points in 
the financial year 2020 compared with the financial year 2019. 
Paid claims and the change in claims provisions totalled 
€2,063m for the financial year 2020 (€2,107m for the financial 
year 2019), along with net operating expenses of €988m 
(€1,012m for the financial year 2019), compared with net 
earned premiums of €3,289m (€3,309m for the financial year 
2019). 

The 2020 investment result was slightly down compared with 
the previous year. An improved net balance of derivatives and 
higher gains on disposals were offset by higher impairment 
losses and lower income. 

Overall, the 2020 consolidated result increased substantially 
year on year, among other factors thanks to an improved 
technical result and a positive one-off effect from a merger of 
two shareholdings in India. 
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Financial position 
Analysis of our capital structure 

Our primary insurance and reinsurance operations have a 
significant influence on the structure of our balance sheet: as 
we have consistently geared our Group towards value creation 
in its core business, investments serve to cover technical 
provisions (76% of the balance sheet total as at 31 December 
2020). Equity (10% of the balance sheet total as at 31 
December 2020) and bonds classified as strategic debt (2% of 
the balance sheet total as at 31 December 2020) are the most 
important sources of funds. 
 

Development of Group equity 

  31.12.2020  31.12.2019  Change
  €m  €m  %
Issued capital and 
capital reserve  7,432  7,421  0.2
Retained earnings  13,568  12,804  6.0
Other reserves  7,683  7,510  2.3
Consolidated result 
attributable to equity 
holders of Munich 
Reinsurance Company  1,211  2,724  –55.5
Non-controlling interests  100  117  –14.4
Total  29,994  30,576  –1.9

    

Group equity was lower than at the beginning of the year. This 
was mainly attributable to a lower currency translation reserve, 
the dividend payout and the share buy-back programme. The 
decline was partly counterbalanced by our consolidated result 
and higher valuation reserves for fixed-interest securities. 

Strategic debt 

We define as strategic debt all financial instruments with the 
character of outside financing that do not have a direct link to 
our operative business. Strategic debt supplements our 
financial resources, is essentially designed to optimise the cost 
of capital, and ensures that we have sufficient liquidity at all 
times. We quantify our debt leverage to make our capital 
structure transparent. Debt leverage is defined as the ratio – 
expressed as a percentage – of strategic debt to the sum of 
Group equity and strategic debt. Our technical provisions are 
not considered, even though they are mostly available to us on 
a long-term basis as a source of financing for investment. 
 

Debt leverage 

 31.12.2020  31.12.2019 Change
 €m  €m %
Strategic debt1 5,320  4,172 27.5
Group equity 29,994  30,576 –1.9
Total 35,314  34,748 1.6
Debt leverage % 15.1  12.0 

1 The main components of our strategic debt are subordinated liabilities,  
and bonds and notes issued (see the relevant sections of the Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020). 

 
As at 31 December 2020, Munich Re’s subordinated liabilities 
amounted to €5,047m. Of this sum, €4,883m were recognised 
as at 31 December 2020 as eligible own funds pursuant to 
Solvency II. Under the supervisory regulations of Solvency II, 
subordinated liabilities are recognised as own funds provided 
that they are available at all times to cover losses on a going-
concern basis. 

Technical provisions 

Reinsurance business accounts for 35%  
of 2020 technical provisions; 65% comes from primary 
insurance. In contrast to liabilities under loans and securities 
issued, we cannot foresee with certainty how high our liabilities 
from underwriting business will be and when they will arise. 
This applies especially to reinsurance. Whereas in property 
insurance a major portion of the provisions is generally paid 
out within two to three years, in life or liability insurance 
substantial amounts may still be due decades after the 
contracts were concluded. The currency distribution of our 
provisions reflects the global orientation of our Group. Besides 
the euro, our main currencies are the US dollar, pound sterling, 
the Canadian dollar and the Australian dollar. 

Restraints on disposal 

Since we are an international (re)insurance group, some  
of our financial resources are subject to restraints on disposal. 
Supervisory authorities in some countries, for example, require 
foreign reinsurers to establish premium and reserve deposits to 
the benefit of primary insurers,  
or set up trustee accounts or guarantees with certain financial 
institutions. As at 31 December 2020, restraints on disposal 
applied to investments with a volume of €10.1bn (€9.8bn as at 
31 December 2019). In addition, there were contingent 
liabilities. 
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Capital position 

Through active capital management, we strive to ensure that 
Munich Re’s capital satisfies all applicable standards. In 
addition to the capital requirements determined using our 
internal risk model, more far-reaching requirements by 
regulatory authorities, rating agencies and our key insurance 
markets must be met. The Solvency II ratio is a fundamental 
measure of Munich Re’s capital strength. We aim to ensure that 
our financial strength is such that it enables us to take 
advantage of profitable opportunities for growth, is not 
significantly affected by normal fluctuations in capital market 
conditions, and remains at a reasonable level even in the wake 
of major loss events or substantial falls in the stock markets. At 
the same time, we also define an appropriate level of Group 
own funds as one which does not lastingly exceed that which is 
required. Excess capital is returned to our shareholders via 
dividends and share buy-backs. In practice, capital repatriation 
comes up against limits because German commercial law (the 
German Commercial Code; HGB) forces our parent, Munich 
Reinsurance Company, to maintain the claims equalisation 
provision in local GAAP accounting at a level that exceeds the 
economic requirements. This restricts the revenue reserves 
and profit distribution possibilities, but stabilises results in 
years with high claims expenditure.  
As at 31 December 2020, Munich Reinsurance Company’s 
claims equalisation provision totalled €10.0bn. 

Between 2006 and 2020, we returned a total of €30.6bn to our 
shareholders. The Board of Management approved another 
share buy-back programme in February 2020. Given the 
uncertainty as a consequence of the coronavirus crisis, this 
programme was initially put on hold on 31 March 2020, before 
a definitive decision was taken on 20 July 2020 not to 
implement the programme. During the financial year 2020, we 
bought back shares with a total volume of €340m. 

Analysis of the consolidated cash flow statement 

Our primary insurance and reinsurance operations have a 
significant influence on Munich Re’s cash flow. We generally 
first collect the premiums for the risks assumed and do not 
make payments until later, when claims need to be settled. 
Cash flow statements of insurance companies are therefore of 
limited relevance. The cash flow statement is adjusted to 
eliminate the effects of fluctuations in exchange rates and 
changes in the entities consolidated. 
 

Consolidated cash flow statement 

  2020  2019  Change
  €m  €m  %
Cash flows from 
operating activities  7,219  9,493  –24.0
Cash flows from 
investing activities  –6,135  –6,919  11.3
Cash flows from 
financing activities  –323  –2,496  87.1
Cash flows for 
the financial year  761  78  875.6

    

In the consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year 
2020, the consolidated profit of €1,211m is used as the starting 
point for determining the cash inflows from operating activities. 
The consolidated result for the financial year 2020 is also 
adjusted by €5,264m to take account of the higher technical 
provisions. The net gains on the disposal of investments – 
which in adjusting the consolidated profit have to be deducted 
from the cash flows – are essentially attributable to the 
disposal of securities available for sale. 

Outflows from investing activities were determined by the 
change from the acquisition/sale and maturity of investments 
and insurance-related investments totalling −€6,089m in the 
financial year 2020. 

The cash outflows for financing activities stem mainly from the 
dividend payment in 2020, the share buy-back programme and 
the issue of the new subordinated green bond. 

Overall in the year under review, cash – which encompasses 
cash with banks, cheques and cash in hand – rose by €761m 
(including currency effects) to €5,620m in the financial year 
2020. There were items pledged as security and other 
restrictions on title amounting to €8m in the financial year 2020 
(€11m in the financial year 2019). 
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